



Childhood Adiposity and Women's Reproductive Health

by

Ye He

BMed, MMed (Obstetrics and Gynaecology)

Menzies Institute for Medical Research | College of Health and Medicine

Submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

(Medical Research)

University of Tasmania, June 2020

MENZIES INSTITUTE FOR MEDICAL RESEARCH

UNIVERSITY OF TASMANIA

HOBART, AUSTRALIA

SUPERVISED BY

Prof. Alison J. Venn, PhD

Menzies Institute for Medical Research, University of Tasmania

Hobart, Australia

and

Dr. Jing Tian, PhD

Menzies Institute for Medical Research, University of Tasmania

Hobart, Australia

and

Prof. Wendy H. Oddy, PhD

Menzies Institute for Medical Research, University of Tasmania

Hobart, Australia

Statement of Originality

This thesis contains no material which has been accepted for a degree or diploma by the University or any other institution, except by way of background information and duly acknowledged in the thesis, and to the best of my knowledge and belief no material previously published or written by another person except where due acknowledgement is made in the text of the thesis, nor does the thesis contain any material that infringes copyright.

(Signed)_____

(Date) 22/10/2020

i

Statement of Authority of Access

This thesis may be made available for loan and limited copying and communication in accordance with the *Copyright Act 1968*.

(Signed) (Date) 22/10/2020

Statement Regarding Published Work

The publishers of the papers comprising Chapters 3, 4, 5 and 6 hold the copyright for that content, and access to the material should be sought from the respective journals. The remaining non-published content of the thesis may be made available for loan and limited copying in accordance with the *Copyright Act 1968*.

(Signed)_____ (Date)____22/10/2020

Statement of Ethical Conduct

The research associated with this thesis abides by the international and Australian codes on human and animal experimentation, the guidelines by the Australian Government's Office of the Gene Technology Regulator and the rulings of the Safety, Ethics and Institutional Biosafety Committees of the University. Ethic Approval Numbers H0006020, H0010454 and H0013826.

(Signed)_____ (Date) ____22/10/2020

Statement of Co-Authorship

This thesis includes chapters for which Ye He (YH) is not the sole author. YH was the first author in the research of each manuscript. However, she was assisted by the co-authors. The following people and institutions contributed to the publication of work undertaken as part of this thesis:

Candidate – Ye He, University of Tasmania

Author 1 – Alison J. Venn, University of Tasmania, Primary Supervisor

Author 2 – Jing Tian, University of Tasmania, Co-Supervisor

Author 3 – Wendy H. Oddy, University of Tasmania, Co-Supervisor

Author 4 – Terence Dwyer, University of Tasmania and Oxford University

Author 5 – Leigh Blizzard, University of Tasmania

Author 6 – Martha Hickey, University of Melbourne

Author 7 – Emily Harville, Tulane University

Author 8 – Lydia A. Bazzano, Tulane University

Contribution of work by co-authors for each paper:

Paper 1: Located in Chapter 3

He Y, Tian J, Oddy WH, Dwyer T, Venn AJ. Association of childhood obesity with female infertility in adulthood: a 25-year follow-up study. *Fertil Steril.* 2018 Sep;110(4):596-604.

The candidate (YH) was the primary author and contributed 60% to the conceptualisation of the paper, data analysis, interpretation, writing of drafts and addressing the reviewer's

comments. Author 1 (AJV) contributed to the conceptualisation of the study, acquisition of data, assisted with interpretation, critically reviewed the manuscript and helped address the reviewers' comments. Author 2 (JT) provided analytical advice, assisted with interpretation, and critically reviewed the manuscript. Author 3 (WHO) provided interpretive advice and critically reviewed the manuscript. Author 4 (TD) contributed to discussion and provided critical revision of the manuscript.

Paper 2: Located in Chapter 4

He Y, Tian J, Blizzard L, Oddy WH, Dwyer T, Venn AJ. Associations of childhood adiposity and changes in adiposity status from childhood to adulthood with pregnancy hypertension. *Pregnancy Hypertens*. 2020 Jan;19:218-225.

The candidate (YH) was the primary author and contributed 65% to the conceptualisation of the paper, data analysis, interpretation, writing of drafts and addressing the reviewer's comments. Author 1 (AJV) contributed to the conceptualisation of the study, assisted with interpretation, critically reviewed the manuscript, and helped address the reviewers' comments. Author 2 (JT) provided analytical advice, assisted with interpretation, and critically reviewed the manuscript. Author 5 (LB) provided statistical advice and assisted with interpretation. Author 3 (WHO) provided interpretive advice and critically reviewed the manuscript. Author 4 (TD) contributed to discussion and provided critical revision of the manuscript.

Paper 3: Located in Chapter 5

He Y, Tian J, Blizzard L, Oddy WH, Dwyer T, Bazzano LA, Hickey M, Harville EW, Venn AJ. *Hum Reprod.* 2020 May;35(5):1185-1198.

The candidate (YH) was the primary author and contributed 60% to the conceptualisation of the paper, data analysis, interpretation, writing of drafts and addressing the reviewer's comments. Author 1 (AJV) contributed to the conceptualisation of the study, the acquisition of data, assisted with interpretation, critically reviewed the manuscript, and helped address the reviewer's comments. Author 2 (JT) provided analytical advice, assisted with interpretation, and critically reviewed the manuscript. Author 5 (LB) provided statistical advice and assisted with interpretation. Author 3 (WHO) provided interpretive advice and critically reviewed the manuscript. Author 4 (TD) contributed to discussion and provided critical revision of the manuscript. Author 8 (LAB) helped with acquisition of data and provided interpretive advice. Author 6 (MH) provided interpretive advice and provided critical revision of the manuscript. Author 7 (EWH) helped with acquisition of data, provided interpretive advice and critical revision of the manuscript.

Paper 4: Located in Chapter 6

He Y, Tian J, Oddy WH, Blizzard L, Dwyer T, Hickey M, Venn AJ. *Maturitas*. Accepted September 27, 2020.

The candidate (YH) was the primary author and contributed 60% to the conceptualisation of the paper, data analysis, interpretation and writing of drafts. Author 1 (AJV) contributed to the conceptualisation of the study, assisted with interpretation and critically reviewed the manuscript. Author 6 (MH) contributed to the conceptualisation of the study, provided interpretive advice and provided critical revision of the manuscript. Author 2 (JT) provided analytical advice and assisted with interpretation. Author 3 (WHO) provided interpretive advice and critically reviewed the manuscript. Author 5 (LB) provided statistical advice and

assisted with interpretation. Author 4 (TD) contributed to discussion and provided critical revision of the manuscript.

We, the undersigned, endorse the above stated contribution of work undertaken for each of the published (or submitted) peer-reviewed manuscripts contributing to this thesis:

Signed:

Date:

Ye He	Professor Alison Venn	Professor Graeme Zosky
Candidate	Primary Supervisor	Deputy Director
Menzies Institute for	Menzies Institute for	Menzies Institute for
Medical Research	Medical Research	Medical Research
University of Tasmania	University of Tasmania	University of Tasmania
22/10/2020	22/10/2020	26/10/2020

Acknowledgements

Acknowledgements

The three and half years for PhD candidature ran like rabbits, this precious time in my life not only helped me become a person with specialized knowledge in reproductive health epidemiology, but also helped me build a whole new view of the world, life and values. I would like to take this opportunity to give my deepest appreciation to the following people who supported me to complete my PhD.

First, I would like to say a big thank you to my primary supervisor Professor Alison Venn. Alison, I am extremely fortunate to work with a woman as smart as you. There is an ancient Chinese proverb: 'give a man a fish and you feed him for a day; teach a man to fish and you feed him for a lifetime'. Your supervision and mentoring for my PhD will definitely benefit my entire research career. Thank you for teaching me how to think critically and logically in doing research. Thank you for always encouraging me to communicate with others PhD students and senior staff to hear different opinions. Thank you for helping me go through the challenges one after another during my PhD. Your love and dedication to research and work, your full support to students and your leadership to the whole institute, all these act as a beacon for my future life. I really hope in the near future I could be a supervisor like you and share my knowledge and experiences with younger students.

I would like to express my deepest appreciation to Dr Jing Tian. Jing, you cannot imagine how happy and grateful I was when I knew that you would be one of my co-supervisors. Thank you so much for sharing your knowledge with me and helping me get started with my PhD candidature. I really enjoyed working with you and discussing the questions with you. I have learned a lot from you, and you are not only an excellent researcher but also a great mother of two adorable babies!

ix

Acknowledgements

My thanks also go to Professor Wendy Oddy. Wendy, you are such a kind and generous person. Thank you so much for always catching up with me in case I needed some help. Your constructive feedback to each of my studies absolutely helped me improve my work. I will never forget the great efforts you made to help me get better with my academic writing skill.

I would like to express special thanks to Professor Leigh Blizzard. Leigh is a person with statistical magic. Every time I brought a lot of statistical problems to your office I knew when I left your office every problem would be solved. Thank you so much for helping me go into the beautiful statistical world. Thank you for organizing every Thursday Stata class to impart the statistical magic to everybody.

I also would like to thank all the staff, students and participants from the CDAH and BHS. Without your continued participation, support and contributions my research would not have been possible.

I would like to express my great thanks to Professor Changhai Ding for organizing this PhD study program between Anhui Medical University and the University of Tasmania. Also, I would like to thank my PhD fellows and friends at Menzies for their support, and a special mention goes to Dr Feitong Wu, Dr Feng Pan, Dr Yuan Zhou, Dr Brooklyn Fraser, Guoqi Cai, Qing Xia, Oshadi Jayakody, Yuanzi Ye and Shuang Zheng.

Finally, I would like to say a very big thank you to my sagacious father Chengfu He, my lovely mother Xianmin Gu and my dear husband Liuer Wu. I could not have completed my PhD without your unconditional support, encouragement and love. I love you guys so much!

Table of Contents

Stat	ement of Originalityi
Stat	ement of Authority of Accessii
Stat	ement Regarding Published Work iii
Stat	ement of Ethical Conductiv
Stat	ement of Co-Authorshipv
Ack	nowledgementsix
Tab	le of Contentsxi
List	of Tablesxx
List	of Figures xxiii
List	of Appendicesxxv
Pub	lications Arising from the Thesisxxvi
Con	ferences Presentations Arising from the Thesisxxvii
List	of Abbreviationsxxix
Abs	tractxxxi
Cha	pter 1: Introduction1
1.1	Measuring childhood adiposity1
	1.1.1 Body mass index1
	1.1.2 Other measures of childhood adiposity
1.2	Prevalence of childhood overweight, obesity and abdominal obesity4
	1.2.1 The global view

	1.2.2 Childhood overweight, obesity and abdominal obesity in Australia5
1.3	Aetiology of childhood adiposity7
1.4	Tracking of childhood adiposity into adulthood8
1.5	Health consequences of childhood adiposity9
	1.5.1 Cardiovascular health consequences10
	1.5.2 Psychological consequences11
	1.5.3 Reproductive health11
1.6	Reproductive health in women and its association with adiposity13
	1.6.1 Infertility13
	1.6.1.1 Adult adiposity and infertility14
	1.6.1.2 Childhood adiposity and infertility14
	1.6.2 Pregnancy hypertension17
	1.6.2.1 Adult adiposity and pregnancy hypertension
	1.6.2.2 Childhood adiposity and pregnancy hypertension
	1.6.3 Menstrual irregularity and polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS)19
	1.6.3.1 Adult adiposity, menstrual irregularity and PCOS19
	1.6.3.2 Childhood adiposity, menstrual irregularity and PCOS20
	1.6.4 Menopausal symptoms
	1.6.4.1 Adult adiposity and menopausal symptoms
	1.6.4.2 Childhood adiposity and menopausal symptoms
1.7	Summary23

1.8	Research aims	23
Cha	pter 2: Methods	25
2.1	The Childhood Determinants of Adult Health (CDAH) study	25
	2.1.1 The Australian Schools Health and Fitness Survey (ASHFS) (1985)	25
	2.1.1.1 Participants	25
	2.1.1.2 Childhood adiposity measures	26
	2.1.2 CDAH-1 follow-up (2004-06)	27
	2.1.2.1 Participants	27
	2.1.2.2 Adult adiposity measures in CDAH-1	28
	2.1.2.3 Reproductive outcomes in CDAH-1	29
	2.1.3 CDAH-2 follow-up (2009-10)	29
	2.1.3.1 Participants	29
	2.1.3.2 Adult adiposity measures in CDAH-2	29
	2.1.3.3 Reproductive outcomes in CDAH-2	30
	2.1.4 CDAH-3 follow-up (2014-19)	30
	2.1.4.1 Participants	30
	2.1.4.2 Adult adiposity measures in CDAH-3	30
	2.1.4.3 Reproductive outcomes in CDAH-3	31
2.2	The Babies sub-study of the Bogalusa Heart Study (BBS)	32
	2.2.1 The Bogalusa Heart Study (BHS) (1973)	32
	2.2.1.1 Participants	32

	2.2.1.2 Childhood adiposity measures
	2.2.1.3 Adult adiposity measures
	2.2.2 The Babies sub-study of BHS (BBS) (2013)
	2.2.2.1 Participants
	2.2.2.2 Adult adiposity measures
	2.2.2.3 Reproductive outcomes
2.3	Statistical analysis
Cha	pter 3: Association of childhood adiposity with female infertility in adulthood: a 25-
yea	r follow-up study
3.1	Abstract
3.2	Introduction
3.3	Methods
	3.3.1 Participants
	3.3.2 Childhood body composition measurement
	3.3.3 Adult body composition measurement
	3.3.4 Adult infertility measurement
	3.3.5 Covariate measures
	3.3.6 Statistical analyses
3.4	Results
	3.4.1 Participant characteristics
	3.4.2 Infertility
	3.4.3 Cause of infertility

	3.4.4 Influence of adiposity from childhood into adulthood	51
	3.4.5 Sensitivity analysis	51
3.5	Discussion	52
3.6	Appendix 3 Supplementary material for Chapter 3	56
Cha	apter 4: Associations of childhood adiposity and changes in adiposity status from	
chil	dhood to adulthood with pregnancy hypertension	62
4.1	Abstract	63
4.2	Introduction	65
4.3	Materials and Methods	66
	4.3.1 Participants	66
	4.3.2 Childhood adiposity measures	67
	4.3.3 Adult adiposity measures	68
	4.3.4 Pregnancy hypertension	68
	4.3.5 Covariate measures	68
	4.3.6 Statistical analyses	69
4.4	Results	70
	4.4.1 Participant characteristics	70
	4.4.2 Pregnancy hypertension	72
	4.4.3 Influence of adiposity change from childhood to adulthood	76
	4.4.4 Sensitivity analysis	78
4.5	Discussion	79
4.6	Conclusion	81

4.7	Appendix 4 Supplementary material for Chapter 482	2
Cha	pter 5: Associations of childhood adiposity with menstrual irregularity and	
poly	cystic ovary syndrome in adulthood: The Childhood Determinants of Adult Health	
Stu	ly and the Bogalusa Heart Study84	ł
5.1	Abstract	5
5.2	Introduction	7
5.3	Materials and Methods	3
	5.3.1 The Childhood Determinants of Adult Health Study: a cohort from Australia88	3
	5.3.1.1 Participants	3
	5.3.1.2 Childhood anthropometric measurements)
	5.3.1.3 Adult anthropometric measurements90)
	5.3.1.4 Adult menstrual irregularity and PCOS90)
	5.3.1.5 Covariates	l
	5.3.2 The Bogalusa Heart Study: a cohort from the USA	l
	5.3.2.1 Participants	l
	5.3.2.2 Childhood anthropometric measurements	2
	5.3.2.3 Adult anthropometric measurements	2
	5.3.2.4 Adult menstrual irregularity and PCOS	3
	5.3.2.5 Covariates	1
	5.3.3 Statistical analyses	1
5.4	Results	5
	5.4.1 Participant characteristics	5

	5.4.2 Childhood adiposity and menstrual irregularity
	5.4.3 Childhood adiposity and self-reported PCOS
	5.4.4 Racial differences in the associations of self-reported PCOS in BBS100
	5.4.5 Influence of weight status from childhood into adulthood100
	5.4.6 Sensitivity analyses
5.5	Discussion105
5.6	Appendix 5 Supplementary material for Chapter 5110
Cha	pter 6: The associations of childhood adiposity with menopausal symptoms in
won	nen aged 45-49 years: an Australian cohort study113
6.1	Abstract114
6.2	Introduction116
6.3	Materials and Methods117
	6.3.1 Participants
	6.3.2 Childhood adiposity
	6.3.3 Adult adiposity
	6.3.4 Symptoms measured by the MRS119
	6.3.5 Covariate measures
	6.3.6 Statistical analyses
6.4	Results
	6.4.1 Participant characteristics
	6.4.2 Vasomotor symptoms and vaginal dryness
	6.4.3 Total symptoms and domain-specific symptoms measured by the MRS124

	6.4.4 Adiposity from childhood to midlife
	6.4.5 Sensitivity analysis
6.5	Discussion131
6.6	Conclusion134
6.7	Appendix 6 Supplementary material for Chapter 6135
Cha	apter 7: Summary and future directions137
7.1	Preamble
7.2	Summary of findings and public health implications137
	7.2.1 Childhood obesity before age 12 was associated with an increased risk of
	infertility
	7.2.2 Childhood adiposity was associated with an increased risk of pregnancy
	hypertension
	7.2.3 Childhood adiposity was positively associated with a higher risk of menstrual
	irregularity in both white and black women, however a higher risk of PCOS was
	only present in white women
	7.2.4 Childhood adiposity was not associated with VMS and vaginal dryness but was
	associated with other symptoms that are not clearly attributable to menopause at
	45-49 years
	7.2.5 Childhood abdominal obesity was associated with increased risks of women's
	reproductive health problems
	7.2.6 There are cumulative risks of childhood adiposity across the life course on
	reproductive health

Table of Contents

Apj	pendices165
Ref	erences148
7.4	Conclusion146
7.3	Future directions
	adiposity with women's reproductive health142
	7.2.7 Potential interpretations and mechanisms for the associations of childhood

List of Tables

Table 1.1 Overview of the prevalence of childhood abdominal obesity in USA, UK and China
Table 1.2 Prevalence of overweight and obesity among boys and girls aged 7-15 years, 1985
and 19955
Table 1.3 Prevalence of childhood abdominal obesity among boys and girls by year in New
South Wales, Australia7
Table 1.4 Summary of four studies reporting the association between childhood adiposity and
female infertility16
Table 1.5 Definitions and classifications of pregnancy hypertension 17
Table 1.6 Summary of two prospective studies reporting the association between childhood
obesity and pregnancy hypertension
Table 1.7 Recommended diagnostic criteria for polycystic ovary syndrome ¹⁰² 19
Table 1.8 Summary of two prospective population-based cohort studies reporting the
association between childhood obesity and menstrual irregularity and PCOS20
Table 2.1 Summary of adiposity measures in childhood and adulthood in CDAH study27
Table 2.2 Summary of reproductive health outcomes in adulthood in CDAH study
Table 2.3 Summary of adiposity measures in childhood and adulthood in BHS and adiposity
measures in adulthood in BBS
Table 2.4 Summary of reproductive health outcomes in BBS
Table 3.1 Characteristics of women in childhood (1985) and adulthood (2004–2011),
Childhood Determinants of Adult Health study ^a 46
Table 3.2 Associations between body composition measures in childhood with fertility
problem in adulthood stratified by childhood age, Childhood Determinants of Adult Health
study, 1985–2011

Table 4.1 Characteristics of participants in childhood (1985), CDAH-1 (2004-2006) and
CDAH-2 (2009-2011), Childhood Determinants of Adult Health study ^a
Table 4.2 Associations between adiposity measures in childhood with pregnancy
hypertension, Childhood Determinants of Adult Health study74
Table 4.3 Associations between abdominal measures in childhood with pregnancy
hypertension in CDAH-1 clinic participants, Childhood Determinants of Adult Health study
Table 4.4 Relative risk of pregnancy hypertension according to adiposity status from
childhood to adulthood, Childhood Determinants of Adult Health Study77
Table 5.1 Participants' characteristics in the Childhood Determinants of Adult Health Study
and the Babies sub-study of the Bogalusa Heart Study ^a 97
Table 5.2 Associations of adiposity in childhood with menstrual irregularity in adulthood in
CDAH and BBS
Table 5.3 Associations of adiposity in childhood with PCOS in adulthood in CDAH and
BBS
Table 5.4 Associations of adiposity in childhood with PCOS in adulthood in BBS, by race100
Table 5.5 Associations of weight status change from childhood to adulthood with menstrual
irregularity in CDAH and the BBS
Table 5.6 Associations of weight status change from childhood to adulthood with PCOS in
CDAH and BBS104
Table 6.1 Characteristics of participants in childhood (1985) and midlife (2018-2019),
Childhood Determinants of Adult Health study, Australia ^a
Table 6.2 Associations of childhood adiposity with vasomotor symptoms and vaginal dryness
measured by the MRS in midlife

Table 6.3 Associations of childhood adiposity with total menopausal symptoms and domain-
specific symptoms measured by the MRS in midlife126
Table 6.4 Associations of adiposity status from childhood to midlife with vasomotor
symptoms and vaginal dryness measured by the MRS129
Table 6.5 Associations of adiposity status from childhood to midlife with total menopausal
symptoms and domain-specific symptoms measured by the MRS130

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Global change in the prevalence of childhood overweight and obesity over time;
Figure produced from World Obesity Federation map ¹⁵ and World Health Organization
report ² 4
Figure 1.2 Proportion of overweight and obesity in children and adolescents aged 5-17, 1995
to 2014–15 in Australia; Figure produced from data reported by Australian Institute of Health
and Welfare ^{21, 22}
Figure 1.3 Conceptual framework describing the aetiology of childhood adiposity; Figure
reproduced from Multifactorial influences of childhood obesity. Current Obesity Reports
2013 ²⁴
Figure 1.4 Complications associated with childhood adiposity; Figure reproduced from
Childhood Obesity. Lancet 2010 ²⁸
Figure 2.1 Distribution of schools surveyed in the 1985 Australian Schools Health and
Fitness Survey indicated by the green dots; Figure reproduced from Australian Health and
Fitness Survey 1985: the fitness, health and physical performance of Australian school
students aged 7-15 years ¹³²
Figure 2.2 Brief schematic representation of the Bogalusa Heart Study between 1973 to 2010
Figure 3.1 Selection of participants for the Childhood Determinants of Adult Health (CDAH)
study, Australia, 1985-2011
Figure 3.2 Relative risk (RR) of infertility and childhood BMI z score, adjusting for age, and
parental status at baseline, follow-up length and marital status at adulthood50
Figure 4.1 Selection of participants for the Childhood Determinants of Adult Health (CDAH)
Study

Figure 4.2 Percentage of ever had pregnancy hypertension across abdominal obesity
category from childhood to adulthood, Childhood Determinants of Adult Health Study77
Figure 5.1 Flow chart of the study population for the Childhood Determinants of Adult
Health Study in Australia, 1985–2011
Figure 5.2 Flow chart of the study population for the Bogalusa Heart Study in the USA,
1973–2017
Figure 6.1 Selection of participants for the Childhood Determinants of Adult Health (CDAH)
Study

List of Appendices

Appendix A Reproductive health questions for female participants in CDAH-1 and CDAH-2
Appendix B Protocols for anthropometric measurements in CDAH-1 and CDAH-3 clinics172
Appendix C The Menopause Rating Scale for measuring menopausal symptoms in CDAH-3
Appendix D Diagnosis of menstrual irregularity and PCOS in BBS177
Appendix E Publications of Chapter 3, Chapter 4 and Chapter 5

Publications Arising from the Thesis

Chapter 3: He Y, Tian J, Oddy WH, Dwyer T, Venn AJ. Association of childhood obesity with female infertility in adulthood: a 25-year follow-up study. *Fertility and Sterility*. 2018;110(4): 596-604.

Chapter 4: He Y, Tian J, Blizzard L, Oddy WH, Dwyer T, Venn AJ. Associations of childhood adiposity and changes in adiposity status from childhood to adulthood with pregnancy hypertension. *Pregnancy Hypertension-An International Journal of Women's Cardiovascular Health.* 2020;19: 218-225.

Chapter 5: He Y, Tian J, Blizzard L, Oddy WH, Dwyer T, Bazzano LA, Hickey M, Harville EW, Venn AJ. Associations of childhood adiposity with menstrual irregularity and polycystic ovary syndrome in adulthood: The Childhood Determinants of Adult Health Study and the Bogalusa Heart Study. *Human Reproduction*. 2020 May;35(5):1185-1198.

Chapter 6: He Y, Tian J, Hickey M, Oddy WH, Dwyer T, Venn AJ. The associations of childhood adiposity with symptoms measured by the Menopause Rating Scale in women aged 45-49 years: an Australian cohort study. *Maturitas-An international journal of midlife health and beyond. Accepted September 27, 2020.*

Conferences Presentations Arising from the Thesis

- June, 2019 35th annual meeting of the European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology, Vienna, Austria – 23 June to 26 June 2019
 "Associations of childhood adiposity with menstrual irregularity and polycystic ovary syndrome in adulthood: the Childhood Determinants of Adult Health Study and the Bogalusa Heart Study" (Oral presentation)
- March, 2019 The XXIII Annual Congress of the Perinatal Society of Australian and New Zealand, Gold Coast, Australia 17 March to 20 March 2019

"Associations of childhood adiposity and changes in adiposity status from childhood to adulthood with pregnancy hypertension" (Oral presentation)

October, 2017 2017 Australian and New Zealand Obesity Society Conference, Adelaide, Australia – 04 Oct to 06 Oct 2017 "Association of childhood obesity with female infertility in adulthood: a 25-year follow-up study" (Oral presentation) September, 2017 2017 Graduate Research Conference Hobart, Australia – 07 Sep to 08 Sep 2017

"Association of childhood obesity with female infertility in adulthood: a 25-year follow-up study"

(Poster presentation)

List of Abbreviations

ASHFS	Australian Schools Health and Fitness Survey
BMI	Body mass index
BHS	Bogalusa Heart Study
BBS	Babies sub-study of the Bogalusa Heart Study
CDAH	Childhood Determinants of Adult Health
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
CI	Confidence interval
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
DALY	Disability-adjusted life year
DBP	Diastolic blood pressure
DGI	Dietary guidelines index
DXA	Dual x-ray absorptiometry
FSH	Follicle stimulating hormone
FTO	Fat mass and obesity-associated gene
GEE	Generalized estimating equations
GnRH	Gonadotropin-releasing hormone
НРО	Hypothalamic-pituitary-ovarian
HT	Hormone therapy
IOTF	International Obesity Task Force
LH	Luteinizing hormone
MRS	Menopause Rating Scale
NICE	National Institute for Clinical Excellence
NIH	National Institute of Health

List of Abbreviations

NNS	National Nutrition Survey
NR	Possible diagnostic criteria but not required to be present
PCOS	Polycystic ovary syndrome
РН	Pregnancy hypertension
PS	Prospective study
R	Required for diagnosis
RR	Relative risk
SBP	Systolic blood pressure
SEIFA	Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas
SD	Standard deviation
SHBG	Sex hormone-binding globulin
STRAW	Stages of Reproductive Aging Workshop
SWAN	Study of Women's Health Across the Nation
UK	the United Kingdom
USA	the United States of America
VMS	Vasomotor symptoms
WC	Waist circumference
WHO	World Health Organization
WHtR	Waist-to-height ratio

Abstract

Abstract

Background: The recent global epidemic of childhood overweight and obesity has significant clinical and public health implications, including for reproductive health. Adiposity (fatness) in childhood is associated with earlier onset of puberty, menstrual irregularity and polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) symptoms in adolescent girls. Adiposity in adult women is associated with greater risks of reproductive disorders, for example higher rates of infertility, menstrual disorders, pregnancy complications and menopausal symptoms. As the interest in the long-term health impacts of childhood adiposity grows, there is a need to better understand how childhood adiposity associates with female reproductive health in adulthood.

Aims: This thesis aimed to investigate the associations of different measures of childhood adiposity with reproductive outcomes in women including infertility, pregnancy hypertension, menstrual irregularity, PCOS and menopausal symptoms.

Methods: Data from two population-based cohorts were used for the analyses. The Childhood Determinants of Adult Health (CDAH) study from Australia was used to investigate associations of childhood adiposity with infertility, pregnancy hypertension, menstrual irregularity, PCOS and menopausal symptoms. CDAH is a follow-up study of 8,498 children with 4,191 girls aged 7-15 years who participated in 1985 Australian Schools Health and Fitness Survey (ASHFS), with up to 1,894 women included in the analyses. The Babies substudy of the Bogalusa Heart Study (BBS) from the United States of America (USA) was also used to investigate associations of childhood adiposity with menstrual irregularity and PCOS. The Bogalusa Heart Study (BHS) has followed-up a biracial population sample (65% white and 35% white) initially recruited at ages 3-18 years in 1973 in Bogalusa, Louisiana. The BBS sub-study of the BHS began in 2013 with a follow-up of 1,803 female participants.

xxxi

Abstract

The main childhood adiposity measures described in this thesis were body mass index (BMI) and waist-to-height ratio (WHtR). Childhood overweight and obesity were defined by international age-sex-specific standards for BMI. Childhood abdominal obesity was defined as WHtR ≥ 0.5 . Reproductive outcomes of infertility, pregnancy hypertension, menstrual irregularity, PCOS and menopausal symptoms, including vasomotor symptoms, vaginal dryness, total symptoms and three domain-specific symptoms (somatic, psychological and urogenital), were self-reported.

Results: Childhood obesity before 12 years of age, as defined by BMI, appeared to increase the risk of female infertility. Childhood adiposity was associated with increased risk of pregnancy hypertension, with the association of childhood abdominal obesity independent of adult abdominal obesity. Childhood adiposity was not associated with vasomotor symptoms and vaginal dryness that are consistently associated with menopause, but it was associated with more severe total, somatic, psychological and urogenital menopausal symptoms that are not clearly attributable to menopause in women aged 45-49 years. In both CDAH and the BBS cohorts, childhood adiposity was associated with an increased risk of menstrual irregularity and PCOS. However, the association with PCOS was present only in white and not black participants. The risks of adverse reproductive outcomes tended to be highest in women with persistently high adiposity from childhood to adulthood.

Conclusions: Childhood adiposity has important implications for the risks of adverse reproductive health outcomes in adulthood including infertility, pregnancy hypertension, menstrual irregularity, PCOS, total and three domain-specific menopausal symptoms, but not vasomotor symptoms and vaginal dryness in women aged 45-49 years. The prevention of childhood adiposity is important for reproductive health as well as disease prevention. Furthermore, as cumulative exposure to high adiposity status across the life course was associated with significantly higher risks of these adverse reproductive health outcomes, early

Abstract

intervention and prevention of high adiposity trajectories may help improve future women's reproductive health.

Chapter 1: Introduction

In this introductory chapter, an overall background for the thesis is provided. The chapter begins with the measurement of childhood adiposity and the epidemiology of childhood overweight, obesity and abdominal obesity, followed by a discussion of the aetiology of childhood adiposity, its tracking into adulthood and its adverse health consequences. Then several aspects of women's reproductive health that are the focus of this thesis are introduced and their associations with adiposity, particularly with childhood adiposity are summarized. Finally, the specific research aims of this thesis are proposed.

1.1 Measuring childhood adiposity

Adiposity is defined as the degree of body fat accumulation and in the current literature generally denotes excess body fat ¹. For the purposes of defining terms in this thesis, "overweight" and "obesity" are defined as per established classification metrics relative to body mass index (BMI). Adiposity is defined as abnormal or excess fat accumulation that presents significant risks to health which has a broader meaning than overweight and obesity.

A range of measures are available to assess adiposity with different advantages and disadvantages. The measures used in large-scale epidemiological studies and population surveys often need to be relatively easy and practical. This section will review available epidemiological methods both to clinicians and researchers for assessing childhood adiposity.

1.1.1 Body mass index

BMI is most widely used to indirectly measure overall body adiposity in the population based on relative weight. BMI is calculated as the ratio of weight in kilograms divided by height in meters squared (kg/m²). Because this calculation requires only height and weight, which is
inexpensive, non-invasive and easy to use, it is applied often by clinicians, researchers and the general public.

In adults, the World Health Organization (WHO) classifies overweight and obesity depending on BMI values. Obesity is defined as a BMI of 30 kg/m² or more and overweight is defined as BMI equal to or more than 25 kg/m². However, in children and adolescents, there is no fixed value of BMI to help define overweight and obesity because body composition changes with normal growth and differs between boys and girls ^{3,4}. Weight status in children and adolescents needs to be assessed using age- and sex-specific reference values. The following three reference standards have been commonly used to define childhood overweight and obesity by BMI ⁵⁻⁸ and are described below.

The first reference is the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) growth chart from the United States of America (USA) ⁵. In this USA nationally representative survey data from 1963-1995, childhood overweight and obesity have been identified as a BMI above the 85th and below the 95th centile and above the 95th centile for children of the same age and sex. However, due to data being based on the sample from the USA only, this definition is not universally accepted. The second is the WHO reference. In 2006 and 2007, WHO provided child growth standards for 0-60 months and growth reference for 5-19 years school-age children and adolescents ^{6, 7}. These charts are based on samples selected to represent optimal growth and there was difficulty in choosing appropriate cut-off values because z-scores were applied, and cut-off points such as z-scores of >1 for childhood overweight and z-scores of >2 for childhood obesity were chosen mainly on the basis of statistical criteria rather than on the basis of health outcomes. The third reference is the International Obesity Task Force (IOTF) definition that resolved the issue of choosing a cut-off value by linking to adult values. The IOTF developed an international definition for childhood overweight and obesity based on pooled data on children from cross-sectional surveys in 6 countries: Brazil, the United

Kingdom (UK), Hong Kong (China), the Netherlands, Singapore and the USA⁸. This definition is less arbitrary and more universal than the others and is linked to the widely accepted adult cut-off points of a BMI of 25 and 30 kg/m² associated with adverse health in later life⁹. In this thesis, the IOTF reference has been used to define childhood overweight and obesity.

1.1.2 Other measures of childhood adiposity

BMI values only serve as an indicator of relative weight and are an imperfect measure of adiposity which cannot distinguish between different tissues (eg, fat, muscle, bone) or different body fat distributions (eg, upper/lower, abdominal/peripheral). Other epidemiological measures of body composition include indirect measures such as waist circumference (WC), skinfold thickness and bioelectrical impedance analysis and direct measures such as underwater weighing (densitometry) and dual x-ray absorptiometry (DXA)^{10, 11}. Though direct measures have been considered as the gold standards for body fat assessment, these measures are more costly and less feasible for clinical and epidemiological settings compared with indirect measures. Among all the measures of body adiposity, WC has been proposed as a simple and robust proxy for abdominal adiposity or abdominal obesity. However, for people with the same WC but different heights, the degree of abdominal fat distribution may be different. Thus, to control for the height variability, another proxy for abdominal obesity is the waist/height ratio (WHtR) which has been highly recommended for both children and adults in recent years ^{12, 13}. A WHtR boundary value of 0.50 has been proposed as a simple means of indicating the amount of abdominal fat accumulation as excessive and poses a risk to health ¹². There is a simple public health message for this which applies to children and adults of both sexes and all ages that states 'keep your waist circumference to less than half your height' ¹⁴. In this thesis, WHtR has been considered as an important indication of childhood abdominal obesity.

1.2 Prevalence of childhood overweight, obesity and abdominal obesity

1.2.1 The global view

The global prevalence of childhood overweight and obesity has increased dramatically since the 1990s (Figure 1.1). The alarmingly increasing rate of childhood overweight and obesity and its threat to health has made childhood obesity one of the most serious public health crises challenging the medical community in the 21st century.



¹⁹⁶⁰s-1990s

Figure 1.1 Global change in the prevalence of childhood overweight and obesity over time; Figure produced from World Obesity Federation map ¹⁵ and World Health Organization report ²

According to a WHO report, the prevalence of overweight and obesity among children and adolescents more than quadrupled in the forty years from 1975 to 2016 (increasing from 4.0% to 18.0%) 16 . In 1975, less than 1.0% of children and adolescents aged 5-19 years were obese, however by 2016, this figure had dramatically increased to more than 6.0% (6.0% of girls and 8.0% of boys were obese) 16 .

The global prevalence of childhood abdominal obesity has not been thoroughly summarized in the literature, however, several studies from different countries have suggested a consistently significant increase of the prevalence over the past few decades (Table 1.1) ^{14, 17-19}.

²⁰⁰⁰⁻²⁰¹⁹

Country	Survey	Childhood age Definition of childhood		Year	Prevalence of abdominal obesity (%)	
			abdominal obesity		Boys	Girls
USA	National Health and		WHtR≥0.5			
	Nutrition Examination					
		6-19 years		1988-1994	19.3%	21.5%
		6-19 years		1999-2004	29.0%	30.5%
		6-18 years		2011-2012	29.8%	36.2%
UK			WHtR≥0.5			
	British Standards Institute Survey	11-16 years		1977	3.5%-5.5%	1.0-3.0%
	National Diet and Nutrition Survey	11-16 years		1997	17.0%	11.7%
China	China Health and Nutrition Survey	6-17 years	WC above the 90th percentile for gender and age			
				1993	3.4%-4.5%	11.1%-11.7%
				2009	3.2%-8.4%	10.8%-13.0%

Table 1.1 Overview of the prevalence of childhood abdominal obesity in USA, UK and China

Table produced from data reported in the representative cross-sectional surveys in USA ^{17, 18}, UK ¹⁴ and China ¹⁹.

Abbreviation: UK, the United Kingdom; USA, the United States of America; WC, waist circumference; WHtR, waist-to-height ratio.

1.2.2 Childhood overweight, obesity and abdominal obesity in Australia

Australia has joined the global surge in the rise of the childhood obesity epidemic. The most recent national survey data on the prevalence of obesity in Australian children (aged 7-15 years) were available from the 1985 Australian Schools Health and Fitness Survey (ASHFS) and the 1995 National Nutrition Survey (NNS). These two time points of national data collection show that the prevalence of childhood overweight and obesity in 1985 rose considerably to 1995 ²⁰ (Table 1.2).

Table 1.2 Prevalence of overweight and obesity among boys and girls aged 7-15years, 1985 and 1995

	Overwei	ight (%)	Obese (%)		
	Year 1985	Year 1995	Year 1985	Year 1995	
Boys	9.3%	15.3%	1.4%	4.7%	
Girls	10.6%	16.0%	1.2%	5.5%	

Table produced from data reported by the Parliament of Australia²⁰.

The prevalence of overweight and obesity in Australian children after 1995 is available from the Australian Bureau of Statistics' National Health Survey. For children aged 5-17 years, the prevalence of overweight/obesity rose from 21.0% in 1995, 25.0% in 2007-2008 to 27.0% in 2014-2015. Since 2007- 2008, the trend of childhood obesity has remained relatively stable at



Figure 1.2 Proportion of overweight and obesity in children and adolescents aged 5-17, 1995 to 2014–15 in Australia; Figure produced from data reported by Australian Institute of Health and Welfare ^{21, 22}

around 7.5% ²¹ (Figure1.2). In 2017-2018, about 1 in 4 (24.9%) children aged 5-17 years were overweight or obese ²². Among them about 8.1% of children were obese (Figure1.2). Similar rates of overweight and obesity were found for boys and girls in that age group (26.1% of boys, and 24.0% of girls), and for obesity alone (8.5% of boys, 7.4% of girls) ²².

The prevalence and trends of childhood abdominal obesity in Australia have been recently reported and showed to be significantly increased between 1985 and 2015 ²³. This study was based on five cross-sectional surveys (from 1985 to 2015) conducted among primary school children (aged 3-13 years) and high school adolescents (aged 10-19 years) in New South Wales, Australia (Table 1.3).

	Childhood abdominal obesity ^a (%)					
	Year 1985	Year 1997	Year 2004	Year 2010	Year 2015	
Primary school children						
Boys	8.4%	13.1%	6.8%	12.2%	15.5%	
Girls	8.5%	9.3%	4.8%	12.1%	13.6%	
High school adolescents						
Boys	10.5%	10.7%	7.2%	9.6%	15.8%	
Girls	8.1%	8.4%	3.6%	7.4%	8.0%	

Table 1.3 Prevalence of childhood abdominal obesity among boys and girls by year in New South Wales, Australia.

^a Childhood abdominal obesity was defined as waist-to-height ratio ≥0.5.

Table produced from data reported by 30-year trends in overweight, obesity and waist-to-height ratio by socioeconomic status in Australian children, 1985 to 2015. International Journal of Obesity 2017²³.

1.3 Aetiology of childhood adiposity

For most children, there is no single underlying cause of excess body fat. It is widely accepted that childhood adiposity is caused by a complex interaction between the genetic, environment and many other factors (Figure 1.3)²⁴. These factors contribute to a positive imbalance between



Figure 1.3 Conceptual framework describing the aetiology of childhood adiposity; Figure reproduced from Multifactorial influences of childhood obesity. Current Obesity Reports 2013²⁴

energy intake and energy expenditure and result in excess body fat accumulation in childhood at the endpoints of the developmental pathway ²⁴.

1.4 Tracking of childhood adiposity into adulthood

Adiposity in childhood tends to track over time ²⁵. Childhood adiposity was strongly predictive of adiposity in adulthood, confirmed in a previous study from our team based on a 20-year follow-up of participants in the 1985 ASHFS in Australia ²⁶. In this study, 68% of children with overweight and obesity aged 7-15 years remained overweight or obese as young adults. On the other hand, 80% of those who were overweight or obese as young adults were a healthy weight as children.

Another study, the Bogalusa Heart Study (BHS) from the USA, demonstrated childhood BMI not only predicted adult BMI but was also associated with other adult adiposity measures as the thickness of the triceps and subscapular skinfold ²⁷. In 2008, a systematic review that included 25 studies provided an update of the existing evidence concerning the persistence of childhood adiposity ²⁵. All the included studies indicated an increased risk for those who were overweight or obese in childhood to become overweight or obese in adulthood. Among the high-quality studies, this risk has been found to be more than two times for children with overweight or obesity compared with children with normal weight. It concluded that there is a moderate likelihood adiposity is an independent risk factor for adverse adult health consequences irrespective of adult adiposity remains uncertain, its prevention is an important public health priority to help reduce the risk of adult adiposity and to prevent its short-term (for the child) and long-term (in adulthood) health consequences.

1.5 Health consequences of childhood adiposity

Adiposity in childhood and adolescence negatively affects nearly every organ system including the reproductive system with potential short- and long-term health consequences (Figure 1.4). For example, excess body fat has been associated with vitamin D and iron deficiency in children ^{29, 30}. Further, orthopaedic complaints, for example, fractures, musculoskeletal disorders, decreased mobility, and lower limb malalignment may be seen more frequently in children with obesity compared to children who are of normal weight ³¹. In addition, respiratory disorders, including asthma, obstructive sleep apnoea and other reactive airway disease are more often observed among children with obesity ³².



Figure 1.4 Complications associated with childhood adiposity; Figure reproduced from Childhood Obesity. Lancet 2010²⁸

Image obtained by dual energy X-ray absorptiometry from a teenage girl with BMI 38 kg/m^2 .

Every possible consequence of childhood adiposity is not discussed in detail in the next section but the cardiovascular risks as the most widely studied physical consequences and psychosocial consequences as the most widespread consequences are introduced ^{33, 34}. In addition, here the consequences of childhood adiposity on reproductive health during adolescence and adulthood will also be touched on to bring up the topic of this thesis.

1.5.1 Cardiovascular health consequences

The cardiovascular health consequences associated with childhood adiposity are the most widely studied in the current literature. For example, a large number of high-quality studies have consistently reported that childhood adiposity increased cardiovascular risk factors in both childhood and adults. In childhood, including high blood pressure, dyslipidaemia, insulin resistance, disturbances of left ventricular structure and function and endothelial dysfunction, etc³⁵. Furthermore, abdominal fatness has been suggested as a primary driver of cardiometabolic dysfunction ³⁶. In adulthood, many studies have shown a positive relationship between childhood adiposity and risk factors for adult cardiovascular disease (CVD), but it remains unclear whether this association is independent of adult adiposity. One previous study combined data from four cohorts and indicated that the increase in cardiovascular risk in adults was associated with childhood obesity as measured by BMI because of the tracking of obesity from childhood to adulthood ³⁷. Another study from our team indicated that elevated waist circumference in childhood, independent of changes in waist circumference from childhood to adulthood, was strongly associated with subsequent cardio-metabolic health in early adulthood ³⁸. The relative contributions of childhood and adult adiposity to cardiovascular outcomes have yet to be fully delineated.

1.5.2 Psychological consequences

In childhood, psychological morbidity is likely to be the most widespread health consequence of childhood adiposity ³³. A recent systematic review that included 53 studies (cross-sectional and longitudinal) established that childhood overweight and obesity were negatively associated with multiple psychological comorbidities during childhood, including depression, emotional and behavioural disorders, poor health-related quality of life and lower self-esteem during childhood ³⁹. Another systematic review included 15 prospective studies and provided support for the temporal relationship between psychological conditions including depression, behaviour disorders and low self-esteem with subsequent childhood overweight and obesity ⁴⁰. Therefore, the current literature indicates a bi-directional relationship between adiposity and psychological disorders during childhood.

In the longer term, however, fewer studies have reported the association of childhood adiposity with psychological consequences in adults. To the best of our knowledge, six population-based cohort studies have reported this long-term association ⁴¹⁻⁴⁶. Five of them ⁴²⁻⁴⁶ suggested that childhood overweight or obesity may increase risk for depression, anxiety and mood disorders in adulthood, but one study reported no association ⁴¹.

1.5.3 Reproductive health

Reproductive health in females from menarche to menopause and beyond encompasses a wide range of topics. In adolescent girls, early onset of puberty, menstrual irregularity and polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) symptoms are the three most prominent reproductive problems linked to childhood adiposity ⁴⁷. A recent meta-analysis indicated that girls with obesity had more than two times the risk of early puberty compared with normal weight girls ⁴⁸. The diagnosis of menstrual disorders and is difficult to make in adolescents, as menstrual irregularity, symptoms of androgen excess (e.g., acne) and multi-follicular ovary morphology could be

normal or transitory in puberty ⁴⁹. However, childhood adiposity has been considered to be associated with menstrual irregularity in adolescence, and play an important role in the development of PCOS ^{50, 51}. Although it is generally accepted that adult adiposity adversely affects female reproductive health including infertility, pregnancy complications, miscarriage, preterm birth, menstrual disorders, PCOS, menopausal symptoms and a number of other reproductive problems ⁵²⁻⁵⁴, very little is known about the long-term risk for these reproductive outcomes from childhood adiposity. In the next section 1.6, the long-term associations of childhood adiposity with several aspects of reproductive health will be captured.

In general, the associations of adiposity with male reproductive health have been much less studied. In adolescent boys, observations of the associations of overweight and obesity with pubertal timing are inconsistent with either early or delayed pubertal onset ⁴⁸. Childhood adiposity may also be associated with hypogonadism in boys but more data is needed to confirm this association ⁵⁵. In males, adult adiposity has been suggested to be associated with reduced fertility, semen quality ⁵⁶ and greater risk of erectile dysfunction ⁵⁷. Similar to women's reproductive health, there is a lack of long-term follow-up studies of male reproductive health following childhood adiposity. As far as we know, only two studies have been reported indicating no association of childhood BMI with semen quality in adulthood ^{58, 59}.

In summary, in the past few decades, while many studies have contributed knowledge on the associations of childhood adiposity with a broad range of health consequences, the long-term effects of childhood adiposity remain unclear in many aspects, including reproductive health. In the following section, reproductive health in women and its associations with adiposity, especially childhood adiposity, are reviewed.

1.6 Reproductive health in women and its association with adiposity

Within the framework of the WHO definition, reproductive health is a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being, and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity, in all matters relating to the reproductive system and to reproductive functions and processes ⁶⁰. Reproductive and sexual ill-health make a major contribution to the global disease burden, particularly for women, estimated to account for 21.9% of the disability-adjusted life year (DALY) lost for women compared with only 3.9% for men ⁶¹. Here, we will cover several reproductive health outcomes in women, including infertility, pregnancy hypertension, menstrual irregularity and polycystic ovary syndrome, and menopausal symptoms, that are the focus of this thesis. For a logical order, their relationships with adult adiposity are introduced first and then their long-term associations with childhood adiposity are reviewed.

1.6.1 Infertility

Infertility is a critical component of reproductive health. The definition of infertility is different across clinical practice, epidemiological research and demographic studies. The classic clinical definition of infertility is defined as the inability to conceive after 12 months of unprotected intercourse ⁶². Epidemiological and demographic definition of infertility used a two-year and five-year "exposure period" ⁶³. Besides, many reproductive health surveys ask women about infertility treatment and whether they had visited a doctor for help getting pregnant. These inconsistent definitions used in the studies have made the global infertility prevalence rates difficult to determine ⁶⁴. An estimate from 25 population surveys sampling 172,413 women aged 20-44 indicates a 9% prevalence of infertility (of 12 months) ⁶⁵. More recently, a study based on data from 190 countries shows that the overall burden of infertility (of 12 months) is estimated to affect one in six couples during their reproductive life ^{67, 68}. Although there is no clear

evidence of a recent change to a higher prevalence of infertility, there has been an increased awareness of infertility and assisted reproduction ⁶⁹.

1.6.1.1 Adult adiposity and infertility

Adiposity in women has been associated with an increased risk of infertility which has been extensively studied in the past and has been well summarised in the literature ⁷⁰⁻⁷³. The United Kingdom's National Institute for Clinical Excellence (NICE) fertility guidelines has made initial advice to women concerned about delays in conception that 'Women who have a body mass index of more than 29 should be informed that they are likely to take longer to conceive' ⁷⁴. Also, abdominal obesity has been suggested to may have more impact on infertility, as it linked more with hormonal abnormalities, for example, more hyperandrogenism and insulin resistance, which can disrupt ovulation ^{75, 76}. Ovulatory dysfunction is the main cause of infertility in women with adiposity ⁷⁰.

1.6.1.2 Childhood adiposity and infertility

The long-term relationship of childhood adiposity with infertility remains unclear. Four studies have reported the association with childhood overweight and obesity and childhood skinfold thickness as summarised in Table 1.4 Summary of four studies reporting the association between childhood adiposity and female infertility Two of them were prospective studies ^{77, 78} and two were retrospective studies ^{79, 80}. The two retrospective studies from the USA, the Nurses Health Study ⁷⁹ and the Study of Women's Health Across the Nation (SWAN) ⁸⁰, both reported that adolescent obesity was associated with infertility problems. However, the results from the two prospective studies are inconsistent. The 1958 British birth cohort study found childhood BMI at 7 years had little impact on later infertility ⁷⁷, however, the Bogalusa Heart Study reported there was a difference in the associations by adiposity during various time periods of growth ⁷⁸. Those with childhood adiposity before age 12 (childhood obesity and high

Chapter 1: Introduction

childhood skinfold thickness) were more likely to report infertility but no association was found with childhood adiposity between ages 13-18 years. Furthermore, no study yet has reported the association with childhood abdominal obesity. Therefore, more research is required to determine the association between childhood adiposity and infertility.

Chapter 1: Introduction

Study	Country/Year of publication	Design	Participants	Female age	Childhood age	Adiposity measure	Primary outcomes	Key findings
Rich- Edwards JW et al. 79	USA/1994	Case control study	49,245 female nurses (cases 2,627 ovulatory infertility and controls 46,718)	25-42 years	18 years	BMI	Risk factors for ovulatory infertility	Elevated BMI at age 18 is a risk factor for subsequent ovulatory infertility
Lake JK et al. ⁷⁷	UK/1997	Prospective study	5,799 females in the 1958 British birth cohort study	33 years	7 years	BMI	Infertility	Childhood BMI had little impact on infertility
Polotsky AJ et al. 80	USA/2010	Retrospective study	The Study of Women's Health Across the Nation (SWAN) 3,154 women	42-52 years	High school	BMI	Lifetime nulliparity and lifetime nulligravidity	Adolescent obesity is associated with lifetime nulliparity and nulligravidity in midlife
Jacobs MB et al. 78	USA/2017	Prospective study	1,061 women Bogalusa Heart Study	45.5 years	<9-18 years	BMI; skinfold thickness	Fertility difficulties	Childhood adiposity before12 was more likely to report fertility difficulties

Table 1.4 Summary of four studies reporting the association between childhood adiposity and female infertility

Abbreviation: BMI, body mass index; UK, the United Kingdom; USA, the United States of America.

1.6.2 Pregnancy hypertension

Pregnancies complicated by hypertension are associated with an increased risk of maternal morbidity ^{81, 82}. A WHO review identified pregnancy hypertension as a leading cause of maternal death in both developed and undeveloped countries, accounting for 9%-25% of maternal deaths ⁸³. Pregnancy hypertension includes four categories: gestational hypertension, pre-eclampsia, chronic hypertension and chronic hypertension with superimposed pre-eclampsia. Among them, pre-eclampsia represents the severe end of the spectrum that complicates about 3% of pregnancies, and overall hypertensive disorders affect about 5%-10% of pregnancies ⁸⁴. The definitions of pregnancy hypertension are summarized below in Table 1.5.

Classification	Symptoms	Onset during the pregnancy
Gestational hypertension	Blood pressure>140/90 mmHg	>20 weeks and returns to normal within 12 weeks postpartum
Pre-eclampsia	Gestational hypertension + proteinuria (defined as the urinary excretion of ≥300 mg of protein in 24 h)	>20 weeks
Chronic hypertension	Pre-existing hypertension	Before pregnancy
Chronic hypertension with superimposed pre-eclampsia	Chronic hypertension + pre-eclampsia	>20 weeks

Table 1.5 Definitions and classifications of pregnancy hypertension

1.6.2.1 Adult adiposity and pregnancy hypertension

Epidemiological studies show strong evidence of higher adult BMI increasing the risk of pregnancy hypertension. In a systematic review, the risk of preeclampsia doubled with each 5-7 kg/m² increase in pre-pregnancy BMI ⁸⁵. Abdominal obesity in women has also been suggested to be more strongly associated with pregnancy hypertension because in nonpregnant status, centrally located fat is a more potent determinant of blood pressure elevation than peripheral body fat ⁸⁶, though not many studies have reported the association of pregnancy

hypertension with abdominal obesity measures ⁸⁷⁻⁸⁹. One prospective cohort study from Australia reported that each 1 cm increase in waist circumference in women showed a 4% increased risk for pregnancy hypertension ⁸⁸.

1.6.2.2 Childhood adiposity and pregnancy hypertension

For the associations with childhood adiposity, two prospective studies have reported consistent findings that higher childhood BMI increased the risk of pregnancy hypertension (Table 1.6). However, evidence for whether this association was independent of adult BMI remains unclear, as adult BMI was only considered in the study from Lake JK *et al* and they reported that the risk of pregnancy hypertension did not persist after further adjustment for adult BMI ⁷⁷. Although abdominal obesity in childhood BMI ⁹⁰, no studies have reported whether childhood abdominal obesity is associated with pregnancy hypertension. Further work is required to examine the association between various childhood adiposity measures with pregnancy hypertension, particularly if the association remains independent of corresponding adult adiposity measures.

	Country/			Adult	Childhood		Primary	
Study	Year of publication	Design	Participants	age	Age	Adiposity measure	outcomes	Key findings
Lake JK et al. ⁷⁷	UK/1997	PS	5,799 females in the 1958 British birth cohort	33	7	BMI	Self- reported PH	Elevated BMI in childhood is associated with increased risk of PH
Li S et al. ⁹¹	USA/2016	PS	703 women BHS	25.5- 51.3	<9-18	BMI		

 Table 1.6 Summary of two prospective studies reporting the association between

 childhood obesity and pregnancy hypertension

Abbreviation: BMI, body mass index; BHS, Bogalusa Heart Study; PS, prospective study; PH, pregnancy hypertension; UK, the United Kingdom; USA, the United States of America.

1.6.3 Menstrual irregularity and polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS)

The regularity of menstrual cycles is considered an important marker of healthy reproductive function in women ⁹². A normal menstrual cycle is typically in the range of 25-35 days ⁹²⁻⁹⁵. Irregular menstrual cycles are often defined as abnormal variation or variability in length of menstrual cycles. The clinical consensus recommendations of menstrual irregularity for women >3 years post menarche to perimenopause defines it as a menstrual cycle <21 or >35 days or <8 cycles per year ⁹⁶. It is assumed that menstrual irregularity affects 10-38% of menstruating women ⁹⁷⁻¹⁰⁰. Irregular menstrual cycles are part of the three diagnostic criteria (National Institutes of Health, Rotterdam and Androgen Excess Society diagnostic criteria) for PCOS in addition to hyperandrogenism and polycystic ovarian morphology ⁹⁶. PCOS is recognized as the most common heterogeneous endocrine disorder affecting 8-13% of women of reproductive age ¹⁰¹. The three recommended diagnostic criteria for PCOS are summarized in Table 1.7.

Signs and symptoms	National Institutes of Health Criteria 1990 (both are required for diagnosis)	Rotterdam Consensus Criteria 2003 (two out of three are required for diagnosis)	Androgen Excess Society 2006 (hyperandrogenism plus one out of remaining two are required for diagnosis)
Irregular cycles and ovulatory dysfunction	R	NR	R
Hyperandrogenism ^a	R	NR	NR
Polycystic ovaries by ultrasound diagnosis		NR	NR

Table 1.7 Recommended diagnostic criteria for polycystic ovary syndrome ¹⁰²

Abbreviations: R, required for diagnosis; NR, possible diagnostic criteria but not required to be present. ^a Hyperandrogenism refers to either the presence of hirsutism or biochemical hyperandrogenemia. Table reproduced from Polycystic Ovary Syndrome: American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG) practice bulletin, number 194. Obstetrics and Gynecology 2018.

1.6.3.1 Adult adiposity, menstrual irregularity and PCOS

It is clear in the literature that women with obesity as well as abdominal obesity are more likely to experience menstrual cycle irregularity than women with normal adiposity status ¹⁰³. However, the cause and effect relationship between PCOS and adiposity remains unclear. A

comprehensive systematic review included 106 studies with 35 studies included in the metaanalysis concluded that women with PCOS had significantly greater risk of overweight, obesity, and central obesity ¹⁰⁴. However, as this is a cross-sectional investigation, the temporal relationship between adiposity and PCOS could not be determined. It has been suggested in the literature that both environmental and genetic factors are implicated in the development of PCOS ¹⁰⁵. The importance of the role of adiposity in the development of PCOS remains to be confirmed in longitudinal studies.

1.6.3.2 Childhood adiposity, menstrual irregularity and PCOS

To our knowledge, only two prospective population-based studies have reported the long-term associations of childhood BMI with menstrual irregularity and PCOS in adulthood and these associations with childhood abdominal obesity remain a gap in knowledge (Table 1.8).

Table 1.8 Summary of two prospective population-based cohort studies reporting theassociation between childhood obesity and menstrual irregularity and PCOS

G(1	Country/Year	D	Dertition	Adult	Childhood		Primary	
Study	of publication	Design	Participants	age	Age	Adiposity measure	outcomes	Key findings
Lake JK et al. ⁷⁷	UK/1997	PS	5,799 females from the 1958 British birth cohort study	33	7	BMI	Menstrual irregularity	Obesity at age seven increased the risk of menstrual irregularity
Laitinen . et al. ¹⁰⁶	J Finland/2016	PS	2,007 women from 1966 North Finland birth cohort	31	14	BMI	Self-reported PCOS	Obesity at age 14 was associated with self-reported PCOS at age 31

Abbreviation: BMI, body mass index; PCOS, polycystic ovary syndrome; PS, prospective study; UK, the United Kingdom.

Although both studies reported consistent findings of a positive association of childhood BMI with menstrual irregularity and PCOS and the literature suggests that a pathway linking childhood adiposity with menstrual irregularity and hyperandrogenemia may increase the risk of PCOS^{107, 108}, at the time of writing, no formal studies report an increasing prevalence of

PCOS with the rising tide of childhood obesity ⁵⁰. On the contrary, a similar prevalence of PCOS among populations and races with different prevalence of adiposity may imply that adiposity does not play a critical role in the development of PCOS ¹⁰⁹. Thus, further studies to investigate the associations of childhood obesity, including childhood abdominal obesity, with menstrual irregularity and PCOS in different populations and races are needed.

1.6.4 Menopausal symptoms

The term "menopause" refers to the final menstrual period and it marks the end of a woman's reproductive life. Most women become menopausal naturally between the ages of 45 and 55 years, with the median age of onset at 51 years ¹¹⁰. The menopause transition starts at around 47 years ¹¹⁰. It is a time from the onset of menstrual cycle changes until one year after the final menstrual period and is often accompanied by various bothersome symptoms ¹¹¹. Among these symptoms, vasomotor symptoms (VMS) and vaginal dryness are most consistently associated with the menopause transition and are attributable to ovarian aging and senescence ¹¹². Other symptoms such as mood changes, sleep disturbances, and urinary incontinence may be secondary to other symptoms or related to other causes that are not specific to menopause ¹¹³⁻ ¹¹⁵. The measurement of menopausal symptoms has been difficult. Various tools have been developed to assess menopausal symptoms, but most of them lacked standardization, validity and reliability. The Menopause Rating Scale (MRS) is one of the common menopausal symptom scales that has been well accepted internationally. The MRS grades the self-reported severity of 11 symptoms (hot flashes and sweating i.e. VMS, heart discomfort, sleep problems, depressive mood, irritability, anxiety, physical and mental exhaustion, sexual problems, bladder problems, dryness of vagina, joint and muscular discomfort) on a standardized scale from 0 to 4¹¹⁶. During the standardization of the instrument, three dimensions have been identified: somatic (VMS, heart discomfort, sleep problems, joint and muscular discomfort), psychological (depressive mood, irritability, anxiety, physical and mental exhaustion) and urogenital symptoms (sexual problems, bladder problems, dryness of vagina). The high reliability and validity of the MRS from the current available methodological evidence has suggested the clinical utility of the scale in monitoring menopausal symptoms over time ¹¹⁶.

1.6.4.1 Adult adiposity and menopausal symptoms

For many years, more adipose in women was assumed to be protective against VMS because androgens are aromatized into estrogens in body fat ¹¹⁷. However, recent studies have shown that adiposity is a key risk factor for VMS during the menopause transition and early postmenopause. Women with obesity and abdominal obesity are more likely to report VSM ^{118, 119}. This association may be explained by the thermoregulatory theory that hypothesizes that adipose tissue acts as an insulator resulting in elevated core body temperature, thereby increasing the occurrence and the severity of hot flashes ¹²⁰. Other physiologic mechanisms refer to the endocrine function of adipose tissue. The multiple cytokines and inflammatory factors secreted by adipose tissue may also increase the risk of VMS occurrence ¹²¹⁻¹²³ and/or relate to ovarian insufficiency ^{124, 125}. Evidence on the association between adiposity and vaginal dryness is limited. Several cross-sectional studies have reported that there was no significant association of higher adult BMI with vaginal dryness ^{126, 127}. For other menopausal symptoms, adiposity was found to be associated with joint and urinary symptoms during the menopausal transition, however, it is not clearly known whether these symptoms are attributable to menopause ¹²⁶.

1.6.4.2 Childhood adiposity and menopausal symptoms

Our current knowledge on how adiposity is associated with menopausal symptoms is limited to studies from adulthood. Up to now, no study has reported the long-term association of childhood adiposity with menopausal symptoms in midlife women. However, a number of epidemiological studies have investigated the influence of birthweight on age at natural menopause but with mixed findings ¹²⁸. A systematic review included 11 studies on birth weight and age at menopause reported that nine studies indicated no association of low birth weight with age at menopause while two studies suggested that a higher birth weight was associated with early menopause ¹²⁹. Recently, another one study reported that lower birth weight was associated with natural menopause at an earlier age ¹³⁰. To our knowledge, only one study in the literature has reported the association of childhood BMI with age at menopause and indicated no association with childhood BMI at age 15 ¹³¹.

1.7 Summary

Adiposity in adulthood has a profound impact on female reproductive health with multiple adverse outcomes. However, the long-term associations of reproductive health with childhood adiposity remain understudied. Furthermore, there are gaps in the literature about how childhood abdominal obesity and the change in adiposity status from childhood to adulthood are associated with women's reproductive health. Therefore, in this thesis I will determine the long-term associations of childhood adiposity with the above-mentioned reproductive health outcomes with data available from two cohort studies. One is the Childhood Determinants of Adult Health (CDAH) study from Australia and the other is the Bogalusa Babies Sub-Study (BBS) from the USA. Both studies will be described in the next chapter, Chapter 2. The research aims of this thesis and the chapters where they are presented in detail are outlined below.

1.8 Research aims

- 1. To evaluate whether childhood adiposity is associated with infertility during women's reproductive years (Chapter 3).
- 2. To investigate the associations between adiposity in childhood, and change in adiposity status from childhood to adulthood, with pregnancy hypertension (Chapter 4).

- 3. To estimate the associations of childhood adiposity with menstrual irregularity and PCOS in adulthood and determine whether these differed by race (Chapter 5).
- 4. To examine the associations of adiposity in childhood with menopausal symptoms in women aged 45-49 years (Chapter 6).

Childhood adiposity measures in this thesis include overall adiposity measured by BMI and different abdominal adiposity measures. Childhood overweight and obesity were defined by age-sex-specific international standards for BMI and abdominal obesity defined as the waist-to-height ratio (WHtR) \geq 0.5.

Chapter 2: Methods

All the studies presented in this thesis including from Chapter 3 to Chapter 6 used data from the Childhood Determinants of Adult Health (CDAH) study. Chapter 5 additionally used data from the Babies Sub-Study the Bogalusa Heart Study (BBS). The information in this chapter provides an overview of these two cohorts and the statistical methods in the studies.

2.1 The Childhood Determinants of Adult Health (CDAH) study

The CDAH study is an Australian-based cohort that followed schoolchildren who participated in the 1985 Australian Schools Health and Fitness Survey (ASHFS). So far, there have been three follow-ups. The overall aim of the CDAH study is to examine the importance of childhood factors in the development of adult cardiovascular diseases and diabetes. During the follow-ups of CDAH, reproductive health questions were included for female participants, which enables an investigation of the long-term associations of childhood adiposity with women's reproductive health over a 35-year lifespan.

2.1.1 The Australian Schools Health and Fitness Survey (ASHFS) (1985)

2.1.1.1 Participants

The 1985 ASHFS was conducted on a nationally representative sample of 8,498 Australian schoolchildren with 4,191 girls aged 7-15 years. To achieve a nationally representative sample, a two-stage probability sample was used. The first stage was the sampling of schools. Primary and secondary schools were selected to represent each state and territory of Australia with a probability proportional to the enrolment numbers of students. A total of 109 schools were finally surveyed (Figure 2.1). The second stage was the sampling of boys and girls in each age group. Samples of groups of boys and girls of each age were drawn from the total school

enrolment randomly. The measurements included in the 1985 ASHFS covered an extensive range of health, lifestyle, physical fitness and physical performance parameters. Anthropometry was conducted as part of the health measures which could help estimate childhood adiposity.



Figure 2.1 Distribution of schools surveyed in the 1985 Australian Schools Health and Fitness Survey indicated by the green dots; Figure reproduced from Australian Health and Fitness Survey 1985: the fitness, health and physical performance of Australian school students aged 7-15 years ¹³²

2.1.1.2 Childhood adiposity measures

Adiposity measures in this thesis included BMI and several abdominal adiposity measures (Table 2.1). BMI was calculated as weight (kg)/height (m)² and classified into normal, overweight and obese weight status by using international age- and sex-specific cut-points in childhood ⁸. Waist-to-hip ratio was calculated as waist circumference (cm)/hip circumference (cm). WHtR was calculated as waist circumference (cm)/height (cm) with a WHtR \geq 0.5 indicating abdominal obesity ¹³³.

The anthropometric measurements in childhood were taken at the schools by trained field staff for all the children in 1985. All these measurements were conducted in a standing position with light clothing. Weight and height were measured with shoes and socks removed. Weight was measured with beam or medical spring scales to the nearest 0.5 kg and repeated until two consecutive measures were the same. Height was measured with a Kawe Height tape or rigid measuring tape to the nearest 0.1 cm, with shoes and socks removed. Waist circumference and hip circumference were taken at the level of the umbilicus and the level of the greatest posterior protuberance of the buttocks to the nearest 0.1 cm using a constant tension tape.

Table 2.1 Summary of adiposity measures in childhood and adulthood in CDAH study

	ASHFS	CDAH-1	CDAH-2	CDAH-3
Adiposity measures				
Overall adiposity	All measured	Self-reported + clinic measured	Self-reported	Self-reported + clinic measured
BMI	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
BMI category	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Normal	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Overweight	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Obese	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Abdominal adiposity measured	ures All measured	Clinic measured for a subsample		Clinic measured for a subsample
Waist circumference	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark
Waist-to-hip ratio	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark
WHtR	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark
WHtR category	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark
<0.5	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark
>0.5	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark

Abbreviation: ASHFS, Australian School Health and Fitness Survey; BMI, body mass index; CDAH, Childhood Determinants of Adult Health; WHtR, waist-to-height ratio.

2.1.2 CDAH-1 follow-up (2004-06)

2.1.2.1 Participants

During 2002-04, approximately twenty years after the ASHFS was conducted, a total of 6,840 participants (3,412 female) were traced and 5,170 (60.8% of original ASHFS cohort; 2,734 female) of them were enrolled in the CDAH study. As this thesis focuses on women, the following description of the study participants in the CDAH follow-ups concentrates on female participants.

During 2004-06, 1,607 women participated in the first follow-up of CDAH (CDAH-1) when aged 26-36 years and completed questionnaires including questions on infertility, pregnancy, menstrual cycle characteristics, PCOS, use of hormonal contraceptives, age at menarche, parity (Appendix A). Among them 1,225 women attended one of 34 clinics held across Australia as part of the CDAH-1. At clinics participants had a range of physical measurements made by trained staff including anthropometric measurements, blood pressure, physical fitness, vascular ultrasound examination and a blood sample was collected that was later used for hormone measurements.

2.1.2.2 Adult adiposity measures in CDAH-1

For all the anthropometrics measured at CDAH-1 clinics, participants were standing and dressed in light clothing without shoes and these measurements were not taken on pregnant women (n=82) (protocols in Appendix B). Weight was measured to the nearest 0.1kg using Heine scales and height was recorded to nearest 0.1cm with a Leicester height measure. Waist circumference was taken at the level of the narrowest point between the lower costal (10th rib) border and the iliac crest. Hip circumference was measured at the level of the greatest posterior protuberance of the buttocks. Waist and hip circumferences were measured with Lufkin steel (non-stretch) tape three times and were recorded to the nearest 0.5cm. If the first two measurements were the same, a third measurement was not taken. Mean waist and hip circumference were calculated.

Participants also self-reported their weight and height in the questionnaires (Table 2.1) and these values allowed estimation of, and correction for error, which has been described in detail elsewhere 26 . In brief, a sub-sample (n=1,119) of female participants who attended the clinics also self-reported their weight and height before measurements were taken by clinic staff. The difference between clinic and self-reported weight and height was used to calculate a correction

factor from a linear regression model. The agreement between self-reported and clinic BMI categories was high (κ =0.82 for females).

Adult BMI was categorized into three groups (<25, 25-29.9 and \geq 30 kg/m²). Overweight was defined as 25 \leq BMI \leq 29.9 kg/m² and obesity was defined as BMI \geq 30 kg/m²². Adult abdominal obesity was defined as WHtR \geq 0.5 ¹³.

2.1.2.3 Reproductive outcomes in CDAH-1

Reproductive outcomes including infertility, pregnancy hypertension, menstrual irregularity and PCOS were defined by their relevant questions in CDAH-1 self-report questionnaire among female participants (Table 2.2 and Appendix A).

2.1.3 CDAH-2 follow-up (2009-10)

2.1.3.1 Participants

In 2009-10, 1,131 female participants aged 31-41 years participated the second follow-up of CDAH (CDAH-2) and completed a similar questionnaire to that used in CDAH-1. No clinics were conducted as part of CDAH-2.

2.1.3.2 Adult adiposity measures in CDAH-2

Objectively measured anthropometrics were not available in CDAH-2 (Table 2.1). Weight was self-reported at CDAH-2. Adjusted weight values were calculated using the same correction factor applied at CDAH-1. BMI was calculated using measured height at CDAH-1 or adjusted self-reported height at CDAH-1 or at enrolment.

2.1.3.3 Reproductive outcomes in CDAH-2

In CDAH-2, reproductive outcomes including infertility, pregnancy hypertension, menstrual irregularity and PCOS was self-reported by participants using the same questions as in CDAH-1 (Table 2.2 and Appendix A).

2.1.4 CDAH-3 follow-up (2014-19)

2.1.4.1 Participants

The third CDAH follow-up (CDAH-3) was conducted between 2014-19 with 1,165 women aged 36-49 participating. During 2018-19, the Menopause Rating Scale (MRS) was included in the questionnaire and was completed by 1,007 women aged 39-49. 844 women attended one of 28 clinics held in major centres across Australia and had physical measurements made by trained staff as in CDAH-1. Blood as well as urine samples were collected in CDAH-3 clinics.

2.1.4.2 Adult adiposity measures in CDAH-3

In CDAH-3 clinics, anthropometric measurements followed the same protocols as in CDAH-1 (Appendix B). Weight, height, waist circumference and hip circumference were measured at study clinics for most participants and were not taken in pregnant women (n=11). Self-reported weight and height values (Table 2.1) were adjusted for a new correction factor derived from the CDAH-3 study sample using the method described in CDAH-1. 790 female participants self-reported their weight and height before measurements were taken to assess the accuracy of self-reported values. Similar to CDAH-1, the agreement between self-reported and clinic BMI categories was high (κ =0.88 for females).

2.1.4.3 Reproductive outcomes in CDAH-3

As indicated above, menopausal symptoms were measured by the MRS (Table 2.2 and Appendix C). This scale has been introduced briefly in the Introduction (1.6.4 Menopausal symptoms). For each of the 11 symptoms, the score (0 to 4) increases point by point with increasing severity of subjectively perceived complaints. The evaluation of each symptom, three domain-specific symptoms and the total score will be described in detail in Chapter 6.

	CDAH-1 CDAH-2	CDAH-3
Reproductive health outcomes		
Infertility	\checkmark	
	Self-reported 'yes' to either questions:	
	• Have you ever tried to become pregnant for 12 months or more without succeeding?	,
	• Have you ever seen a doctor because you were trouble becoming pregnant?	having
Pregnancy hypertension	\checkmark	
	Self-reported 'yes' to the question:	
	• Have you ever been told that you have high blo pressure? If yes, was this during pregnancy?	boc
Menstrual irregularity	\checkmark	
	First the usual menstrual cycle length was obtained	ed by
	question:	
	• How long is your usual menstrual cycle?	
	Then menstrual irregularity was defined as report	ing
	menstrual cycles \ge 35 days or < 25 days or extreme irregular	nely
PCOS	\checkmark \checkmark	
Self-reported doctor	Self-reported 'yes' to the question:	
diagnosed PCOS	• Has a doctor ever told you that you have polyc ovaries or polycystic ovary syndrome?	ystic
Menstrual irregularity +	Self-reported menstrual irregularity (defined as al	bove)
hirsutism	and 'yes' to the question on hirsutism:	
	• Have you ever seen a doctor because of concer	rn about
	the amount of hair on your face?	
Menopausal symptoms		\checkmark
		Measured by the
		MRS

Table 2.2 Summary of reproductive health outcomes in adulthood in CDAH study

Abbreviation: CDAH, Childhood Determinants of Adult Health; MRS, Menopause Rating Scale; PCOS, polycystic ovary syndrome.

2.2 The Babies sub-study of the Bogalusa Heart Study (BBS)

The BBS study is a sub-study of the Bogalusa Heart Study (BHS). The BHS is a comprehensive long-term prospective population study that started in 1973 with multiple cross-sectional and longitudinal surveys. The overall aim of the BHS is to investigate the early natural history of cardiovascular diseases. About 40 years later, BBS as a sub-study of BHS was conducted among female participants who had ever participated in the BHS. The main aim of the BBS was to examine the role of cardiovascular risk factors in childhood on reproductive outcomes.

2.2.1 The Bogalusa Heart Study (BHS) (1973)

2.2.1.1 Participants

The BHS began in 1973, started by Dr. Gerald Berenson, is a biracial (65% white and 35% black) prospective cohort study among children and young adults in the semirural town of Bogalusa, Louisiana, USA ¹³⁴. The initial cross-sectional study examined approximately 4,000 children aged 3-18 years in 1973-1974. Subsequent cross-sectional and longitudinal surveys were conducted approximately every 2 years for children aged 3-18 through 1994 and every 5



Figure 2.2 Brief schematic representation of the Bogalusa Heart Study between 1973 to 2010

years for adults from 1977 to 2010 (Figure 2.2). These cross-sectional and longitudinal studies of children or adults were combined and created the overall BHS population. To date, more than 16,000 individuals have been recruited in BHS surveys and the study is still ongoing. The serial observations from childhood to adulthood make it possible to measure the cumulative burden of risk factors since childhood. In each survey, the examination has included questionnaires, physical measurements and blood biochemistry.

2.2.1.2 Childhood adiposity measures

All BHS surveys adhered to an identical protocol for anthropometric measurements taken by trained examiners ¹³⁵. The children wore underpants, a short-sleeved examination gown, and socks. Height and weight were measured using a stadiometer and balance team metric scale. The values were recorded twice to within 0.1cm or 0.1kg and mean values were obtained. Waist circumference was measured midway between the lowest rib and the superior border of the iliac crest, with a flexible tape and was measured three times. The average of the three waist circumference measurements was used in all analyses. In this thesis, BMI and WHtR as the indicators of childhood overall adiposity and abdominal obesity were used (Table 2.3). They were calculated and classified as described in CDAH.

 Table 2.3 Summary of adiposity measures in childhood and adulthood in BHS and adiposity measures in adulthood in BBS

Adiposity measures	Childhood in BHS	Adulthood in BHS	BBS
Overall adiposity	All measured	All measured	Self-reported
BMI	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
BMI category	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Normal	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Overweight	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Obese	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Abdominal adiposity	Measured in a subsample		
measures	-		
WHtR	\checkmark		
WHtR category	\checkmark		
<0.5	\checkmark		
>0.5	\checkmark		

Abbreviation: BHS, Bogalusa Heart Study; BBS, the Babies sub-study of Bogalusa Heart Study; BMI, body mass index; WHtR, waist-to-height ratio.

2.2.1.3 Adult adiposity measures

Anthropometric measurements in adulthood followed the same method as described in childhood. BMI was calculated from objectively measured weight and height (Table 2.3).

2.2.2 The Babies sub-study of BHS (BBS) (2013)

2.2.2.1 Participants

Beginning in May 2013, a sub-study of BHS was conducted to re-contact and enrol 5,914 women with at least one previous BHS visit. Until November 2017, 1,803 women participated in and formed the BBS study. 93% of these women were aged 25-58 years with at least one visit in BHS prior to age 18 years. Each participant was interviewed for 15-30 minutes regarding her and her family's reproductive history, either by telephone survey by a trained interviewer or by self-completed questionnaire at the BHS field clinic.

2.2.2.2 Adult adiposity measures

Current weight was self-reported by participants during the interview in BBS (Table 2.3). Height was extracted from participants' records from BHS visits and the most recent height measured during a visit at age 16 or older was used. If the adult height value was not available, the multiplier method was used to estimate height ¹³⁶. This is a method to predict the adult height based on the information of childhood height, age and sex. BMI, overweight and obesity were calculated and classified using the same criteria as described in the CDAH study.

2.2.2.3 Reproductive outcomes

The reproductive outcomes of menstrual irregularity and PCOS in BBS were used and their definitions were similar to those in CDAH (Table 2.4 and Appendix D).

34

Reproductive outcomes	BBS
Menstrual irregularity	
	First the usual menstrual cycle length was obtained by question:
	• Between the ages of 16 and 40, about how long was your average menstrual cycle (time from first day of one period to the first day of the next period)? (select one only)
	a) <25 d; b) 25-34 d; c) 35-60 d;
	d) More than 60 d; e) Totally variable
	Then menstrual irregularity was defined as selecting average menstrual of
	options a) or c) or d) or e)
PCOS	
Self-reported doctor	Self-reported 'yes' to the question:
diagnosed PCOS	• Have you ever been told by a doctor that you had PCOS?
Menstrual irregularity +	Self-reported menstrual irregularity (defined as above) and hirsutism
hirsutism	(determined by indicating three or more sites as below):
	• During your menstruating years (not including during pregnancy), did you have a tendency to grow dark, coarse hair on your (circle all that
	apply)
	a) upper lip? b) chin? c) breast?
	d) chest between the breast? e) back?
	f) belly? g) upper arms? h) upper thighs?

Table 2.4 Summary of reproductive health outcomes in BBS

Abbreviation: BBS, the Babies sub-study of Bogalusa Heart Study; PCOS, polycystic ovary syndrome.

2.3 Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses for each study are presented in Chapter 3 to Chapter 6 in detail.

Covariates adjusted for in final models in Chapter 3 to Chapter 6 were those that were significant predictors of the outcome and/or that satisfied the conditions for the factor to be a confounder. The three conditions are that:

(1) There are plausible grounds to believe that the putative confounding factor is a cause of the outcome;

(2) The only relationship that the putative confounding factor has with the principal study factor (exposure) and outcome is not as an antecedent or an intermediate on the pathway from the principal study factor (exposure) to the outcome;

(3) Adding a covariate for the putative confounding factor to the regression model resulted in a change of more than 10% in the estimated coefficient of the covariate for the principal study factor (exposure).

Overall, all the statistical analyses were performed using Stata software (Stat Corp., College Station, TX). A p-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Chapter 3: Association of childhood obesity with female infertility in adulthood: a 25-year follow-up study

Chapter 3: Association of childhood adiposity with female infertility in adulthood: a 25-year follow-up study

The following text in Chapter 3 has been published in the *Fertility and* Sterility (Appendix E 1)
3.1 Abstract

Objectives: To evaluate whether childhood obesity is associated with infertility in women's reproductive-aged life.

Design: Prospective longitudinal study.

Setting: A childhood cohort from 1985 Australian Schools Health and Fitness Survey.

Intervention(s): None.

Patient(s): 1,544 girls aged 7 to 15 years in 1985 and completed questionnaires at follow-up in 2004-2006 and/or 2009-2011.

Main outcome Measure(s): Infertility was defined as having difficulty conceiving (had ever tried for 12 months or more to become pregnant without succeeding) or having ever seen a doctor because of trouble becoming pregnant.

Result(s): At ages from 7 to 11 years, girls at both the lower and upper end of the BMI zscore had increased risk of infertility. Compared with normal weight girls, those with obesity aged 7-11 years were more likely in adulthood to report infertility (adjusted relative risk (aRR): 2.94, 95% confidence interval (CI): 1.48-5.84), difficulty conceiving (aRR: 3.89, 95% CI: 1.95-7.77), or having ever seen a doctor because of trouble becoming pregnant (aRR: 3.65, 95% CI: 1.90-7.02) after adjusting for childhood age, follow-up length, highest parental education and marital status.

Conclusion(s): Childhood obesity before 12 years of age appears to increase the risk of female infertility in later life.

3.2 Introduction

The increase in obesity among children and adolescents is of great concern around the world ¹³⁷. In Australia, one in four children aged 5-17 years were overweight or obese in 2014-2015 which is twice the recorded prevalence in 1986 ¹³⁸. Substantial evidence suggests that obesity in women is associated with a wide range of gynaecological disorders including infertility ^{139, 140}. Obesity during childhood and adolescence has been linked with early puberty, menstrual disorders and PCOS ¹⁴¹. From the life course perspective of female reproductive health, it is important to determine whether childhood obesity has long-term effects on infertility in adulthood, typically defined clinically as a failure to conceive after regular unprotected intercourse or attempting pregnancy for 12 months or more ¹⁴².

Few studies have investigated the association of childhood obesity with female infertility and the findings were not consistent. In a study of 3,327 British girls, Lake and colleagues ⁷⁷ reported little impact of childhood BMI at the age of 7 years on infertility 26 years later defined by achieving a pregnancy after more than 12 months. However, participants were restricted to women with a live birth from their first pregnancy. BMI cut-points were defined using an index of relative weight (weight expressed as a percentage of the standard weight for age, height, and sex). More recently, a report based on 1,061 participants in the Bogalusa Heart Study in USA showed that girls with obesity prior to 12 years of age were more likely in later life to have tried to become pregnant without success. Weight status was defined according to age and gender specific BMI percentiles and based on USA CDC and Prevention statistics (e.g. \geq 95th percentile for obesity) ⁷⁸. A limitation of this study is that it determined whether participants had 'ever tried to become pregnant and were unable to' but did not specify a time interval and may have resulted in misclassification of infertility. In addition, male factors (e.g. poor semen quality) are commonly reported causes of infertility ⁶⁹ and not the outcome of interest: neither of these studies were able to exclude them.

The aim of the present study was to examine the association between different measures of body composition at age 7-15 and infertility at age 26-41 in a large population-based sample of Australian women with consideration of a wide range of potential confounders.

3.3 Methods

3.3.1 Participants

The CDAH study is a follow-up of 8,498 children which included 4,191 girls who participated in the 1985 ASHFS, a nationally representative sample of Australian school children aged 7-15 years (herein referred to as "baseline") ¹⁴³. At baseline, all children had physical assessments and those aged 9-15 years completed questionnaires. During 2002-2004, a total of 3,412 women participants were traced and 2,734 women agreed to participate in the CDAH study (Figure 3.1). During 2004-2006, when the participants were aged 26-36 years, 1,596 women completed questions on reproductive health (CDAH-1). The second follow-up (CDAH-2) was conducted during 2009-2011, when participants were aged 31-41 years and 1,129 women completed questions on reproductive health. After combining two follow-ups, a total of 1,754 women who answered reproductive health questions at CDAH-1 or CDAH-2 or both were eligible for the study.

The study was approved by the Southern Tasmania Health and Medical Human Research Ethics Committee. Written informed consent was obtained at both time points.

3.3.2 Childhood body composition measurement

BMI, calculated as weight (kg)/height $(m)^2$, was derived from measured height and weight with weight status defined using international age- and sex-specific cut-points ⁸ and was transformed into BMI z scores based on age- and sex-specific standardisation of the full childhood cohort (n=4189 girls). Waist circumference was taken at the level of the umbilicus to the nearest 0.1

cm. Hip circumference was measured at the level of the greatest posterior protuberance of the buttocks. Waist-to-hip ratio was calculated by dividing waist by hip circumference. WHtR was calculated by dividing waist circumference by height and dichotomized into < or ≥ 0.5 . Abdominal obesity was defined as WHtR ≥ 0.5 ¹³³.



Figure 3.1 Selection of participants for the Childhood Determinants of Adult Health (CDAH) study, Australia, 1985-2011

3.3.3 Adult body composition measurement

At CDAH-1, weight and height were measured at study clinics for most. A sub-sample of these participants also self-reported their weight and height before measurements were taken to assess the accuracy of self-reported values. The difference between clinic and self-reported weight and height was used to calculate a correction factor from a linear regression model. Participants who did not visit a study clinic self-reported their weight and height, and a correction factor was applied to adjust for error ²⁶. BMI (kg/m²) was calculated from height and weight.

Weight was self-reported at CDAH-2. Adjusted weight values were calculated using the correction factor applied at CDAH-1. BMI was calculated using measured height at CDAH-1 or adjusted self-reported height at CDAH-1 or at enrolment.

Adult BMI was categorized into three groups (<25, 25-30 and \geq 30 kg/m²). Overweight was defined as 25 \leq BMI \leq 29.9 kg/m² and obesity was defined as BMI \geq 30 kg/m²².

3.3.4 Adult infertility measurement

In the reproductive questionnaire of CDAH-1 and CDAH-2, women were asked to answer 'yes' or 'no' to questions 'Have you ever tried to become pregnant for 12 months or more without succeeding?' and 'Have you ever seen a doctor because you were having trouble becoming pregnant?' Infertility was recorded if they responded 'yes' to either of the two questions. Women were further asked whether any of the following investigations had been undertaken if they reported having seen a doctor because of difficulty conceiving: hormone test, laparoscopy and partner's semen test. Participants were also asked about any diagnosis they had been given including ovulatory problem, tubal problem, male factor, unexplained fertility problem or any other female problem with a written specified reason. We categorized the answers into tubal, ovulatory (including ovulatory problem, polycystic male, ovary syndrome,

hyperprolactinaemia, hypogonadotrophic, hypergonadotrophic and premature ovarian failure), endometriosis, unexplained, other and uterine factors.

3.3.5 Covariate measures

Childhood factors considered as covariates included age, age at menarche (self-reported in adulthood), socioeconomic position based on area of residence (high, medium high, medium low, or low), highest parental education (reported in adulthood as high school only, vocational training, any university education), smoking experimentation (none, a few puffs, < 10 cigarettes in their life, and \geq 10 cigarettes in their life), alcohol consumption (never, less than once per week, more than once per week) and total physical activity (mins/week). Sociodemographic characteristics were self-reported at follow-ups. Adult covariates included highest level of education attained (classified as for childhood), socioeconomic position based on area of residence (classified as for childhood), marital status (single, married/living as married, separated/divorced/widowed), smoking status (never, ex-smoker, current smoker), alcohol consumption (non-drinker, light drinker, moderate drinker, heavy/very heavy drinker), and total physical activity (mins/week). Follow-up length was also considered as a potential confounder.

3.3.6 Statistical analyses

Subgroup analyses by child age (7-11 years and 12-15 years) were undertaken because of reported differences in the association of onset of obesity in childhood with later infertility ⁷⁸. Univariable and multivariable log-binomial regression was used to derive risk ratio (RR) estimates for the association between body composition and infertility before and after adjustment for potential confounders. If the log binomial model failed to converge, RRs were estimated using Poisson regression with robust standard errors to correct for the misspecification of the binomial errors ¹⁴⁴⁻¹⁴⁷. Covariates kept in the final model were variables

associated with the exposure and the outcome, and resulted in more than 10% change in the coefficient of the principal study factor when added into the model.

Restricted cubic regression splines based on 4 knot points were used to present associations between childhood BMI z score and infertility ¹⁴⁸. The x-axis on the graph goes from the 5th to the 95th percentile of childhood BMI z score.

The following sensitivity analyses were conducted. First, we excluded those who reported male infertility to examine if it had biased the observed association between childhood obesity and having ever seen a doctor because of trouble becoming pregnant. Second, we restricted our sample to women who were married or living as married. Third, we considered the effect of loss to follow-up using inverse probability weighting. The completed factors available at baseline used to determine the weights were childhood age, school type and state of residence. Fourth, childhood BMI was classified alternatively as normal (<85th percentile), overweight (85th-94th percentile) or obese (\geq 95th percentile) based on age- and sex-specific USA CDC norms ¹⁴⁹ and age- and sex-specific childhood BMI in our 1985 ASHFS cohort. Fifth, 210 participants with missing data on confounders were excluded for this study and most were missing the confounder-parental education (n=182). To increase the statistical power of the study, multiple imputation by chained equations was used to impute the highest parental education.

All analyses were performed using STATA software, version 14.2 (Stata Corp., College Station, TX); a *p*-values of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

44

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Participant characteristics

This study included 1,754 women who reported fertility outcomes. Of these participants, 971 completed both follow-up surveys, 625 participated in only the first follow-up and 158 women participated in only the second follow-up. Participants who had missing data on confounders (210 women) were excluded, leaving 1,544 women for the final analysis.

The anthropometric and sociodemographic characteristics of participants at childhood and adulthood are shown in Table 3.1. At baseline, 17 (1.1%) children were obese, 116 (7.5%) were overweight and 80 (5.2%) children had abdominal obesity as defined by BMI cut-points and WHtR category, respectively. The mean age at follow-up was 34 years (range 26-41). There were 346 (22.4%) women who reported experiencing infertility in adulthood, including 264 (17.1%) who reported ever having tried for more than 12 months to become pregnant without succeeding and 281 (18.2%) who had ever seen a doctor because of trouble becoming pregnant. Participants with lower parental education in childhood and those who were married or living as married in adulthood were more likely to report infertility.

Compared with those who did not participate in the follow-up, those who did participate were slightly older (11.0 vs 10.8 years; P=0.003), had marginally lower BMI (18.2 vs18.4 kg/m²; P=0.009) and were less likely to have abdominal obesity (5.2% vs 8.3%; P<0.001) at baseline.

Characteristics	Ever tried for≥ pregnant w	12 months to become ithout succeeding	Ever seen a trouble bec	doctor because of coming pregnant	Any fert	ility problem ^c
	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No
	(n=264)	(n=1279)	(n=281)	(n=1263)	(n=346)	(n=1198)
Childhood		· · · · ·				· · · · · ·
Age, years, Mean(SD)	11.5(2.4) ^b	10.9(2.5)	$11.4(2.5)^{b}$	10.9(2.5)	$11.4(2.4)^{b}$	10.9(2.5)
SEIFA disadvantage (%)		, , ,			· · ·	
High	24.3	27.5	28.9	26.4	25.8	27.2
Medium-high	30.3	28.7	27.6	29.4	29.7	28.8
Medium-low	37.2	38.1	36.9	38.2	37.8	38.0
Low	8.3	5.7	6.7	6.1	6.7	6.0
Waist circumference, cm, Mean(SD)	63.2(8.1) ^b	61.9(7.7)	62.9(8.1)	62.0(7.7)	63.0(8.0) ^b	61.9(7.7)
Waist-to-hip ratio, Mean(SD)	0.81(0.06)	0.81(0.06)	0.81(0.06)	0.81(0.06)	0.81(0.06)	0.82(0.06)
Body-mass index, kg/m ² , Mean(SD)	18.4(3.0)	18.1(2.7)	18.4(3.0)	18.1(2.7)	18.4(3.0)	18.1(2.7)
BMI category (%)						
Normal	90.1	91.6	89.6	91.8	89.9	91.8
Overweight	8.0	7.4	8.6	7.3	8.7	7.2
Obese	1.9	0.9	1.8	1.0	1.5	1.0
Smoking experimentation (%)						
None	55.7	59.2	57.9	58.7	57.1	59.0
A few puffs	20.8	21.9	19.7	22.2	20.2	22.2
<10 cigarettes	8.6	7.2	8.8	7.1	8.7	7.0
>10 cigarettes	14.9	11.7	13.6	12.0	13.9	11.8
Parental education (%)						
University education	20.1 ^b	29.1	23.8	28.4	22.5	29.0
Vocational training	37.1	33.0	34.9	33.5	35.3	33.3
High school	42.8	37.9	41.3	38.2	42.2	37.7
Alcohol assumption (%)						
Never	72.9	69.5	70.2	70.0	72.5	69.3
Less than once per week	22.6	24.6	25.0	24.1	22.3	24.9
More than once per week	4.5	5.9	4.8	5.9	5.2	5.8
Physical activity, mins/week, Mean(SD)	384(342)	398(376)	396(378)	395(368)	388(353)	398(375)
Age at menarche, years, Mean(SD)	13.1(1.3)	13.2(1.3)	13.1(1.3)	13.2(1.3)	13.1(1.3)	13.1(1.3)
Adulthood						. ,
Age, years, Mean(SD)	33.5(2.9) ^b	34.2(3.5)	33.4(2.9) ^b	34.3(3.5)	33.4(2.8) ^b	34.2(3.5)
SEIFA disadvantage (%)						
High	26.9	24.1	25.6	24.9	26.0	24.4

Table 3.1 Characteristics of women in childhood	(1985) and adulthood	(2004–2011), Childhood I	Determinants of Adult Health study ⁴

Madium high	25 4	22.0	10.0	22.5	22.4	22.2
Medium-ingn	23.4	22.9	19.9	25.5	25.4	25.2
Medium-low	23.9	25.2	24.9	25.2	24.0	25.3
Low	23.9	27.8	29.5	26.3	26.0	27.1
Body-mass index, kg/m ² , Mean(SD)	25.7(5.8)	25.2(5.4)	25.4(5.6)	25.3(5.5)	25.5(5.6)	25.3(5.4)
BMI category (%)						
Normal	56.2	60.2	58.1	59.7	57.5	60.1
Overweight	23.7	24.1	22.3	24.2	23.1	24.1
Obese	20.1	15.7	19.6	16.1	19.4	15.8
Smoking status (%)						
Never smoker	54.2	55.3	55.7	55.2	55.4	55.2
Ex-smoker	25.0	26.9	26.4	26.5	25.8	26.7
Current smoker	20.8	17.8	17.9	18.3	18.8	18.1
Self-education (%)						
University education	45.1 ^b	47.1	46.4	46.8	45.2 ^b	47.2
Vocational training	22.4	28.2	24.3	28.0	23.8	28.4
High school	32.6	24.7	29.3	25.2	31.0	24.5
Marital status (%)						
Single	2.7 ^b	22.4	2.5 ^b	22.5	2.9 ^b	23.5
Married/living as married	93.2	72.7	94.0	72.7	93.4	71.5
Separated/divorced/widowed	4.2	4.9	3.6	4.8	3.8	4.9
Alcohol consumption (%)						
Non-drinkers	29.5 ^b	21.4	24.5	22.3	27.2 ^b	21.5
Light drinkers	57.9	56.9	59.7	56.5	57.4	56.8
Moderate drinkers	10.3	16.2	13.2	15.8	12.4	16.2
Heavy /very heavy drinkers	2.3	5.6	2.6	5.4	3.0	5.5
Physical activity, mins/week, Mean(SD)	755(512)	766(495)	732(500)	770(497)	743(488)	769(501)
Follow-up length, years, Mean(SD)	2	2.6(2.5)	22	2.6(2.5)	22	2.5(2.5)

Childhood overweight and obesity were defined according to the international cut-points Abbreviations: BMI, Body-mass Index; SEIFA, Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas; SD, standard deviation

^a Sample size ranges from 873-1543 due to missing data on some covariates

^bP<0.05

^c Women who answered yes to any one of the two related infertility questions

3.4.2 Infertility

After adjustment for age, follow-up length, parental education and marital status, compared with women with normal childhood weight between 7 and 11 years (Table 3.2), those who were obese as children were more likely to report infertility (RR=2.94, 95% CI 1.48-5.84), having ever tried for more than 12 months to become pregnant without succeeding (RR=3.89, 95% CI 1.95-7.77) and having ever seen a doctor because of trouble becoming pregnant (RR=3.65, 95% CI 1.90-7.02). This association was not evident for the group aged 12 to 15 years at baseline. No significant association was found between other adiposity indicators (waist circumference, waist-to-hip ratio and WHtR \geq 0.5) in childhood and infertility in adulthood, including when abdominal adiposity measures were adjusted for childhood BMI.

The association between childhood BMI z score and relative risk of infertility in adulthood is shown in Figure 3.2. There was a U-shaped association of BMI z score with infertility in the 7 to 11 years group (Figure 3.2 A), with the risk significantly higher in children with z score over 1.05 or less than -0.80. No significant association was observed for those in the 12 to 15 years group (Figure 3.2 B).

Table 3.2 Associations between body composition measures in childhood with fertility problem in adulthood stratified by childhood	
age, Childhood Determinants of Adult Health study, 1985–2011	

Body Composition	Ever	ver tried for≥12 months to become pregnant without succeeding			Ever	seen a o	loctor because pregna	e of troubl nt		Infertility ^a					
	n	Un	adjusted	Μ	Iodel 1	n	Una	adjusted	Mo	odel 1	n	Unadjusted		Model 1	
	п	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	11	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	11	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI
Age 7 to 11 years															
BMI category															
Normal	786	Ref.		Ref.		786	Ref.		Ref.	_	786	Ref.		Ref.	_
Overweight	69	0.80	0.41-1.57	0.85	0.45-1.61	69	1.18	0.71-1.98	1.30	0.82-2.07	69	1.12	0.70-1.80	1.21	0.80-1.84
Obese	8	2.59	1.04-6.43	3.89	1.95-7.77	8	2.36	0.95-5.85	3.65	1.90-7.02	8	1.94	0.78-4.80	2.94	1.48-5.84
Waist circumference	864	1.01	0.98-1.03	0.99	0.97-1.02	864	1.01	0.98-1.03	1.00	0.97-1.03	864	1.01	0.99-1.03	1.00	0.97-1.02
Waist-to-hip ratio	864	0.90	0.67-1.20	0.97	0.72-1.29	864	0.82	0.63-1.09	0.88	0.67-1.16	864	0.88	0.69-1.13	0.98	0.77-1.24
Waist-to-height ratio															
<0.5	814	Ref.	_	Ref.		814	Ref.	_	Ref.	_	814	Ref.		Ref.	_
≥0.5	49	0.99	0.49-2.00	1.17	0.60-2.27	49	0.87	0.43-1.75	1.02	0.52-1.99	49	1.04	0.59-1.84	1.29	0.76-2.18
Age 12 to 15 years															
BMI category															
Normal	622	Ref.	—	Ref.	—	623	Ref.	_	Ref.		623	Ref.	_	Ref.	_
Overweight	47	1.40	0.86-2.28	1.18	0.75-1.87	47	1.16	0.67-1.99	1.06	0.64-1.76	47	1.26	0.81-1.95	1.11	0.72-1.70
Obese	9	1.12	0.33-3.85	1.05	0.33-3.37	9	1.10	0.32-3.77	1.03	0.32-3.27	9	0.88	0.26-3.00	0.90	0.26-3.12
Waist circumference	679	1.01	0.99-1.03	1.01	0.99-1.03	680	1.01	0.99-1.03	1.00	0.98-1.02	680	1.01	0.99-1.02	1.00	0.99-1.02
Waist-to-hip ratio	679	1.18	0.91-1.53	1.18	0.90-1.53	680	1.23	0.95-1.58	1.23	0.95-1.59	680	1.15	0.92-1.43	1.14	0.91-1.43
Waist-to-height ratio															
<0.5	647	Ref.		Ref.		648	Ref.		Ref.		648	Ref.		Ref.	
≥0.5	31	1.28	0.69-2.38	1.24	0.70-2.18	31	1.11	0.57-2.16	1.07	0.57-2.01	31	1.13	0.64-2.00	1.09	0.65-1.82

Model 1: adjusted for age and parental education at baseline, follow-up length and marital status at adulthood. Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; RR, risk ratio; CI, confidence interval.

^a Women answered yes to any one of the two related infertility questions.



Figure 3.2 Relative risk (RR) of infertility and childhood BMI z score, adjusting for age, and parental status at baseline, follow-up length and marital status at adulthood

7 to 11 years group (A) and 12 to 15 years group (B). The dashed line indicates an RR of 1. The green lines indicate the RR for the association between childhood BMI z score and adult infertility. The blue and red lines indicate the upper and lower bounds of the 95% confidence interval for the association. The axes on the graph go from 5th to 95th percentile of the childhood BMI z score distribution, which range from -1.28 to 1.57 in 7 to 11 years age group (A) and from -1.38 to 1.69 in 12 to 15 years age group (B).

3.4.3 Cause of infertility

Most women who had ever seen a doctor because of trouble becoming pregnant reported one or more infertility causes and infertility investigations (Appendix3-1). Endometriosis was a less common cause of infertility in those who were overweight or obese in childhood (15.1% in normal vs. 3.3% in overweight/obese, P=0.10). Similar proportions of women had infertility investigations irrespective of their childhood BMI category (Appendix3-1).

3.4.4 Influence of adiposity from childhood into adulthood

The proportions and the number of women who reported infertility by adiposity status from childhood to adulthood are displayed in Appendix3-2 and Appendix3-3. For consistently normal weight participants (normal weight in childhood and adulthood), the prevalence of infertility was 21.6%, and for consistently overweight/obese participants (overweight/obese from childhood to adulthood), the corresponding figure was 27.9%. Though a higher prevalence of reported infertility was observed in the persistently overweight and obese group, it did not reach statistical significance (P=0.37). After adjustment for childhood age and parental education at baseline, length of follow up, adult education, marital status and alcohol consumption in adulthood, the risk of infertility was significantly higher in women who were persistently overweight or obese from childhood (ages 7-11) into adulthood than those who had consistently healthy weight (Appendix3-4).

3.4.5 Sensitivity analysis

Similar results were observed after excluding women who reported infertility due to male factor (n=20) and endometriosis (n=39). Compared with those of normal weight in childhood, the risk of having ever seen a doctor because of trouble becoming pregnant in the obese group was 3.69 (95% CI 1.94-6.99) and 4.16 (95% CI 2.14-8.06) respectively for those aged 7 to 11 years at

baseline. When restricting the sample to women who were married or living as married (and who it might be assumed would have a greater likelihood of becoming pregnant), the risks of infertility (RR=3.15, 95% CI 1.37-7.25), having ever tried for more than 12 months to become pregnant without succeeding (RR=4.12, 95% CI 1.78-9.50) and having ever seen a doctor because of trouble becoming pregnant (RR=3.84, 95% CI 1.78-8.25) remained significantly higher in those who were obese at ages 7 to 11 years. Sensitivity analyses conducted by reanalysing the data with inverse probability weighting produced similar patterns of results as the unweighted analyses and the changes in the magnitude of significant associations were small, ranging from 1.5 to 3.3 % (Appendix3-5). Further analysis using USA CDC and our cohort internal cut-points of 85th and 95th childhood BMI percentiles showed similar significant associations of childhood obesity and infertility in the 7 to 11 years group (Appendix3-6 and Appendix3-7). Similar results were observed when re-run the analyses in a larger sample of 1,726 by using multiple imputation for highest parental education.

3.5 Discussion

Our findings indicate that being obese before the age of 12 years is associated with impaired fertility in later life and a U-shaped relationship between childhood BMI z score and infertility. A previous study also suggested an inverted U-shaped between BMI in adolescence and number of children ¹⁵⁰. Some evidence suggests that body fat distribution in women may have more impact on fertility than obesity ¹⁵¹, but our results did not support this association in relation to children's WHtR. No appreciable differences in the associations of waist circumference, waist-to-hip ratio and abdominal obesity in childhood were found with later infertility in adulthood.

Current evidence on the association of childhood obesity and adult infertility is not consistent. Similar to our finding, a study from the USA reported that obesity before age 12 years was

associated with an increased likelihood of having ever tried to become pregnant without success ⁷⁸. In contrast, the analysis from a British cohort study showed that weight during childhood did not predict subsequent fecundity, but it did find that obesity at the age of 7 years was associated with increased menstrual irregularities by age 33 years ⁷⁷. The reasons for the inconsistent results may be the use of different methods to sample study populations, for example, the British cohort study was limited to women with a live birth from their first pregnancy.

The explanation for the difference in associations by age group is unclear but there may be cumulative impacts of childhood obesity on adult infertility whereby girls who are obese at a younger age (i.e. 7-11 years in this study) have more impaired fertility, and/or that the prepubertal phase is a more sensitive window for the effects of high BMI on the development of reproductive capacity than later pubertal or post-pubertal stages of development. A recent study in rodents suggests that early-onset obesity induces reproductive deficits in adult female rats by reducing the number of oocyte and preantral follicles and inhibiting the luteinizing hormone surge ¹⁵². In humans, early-onset obesity is associated with the earlier puberty and earlier maturation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-ovarian (HPO) axis which may impact on the development of the reproductive system in girls ¹⁵³. Increased estrogen produced by greater body fat and accelerated aromatization of adrenal and ovarian androgens in adipose tissue promotes earlier adrenarche, pubarche and thelarche, which may have unfavourable influences on the HPO axis, ovarian function, oocyte quality, endometrial receptivity, or any combination of these factors in the long-term ¹⁵⁴. In addition, obesity in childhood is an important factor contributing to the presence and severity of PCOS in adolescents, which may increase the risk of subsequent anovulatory infertility ^{79, 155, 156}. In our study, we failed to detect an association between high childhood adiposity and infertility due to ovulatory dysfunction. It is plausible

that obesity disrupts endocrine homeostasis with long-term effects on infertility, however, the mechanisms involved in reducing reproductive potential are still poorly understood.

Our finding that endometriosis as a cause of infertility was less common in those in the childhood overweight/obese group (3.5%) than the normal weight group (15.1%) was similar to findings from a recent meta-analysis which pooled 11 studies of participants with ages ranging from 16 to 65 years and reported that higher BMI was associated with lower risk of endometriosis in adulthood ¹⁵⁷. Further, results from our sensitivity analysis suggest that male infertility did not bias the observed association between childhood obesity and infertility in adulthood.

The strengths of our study are a relatively contemporary cohort with childhood body composition measurements taken in 1985 and follow-ups conducted during women's reproductive years. Although the Bogalusa Heart Study measured skinfolds in childhood, to our knowledge our study is the first to have reported the associations of various abdominal obesity indicators in childhood with adult infertility including waist circumference, waist-to-hip ratio and waist-to-height ratio. In addition, our definition of having difficulty conceiving specified a time interval of having ever tried ≥ 12 months and is more consistent with definitions used in clinical practice ¹⁵⁸. Moreover, we demonstrated associations with infertility of BMI z score as a continuous variable as well as obesity defined by age- and sex- specific BMI ≥ 95 th percentile.

Some limitations should be acknowledged. First, the sample size in the childhood obese group is small. The prevalence of obesity in girls using international BMI cut-points was only 1.1%. However, similar findings were shown with continuous BMI z scores and sensitivity analyses in our study. Second, we could not distinguish primary infertility (no prior pregnancies) and secondary infertility (infertility following at least one prior conception), which is important for

evaluating women's ability to have children and exploring the aetiology of infertility. Third, our measure of infertility relied on self-reported problems. However, the prevalence of infertility in our study is consistent with Australian estimates of approximately one in six couples experiencing a delay of greater than 12 months to achieve a planned pregnancy during their reproductive life ^{64, 67}. Although infertility diagnoses and investigations are self-reported, these are likely to be important events for women, and women should be able to recall specific diagnoses and investigations that have been undertaken.

In conclusion, our study of a cohort of Australian women indicated a detrimental impact of childhood obesity before age 12 on infertility later in life. The early prevention of childhood obesity is important for fertility as well as disease prevention.

3.6 Appendix 3 Supplementary material for Chapter 3

	Normal (n=251)	Overweight/obese (n=29)	P value
	No. (%)	No. (%)	
Diagnoses			
Ovulatory dysfunction	67 (26.7)	9 (31.0)	0.62
Tubal problem	22 (8.8)	3 (10.3)	0.73
Endometriosis	38 (15.1)	1 (3.5)	0.10
Uterine and other problem	13 (5.2)	3 (6.9)	0.66
Male factor	17 (6.8)	3 (10.3)	0.84
Unexplained	39 (15.5)	4 (13.8)	1.00
No diagnosis	80 (31.9)	10 (34.5)	0.78
Investigations			
Hormone test	206 (82.1)	24 (82.8)	0.93
Laparoscopy	104 (41.4)	11 (37.9)	0.72
Partner's semen analysed	160 (68.8)	15 (51.7)	0.21
No investigation	24 (9.6)	3 (10.3)	0.75

Appendix3-1 Diagnoses and investigations in women who had seen a doctor because they were having trouble becoming pregnant, by body mass index category in childhood



Appendix3-2 Percentage of reported infertility across adiposity status from childhood to adulthood

Adiposity status from childhood to		Infer	tility ^a	P value
adulthood	n	Yes n (%)	No n (%)	
Normal-normal	852	184 (21.6%)	668 (78.4%)	
Normal-overweight/obese	481	107 (22.3%)	374 (77.8%)	
Overweight/obese-normal	17	2 (11.8%)	15 (88.2%)	
Overweight/obese-overweight/obese	111	31 (27.9%)	80 (72.1%)	0.37

Appendix3-3 Number of participants by weight status category from childhood to adulthood by adult infertility

^a Women answered yes to any one of the two related infertility questions.

Appendix3-4 Relative risks of infertility in adulthood according to changes in weight status from childhood to adulthood

Changes in weight status from childhood to adulthood		Infertility ^a							
	n	U	nadjusted		Model 1				
		RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI				
Aged 7 to 15 years									
Normal to normal	831	Ref.		Ref.					
Normal to overweight/obese	469	1.00	0.81-1.24	1.07	0.88-1.31				
Overweight/obese to normal	17	0.54	0.15-1.99	0.64	0.18-2.28				
Overweight/obese to overweight/obese	107	1.24	0.88-1.73	1.23	0.90-1.68				
Aged 7-11 years									
Normal to normal	476	Ref.	—	Ref.	—				
Normal to overweight/obese	257	1.03	0.75-1.40	1.08	0.80-1.46				
Overweight/obese to normal	14	0.38	0.06-2.52	0.42	0.07-2.73				
Overweight/obese to overweight/obese	56	1.42	0.88-2.27	1.60	1.04-2.48				
Aged 12-15 years									
Normal to normal	355	Ref.	—	Ref.	—				
Normal to overweight/obese	212	0.96	0.72-1.29	1.08	0.82-1.42				
Overweight/obese to normal	3	1.29	0.26-6.43	2.29	0.14-36.15				
Overweight/obese to overweight/obese	51	1.06	0.66-1.71	1.01	0.64-1.60				

Model 1: adjust for age and parental education at baseline, follow-up length, adult education, marital status and alcohol consumption at adulthood.

^a Women answered yes to any one of the two related infertility questions.

Appendix3-5 Sensitivity analysis using inverse propensity weighting technique. Associations between body composition measures in childhood with fertility problem in adulthood stratified by childhood age, Childhood Determinants of Adult Health Study, 1985–2011

Body Composition		Ever tried for≥12 months to become pregnant without succeeding					Ever	seen a doctor becoming	r because g pregnar	of trouble		Infertility ^a				
	n	Unadjusted		Model 1		n	Un	Unadjusted		Model 1		Un	adjusted	Ν	Model 1	
		RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI		RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI		RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	
Age 7 to 11 years																
BMI category																
Normal	786	Ref.	—	Ref.	—	786	Ref.	—	Ref.	—	786	Ref.		Ref.	—	
Overweight	69	0.78	0.40-1.54	0.84	0.44-1.60	69	1.15	0.68-1.93	1.27	0.79-2.03	69	1.09	0.68-1.75	1.19	0.78-1.82	
Obese	8	2.55	1.01-6.40	3.77	1.93-7.37	8	2.31	0.92-5.79	3.53	1.88-6.65	8	1.91	0.76-4.77	2.86	1.46-5.58	
Waist circumference	864	1.01	0.98-1.03	0.99	0.96-1.02	864	1.00	0.98-1.03	1.00	0.97-1.03	864	1.01	0.99-1.23	1.00	0.97-1.02	
Waist-to-hip ratio	864	0.90	0.67-1.20	0.97	0.72-1.29	864	0.82	0.60-1.10	0.87	0.65-1.16	864	0.88	0.67-1.16	0.97	0.75-1.25	
Waist-to-height ratio																
<0.5	814	Ref.	_	Ref.	_	814	Ref.	_	Ref.		814	Ref.		Ref.	_	
≥0.5	49	0.97	0.47-1.97	1.15	0.59-2.26	49	0.81	0.40-1.65	0.95	0.48-1.88	49	1.00	0.56-1.78	1.23	0.72-2.12	
Age 12 to 15 years																
BMI category																
Normal	622	Ref.	_	Ref.	_	623	Ref.	_	Ref.		623	Ref.		Ref.	_	
Overweight	47	1.36	0.83-2.24	1.18	0.73-1.91	47	1.13	0.65-1.95	1.03	0.62-1.72	47	1.22	0.78-1.91	1.08	0.69-1.67	
Obese	9	1.11	0.32-3.84	1.07	0.31-3.74	9	1.09	0.32-3.77	1.00	0.31-3.24	9	0.87	0.25-2.99	0.87	0.25-3.05	
Waist circumference	679	1.01	0.99-1.03	1.01	0.98-1.03	680	1.00	0.97-1.03	1.00	0.98-1.02	680	1.01	0.99-1.02	1.00	0.99-1.02	
Waist-to-hip ratio	679	1.16	0.89-1.50	1.15	0.87-1.51	680	1.20	0.93-1.54	1.19	0.91-1.56	680	1.13	0.91-1.39	1.11	0.88-1.40	
Waist-to-height ratio																
<0.5	647	Ref.	_	Ref.		648	Ref.		Ref.	_	648	Ref.		Ref.	_	
≥0.5	31	1.27	0.68-2.37	1.23	0.69-2.17	31	1.07	0.54-2.12	1.04	0.55-1.97	31	1.10	0.62-1.96	1.05	0.62-1.78	

Model 1: adjusted for age and parental education at baseline, follow-up length and marital status at adulthood.

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; RR, risk ratio; CI, confidence interval.

^a Women answered yes to any one of the two related infertility questions.

Appendix3-6 Associations between childhood obesity and fertility problem in adulthood using USA CDC 95th percentile stratified by childhood age and sex, Childhood Determinants of Adult Health study, 1985–2011^a

Body Composition	Ever tried for≥12 months to become pregnant without succeeding						Ever see	en a doctor be becoming p	ecause c regnant	f trouble		Infertility ^b					
	n	Un	adjusted	N	Iodel 1	n	Un	adjusted		Model 1	- n	Un	adjusted	Ν	Model 1		
	11	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	п	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	11	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI		
Age 7 to 11 years																	
BMI category																	
Normal	760	Ref.		Ref.	_	760	Ref.		Ref	. —	760	Ref.		Ref.			
Overweight	76	0.63	0.30-1.29	0.63	0.31-1.27	76	0.90	0.51-1.59	0.9	0.54-1.60	76	0.87	0.52-1.46	0.90	0.56-1.47		
Obese	27	1.51	0.73-3.12	1.60	0.83-3.09	27	1.85	1.01-3.38	2.1	1.25-3.52	27	1.52	0.83-2.76	1.69	1.00-2.87		
Age 12 to 15 years																	
BMI category																	
Normal	611	Ref.		Ref.		612	Ref.		Ref	. —	612	Ref.		Ref.			
Overweight	53	1.33	0.83-2.15	1.21	0.76-1.93	53	1.12	0.66-1.88	1.0	5 0.64-1.71	53	1.11	0.71-1.74	1.05	0.67-1.63		
Obese	14	1.08	0.39-2.99	1.13	0.43-2.94	14	1.06	0.38-2.92	1.10	0.43-2.84	14	1.12	0.48-2.59	1.13	0.52-2.48		

Model 1: adjusted for age and parental education at baseline, follow-up length and marital status at adulthood.

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; RR, risk ratio; CI, confidence interval.

^a Normal defined as <85th percentile childhood BMI; overweight defined as 85th-94th percentile childhood BMI; obese defined as ≥95th percentile childhood BMI

^b Women answered yes to any one of the two related infertility questions.

Appendix3-7 Associations between childh	ood obesity and fertility problem in adulthood using 1985 ASHFS cohort 95th percentil	e
stratified by childhood age and sex, Child	ood Determinants of Adult Health study, 1985–2011 ^a	

Childhood BMI	Eve	Ever tried for≥12 months to become pregnant without succeeding						doctor because pregna	e of troubl int	e becoming		Infertility ^b					
	n	Ur	nadjusted	N	Model 1	- n	Unadjusted		N	Iodel 1	- n	Unadjusted		Ν	Model 1		
	п	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	п	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	11	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI		
Age 7 to 11 years																	
Normal	765	Ref.	_	Ref.		765	Ref.	_	Ref.		765	Ref.	_	Ref.			
Overweight	67	0.51	0.21-1.19	0.55	0.24-1.27	67	0.64	0.31-1.32	0.71	0.36-1.43	67	0.60	0.31-1.18	0.67	0.35-1.29		
Obese	31	1.53	0.78-2.30	1.39	0.76-2.55	31	1.99	1.17-3.40	2.20	1.40-3.46	31	1.80	1.10-2.95	1.81	1.19-2.78		
Age 12 to 15 years																	
Normal	601	Ref.	_	Ref.		602	Ref.	_	Ref.		602	Ref.	_	Ref.	_		
Overweight	48	1.10	0.65-1.87	1.05	0.59-1.84	48	0.82	0.43-1.58	0.85	0.45-1.59	48	0.98	0.59-1.64	0.98	0.60-1.60		
Obese	29	1.54	0.90-2.66	1.39	0.82-2.35	29	1.53	0.87-2.69	1.37	0.82-2.27	29	1.36	0.81-2.28	1.21	0.75-1.97		

Model 1: adjusted for age and parental education at baseline, follow-up length and marital status at adulthood.

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; RR, risk ratio; CI, confidence interval.

^a Normal defined as <85th percentile childhood BMI; overweight defined as 85th-94th percentile childhood BMI; obese defined as ≥95th percentile childhood BMI ^b Women answered yes to any one of the two related infertility questions.

Chapter 4: Associations of childhood adiposity and changes in adiposity status from childhood to adulthood with pregnancy hypertension

The following text in Chapter 4 has been published in *Pregnancy Hypertension-An International Journal of Women's Cardiovascular Health* (Appendix E 2)

4.1 Abstract

Objective(s): To investigate the associations between adiposity in childhood, and adiposity change from childhood to adulthood, with pregnancy hypertension.

Study Design: The study followed-up 985 girls from the 1985 Australian Schools Health and Fitness Survey (aged 9-15 years) who were ever pregnant in 2004-2006 and/or 2009-2011. In childhood, overweight and obesity were defined by age-sex-specific international standard for body mass index (BMI) and in adulthood as $BMI \ge 25 kg/m^2$. Childhood and adult abdominal obesity were defined as waist-to-height ratio (WHtR) ≥ 0.5 . A subsample of adults had abdominal obesity measures (n=549).

Main outcome measures: Pregnancy hypertension was self-reported as having had high blood pressure during or due to pregnancy.

Results: Childhood overweight/obesity (relative risk [RR]=1.66, 95% confidence interval [CI]:1.07-2.52) and abdominal obesity (RR=2.55, 95% CI:1.34-4.85) were associated with higher risks of pregnancy hypertension after adjustment for age, socioeconomic status and parity. Further adjustment for adult BMI attenuated the association for childhood overweight/obesity which was no longer statistically significant (RR=1.28, 95% CI: 0.79-2.07). The association with childhood abdominal obesity persisted after adjustment for adult WHtR (RR=2.15, 95% CI: 1.10-4.20). Compared to participants with persistently normal BMI or WHtR, those who were overweight/obese in adulthood only (RR=1.49, 95% CI: 1.10-2.02), persistently overweight/obese (RR=2.06, 95% CI: 1.29-3.29) or persistently abdominally obese (RR=3.09, 95% CI: 1.54-6.20) had increased risks of pregnancy hypertension.

Conclusion(s): Childhood adiposity was associated with increased risk of pregnancy hypertension, with the association of childhood abdominal obesity independent of adult

abdominal obesity. Women who were persistently overweight/obese or abdominally obese

since childhood had the highest risk of pregnancy hypertension.

4.2 Introduction

Hypertension affects an estimated 10% of all pregnancies and is the most frequently identified medical problem during pregnancy. Hypertensive disorders of pregnancy include both pregnancy-induced (gestational hypertension and preeclampsia) and pre-existing (chronic hypertension) conditions and are associated with a higher risk of cardiovascular events later in life ¹⁵⁹.

Being overweight or obese puts a woman at risk of developing pregnancy hypertension. The risk of preeclampsia doubles with each 5-7 unit increase in pre-pregnancy body mass index (BMI)⁸⁵. Abdominal obesity has also been associated with pregnancy hypertension. The results from one Australian cohort indicated that every 1cm increase in waist circumference was associated with a 4% increased risk of pregnancy hypertension⁸⁸. Another case-control study indicated that waist circumference was a better predictor of pregnancy hypertension than BMI ⁸⁹. Despite the known detrimental effect of adult adiposity on pregnancy hypertension, the relationship with childhood obesity, especially childhood abdominal obesity with pregnancy hypertension is less well understood.

To our knowledge, only two studies have reported a longitudinal relationship between childhood obesity and pregnancy hypertension, and childhood BMI was the only predictor ^{77, 91}. The 1958 British birth cohort study included 4,681 girls and reported that being overweight or obese at the age of 7 years increased the risk of self-reported hypertension in pregnancy before age 33, but this risk did not persist after adjustment for adult BMI ⁷⁷. More recently, a report based on 703 participants in the USA Bogalusa Heart Study showed that elevated childhood BMI was a significant risk factor for self-reported pregnancy hypertension without considering adult BMI.

Therefore, the aim of our present study was to examine the association between different adiposity measures in childhood and changes in adiposity status from childhood to adulthood, with pregnancy hypertension.

4.3 Materials and Methods

4.3.1 Participants

The Childhood Determinants of Adult Health (CDAH) Study is a follow-up of 8,498 children including 4,191 girls aged 7-15 years who participated in the 1985 Australian Schools Health and Fitness Survey (ASHFS), a nationwide sample of Australian school children ¹⁶⁰. In 1985, all children had physical assessments and those aged 9, 12 and 15 years had blood pressure measured. During 2002-2004, a total of 3,412 female participants were traced and 2,734 enrolled to participate in the CDAH Study (enrolment) (Figure 4.1). During 2004-2006, the first follow-up (CDAH-1) of those enrolled was conducted when participants were aged 26-36 years. Of the 1,017 women who reported having ever been pregnant and answered questions about pregnancy hypertension in the questionnaire, 735 attended one of 34 study clinics held around Australia for physical measurements. The second follow-up (CDAH-2) was conducted during 2009-2011 when participants were aged 31-41 years and 901 reported having ever been pregnant women and completed the same questions about pregnancy hypertension. A total of 1,324 women who were ever pregnant and answered the pregnancy hypertension questions at CDAH-1 and/or CDAH-2 were included in the analysis reported here (423 women only participated in CDAH-1, 307 women only participated in CDAH-2 and 594 women participated in both CDAH-1 and CDAH-2).

The study was approved by the Southern Tasmania Health and Medical Human Research Ethics Committee. Written informed consent was obtained at childhood from parents and obtained at each follow-up from participants.



Figure 4.1 Selection of participants for the Childhood Determinants of Adult Health (CDAH) Study

4.3.2 Childhood adiposity measures

BMI, calculated as weight (kg)/height (m)², was derived from measured height and weight. Overweight and obese were combined for analysis and defined using international age- and sex-specific cut-points for BMI⁸. Waist and hip circumference were measured to the nearest 0.1 cm. Waist-to-hip ratio was calculated by dividing waist by hip circumference. Waist-to-

height ratio (WHtR) was calculated by dividing waist circumference by height. Abdominal obesity was defined as WHtR \geq 0.5 ¹³³. Childhood BMI and waist circumference z scores were calculated based on age- and sex-specific standardization of the full childhood cohort.

4.3.3 Adult adiposity measures

At CDAH-1, weight, height, waist circumference and hip circumference were measured at study clinics for most participants. Some participants (n=1,119) also self-reported their weight and height before measurements were taken to assess the accuracy of self-reported values. Participants who did not visit clinics self-reported their weight and height, and a correction factor was applied to adjust for error ²⁶. BMI (kg/m²) was calculated from height and weight. WHtR was calculated from measured waist circumference and height at clinics.

Weight was self-reported at CDAH-2. Adjusted weight values were calculated using the correction factor applied at CDAH-1. Height was self-reported and adjusted as described above. Adult BMI was categorized as normal (BMI<25 kg/m²), overweight ($25.0 \le BMI \le 29.9 \text{ kg/m}^2$) or obese (BMI $\ge 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$)². Adult abdominal obesity was defined as WHtR ≥ 0.5 ¹³.

4.3.4 Pregnancy hypertension

In CDAH-1 and CDAH-2, women were asked to answer 'yes' or 'no' to the question 'Have you ever been told that you have high blood pressure during pregnancy or due to pregnancy?' Pregnancy hypertension was recorded if they responded 'yes'.

4.3.5 Covariate measures

Information on sociodemographic characteristics was self-reported in childhood and follow-up including childhood age, parental education, parental smoking and childhood smoking experimentation, both childhood and adult area-level disadvantage ¹⁶¹, alcohol consumption, physical activity and adult education level, smoking status, occupation and parity.

4.3.6 Statistical analyses

Taking into account the repeated measures of variables over CDAH-1 and CDAH-2, logbinomial models with generalized estimating equations (GEE) were used to estimate relative risk (RR) for associations between childhood adiposity measures and change in adiposity status from childhood to adulthood with pregnancy hypertension. Subsample analysis was conducted among those with measured adult waist circumference and height at the CDAH-1 clinics.

The independent effects of childhood BMI and childhood abdominal obesity measures on pregnancy hypertension were examined by including corresponding adult BMI and adult abdominal obesity measures (for the subsample only) in the models. In addition, as abdominal obesity had been suggested to be a stronger predictor of cardiovascular disease than BMI ^{13, 90}, in the current study, childhood abdominal obesity measures were further adjusted for childhood and adult BMI to investigate the effects of fat distribution in childhood on pregnancy hypertension more specifically. Covariates remaining in the final model were variables which associated with the exposure and the outcome and resulted in more than 10% change in the coefficient of the study factor.

The following sensitivity analyses were conducted. First, we excluded those who reported 'yes' to ever having pregnancy hypertension in CDAH-1 but 'no' in CDAH-2. Second, since multiple births and high childhood blood pressure may be associated with increased risk of pregnancy hypertension ^{162, 163}, we restricted our sample to women who had singleton pregnancies and those who had measured childhood systolic (SBP) and diastolic blood pressure (DBP). To investigate whether high blood pressure persisted post-pregnancy in those with a history of pregnancy hypertension, we compared blood pressure in a subsample of women (n=609) who had participated in the first follow-up (CDAH-1) clinics and had measured

systolic and diastolic blood pressure. Third, inverse probability weighting was used to account for missing data at follow-up, with multiple imputation of incomplete baseline data ¹⁶⁴.

Finally, to examine if there is a difference in risk of pregnancy hypertension associated with adiposity during different time periods of growth, we repeated the analyses by stratifying childhood age before or after 12 years.

All analyses were performed using STATA software, version 15.0 (Stata Corp., College Station, TX); A p-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

4.4 **Results**

4.4.1 Participant characteristics

This study included 1,324 women who had ever been pregnant and completed hypertension questions at follow-ups; 594 of them completed both follow-ups; 423 participated in CDAH-1 only; and 307 women participated in CDAH-2 only. Participants who had missing data on confounders (n=339) were excluded, leaving 985 women for the final analysis. A total of 549 women with measured waist circumference and height at the CDAH-1 clinics were included in the subsample analysis.

Characteristics of participants in childhood and adulthood are shown in Table 4.1. In childhood, 10 (1.0%) girls were obese, 77 (7.8%) were overweight as defined by BMI cutoffs, and 47 (4.8%) had abdominal obesity as defined by WHtR category. The mean age at CDAH-1 was 32.8 years and 37.5 years at CDAH-2. There were 111 (13.8%) and 68 (10.6%) women who reported experiencing pregnancy hypertension in CDAH-1 and CDAH-2. Among them 21 women reported having had pregnancy hypertension in CDAH-1 but not in CDAH-2.

Compared with those who did not participate in CDAH-1 or CDAH-2, those who did participate in CDAH-1 and/or CDAH-2 were older in childhood (12.1 vs 10.5 years; P<0.001),

had greater BMI (18.8 vs 18.2 kg/m²; P<0.001) and waist circumference (64.1 vs 62.1 cm;

P<0.001), lower WHtR (0.42 vs 0.44; *P*<0.001) and waist-to-hip ratio (0.80 vs 0.82; *P*<0.001),

and were less likely to be obese (1.0% vs 1.8%; P=0.001) or abdominally obese (4.8% vs 7.9%;

P=0.001).

Table 4.1 Characteristics of participants in childhood (1985), CDAH-1 (2004-2006)
and CDAH-2 (2009-2011), Childhood Determinants of Adult Health study ^a

Characteristics	Childhood (n=985)	CDAH-1 (n=806)	CDAH-2 (n=641)
Age, years, Mean(SD)	12.1(2.0)	32.8(2.0)	37.5(2.0)
BMI, kg/m ² , Mean(SD)	18.8(2.8)	25.0(5.1)	25.2(5.5)
Waist circumference, cm, Mean(SD)	64.1(7.5)	79.3(10.9)	
Waist-to-height ratio, Mean(SD)	0.42(0.04)	0.48(0.07)	
Waist-to-hip ratio, Mean(SD)	0.80(0.06)	0.76(0.06)	
BMI category (%) ^b			
Normal	91.2	60.7	59.9
Overweight	7.8	24.8	22.9
Obese	1.0	14.5	17.2
WHtR category (%)			
<0.5	95.2	69.0	
≥0.5	4.8	31.0	
Area-level disadvantage (%)			
High	26.9	27.3	25.7
Medium-high	28.9	25.0	24.7
Medium-low	38.2	22.5	23.8
Low	6.0	25.2	25.8
Highest parental education (%)			
University education	23.3		
Vocational training	35.0		
High school	41.7		
Childhood smoking experimentation (%)			
None	56.1		
A few puffs	21.7		
<10 cigarettes	8.5		
>10 cigarettes	13.8		
Parental smoking (%)			
None	57.8		
Either parent smoked	26.8		
Both parents smoked	15.4		
Childhood alcohol assumption (%)			
Never	67.6		
Less than once per week	26.3		
More than once per week	6.1		
Physical activity, mins/week, Mean(SD) ^c	406.7(365.7)	784.3(502.0)	819.4(507.0)

Systolic blood pressure, mmHg, Mean(SD)	108.9(12.0)		
Diastolic blood pressure, mmHg, Mean(SD)	66.6(11.0)		
Adulthood smoking status (%)			
Never smoker		49.7	56.1
Ex-smoker		28.0	30.4
Current smoker		22.4	13.5
Highest education attainment (%)			
University education		36.6	46.2
Vocational training		26.8	27.7
High school		36.6	26.1
Adulthood alcohol consumption (%)			
Non-drinkers		23.6	22.6
Light drinkers		56.8	57.8
Moderate drinkers		14.5	14.9
Heavy/very heavy drinkers		5.2	4.7
Occupation (%)			
Professional or manager		38.8	43.7
Nonmanual		28.3	27.6
Manual		5.5	6.1
Not in the labour force		27.4	22.6
Parity, Mean(SD)		1.6(1.0)	2.1(1.0)
Pregnancy hypertension (%)		13.8	10.6

^a Childhood overweight and obesity were defined according to the international cut-offs; the final sample (n=985) included participants who participated in CDAH-1 (n=806) or CDAH-2 (n=641);

^b Sample size in Childhood ranges from 415-985, CDAH-1 ranges from 549-806, CDAH-2 ranges from 596-641 due to missing data on some variables;

^c Childhood physical activity was assessed by Australia Health and Fitness Survey, 1985; CDAH-1 and CDAH-2 physical activity was assessed by International Physical Activity Questionnaire;

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; CDAH, Childhood Determinants of Adult Health Study; SD, standard deviation; WHtR, waist-to-height ratio.

4.4.2 **Pregnancy hypertension**

As shown in Table 4.2, after adjustment for age, area-level disadvantage in childhood, parity and occupation in adulthood, childhood overweight/obese and abdominal obesity measures were all associated with an increased risk of pregnancy hypertension (Model 1). To determine whether childhood abdominal obesity measures contributed to the risks of pregnancy hypertension were independent of childhood BMI, we further adjusted for childhood BMI (Model 2), the associations between childhood abdominal obesity measures and pregnancy hypertension remained significant. Model 3 included additional adjustment for adult BMI to investigate whether associations with childhood overweight/obese and abdominal obesity

measures were independent of adult BMI. Childhood overweight/obese was no longer associated with pregnancy hypertension after adjustment for adult BMI (Model 3). However, associations remained for childhood abdominal obesity measures. In the subsample of participants with measured waist circumference and height at the CDAH-1 clinics (Table 4.3), childhood abdominal obesity measures were associated with increased risk of pregnancy hypertension (Model 1). When further adjusted for corresponding abdominal measures in adulthood (Model 2), although there remained significant associations with childhood WHtR (RR=1.24, 95% CI:1.01-1.54) and childhood abdominal obesity (WHtR \geq 0.5) (RR=2.15, 95% CI:1.10-4.20), these associations were attenuated with adjustment for adult WHtR.
Body composition	n	Unadjusted model		Ν	Model 1		Model 2		Model 3	
	11	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	
BMI (kg/m ²)	985	1.06	1.01-1.12	1.08	1.02-1.14			1.04	0.97-1.11	
BMI z score	985	1.19	1.03-1.38	1.20	1.04-1.40			1.09	0.92-1.30	
BMI category										
Normal	898	Ref.	_	Ref.	_			Ref.	_	
Overweight/obese	87	1.64	1.05-2.49	1.66	1.07-2.57			1.28	0.79-2.07	
Waist circumference (cm)	985	1.03	1.01-1.05	1.04	1.02-1.06	1.04	1.01-1.07	1.03	1.00-1.07	
Waist circumference z score	985	1.28	1.11-1.41	1.29	1.12-1.49	1.28	1.01-1.61	1.25	0.99-1.57	
Waist circumference, per SD (7.51 cm)	985	1.26	1.10-1.44	1.32	1.14-1.54	1.33	1.04-1.69	1.29	1.01-1.65	
Waist-to-hip ratio, per SD (0.06)	985	1.22	1.05-1.42	1.25	1.07-1.47	1.22	1.04-1.43	1.20	1.03-1.41	
Waist-to-height ratio, per SD (0.04)	985	1.33	1.17-1.51	1.33	1.15-1.53	1.35	1.09-1.67	1.24	1.06-1.43	
WHtR category										
<0.5	938	Ref.	_	Ref.	_	Ref.	_	Ref.	_	
≥0.5	47	2.33	1.45-3.74	2.54	1.61-4.01	2.14	1.18-3.87	2.21	1.09-4.48	

Table 4.2 Associations between adiposity measures in childhood with pregnancy hypertension, Childhood Determinants of Adult Health study

Model 1: adjusted for age, area-level disadvantage at childhood, parity and occupation at adulthood;

Model 2: adjusted for age, area-level disadvantage and body mass index at childhood, parity and occupation at adulthood;

Model 3: adjusted for age, area-level disadvantage and body mass index at childhood (for abdominal obesity measures only), parity, occupation and body mass index at adulthood;

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; CI, confidence interval; RR, risk ratio; SD, standard deviation; WHtR, waist-to-height ratio.

Body composition	n –	Unadju	Unadjusted model		Model 1	Ν	Model 2	
	11 -	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	
Waist circumference (cm)	549	1.03	1.00-1.06	1.04	1.01-1.07	1.03	1.00-1.07	
Waist circumference z score	549	1.26	1.03-1.55	1.33	1.08-1.65	1.22	0.96-1.56	
Waist circumference, per SD (7.30 cm)	549	1.22	1.01-1.48	1.36	1.09-1.69	1.25	0.97-1.60	
Waist-to-hip ratio, per SD (0.06)	549	1.15	0.93-1.42	1.21	0.96-1.52	1.20	0.94-1.52	
Waist-to-height ratio, per SD (0.04)	549	1.32	1.10-1.58	1.34	1.11-1.61	1.24	1.01-1.54	
WHtR category								
<0.5	526	Ref.	_	Ref.	_	Ref.	_	
≥ 0.5	23	2.29	1.19-4.40	2.55	1.34-4.85	2.15	1.10-4.20	

Table 4.3 Associations between abdominal measures in childhood with pregnancy hypertension in CDAH-1 clinic participants, Childhood Determinants of Adult Health study

Model 1: adjusted for age, area-level disadvantage at childhood, parity and occupation at adulthood;

Model 2: adjusted for age, area-level disadvantage at childhood, parity, occupation and corresponding abdominal measures at adulthood;

Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; RR, risk ratio; SD, standard deviation; WHtR, waist-to-height ratio.

4.4.3 Influence of adiposity change from childhood to adulthood

The relative risk of pregnancy hypertension by BMI and WHtR category change from childhood to adulthood is displayed in Table 4.4. Compared with participants who had persistently normal BMI in childhood and adulthood, those who became overweight/obese reported a higher risk of pregnancy hypertension with a RR of 1.49 (95% CI 1.10-2.02). The risk was highest for participants who were persistently overweight/obese from childhood into adulthood (RR=2.06; 95% CI 1.29-3.29). In the subsample of participants who had WHtR data in both childhood and adulthood (N=549), 19 (3.5%) were abdominally obese in both childhood and adulthood and 31.6% of them had pregnancy hypertension (Figure 4.2). Compared with those who were not abdominally obese in childhood and adulthood (68.3% of the subset, 11.5% with pregnancy hypertension), those who were persistently abdominally obese had a significantly higher risk of pregnancy hypertension (RR=3.09; 95% CI: 1.54-6.20) (Table 4.4). Subjects who were not abdominally obese in childhood but who developed abdominal obesity in adulthood (27.5%) also had a higher risk of pregnancy hypertension (RR=1.56; 95% CI 1.00-2.43), but the significance of this association was attenuated after adjustment for confounders.

Body composition from childhood to adulthood		Pregnancy hypertension					
	n (%) ^a	U	nadjusted model	Ν	Model 1		
		RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI		
BMI category (N=985)							
Persistently normal	860(59.4)	Ref.	_	Ref.	_		
Normal to overweight/obese	469(32.4)	1.49	1.11-2.01	1.49	1.10-2.02		
Overweight/obese to normal	13(0.9)	1.00	0.15-6.53	1.09	0.16-7.29		
Persistently overweight/obese	105(7.3)	2.05	1.27-3.29	2.06	1.29-3.29		
WHtR category ^b (N=549)							
Persistently not abdominally obese	375(68.3)	Ref.	—	Ref.	_		
Not abdominally obese to abdominally obese	151(27.5)	1.56	1.00-2.43	1.43	0.92-2.25		
Abdominally obese to not abdominally obese	4(0.7)	2.18	0.39-12.18	2.13	0.40-11.43		
Persistently abdominally obese	19(3.5)	2.75	1.34-5.65	3.09	1.54-6.20		

Table 4.4 Relative risk of pregnancy hypertension according to adiposity status from childhood to adulthood, Childhood Determinants of Adult Health Study

Model 1: adjusted for age, area-level disadvantage at childhood, parity and occupation at adulthood; ^a n indicated the total number of observations in each BMI category from childhood to CDAH-1 and/or

CDAH-2 and the number of participants in each WHtR category from childhood to CDAH-1; ^b Subgroup analysis which only available in those who participated in 1985 Australian Schools Health and Fitness Survey and CDAH-1 clinics;

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; CI, confidence interval; RR, risk ratio; WHtR, waist-height ratio.



Figure 4.2 Percentage of ever had pregnancy hypertension across abdominal obesity category from childhood to adulthood, Childhood Determinants of Adult Health Study

4.4.4 Sensitivity analysis

Similar results were observed after excluding women who reported they had pregnancy hypertension in CDAH-1 but not in CDAH-2 (n=231). When restricting the sample to women with singleton pregnancies, the risk of pregnancy hypertension (RR=2.55, 95% CI 1.28-5.09) remained significantly higher in those who were abdominally obese in childhood. A total of 415 girls aged 9, 12 and 15 years had blood pressure measured in childhood. The mean childhood SBP and DBP were similar in those with and without self-reported pregnancy hypertension in CDAH-1 (SBP: 110.4±14.8 vs 109.0±11.8, P=0.50; DBP: 65.4±12.2 vs 66.8±10.8, P=0.43) and CDAH-2 (SBP: 112.6±12.7 vs 108.5±11.8, P=0.06; DBP: 67.8±11.1 vs 66.1 \pm 10.6, P=0.38). Further adjustment for childhood SBP and DBP in these participants did not substantially change the main results: the changes in the magnitude of estimates were within 17.2% (Appendix4-1). In the subsample of women (n=609) who had participated in the first follow-up (CDAH-1) clinics and had measured blood pressure, we found that compared with women who did not report pregnancy hypertension, those who reported ever having had pregnancy hypertension had significantly higher SBP (116.7 vs 110.0mmHg, P<0.001), and DBP (74.7 vs 68.7mmHg, P<0.001) and higher prevalence of hypertension (9.5% vs 1.1%, P<0.001). Sensitivity analyses to address loss to follow-up by using combined multiple imputation and inverse probability weighting produced similar patterns of results as the unweighted analyses: changes in the magnitude of significant associations ranging from -23.5-58.0% (Appendix4-2).

When stratified by age, childhood BMI and BMI z score showed similar associations in 12 to 15 year-olds (RR=1.07, 95% CI:1.00-1.15; RR=1.21, 95% CI:1.00-1.45) to those younger than 12 years (RR=1.09, 95% CI:0.99-1.19; RR=1.20, 95% CI:0.94-1.53). However, the observed statistically significant association in the 12 to 15 year age group did not persist after further adjustment for adult BMI. In a subsample analysis, a stronger association with pregnancy

hypertension was found with abdominal obesity before age 12 (RR=5.38, 95% CI:2.67-10.82) than age 12-15 years (RR=1.48, 95% CI:0.52-4.27). The significant associations with abdominal obesity before age 12 persisted after adjustment for adult WHtR (RR=5.36, 95% CI:2.68-10.73).

4.5 Discussion

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to report the long-term associations of childhood abdominal obesity and change in body composition from childhood to adulthood with pregnancy hypertension. We found that childhood abdominal obesity was associated with an increased risk of pregnancy hypertension. This association persisted after adjustment for adult abdominal obesity. Persistent overweight/obesity and abdominal obesity were associated with the highest risk of pregnancy hypertension.

Our finding that the association of childhood BMI with pregnancy hypertension was not independent of adult BMI was consistent with findings from the 1958 British birth cohort study ⁷⁷ and that overweight/obesity that is proximal to pregnancy is especially important for pregnancy hypertension risk. A higher risk was found for women who were persistently overweight/obese in childhood and adulthood than those who became overweight/obese as adults, even though the difference did not reach statistical significance. This may be explained by the higher BMI in adulthood among those with persistently high adiposity status from childhood to adulthood than in those who had a normal BMI as children and were overweight/obese as adults (33.2 vs 29.5, P<0.001).

Although childhood abdominal obesity has been observed in several cross-sectional studies to be associated with cardio-metabolic risk in childhood ^{13, 165-167}, the current understanding of the long-term effect of abdominal obesity on chronic conditions including pregnancy hypertension remains limited. Most studies from childhood have followed participants into

adulthood and collected BMI due to ease of measurement. In our study, one SD of 0.04 unit increase in childhood WHtR was associated with 33% greater likelihood of reporting pregnancy hypertension and was largely unchanged after adjusting for childhood and adulthood BMI. Similar results were found in a subsample with adult abdominal obesity measures, the associations of childhood WHtR persisted with further adjustment for adult WHtR. These results indicated a detrimental impact of childhood abdominal obesity on the risk of pregnancy hypertension, which was not modified by BMI or adult abdominal obesity. It has been suggested that early onset obesity may have higher risks of adverse outcomes in later life ¹⁶⁸. Consistent with this we observed stronger associations with childhood abdominal obesity in girls younger than age 12 than in older girls. In the Bogalusa Heart Study, a stronger association of childhood BMI with pregnancy hypertension was reported between ages 12 to 17 than before age 12. In our study, similar associations of childhood BMI with pregnancy hypertension were found in these younger than age 12 and age 12 to 15 after accounting for adult BMI.

The exact mechanism by which childhood abdominal obesity influences risk of pregnancy hypertension remains unclear. Plausible mechanisms include the long-term adverse effects of excess childhood visceral fat on blood pressure, insulin resistance, inflammation upregulation, oxidative stress and endothelial dysfunction ¹⁶⁹⁻¹⁷².

Some potential limitations of our study are acknowledged. The first is the measurement of pregnancy hypertension and that self-report may lead to misclassification ^{173, 174}. However, the prevalence of pregnancy hypertension in our study is similar to global prevalence ¹⁵⁹. Beyond that, two validation studies to investigate the validity of self-reported pregnancy hypertension show good concordance of self-report with clinical records ^{173, 175}. Second is the loss to follow-up. We applied inverse probability weighting to account for missingness but these did not appreciably change the results. Third is the potential over adjustment of adult BMI and abdominal obesity measures. Our findings were for ever-pregnant women, but we were unable

to account for their BMI and abdominal measures immediately prior to pregnancy. Women's weight or waist circumference may increase after pregnancy, however, over adjustment of adult anthropometric measures tend to favour our study results. Fourth, we cannot classify the category of pregnancy hypertension exactly. Preeclampsia is a distinct cause of maternal morbidity and mortality and can lead to further systemic disorders ¹⁵⁹. Future studies that address pre-eclampsia specifically are needed. Finally, we did not have information on whether hypertension persisted beyond delivery. However, our finding of subsequent higher blood pressure and more prevalent hypertension in a subsample of women who reported a history of pregnancy hypertension is consistent with the literature ^{176, 177}, indicating that the risk of future chronic hypertension may be increased.

The strengths of our study include the following. Foremost, this is the first prospective study to investigate the long-term association between childhood abdominal obesity measures and pregnancy hypertension. Second, we conducted objective measurement of childhood anthropometrics including childhood BMI and abdominal obesity measures. Third, unlike previous two studies examining childhood BMI and pregnancy hypertension, a range of data on covariates has been collected in our study.

4.6 Conclusion

Childhood adiposity was associated with increased risk of pregnancy hypertension, with the association of childhood abdominal obesity independent of adult abdominal obesity. Women with persistently high adiposity from childhood to adulthood had the highest risk of pregnancy hypertension. Childhood abdominal obesity may be considered in addition to BMI, as an indicator of the risk of future cardiometabolic conditions including pregnancy hypertension.

4.7 Appendix 4 Supplementary material for Chapter 4

Appendix4-1 Associations between adiposity	neasures in childhood with pregnancy hypertension, Childhood Determinants of Adult
Health Study (Considering childhood blood p	ressure)

Body composition		Unadjusted model		Model 1		Model 2		Model 3		Μ	Model 4	
	n	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	
BMI (kg/m ²)	415	1.10	1.02-1.18	1.12	1.03-1.21			1.03	0.93-1.15	1.04	0.93-1.16	
BMI z score	415	1.29	1.04-1.58	1.31	1.06-1.62			1.06	0.81-1.40	1.09	0.81-1.44	
BMI category												
Normal	380	Ref.	—	Ref.	—			Ref.	—	Ref.	—	
Overweight/obese	35	2.58	1.50-4.45	2.75	1.60-4.73			1.85	0.95-3.59	1.98	0.91-4.30	
Waist circumference (cm)	415	1.04	1.02-1.07	1.05	1.02-1.08	1.05	1.00-1.09	1.04	1.00-1.09	1.04	1.01-1.09	
Waist circumference z score	415	1.38	1.14-1.67	1.41	1.17-1.70	1.36	0.99-1.87	1.35	1.00-1.82	1.36	1.03-1.80	
Waist circumference, per SD (7.87 cm)	415	1.38	1.15-1.66	1.46	1.20-1.78	1.42	1.01-2.01	1.41	1.04-1.92	1.43	1.07-1.90	
Waist-to-hip ratio, per SD (0.06)	415	1.26	1.00-1.58	1.33	1.04-1.70	1.25	0.98-1.60	1.23	0.97-1.57	1.23	0.97-1.56	
Waist-to-height ratio, per SD (0.04)	415	1.43	1.20-1.71	1.44	1.22-1.70	1.44	1.09-1.90	1.41	1.10-1.81	1.40	1.09-1.80	
WHtR category												
<0.5	395	Ref.	—	Ref.	—	Ref.	—	Ref.	—	Ref.	—	
≥0.5	20	3.24	1.81-5.80	3.50	2.01-6.10	2.88	1.25-6.59	2.75	1.11-6.82	3.28	1.56-6.87	

Model 1: adjusted for age, area-level disadvantage at childhood, parity and occupation at adulthood;

Model 2: adjusted for age, area-level disadvantage and body mass index at childhood, parity and occupation at adulthood;

Model 3: adjusted for age, area-level disadvantage and body mass index at childhood (for abdominal obesity measures only), parity, occupation and body mass index at adulthood;

Model 4: adjusted for age, area-level disadvantage, body mass index (for abdominal obesity measures only) and systolic and diastolic blood pressure at childhood, parity, occupation and body mass index at adulthood;

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; CI, confidence interval; RR, risk ratio; SD, standard deviation; WHtR, waist-to-height ratio.

			·				· ·		
Body composition		Unadju	isted model	N	Model 1	Ν	Iodel 2]	Model 3
	n	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI
BMI (kg/m ²)	985	1.06	1.01-1.12	1.07	1.01-1.13			1.02	0.96-1.09
BMI z score	985	1.18	1.01-1.38	1.19	1.02-1.39			1.04	0.87-1.24
BMI category									
Normal	898	Ref.	_	Ref.	_			Ref.	_
Overweight	77	1.72	1.07-2.77	1.76	1.10-2.82			1.22	0.73-2.05
Obese	10	1.22	0.33-4.45	1.26	0.35-4.51			0.50	0.13-1.88
Waist circumference (cm)	985	1.03	1.01-1.05	1.04	1.02-1.06	1.04	1.01-1.07	1.03	1.00-1.07
Waist circumference z score	985	1.28	1.10-1.48	1.28	1.10-1.48	1.28	1.02-1.60	1.21	0.94-1.57
Waist circumference, per SD (7.51 cm)	985	1.26	1.10-1.45	1.31	1.12-1.52	1.32	1.05-1.68	1.26	0.97-1.65
Waist-to-hip ratio, per SD (0.06)	985	1.22	1.04-1.44	1.29	1.09-1.52	1.25	1.05-1.49	1.26	1.05-1.50
Waist-to-height ratio, per SD (0.04)	985	1.33	1.17-1.51	1.33	1.18-1.51	1.43	1.18-1.74	1.40	1.3-1.72
WHtR category									
<0.5	938	Ref.	_	Ref.	_	Ref.	_	Ref.	_
≥0.5	47	2.36	1.46-3.82	2.48	1.54-4.00	2.15	1.13-4.08	2.50	1.43-4.37

Appendix4-2 Sensitivity analysis using inverse propensity weighting technique with multiple imputation. Associations between adiposity measures in childhood with pregnancy hypertension, Childhood Determinants of Adult Health Study

Model 1: adjusted for age, area-level disadvantage at childhood, parity and occupation at adulthood;

Model 2: adjusted for age, area-level disadvantage and body mass index at childhood, parity and occupation at adulthood;

Model 3: adjusted for age, area-level disadvantage and body mass index (for abdominal obesity measures only) at childhood, parity, occupation and body mass index at adulthood;

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; CI, confidence interval; RR, risk ratio; SD, standard deviation; WHtR, waist-to-height ratio.

Chapter 5: Associations of childhood adiposity with menstrual irregularity and polycystic ovary syndrome in adulthood: The Childhood Determinants of Adult Health Study and the Bogalusa Heart Study

The following text in Chapter 5 has been published in Human Reproduction

(Appendix E 3)

5.1 Abstract

Study question: Is high adiposity in childhood associated with menstrual irregularity and polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) in later life?

Summary answer: Overall, greater childhood BMI was associated with menstrual irregularity, and greater childhood BMI and waist/height ratio (WHtR) in white but not black participants were associated with PCOS in adulthood.

What is known already: Increased childhood BMI has been associated with irregular menstrual cycles and PCOS symptoms in adulthood in two longitudinal population-based studies, but no study has reported on associations with childhood abdominal obesity. Few studies have investigated whether there are racial differences in the associations of adiposity with PCOS though there has been some suggestion that associations with high BMI may be stronger in white girls than in black girls.

Study design, size, duration: The study included 1,516 participants (aged 26-41 years) from the Australian Childhood Determinants of Adult Health study (CDAH) and 1,247 participants (aged 26-57 years) from the biracial USA Babies sub-study of the Bogalusa Heart Study (BBS) who were aged 7-15 years at baseline. At follow-up, questions were asked about menstruation (current for CDAH or before age 40 years for BBS), ever having had a diagnosis of PCOS and symptoms of PCOS.

Participants/materials, setting, methods: In CDAH, a single childhood visit was conducted in 1985. In BBS, multiple childhood visits occurred from 1973 to 2000 and race was reported (59% white; 41% black). In childhood, overweight and obesity were defined by international age-sex-specific standards for BMI and WHtR was considered as an indicator of abdominal obesity. Multilevel mixed-effects Poisson regression estimated relative risks (RRs) adjusting for childhood age, highest parental and own education, and age at menarche.

Main results and the role of chance: The prevalence of childhood obesity was 1.1% in CDAH and 7.5% in BBS. At follow-up, menstrual irregularity was reported by 16.7% of CDAH and 24.5% of BBS participants. The prevalence of PCOS was 7.4% in CDAH and 8.0% in BBS participants. In CDAH, childhood obesity was associated with menstrual irregularity (RR=2.84, 95% CI:1.63-4.96) and PCOS (RR=4.05, 95% CI:1.10-14.83) in adulthood. With each 0.01 unit increase in childhood WHtR there was a 6% (95% CI: 1%-11%) greater likelihood of PCOS. Overall, in BBS, childhood obesity was associated with increased risk of menstrual irregularity (RR=1.44, 95% CI: 1.08-1.92) in adulthood. Significant interaction effects between race and childhood adiposity were detected in associations with PCOS. In BBS white participants, childhood obesity was associated with an 11% (95% CI: 1.65-5.22) and a 0.01 unit increase in childhood. In BBS black participants, no statistically significant associations of childhood adiposity measures with PCOS were observed.

Limitations, reasons for caution: The classification of menstrual irregularity and PCOS was based on self-report by questionnaire, which may have led to misclassification of these outcomes. However, despite the limitations of the study, the prevalence of menstrual irregularity and PCOS in the two cohorts was consistent with the literature. While the study samples at baseline were population-based, loss to follow-up means the generalizability of the findings is uncertain.

Wider implications of the findings: Greater childhood adiposity indicates a higher risk of menstrual irregularity and PCOS in adulthood. Whether this is causal or an early indicator of underlying hormonal or metabolic disorders needs clarification. The stronger associations of adiposity with PCOS in white than black participants suggest that there are racial differences in childhood adiposity predisposing to the development of PCOS and other environmental or genetic factors are also important.

5.2 Introduction

Menstrual irregularity and polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) have been associated with higher risk of lower fecundity and cardiovascular diseases ^{178, 179} as well as some cancers ^{180, 181}. PCOS is recognized as the most common heterogeneous endocrine disorder, affecting 8-13% of women of reproductive age ¹⁰¹. Irregular menstrual cycles are part of the three diagnostic criteria (National Institutes of Health, Rotterdam and Androgen Excess Society diagnostic criteria) for PCOS in addition to hyperandrogenism and polycystic ovarian morphology ⁹⁶.

General and abdominal obesity are associated with a greater risk of menstrual irregularity in adult women ¹⁸²⁻¹⁸⁵. Our previous cross-sectional study suggested that obese women, defined by either BMI or waist circumference, were twice as likely to have irregular menstruation, compared with normal weight women ¹⁸². However, the association between adult obesity and PCOS is inconclusive. Although obesity, particularly abdominal obesity, is a common trait in women with PCOS, it is not part of the diagnostic criteria. The prevalence of obesity varies among different populations and races but the prevalence of PCOS is relatively uniform ¹⁰⁹. This implies that obesity might not cause PCOS or there could be geographic/ethnic differences affecting the relationship between obesity and PCOS.

Only two previous population-based longitudinal studies ^{77, 106} have investigated the associations between childhood obesity, adult menstrual irregularity and PCOS, in which childhood BMI was the only indicator of obesity. The 1958 British birth cohort study of 5,770 girls reported that overweight and obesity at 7 years of age increased the risk of menstrual irregularity before age 33 years ⁷⁷. The Northern Finland 1966 birth cohort of 2,007 girls suggested that overweight and obesity at age 14 years were associated with self-reported PCOS at age 31 years¹⁰⁶. Two further papers based on the same Northern Finland cohort reported

associations of weight gain ¹⁸⁶ and age at adiposity rebound with PCOS ¹⁸⁷. Another study based on clinical study samples suggested that change in z-score from weight at birth to weight in adolescence may be greater in girls with PCOS than in healthy controls ¹⁸⁸.

In this study we used two cohorts with different racial characteristics who were followed through childhood to adulthood. We aimed first to investigate the associations of obesity (including abdominal obesity) in childhood with menstrual irregularity and PCOS in adulthood and, second to determine whether these associations differed by country (Australia and USA) and race (white and black).

5.3 Materials and Methods

5.3.1 The Childhood Determinants of Adult Health Study: a cohort from Australia

5.3.1.1 Participants

The Childhood Determinants of Adult Health Study (CDAH) study is a follow-up of participants in the 1985 Australian Schools Health and Fitness Survey (ASHFS), a nationally representative sample of 8,498 school children (4,191 girls) aged 7-15 years ¹⁴³ (Figure 5.1). During 2004-06, the first follow-up (CDAH-1) was conducted when participants were 26-36 years and 1,598 female participants responded to questions on their menstrual cycle characteristics and PCOS. Among them 652 participants attended a study clinic and had plasma hormone measurements including total testosterone concentrations and sex hormone-binding globulin (SHBG) ¹⁸². The second follow-up (CDAH-2) was conducted during 2009-11 when participants were aged 31-41 years and 1,123 participants completed the same questions about menstrual cycles and PCOS. The current study included 1,516 women who completed questions on menstrual cycles and/or PCOS in CDAH-1 and/or CDAH-2.

The study was approved by the Southern Tasmania Health and Medical Human Research

Ethics Committee. Written informed consent was obtained during childhood from parents and

at each follow-up from participants.



Figure 5.1 Flow chart of the study population for the Childhood Determinants of Adult Health Study in Australia, 1985–2011

CDAH: Childhood Determinants of Adult Health

5.3.1.2 Childhood anthropometric measurements

BMI, calculated as weight (kg)/height (m)², was derived from measured weight and height. BMI was classified as normal, overweight or obese according to the international age-sex-specific cut-points ⁸. BMI-z score was calculated based on age-sex-specific World Health Organization Child Growth standards ⁷. Waist circumference was taken at the level of the umbilicus to the nearest 0.1 cm. Waist/height ratio (WHtR), calculated as waist circumference divided by height (cm), was the indicator of abdominal obesity when WHtR \geq 0.5 ¹³³.

5.3.1.3 Adult anthropometric measurements

Participants who attended CDAH-1 clinics (n=2,329) had weight, height, and waist circumference measured. Participants who did not visit clinics (n=1,556) self-reported their weight and height, and a correction factor was applied to adjust for error, as described previously ²⁶. BMI (kg/m²) was calculated from height and weight. Weight and height were self-reported at CDAH-2 and adjusted for error as described above. Adult BMI was categorized as normal (BMI<25 kg/m²), overweight (25.0 \leq BMI \leq 29.9 kg/m²) or obese (BMI \geq 30 kg/m²)².

5.3.1.4 Adult menstrual irregularity and PCOS

We defined menstrual cycle length as the time from the first day of one period to the first day of the next and participants were questioned on the length of their usual menstrual cycle. Menstrual irregularity was defined as menstrual cycles \geq 35 days or <25 days or reported as extremely irregular in CDAH-1 and/or CDAH-2. Women who were currently pregnant (n=31), using hormonal contraceptives (n=411) or had a hysterectomy (n=1) were excluded.

Women were defined as having PCOS if they self-reported in CDAH-1 and/or CDAH-2 that they had ever been told by a doctor or they reported two symptoms of PCOS. The symptoms were menstrual cycle \geq 35 days or totally variable, and hirsutism. The validity of identifying

women with PCOS by way of similar questions has been reported previously as moderately high ¹⁸⁹. The presence of hirsutism was defined as ever having seen a doctor because of concern about the amount of hair on their face.

5.3.1.5 Covariates

Age at menarche was self-reported in adulthood. Smoking history in childhood and adulthood were coded as ever or never smoked. Ever smoked in childhood was defined as having ≥ 10 cigarettes in their life. Former and current smokers in adulthood were defined as ever smoked. Highest parental education and own-education were classified as high school only, vocational training and any university education. Childhood alcohol consumption was classified as none (never consume alcohol), light (consume alcohol less than once/week), moderate (consume alcohol 1-2 days/week), heavy (consume alcohol 3-4 days/week) and very heavy (consume alcohol ≥ 5 days/week). Alcohol consumption in adulthood was classified according to daily alcohol intake: none (0 alcoholic drinks/day), light (0-1 alcoholic drinks/day), moderate (1-2 alcoholic drinks/day), heavy (>2-3 alcoholic drinks/day) and very heavy intake (>3 alcoholic drinks/day) based on Australian guidelines ¹⁹⁰.

5.3.2 The Bogalusa Heart Study: a cohort from the USA

5.3.2.1 Participants

The Bogalusa Heart Study (BHS) is a biracial (65% white and 35% black) prospective cohort study of cardiovascular risk factors among children and young adults from Bogalusa, LA, USA ¹³⁴. Initial study participants aged 3-18 years were enrolled from schools in 1973 and additional participants were recruited over time. Data collection occurred approximately every 2 years for children and 5 years for adults. These cross-sectional studies of children or adults were combined to create the overall BHS population.

The Bogalusa Babies sub-study (BBS) began in May 2013 to examine the role of cardiovascular risk factors in childhood on reproductive outcomes. Women with at least one BHS visit (n=5,914) were eligible to participate. We included 1,247 female participants who were aged 7-15 years during childhood visits (to align with the CDAH study), who participated in BBS when they were aged 26-57 years, and had height and weight reported between ages 26 and 40 years to align with their report of their menstrual cycle characteristics prior to age 40 years (Figure 5.2).

For child participants, parental permission and consent of the child were obtained and written informed consent was obtained from adult participants. All study procedures were approved by the Institutional Review Board of Tulane University.

5.3.2.2 Childhood anthropometric measurements

All BHS surveys followed an identical protocol for anthropometric measurements. In the subsample of BBS used in the current study, a total of 298 participants had childhood waist and hip circumference measured. Height, weight and waist circumference were measured twice to within 0.1cm or 0.1kg and mean values obtained. BMI, BMI z-score, WHtR, obesity and abdominal obesity were calculated or classified using the same criteria as described in the CDAH study.

5.3.2.3 Adult anthropometric measurements

Adult height and weight were recorded in the BBS¹³⁶. Where necessary, height and weight before age 40 years were extracted from records of the BHS¹⁹¹. BMI, overweight and obesity were calculated or classified using the same criteria as described in the CDAH study.



Figure 5.2 Flow chart of the study population for the Bogalusa Heart Study in the USA, 1973–2017

PCOS: polycystic ovary syndrome

5.3.2.4 Adult menstrual irregularity and PCOS

Data on menstrual cycle characteristics were collected by questioning participants on the length of the average menstrual cycle between age 16 and 40 years (excluding any time spent pregnant, receiving birth control pills or injections, after menopause, or after having both ovaries or the uterus surgically removed). Participants reporting an average menstrual cycle of \geq 35 days, <25 days, or totally variable were considered to have menstrual irregularity.

The classification of PCOS was based on the presence of both menstrual cycle \geq 35 days or totally variable and hirsutism, or self-reported ever having been told by a doctor that she had PCOS. Hirsutism was determined by a series questions asking about the tendency to grow dark, coarse hair on eight body sites including upper lip, chin, breast, chest between the breasts, back, belly, upper arms and upper thighs. Those who indicated three or more sites were considered as having clinical hirsutism.

5.3.2.5 Covariates

Race (white/black) was recorded at the initial BHS visit. As previously described ¹⁹², information on age at menarche was obtained by a registered nurse. Smoking history in childhood and adulthood were coded as ever (currently or formerly at any visit) and never smoked. Highest parental and own-education were classified as high school only, vocational training, and college or more (any university). Childhood and adulthood alcohol consumption were classified as none (tried or never drink), light (drink less than once/week), moderate (drink once or twice/week), heavy (drink 3-4 times/week) and very heavy drinker (drink daily or almost every day).

5.3.3 Statistical analyses

Means with SDs and numbers with proportions were used to describe participants' sociodemographic characteristics, menstrual irregularity and PCOS in each cohort from baseline to follow-up. Taking into account the multiple adult visits conducted in CDAH and multiple childhood visits in BBS, multi-level generalized linear mixed effects models with Poisson regression were employed to estimate the relative risks (RRs) and 95% CIs.

In BBS, approximately 50% of participants had missing data on age at menarche and more than 20% of participants had missing data on highest parental education. Multiple imputation by chained equations was used to impute the missing data ¹⁹³.

Covariates remaining in the final models were variables which were causally related to the outcome, imbalanced between the exposure groups and resulted in more than 10% change in the coefficient of the principal study factor when added to the model. In analyses of the BBS, the models were additionally adjusted for race as appropriate.

Interactions between race and childhood adiposity on menstrual irregularity and PCOS in BBS were investigated in the regression model. There was no interaction between race and obesity on menstrual irregularity (P=0.362), however, a statistically significant race interaction was present for PCOS (P=0.042). Therefore, PCOS analyses in BBS were further stratified by race.

The following sensitivity analyses were conducted. First, we repeated the analysis by using the United States Centres for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) growth reference to calculate BMI z-score and to classify childhood weight status ¹⁴⁹. Second, the analysis was repeated after excluding persons who may have been of black (n=8) or other non-white race (n=35) in CDAH (race was inferred from the childhood questionnaire including the information on father's and mother's country of birth and language spoken at home) to compare with the results in BBS white participants. Third, associations were examined with the change between birthweight z-score and BMI z-score in childhood in a subsample of BBS (n=788) with the relevant information on birthweight and gestational age available from birth certificates ¹⁹⁴. Fourth, as hyperandrogenism is also a key diagnostic feature for PCOS, the association of childhood adiposity with biochemical hyperandrogenism was analysed in a subsample of CDAH (n=652) who attended CDAH-1 clinics and were not using hormonal contraceptives. Biochemical hyperandrogenism was assessed by calculated free testosterone levels (cFT) ¹⁹⁵. The

association of childhood adiposity with hirsutism was also analysed in CDAH and BBS. Fifth, we restricted our sample in BBS to women who were aged under 40 years at follow-up to ensure reporting of current menstrual characteristics and excluding retrospective reports from women aged 41-57 years. Last, a subgroup of underweight children was classified to investigate the associations of underweight in childhood with menstrual irregularity and PCOS in adulthood.

All analyses were performed using STATA software, version 15.0 (Stata Corp., College Station, TX, USA); a p-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

5.4 **Results**

5.4.1 Participant characteristics

Our sample included 1,516 participants from the CDAH study and 1,247 (white: 730; black: 517) participants from the BBS. Anthropometric and sociodemographic characteristics of participants in the two cohorts are shown in Table 5.1. On average, BBS participants had a higher childhood BMI z-score and WHtR than CDAH participants. The prevalence of childhood obesity and abdominal obesity was 1.1% and 5.3% in CDAH and 7.5% (white: 5.2%; black: 10.8%) and 22.5% (white: 20.2%; black: 23.8%) in BBS. At follow-up, the mean age in CDAH-1 was 31.5 years, and 36.4 years at CDAH-2. In BBS, the mean age was 44.1 years. The prevalence of menstrual irregularity was 16.7% in CDAH and 24.5% in BBS (white: 25.4%; black: 23.2%). The prevalence of PCOS was 7.4% in CDAH (the average of CDAH-1 and CDAH-2) and 8.0% (white: 10.7%; black: 4.3%) in BBS. Identification of PCOS by menstrual characteristics and hirsutism alone classified seven more participants with PCOS in CDAH and 16 more participants in BBS.

Variable	С	DAH (n=1,5	BBS (n=1,247)		
	Childhood	Adul	thood	Childhood	Adulthood
		CDAH-1	CDAH-2		BBS
Race, %(n)					
White				58.5(730)	
Black				41.5(517)	
Age, years, Mean(SD) ^b	11.0(2.5)	31.5(2.6)	36.4(2.6)	11.6(2.0)	44.1(7.9)
BMI, kg/m ² , Mean(SD) ^b	18.2(2.8)	24.9(5.2)	25.4(5.5)	19.5(4.0)	29.2(7.8)
BMI z-score, Mean(SD) ^b	0.16(0.90)			0.36(1.24)	
BMI category, %(n) ^b					
Normal	91.2(1383)	62.4(943)	58.7(505)	74.9(934)	36.2(451)
Overweight	7.7(116)	23.7(358)	24.5(211)	17.6(219)	24.9 (310)
Obese	1.1(17)	14.0(211)	16.7(144)	7.5(94)	39.0 (486)
Waist/height ratio, Mean(SD) ^b	0.43(0.04)			0.46(0.07)	
WHtR category ^b					
<0.5	94.7(1436)			77.6(228)	
≥0.5	5.3(80)			22.5(66)	
Highest parental education, %(n)					
University education	28.0(425)			29.8(334)	
Vocational training	33.5(508)			21.7(234)	
High school	38.5(583)			48.5(543)	
Highest own-education, %(n)					
University education		46.6(704)	54.0(464)		28.1(350)
Vocational training		25.9(392)	25.4(218)		33.4(416)
High school		27.5(416)	20.7(178)		38.6(481)
Smoking, %(n)					
Never smoked	88.2(1035)	54.7(827)	59.2(507)	76.8(763)	53.3(471)
Ever smoked	11.8(1439)	45.3(684)	40.8(350)	23.2(230)	46.7(412)
Alcohol consumption, %(n)					
None, light, moderate drinker	99.1(1166)	93.8(1398)	95.8(800)	98.5(400)	82.9(707)
Heavy and very heavy drinker	0.9(11)	6.2(93)	4.2(35)	1.5(6)	17.1(146)
Age at menarche, years, Mean(SD)	13.1(1.3)			12.6(1.5)	
SHBG, nmol/l, Mean(SD) ^c		52.1(27.4)			
Testosterone, nmol/l, Mean(SD) ^c		1.5(0.6)			
Free testosterone, nmol/l, Mean(SD) ^c		23.9(14.0)			
Hirsutism, %(n)					
Yes		3.5(52)	4.0(34)		6.5(81)
No		96.5(1439)	96.0(820)		93.5(1160)
Menstrual irregularity, %(n)					
Yes		16.6(139)	16.7(87)		24.5(303)
No		83.4(699)	83.3(434)		75.5(935)
PCOS (menstrual irregularity+hirsutism), %(n) ^d					

 Table 5.1 Participants' characteristics in the Childhood Determinants of Adult

 Health Study and the Babies sub-study of the Bogalusa Heart Study^a

Yes	1.5(12)	1.4(7)	2.2(27)
No	98.6(817)	98.7(513)	97.8(1211)
Self-reported doctor diagnosed PCOS, %(n)			
Yes	5.8(88)	8.2(70)	6.9(84)
No	94.2(1423)	91.8(785)	93.2(1142)
PCOS, %(n)			
Yes	6.2(93)	8.6(74)	8.0(100)
No	93.9(1419)	91.4(786)	92.0(1147)

^a Sample size varied [range from 652-1512 for Childhood Determinants of Adult Health (CDAH) and range from 294-1241 for Babies sub-study of the Bogalusa Heart Study (BBS)] because of the missing data
 ^b The variables were calculated using the mean values in multiple childhood visits in BBS

^c Available in a subsample of 622 participants who attended the first follow-up clinic in CDAH

^d Defined as reporting menstrual cycle ≥ 35 days/totally variable and presenting hirsutism

PCOS, polycystic ovary syndrome; SHBG, sex hormone-binding globulin; WHtR, waist/height ratio

5.4.2 Childhood adiposity and menstrual irregularity

Table 5.2 shows the associations of childhood adiposity with menstrual irregularity in CDAH and in the overall BBS. In CDAH (after adjusting for childhood age, age at menarche, highest parental and their own education), compared with normal weight girls, the risk of reporting menstrual irregularity was almost three-fold in those who were obese in childhood. Similarly, in the BBS, when further adjusted for race, childhood obesity was associated with nearly twice the risk of having menstrual irregularity.

5.4.3 Childhood adiposity and self-reported PCOS

In CDAH, childhood obesity defined by BMI and childhood abdominal obesity defined by WHtR were significantly associated with an increased risk of self-reported PCOS (Table 5.3). A 0.01 unit increase in childhood WHtR was associated with a 5% increased likelihood of self-reported PCOS. In the BBS sample overall, results were consistent with CDAH: childhood obesity was associated with a higher risk of self-reported PCOS and every 0.01 unit increase in WHtR was associated with 8% greater likelihood of PCOS (Table 5.3).

Childhood adiposity		CD	AH		BBS				
	Unadj (n	Unadjusted model (n=1,010)		Model 1 (n=1,010)		Unadjusted model (n=1,238)		Model 1 ^a (n=1,238)	
	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	
BMI z-score	1.11	0.94-1.31	1.13	0.96-1.34	1.09	1.00-1.18	1.09	1.00-1.19	
BMI category									
Normal	Ref.	-	Ref.	—	Ref.	-	Ref.	—	
Overweight	1.50	0.99-2.28	1.62	1.06-2.48	1.07	0.88-1.29	1.07	0.88-1.30	
Obese	2.72	1.60-4.64	2.84	1.63-4.96	1.43	1.08-1.89	1.44	1.08-1.92	
WHtR, per 0.01 unit ^b	1.03	1.00-1.06	1.03	0.99-1.06	1.03	1.00-1.06	1.03	0.99-1.06	
WHtR category ^b									
<0.5	Ref.	-	Ref.	_	Ref.	-	Ref.	—	
≥0.5	1.44	0.87-2.39	1.47	0.89-2.45	1.62	1.06-2.46	1.56	1.00-2.45	

Table 5.2 Associations	of adiposity in	childhood w	ith menstrual	irregularity in
adulthood in CDAH and	d BBS			

Model 1: adjust for childhood age, age at menarche, highest parental education and own-education

^a Model 1 further adjust for race in the BBS

^b n=293 in BBS

RR, relative risk

Table 5.3	Associations	of adiposity i	n childhood	with PCOS in	n adulthood in	CDAH
and BBS.						

Childhood adiposity	ity CDAH					B	BS	
	Unadjusted model Model 1 (n=1,516) (n=1,516)		Model 1 n=1,516)	Unadj (n	Unadjusted model (n=1,247)		Model 1 ^a (n=1,247)	
	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI
BMI z-score	1.25	0.98-1.58	1.26	0.98-1.62	1.31	1.10-1.56	1.42	1.19-1.69
BMI category								
Normal	Ref.	—	Ref.	—	Ref.	—	Ref.	—
Overweight	2.33	1.30-4.15	2.28	1.25-4.16	1.73	1.21-2.46	1.96	1.35-2.83
Obese	3.08	0.85-11.21	4.05	1.10-14.83	1.68	1.00-2.83	1.95	1.19-3.29
WHtR, per 0.01 unit ^b	1.06	1.01-1.10	1.06	1.01-1.11	1.05	0.98-1.11	1.06	1.01-1.11
WHtR category ^b								
<0.5	Ref.	—	Ref.	—	Ref.	—	Ref.	_
≥0.5	2.22	1.11-4.42	2.26	1.16-4.42	0.99	0.34-2.91	1.09	0.39-3.07

Model 1: adjust for childhood age, age at menarche, highest parental education and own-education

^a Model 1 further adjust for race in BBS

^b n=294 in BBS

5.4.4 Racial differences in the associations of self-reported PCOS in BBS

Significant racial differences were observed in the associations of childhood adiposity with self-reported PCOS, but not with menstrual irregularity, in BBS white and black participants (Table 5.4). Childhood obesity and a 0.01 unit increase in WHtR were both associated with an increased risk of PCOS in BBS white participants, but no significant associations of childhood obesity or WHtR with PCOS were found in BBS black participants.

Table 5.4 Associations of adiposity in childhood with PCOS in adulthood in BBS, by race

Race and childhood adiposity			PCOS						
	n	Unad	justed model]	Model 1				
		RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI				
White	730								
BMI z-score		1.50	1.25-1.79	1.54	1.28-1.87				
BMI category									
Normal		Ref.	_	Ref.	_				
Overweight		2.07	1.38-3.11	2.19	1.42-3.35				
Obese		2.82	1.63-4.86	2.93	1.65-5.22				
WHtR, per 0.01 unit ^a		1.08	1.04-1.11	1.11	1.05-1.17				
WHtR category ^a									
<0.5		Ref.	—	Ref.	—				
≥0.5		2.00	0.66-6.07	2.00	0.64-6.27				
Black	517								
BMI z-score		1.00	0.70-1.43	1.03	0.72-1.47				
BMI category									
Normal		Ref.	_	Ref.	_				
Overweight		1.36	0.59-3.13	1.43	0.64-8.26				
Obese		0.29	0.04-2.35	0.19	0.03-2.78				
WHtR, per 0.01 unit ^a		0.89	0.76-1.04	0.88	0.76-1.02				
WHtR category ^a									
<0.5		Ref.	—	Ref.	—				
≥0.5			N/A		N/A				

Model 1: adjust for childhood age, age at menarche, highest parental education and own-education a n=109 in white race and n=185 in black race in BBS

5.4.5 Influence of weight status from childhood into adulthood

The relative risk of menstrual irregularity by change of weight status from childhood to adulthood is displayed in Table 5.5. Compared with participants who had persistently normal BMI in childhood and adulthood, those who became overweight or obese in adulthood reported a higher risk of menstrual irregularity in BBS. Participants who were persistently

overweight/obese since childhood had significantly higher risks of menstrual irregularity in both CDAH and BBS.

No significant association of any weight status category from childhood to adulthood with PCOS was found in BBS black participants (Table 5.6). In white participants, those who were overweight or obese in childhood only, or persistently overweight or obese from childhood to adulthood, had a significantly increased risk of PCOS (Table 5.6).

5.4.6 Sensitivity analyses

Similar estimates were found in sensitivity analyses in which the United States CDC standards were used to calculate childhood BMI z-score and classify childhood obesity according to BMI (Appendix5-1, Appendix5-2 and Appendix5-3). When women of non-white races (n=43) were excluded in CDAH, the associations between increased childhood BMI and menstrual irregularity remained statistically significant. The associations between increased childhood BMI small changes in the mean coefficients (-2.5%-11.20%). In a subsample of participants who had birthweight and gestational age in BBS (n=788), we found the z-score increment between weight at birth and BMI in childhood was associated with increased risk of menstrual irregularity and PCOS in white participants but no statistically significant association was found in black participants (Appendix5-4).

In a subsample of participants who attended CDAH-1 clinics (n=652), childhood BMI z-score (β = 2.82 pmol/l, 95% CI: 1.67-3.98) and childhood WHtR (β = 0.59 pmol/l, 95% CI: 0.33-0.86) were positively associated with cFT in adulthood. In CDAH, childhood BMI z-score (RR=1.50, 95% CI: 1.30-2.00) and WHtR (RR=1.07, 95% CI: 1.01-1.12) were positively associated with hirsutism at follow-up; similar associations of childhood BMI z-score (RR=1.61 95% CI: 1.25-

2.09) and WHtR (RR=1.13, 95% CI: 1.05-1.21) with hirsutism were found in BBS white but not black participants.

When restricting the sample to women who were aged under 40 years in the analysis of menstrual irregularity in BBS (n=431) (Appendix5-5), the risks of menstrual irregularity remained elevated for participants with high childhood adiposity, although less so, and achieved borderline significance for childhood obesity (RR=1.50, 95% CI 0.94-2.41, P=0.090) and childhood abdominal obesity (RR=1.55, 95% CI 0.99-2.41, P=0.055). No significant associations of childhood underweight in CDAH (n=14) and BBS (n=22) with menstrual irregularity and PCOS in adulthood were found.

Weight status from childhood			CDAH						BBS				
to adulthood	n	Cases (%) ^a	Unadjusted model		Model 1		n	Cases (%) ^a	Unadjusted model		М	Model 1 ^a	
			RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI			RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	
	1010						1238						
Persistently normal		786 (57.9)	Ref.	_	Ref.	_		850 (36.4)	Ref.	—	Ref.	-	
Normal to overweight/obese		447 (32.9)	0.97	0.93-1.30	1.04	0.77-1.39		889 (38.0)	1.26	1.01-1.57	1.29	1.03-1.61	
Overweight/obese to normal		16 (1.2)	1.57	0.65-3.81	1.65	0.70-3.89		44 (1.9)	1.47	0.89-2.43	1.47	0.88-2.46	
Persistently overweight/obese		108 (8.0)	1.63	1.09-2.45	1.76	1.15-2.71		554 (23.7)	1.36	1.01-1.83	1.39	1.01-1.90	

Table 5.5 Associations of weight status change from childhood to adulthood with menstrual irregularity in CDAH and the BBS

Model 1: adjust for age at menarche, highest parental education and own-education

^a indicated the total number of observations in each weight status category from childhood to adulthood

Weight status from childhood to			CDAH						BBS			
adulthood	n	Cases (%) ^a	Unadjusted model		Model 1		n	Cases (%) ^a	Unadjusted model		Model 1 ^b	
			RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI			RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI
Overall	1516						1247					
Persistently normal		1414 (59.7)	Ref.	—	Ref.	—		855 (36.2)	Ref.	—	Ref.	_
Normal to overweight/obese		455 (31.9)	1.19	0.81-1.73	1.34	0.93-1.94		900 (38.1)	0.80	0.52-1.22	1.00	0.65-1.53
Overweight/obese to normal		31 (1.3)	0.92	0.13-6.40	1.02	0.15-6.93		46 (2.0)	1.99	0.78-5.05	2.69	1.10-6.62
Persistently overweight/obese		169 (7.1)	2.93	1.65-5.18	3.66	2.05-6.56		560 (23.7)	2.55	1.47-4.43	3.72	2.12-6.54
White							730					
Persistently normal								651 (44.9)	Ref.	_	Ref.	_
Normal to overweight/obese								489 (33.7)	1.03	0.67-1.60	1.06	0.69-1.63
Overweight/obese to normal								25 (1.7)	4.00	1.66-9.62	4.70	1.93-11.43
Persistently overweight/obese								286 (19.7)	4.66	2.62-8.28	5.41	2.98-9.83
Black							517					
Persistently normal								204 (22.4)	Ref.	_	Ref.	_
Normal to overweight/obese								411 (45.2)	0.43	0.13-1.42	0.46	0.15-1.43
Overweight/obese to normal								21 (2.3)		N/A		N/A
Persistently overweight/obese								274 (30.1)	0.75	0.21-2.65	0.88	0.28-2.80

Table 5.6 Associations of weight status change from childhood to adulthood with PCOS in CDAH and BBS

Model 1: adjust for age at menarche, highest parental education and own-education

^a indicated the total number of observations in each BMI category from childhood to adulthood

^b Model 1 further adjust for race in the overall BBS

5.5 Discussion

This study is the first to report the association of childhood abdominal obesity with menstrual irregularity and PCOS in adulthood, using data from two independent large prospective cohorts in two countries. Overall, in both cohorts, childhood obesity but not abdominal obesity was associated with greater risks of menstrual irregularity. A significant racial difference was observed in the associations of childhood obesity and abdominal obesity with PCOS, with significant associations found in white participants, but not in black participants. The risks of menstrual irregularity and PCOS were consistently significantly higher in participants with persistent overweight/obesity since childhood.

The positive association between childhood obesity and adulthood menstrual irregularity is consistent with prior findings from the 1958 British birth cohort ⁷⁷. Though some studies have suggested that the distribution of body fat in adult women may be a risk factor of menstrual irregularity cross-sectionally ^{182, 185}, no statistically significant association of childhood abdominal obesity with menstrual irregularity was found in CDAH and BBS. The mechanisms underlying the associations of greater childhood BMI with menstrual irregularity in adulthood may include a series of hormonal factors. Childhood obesity is a risk factor for increased concentrations of testosterone, LH, insulin, and reduced concentrations of SHBG in adulthood ^{141, 196}. These changes may cause a disruption of normal ovulation and menstrual irregularity.

It is known that PCOS and menstrual irregularity are strongly correlated. We found that the positive associations of childhood BMI and WHtR with self-reported PCOS in adulthood were strong in CDAH and BBS white participants. Menstrual irregularity is part of the diagnostic criteria for PCOS ⁹⁶, and childhood obesity was correlated with menstrual irregularity in the current study, therefore, this may explain the observed associations. Phenotypic features (including menstrual irregularity and hyperandrogenism) of PCOS are known to be regulated

by obesity cross-sectionally, typically involving a distribution of central fat ^{109, 197}. Our finding of the positive associations between childhood BMI, childhood WHtR and cFT in adulthood in a subsample of participants in CDAH suggested that higher childhood adiposity increased the risk of hyperandrogenism. Childhood obesity as well as abdominal obesity may act to promote menstrual irregularity and hyperandrogenism in those at higher risk of PCOS.

No significant association of adiposity with PCOS was found in BBS black girls. A previous cross-sectional study by Christensen, et al. ¹⁹⁸ also reported that the association between BMI and PCOS was weaker in black girls than white girls. The literature has indicated that although there are substantial racial differences in the prevalence of obesity, the prevalence of PCOS is similar in different races ¹⁹⁹⁻²⁰¹. In our study, BBS black participants had a higher prevalence of childhood obesity than white participants (10.8% versus 5.2%, respectively), but their prevalence of PCOS was lower than white participants (4.3% versus 10.7%, respectively). The explanations for this racial difference are unclear. It is possible that lower socioeconomic status and poorer health service access and utilisation among black women may result in a lower rate of diagnosis ²⁰². These factors may thereby dilute the associations observed in black participants. However, in BBS, a stronger association of childhood adiposity with hirsutism was still observed among white compared to black participants. While previous studies have suggested that black women with PCOS have increased risk of metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular disease compared with white women with PCOS 203, 204, the associations of adiposity with PCOS between races have not been clearly defined. We are the first to report in longitudinal studies that there are racial differences in how childhood adiposity associates with the development of PCOS.

The lack of association of childhood adiposity with PCOS in black participants also suggests that high childhood adiposity is not the only driver of adult PCOS and many other factors may play a role in PCOS development and progression. Prenatal androgen exposure has been

proposed as a cause of PCOS although the evidence from human studies is inconsistent ²⁰⁵. Familial trends in PCOS are reported, but no specific genetic association has been reported and more research is necessary to define the genetic basis ²⁰⁶. Environmental factors, including health-related behaviours or lifestyles and economic disadvantage, are potentially involved in the aetiology, prevalence, and modulation of PCOS ²⁰². It is likely that there are genetic, molecular and environmental factors that contribute to the racial differences in childhood adiposity-related PCOS.

The risks of menstrual irregularity and PCOS were significantly higher in women with persistent overweight/obesity since childhood in both CDAH and BBS, consistent with findings from the Northern Finland 1966 birth cohort study ¹⁰⁶. Furthermore, in our study, for white participants in BBS, we found for the first time that women who were overweight/obese in childhood but not in adulthood also reported a significantly higher risk of PCOS, suggesting independent effects of childhood adiposity that need to be confirmed in larger studies.

There are several limitations in our study. First, menstrual cycle characteristics and PCOS were self-reported by questionnaire. Previous studies have suggested that women's retrospective self-report of menstrual length can be prone to error ⁹⁵ and the agreement between diary records and retrospectively recalled menstrual cycle length was moderate ²⁰⁷. Self-reported PCOS likely tends to underestimate prevalence ^{208, 209}. Also, if the accuracy of self-reported menstrual cycle length and PCOS differed by obesity status, then our effect estimates might have been biased. However, previous studies have shown no evidence of this ^{95, 106, 207}.

A second potential limitation of this study was the exclusion of women using hormonal contraception (28.4%) in the analysis of menstrual irregularity in CDAH. Since hormonal contraception is commonly prescribed for menstrual irregularity ²¹⁰, we may have under-estimated the prevalence of menstrual irregularity. Third, we have limited information on the

age at which PCOS was diagnosed in the two cohorts. Only in the second follow-up in CDAH were participants asked to report the age when their PCOS was diagnosed (ages ranged from 14-36 years with only four participants reporting the diagnosis of PCOS before age 18 years). It has been suggested that adolescents with characteristics of PCOS should be reassessed at or before full reproductive maturity, at 8 years post menarche ⁹⁶ to confirm a diagnosis. In this study, participants reporting a diagnosis of PCOS during adolescence may have been misclassified. Fourth, the diagnostic criteria for PCOS have recently changed ⁹⁶ and there may have been differences in how PCOS was diagnosed in Australia compared to the USA. Despite all of these limitations, we showed that the prevalence of menstrual irregularity and PCOS in the two cohorts was consistent with the literature ^{98, 101}.

Finally, some characteristics of those continuing in the study differed from those lost to followup, and this might limit the generalizability of the findings. In CDAH, non-participants had higher BMI and WHtR values, on average, in childhood than the participants, indicating the current sample may have comprised healthier participants. However, if non-participants were also more likely to have menstrual irregularity and PCOS in adulthood than participants, the effect of this bias would be to underestimate the magnitude of the associations observed. Participants in the BBS were more likely to be black (41% versus 34%) compared with the rest of the study cohort, but childhood BMI was similar among participants and non-participants ²⁰⁸.

Strengths of our study include that this is the first prospective study to investigate the longterm associations between childhood abdominal obesity measures and menstrual irregularity and PCOS. Second, we used two independent cohorts from two countries and reported consistent findings. Third, we were able to consider associations by race in BBS.

108

In conclusion, greater childhood BMI was associated with an increased risk of menstrual irregularity in adulthood in both CDAH and BBS. Greater childhood BMI and WHtR were associated with an increased risk of PCOS in adulthood in CDAH, and in BBS white participants. These risks were significantly higher in women with persistent overweight/obesity since childhood. No significant association of adiposity with PCOS was found in BBS black participants, suggesting there are racial differences in childhood adiposity associating with the development of PCOS, and other environmental or genetic factors are important. Whether high childhood adiposity is causal or an early independent indicator of underlying hormonal or metabolic disorders related to PCOS needs further clarification.
Chapter 5: Associations of childhood adiposity with menstrual irregularity and polycystic ovary syndrome in adulthood: The Childhood Determinants of Adult Health Study and the Bogalusa Heart Study

5.6 Appendix 5 Supplementary material for Chapter 5

Appendix5-1 Associations of childhood obesity with menstrual irregularity in adulthood
in the Childhood Determinants of Adult Health Study and the Babies sub-study of the
Bogalusa Heart Study ^a

Childhood obesity		CD	AH		BBS				
	Unadj (n	usted model =1,010)	N (n	Model 1 (n=1,010)		Unadjusted model (n=1,238)		odel 1 ^b =1,238)	
	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	
BMI z-score	1.09	0.91-1.31	1.13	0.93-1.36	1.09	0.99-1.20	1.10	0.99-1.21	
BMI category									
Normal	Ref.	_	Ref.	_	Ref.	_	Ref.	_	
Overweight	1.45	0.96-2.20	1.54	1.01-2.33	1.03	0.85-1.26	1.04	0.85-1.27	
Obese	2.14	1.28-3.56	2.23	1.31-3.81	1.38	1.06-1.81	1.38	1.05-1.83	

Model 1: adjust for childhood age, age at menarche, highest parental education and own-education. ^a Use definition of US Centres for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) growth reference to calculate BMI-z score and to classify childhood weight status of overweight and obesity.

^b Model 1 further adjust for race in the Babies sub-study of Bogalusa Heart Study (BBS).

CDAH: Childhood Determinants of Adult Health Study, RR: relative risk.

Childhood		CE	DAH	Н			BBS				
obesity	Un (n	adjusted model =1,516)	M (n	Model 1 (n=1,516)			Unadjusted model (n=1,247)			lodel 1 ^b =1,247)	
	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI		RR	95% CI		RR	95% CI	
BMI z-score	1.22	0.93-1.60	1.25	0.94-1.65		1.35	1.10-1.66		1.49	1.21-1.83	
BMI category											
Normal	Ref.	—	Ref.	—		Ref.	_		Ref.	_	
Overweight	1.68	0.91-3.12	1.78	0.96-2.30		1.49	1.04-2.13		1.67	1.15-2.41	
Obese	3.51	1.58-7.79	3.91	1.76-8.67		2.14	1.36-3.38		2.57	1.60-4.43	

Appendix5-2 Associations of childhood obesity with PCOS in CDAH and BBS^a

Model 1: adjust for childhood age, age at menarche, highest parental education and own-education.

^a Use definition of US CDC growth reference to calculated BMI-z score and to classify childhood weight status of overweight and obesity.

^b Model 1 further adjust for race in BBS.

PCOS, polycystic ovary syndrome

Chapter 5: Associations of childhood adiposity with menstrual irregularity and polycystic ovary syndrome in adulthood: The Childhood Determinants of Adult Health Study and the Bogalusa Heart Study

Race and childhood obesity		PCOS							
	n	Unad	justed model	Ν	Model 1				
		RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI				
White	730								
BMI z-score		1.57	1.25-1.97	1.63	1.29-2.06				
BMI category									
Normal		Ref.	—	Ref.	_				
Overweight		1.80	1.18-2.75	1.91	1.22-2.97				
Obese		3.10	1.81-5.29	3.27	1.86-5.73				
Black	517								
BMI z-score		1.01	0.68-1.49	1.05	0.71-1.57				
BMI category									
Normal		Ref.	—	Ref.	—				
Overweight		0.99	0.43-2.30	1.07	0.49-2.32				
Obese		1.21	0.44-3.35	1.25	0.44-3.57				

Appendix5-3 Associations of childhood obesity with PCOS in BBS, by race^a

Model 1: adjust for childhood age, age at menarche, highest parental education and own-education.

^a Use definition of US CDC growth reference to calculated BMI-z score and to classify childhood weight status of overweight and obesity.

Appendix5-4 Associations of the z-score change from weight-at-birth to BMI-inchildhood in BBS

The z-score change from		•	Menstrual irregularity				PCOS			
weight-at-birth to BMI-in- childhood	n	Unadjusted model		Model 1		n	Unadjusted model		Model 1	
		RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI		RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI
Overall	780					788				
Δ birth weight-BMI (z-score)		1.11	1.02-1.22	1.13	1.03-1.25		1.26	1.03-1.55	1.43	1.18-1.73
White race	467					471				
Δ birth weight-BMI (z-score)		1.15	1.02-1.30	1.17	1.03-1.33		1.37	1.11-1.68	1.46	1.18-1.80
Black race	313					317				
Δ birth weight-BMI (z-score)		1.07	0.93-1.24	1.08	0.94-1.25		1.29	0.82-2.02	1.28	0.85-1.93

Model 1: adjusted for age at menarche, highest parental education and own-education.

Chapter 5: Associations of childhood adiposity with menstrual irregularity and polycystic ovary syndrome in adulthood: The Childhood Determinants of Adult Health Study and the Bogalusa Heart Study

Childhood adiposity		BBS								
	Unad	justed model		Ν	Iodel 1 ^a					
	((n=431)		(n=431)		P value				
	RR	95% CI		RR	95% CI	_				
BMI z-score	1.10	0.96-1.27	0.166	1.09	0.94-1.27	0.237				
BMI category										
Normal	Ref.	_	_	Ref.	_	_				
Overweight	1.03	0.70-1.53	0.873	1.03	0.70-1.52	0.874				
Obese	1.51	0.97-2.36	0.070	1.50	0.94-2.41	0.090				
WHtR, per 0.01unit ^b	1.03	1.00-1.06	0.075	1.03	0.99-1.06	0.124				
WHtR category ^b										
<0.5	Ref.	—	—	Ref.	—	_				
≥0.5	1.60	1.05-2.43	0.028	1.55	0.99-2.41	0.055				

App	endix5-5	Association	ns of adipo	osity in chi	ildhood with	menstrual	irregularity i	n
adul	thood in	BBS in wor	nen under	aged 40 ye	ars at follow	-up		

Model 1: adjust for childhood age, age at menarche, race, highest parental education and own-education; ^b n=291;

WHtR, waist/height ratio.

Chapter 6: The associations of childhood adiposity with menopausal symptoms in women aged 45-49 years: an Australian cohort study

The following text in Chapter 6 has been accepted for publication in Maturitas-An international journal of midlife health and beyond

6.1 Abstract

Objectives: To examine the associations of childhood adiposity with menopausal symptoms in women aged 45-49 years.

Study design: National population-based cohort study of 334 girls prospectively followed from childhood (aged 11-15) through to midlife (aged 45-49). Childhood overweight and obesity were defined by international age-sex-specific standards for BMI and abdominal obesity was defined as waist/height ratio \geq 0.5.

Main outcome measures: Vasomotor Symptoms (VMS), vaginal dryness, total menopausal symptoms and domain-specific symptoms (somatic, psychological and urogenital) were measured during 2018-19 using the Menopause Rating Scale (MRS) and classified as none, mild, moderate or severe.

Results: The prevalence of mild, moderate and severe VMS was 24.0%, 9.0% and 3.9% and 12.6%, 4.8% and 2.4% for vaginal dryness. No significant associations of childhood overweight/obesity or abdominal obesity with VMS or vaginal dryness were found after adjustment for childhood age, follow-up length, smoking, socioeconomic status and diet quality. Childhood overweight/obesity was associated with increased risks of more severe total (RR:1.17, 95% CI:1.02-1.36), psychological (RR:1.19, 95% CI:1.04-1.35) and urogenital (RR:1.29, 95% CI:1.14-1.46) symptoms measured using the MRS. Associations with childhood abdominal obesity were mostly stronger with more severe total (RR:2.19, 95% CI:1.48-3.23), somatic (RR:1.52, 95% CI:1.15-2.02), psychological (RR:1.21, 95% CI:1.04-1.42) and urogenital (RR:2.11, 95% CI:1.39-3.20) symptoms.

Conclusions: Childhood adiposity was not associated with increased risks of more severe VMS or vaginal dryness in women aged 45-49 years. Childhood adiposity, especially abdominal obesity, was associated with more severe total, somatic, psychological and

urogenital symptoms. However, the association between these symptoms and menopause is not

established.

6.2 Introduction

Menopause is a normal reproductive stage in women. The early menopausal transition is characterized by increased variability in menstrual cycle length and changes in circulating gonadotrophins. This proceeds into the late menopause transition which is characterized by the onset of vasomotor symptoms (hot flushes and night sweats), usually occurring around age 47 years ¹¹⁰. The reduction in circulating oestradiol during postmenopausal years is commonly associated with genitourinary symptoms including vaginal dryness. The nature and severity of menopausal symptoms varies substantially within women over time, between women and by ethnicity and geographical locations ²¹¹. For example, African American women are most likely, and women of Asian background least likely, to report VMS. There are several standardized scales used to collect data on the nature and severity of menopausal symptoms. The Menopause Rating Scale (MRS) is a self-administered scale designed to (a) assess symptoms over time, and (c) measure changes pre- and post- hormone therapy (HT) treatment ¹¹⁶. The MRS has three independent dimensions: Somatic, psychological and urogenital domains.

Adiposity is a known risk factor for VMS during the menopausal transition and early postmenopause ¹¹⁷. The mechanisms underlying this association are poorly understood but may include insulation due to greater body fat that prevents heat dissipation with VMS ¹²⁰. Adipose tissue is an active endocrine organ and secretes multiple cytokines and inflammatory factors that may be related to VMS occurrence ²¹² and/or ovarian function ¹²⁴. Evidence on the associations between adiposity and vaginal dryness are limited. Several studies have reported no significant association of high body mass index (BMI) in adulthood with vaginal dryness ^{127, 213}. Symptoms associated with ageing that are not definitively attributable to menopause including joint pain, urinary incontinence, psychological symptoms and other symptoms have

been associated with adiposity in adulthood. However, most of these studies are cross-sectional ^{127, 214}. Until now, no studies have reported the long-term association of childhood adiposity with menopausal symptoms.

We utilized an Australian population-based cohort followed from childhood through to midlife. We aimed to 1) investigate the associations of childhood adiposity with VMS and vaginal dryness and, 2) examine the associations of childhood adiposity with total menopausal symptoms and domain-specific symptoms as measured by the MRS in women aged 45-49 years.

6.3 Materials and Methods

6.3.1 Participants

The Childhood Determinants of Adult Health (CDAH) Study is a follow-up of a nationwide sample of 8,498 children including 4,191 girls aged 7-15 years who participated in the 1985 Australian Schools Health and Fitness Survey (ASHFS) ¹⁴³. The study participants were predominantly white with race inferred from the childhood questionnaire on father's and mother's country of birth and language spoken at home. Between 2018-19, 1,153 women aged 39-49 years participated in the third follow-up of the study (CDAH-3). Because the normal menopause transition characteristically starts in the mid-to-late 40s ²¹⁵, only participants age 45 and above were included. Therefore, we restricted our sample to 441 women aged \geq 45 years (herein referred to "midlife"), 318 of whom attended clinics for physical measurements. We further excluded those who did not complete the MRS (n=30), had previous hysterectomy (n=35), were pregnant (n=2), had missing data on anthropometrics (n=4) or missing data on confounders (n=36). A total of 334 women were included in the final analysis (Figure 6.1) (313 white, 1 black, 14 other race and 6 had no information). A subsample of 247 women with measured waist circumference in ASHFS and CDAH-3 clinics were included in the analyses to measure abdominal adiposity.

The study was approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee (Tasmania) Network.

Written informed consent was obtained in childhood from parents and obtained at follow-up

from participants.





6.3.2 Childhood adiposity

Measures of childhood adiposity included BMI, waist circumference and waist/height ratio (WHtR). Waist circumference and WHtR were the indicators of abdominal obesity. BMI, calculated as weight (kg)/height (m)², was derived from measured height and weight with weight status defined using international age-and sex-specific cut-points ⁸. Waist circumference was measured to the nearest 0.1 cm. WHtR was calculated by dividing waist circumference by height. Abdominal obesity was defined as WHtR \geq 0.5 ¹³³. Childhood BMI and waist circumference z-scores were calculated based on age- and sex-specific standardization of the full childhood cohort.

6.3.3 Adult adiposity

At CDAH-3, weight, height and waist circumference were measured at study clinics for most participants (n=832). Some participants (n=790) also self-reported their weight and height before measurements were taken to assess the accuracy of self-reported values. Participants who did not visit clinics (n=291) self-reported their weight and height, and a linear regression model was used to obtain a correction factor to adjust for error of self-reported BMI. BMI (kg/m²) was calculated from height and weight. WHtR was calculated from measured waist circumference and height at clinics.

Adult BMI was classified into three categories as normal (BMI<25 kg/m²), overweight $(25.0 \le BMI \le 29.9 \text{ kg/m}^2)$ or obese (BMI $\ge 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$). Adult abdominal obesity was defined as WHtR $\ge 0.5^{13}$.

6.3.4 Symptoms measured by the MRS

Menopausal symptoms were measured using the MRS. This scale contains 11 questions relating to three domains of symptoms: Somatic (hot flushes and sweating, heart discomfort,

sleep problems, and muscle and joint pains), psychological (depression, irritability, anxiety, and physical and mental exhaustion), and urogenital symptoms (sexual problems, bladder problems and vaginal dryness). Each question is assigned a score for symptom intensity: 0 (none), 1 (mild), 2 (moderate), 3 (severe) and 4 (very severe). VMS and vaginal dryness were evaluated from the corresponding single questions. Because very few participants reported "very severe VMS" (n=1) or "very severe vaginal dryness" (n=1), these measures were combined with "severe" symptoms.

Scores on total, somatic, psychological and urogenital symptom domains are categorized as no or little, mild, moderate and severe according to their corresponding cut points ¹¹⁶.

6.3.5 Covariate measures

Information on sociodemographic characteristics and other relevant covariates was selfreported in childhood and at follow-up including childhood age, parental education, parental smoking, childhood smoking, age at menarche; alcohol consumption, physical activity and diet quality in both childhood and midlife. Duration of follow-up from childhood to midlife, level of completed education, smoking status, marital status, occupation, hormonal contraceptive use and parity in midlife were collected. Diet quality was indicated by a dietary guidelines index (DGI) which was derived as a valid measure of diet quality according to 2013 Australian Dietary Guidelines, with higher scores reflecting better diet quality ²¹⁶.

6.3.6 Statistical analyses

The log ordinal regression model, which estimated relative risks (RRs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) ²¹⁷ was used to estimate the association of adiposity with the severity of VMS, vaginal dryness, total, somatic, psychological, urogenital symptoms.

Covariates remaining in the final models were variables that were associated with the outcome, unbalanced between the exposures and resulted in more than 10% change in the coefficient of the principal study factor when added to the model.

The following sensitivity analyses were conducted. First, hormonal contraceptive use might affect menopausal symptoms, so we repeated the analyses of the associations of childhood adiposity with VMS and vaginal dryness in midlife women who were not using hormonal contraception. Second, as underweight may also be associated with increased risk of menopausal symptoms ²¹⁸ (potentially due to lower circulating estrogens from adipose tissue) and earlier age at menopause, we excluded those who were underweight in childhood (according to international definitions of thinness for children and adolescents ²¹⁹ and adulthood (BMI<18.5) in the analyses of VMS and vaginal dryness. Third, to examine whether the associations of childhood abdominal obesity were independent of corresponding adult abdominal obesity measures in midlife in a subsample (n=247). Fourth, given overweight and obesity may have different associations with age at menopause, analyses of childhood BMI category with menopausal symptoms were separated by childhood overweight and childhood obesity. Fifth, inverse probability weighting was used to account for missing data at follow-up.

All analyses were performed using STATA software, version 15.0 (Stata Corp., College Station, TX); a p-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

6.4 Results

6.4.1 Participant characteristics

Table 6.1 shows the sociodemographic characteristics of participants and their adiposity measures in childhood and midlife. In childhood, 8.4% of participants were overweight/obese,

and 5.1% of participants were abdominally obese. The mean age at follow-up was 46.9 years. Most participants (63.2%) did not report VMS. Around one quarter (24.0%) reported mild VMS, 9.0% reported moderate VMS and 3.9% reported severe VMS. Most (80.2%) did not report vaginal dryness: 12.6% reported mild vaginal dryness, 4.8% reported moderate vaginal dryness and 2.4% reported severe vaginal dryness.

Using baseline (1985 ASHFS) characteristics, compared with all other non-participants, those who participated in the follow-up study had an older mean age in childhood(13.5 vs 10.6 years; P < 0.001), had lower WHtR (0.42 vs 0.43; P < 0.001) and were less likely to be overweight/obese in childhood (8.4% vs 12.7%; P = 0.022).

Characteristics (n=334)	Childhood	Midlife
Age (years), Mean (SD)	13.5 (1.2)	46.9 (1.1)
BMI z score, Mean (SD)	-0.07 (1.00)	
BMI (kg/m ²), Mean (SD)	19.8 (2.9)	27.8 (6.1)
BMI category, % (n)		
Normal	91.6 (306)	38.0 (127)
Overweight	6.6 (22)	32.9 (110)
Obese	1.8 (6)	29.0 (97)
WC z score, Mean (SD)	-0.06 (1.03)	
WC (cm), Mean (SD)	67.0 (7.7)	85.3 (13.1)
WHtR, Mean (SD)	0.42 (0.04)	0.52 (0.08)
WHtR category, % (n)		
<0.5	94.9 (317)	47.4 (117)
≥ 0.5	5.1 (17)	52.6 (130)
Age at menarche (years), Mean (SD)	13.2 (1.2)	
Highest own-education attainment, % (n)		
University education		53.3 (178)
Vocational training		31.1 (104)
High school		15.6 (52)
Smoking status, % (n)		
Never smoker		57.5 (192)
Ex-smoker		31.1 (104)
Current smoker		11.4 (38)
Occupation, % (n)		
Professional or manager		52.1 (174)
Nonmanual		29.6 (99)
Manual		5.7 (19)
Not in the labour force		12.6 (42)
Current hormonal contraceptive users, %(n)		
No		72.1 (238)

 Table 6.1 Characteristics of participants in childhood (1985) and midlife (2018-2019), Childhood Determinants of Adult Health study, Australia^a

Yes	27.9 (92)
Diet guidelines index, Mean (SD)	58.2 (11.2)
Menopause rating scale	
Total score (0-44), %(n)	
No, little (0-4)	39.2 (131)
Mild (5-8)	27.5 (92)
Moderate (9-16)	26.7 (89)
Severe (17+)	6.6 (22)
Somatic domain (0-16), % (n)	
No, little (0-1)	54.2 (181)
Mild (2-3)	28.1 (94)
Moderate (4-6)	15.9 (53)
Severe (7+)	1.8 (6)
Psychological domain (0-16), % (n)	
No, little (0-2)	37.1 (124)
Mild (3-4)	30.2 (101)
Moderate (5-8)	20.4 (68)
Severe (9+)	12.3 (41)
Urogenital domain (0-12), % (n)	
No, little (0)	42.2 (141)
Mild (1)	20.7 (69)
Moderate (2-3)	22.8 (76)
Severe (4+)	14.3 (48)
Severity of vasomotor symptoms, % (n)	
None	63.2 (211)
Mild	24.0 (80)
Moderate	9.0 (30)
Severe/very severe	3.9 (13)
Severity of vaginal dryness, % (n)	
None	80.2 (268)
Mild	12.6 (42)
Moderate	4.8 (16)
Severe/very severe	2.4 (8)

^a Sample size ranges from 330-332 due to missing data on some variables;

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; SD, standard deviation; WC, waist circumference; WHtR, waist/height ratio.

6.4.2 Vasomotor symptoms and vaginal dryness

In childhood, no significant associations of any childhood adiposity measures with the severity of VMS and vaginal dryness were observed (Table 6.2 Model 1) after adjustment for childhood age, follow-up length, smoking status, occupation, highest own-education, and DGI in midlife.

Childhood adiposity		Vasomotor	symptoms	Vaginal dryness			
	n (%)	Unadjusted model	Model 1	Unadjusted model	Model 1		
		RR (95% CI)	RR (95% CI)	RR (95% CI)	RR (95% CI)		
BMI z score	334	1.05 (0.97-1.14)	1.03 (0.95-1.11)	1.00 (0.87-1.14)	1.00 (0.87-1.15)		
BMI category							
Normal	306 (91.6)	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.		
Overweight/obese	28 (8.4)	1.09 (0.82-1.45)	1.02 (0.77-1.35)	1.08 (0.69-1.70)	1.09 (0.68-1.74)		
WC z score	334	1.08 (1.00-1.17)	1.04 (0.96-1.12)	1.04 (0.92-1.18)	1.04 (0.92-1.18)		
WHtR, per SD (0.04)	334	1.06 (0.98-1.13)	1.03 (0.95-1.11)	1.05 (0.93-1.19)	1.05 (0.93-1.19)		
WHtR category							
<0.5	317 (94.9)	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.		
≥0.5	17 (5.1)	1.34 (1.03-1.75)	1.20 (0.88-1.62)	1.47 (0.98-2.21)	1.53 (0.96-2.44)		

 Table 6.2 Associations of childhood adiposity with vasomotor symptoms and vaginal dryness measured by the MRS in midlife

Model1: adjusted for childhood age, follow-up length from childhood to midlife, smoking status, occupation, highest own-education and dietary guidelines index in midlife;

Abbreviation: BMI, body mass index; CI, confidence interval; MRS, menopause rating scale; RR, relative risk; SD, standard deviation; WHtR, waist/height ratio; WC, waist circumference.

6.4.3 Total symptoms and domain-specific symptoms measured by the MRS

Table 6.3 presents the associations of childhood adiposity with total symptoms and domainspecific symptoms measured by the MRS. Higher childhood BMI z-score and childhood overweight and obesity were positively associated with more severe total, psychological and urogenital symptoms after adjustment for confounders (Table 6.3 Model 1). Higher childhood waist circumference z-score, WHtR and childhood abdominal obesity were associated with increased risks of more severe total symptoms in all three domains (Table 6.3 Model 1). When examining each individual urogenital symptom (urinary symptoms, sexual problems and vaginal dryness), significant associations with childhood adiposity were only present for urinary symptoms (data not shown). To determine whether the above associations were independent of adult BMI, we further adjusted for BMI in midlife (Table 6.3 Model 2). Here, the associations with higher childhood BMI z-score remained significant for psychological and urogenital symptoms, and the associations with childhood overweight and obesity remained significant for urogenital symptoms. The above associations with abdominal obesity measures

all persisted after adjustment for BMI in midlife except for the association of childhood

abdominal obesity with psychological symptoms.

Childhood adiposity		Total score		Somatic			Psychologic	al	Urogenital				
	n (%)	Unadjusted model	Model 1	Model 2									
		RR											
		(95% CI)											
BMI z score	334	1.06 (1.01-1.17)	1.08 (1.03-1.14)	1.06 (0.99-1.13)	1.06 (0.99-1.13)	1.06 (0.99-1.14)	1.01 (0.92-1.10)	1.07 (1.03-1.10)	1.08 (1.03-1.12)	1.08 (1.02-1.14)	1.08 (1.03-1.13)	1.07 (1.02-1.13)	1.11 (1.04-1.19)
BMI category													
Normal	306 (91.6	Ref.											
Overweight/obese	28 (8.4)	1.13 (0.99-1.30)	1.17 (1.02-1.36)	1.07 (0.89-1.28)	1.19 (0.95-1.49)	1.18 (0.95-1.48)	1.02 (0.79-1.30)	1.17 (1.04-1.31)	1.19 (1.04-1.35)	1.13 (0.96-1.33)	1.22 (1.11-1.35)	1.29 (1.14-1.46)	1.48 (1.23-1.78)
WC z score	334	1.09 (1.03-1.15)	1.11 (1.04-1.17)	1.09 (1.02-1.16)	1.08 (1.02-1.13)	1.11 (1.04-1.17)	1.06 (0.98-1.15)	1.07 (1.03-1.11)	1.08 (1.03-1.13)	1.08 (1.03-1.14)	1.08 (1.03-1.13)	1.09 (1.03-1.15)	1.10 (1.04-1.16)
WHtR, per SD (0.04)	334	1.08 (1.03-1.14)	1.10 (1.04-1.17)	1.08 (1.02-1.15)	1.07 (1.03-1.12)	1.10 (1.04-1.16)	1.06 (0.99-1.13)	1.06 (1.02-1.09)	1.07 (1.03-1.12)	1.06 (1.01-1.12)	1.09 (1.05-1.13)	1.10 (1.05-1.16)	1.12 (1.06-1.18)
WHtR category													
<0.5	317 (94.9) Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
≥0.5	17 (5.1)	1.32 (1.21-1.43)	2.19 (1.48-3.23)	2.11 (1.41-3.14)	1.44 (1.18-1.75)	1.52 (1.15-2.02)	1.34 (1.00-1.79)	1.18 (1.03-1.34)	1.21 (1.04-1.42)	1.16 (0.98-1.39)	1.31 (1.21-1.41)	2.11 (1.39-3.20)	2.22 (1.45-3.40)

Table 6.3 Associations of childhood adiposity with total menopausal symptoms and domain-specific symptoms measured by the MRS in midlife

Model1: adjusted for childhood age, follow-up length, smoking status, occupation, highest own-education and dietary guidelines index in midlife;

Model2: Model1 + body mass index in midlife;

Abbreviation: BMI, body mass index; CI, confidence interval; MRS, menopause rating scale; RR, relative risk; SD, standard deviation; WHtR, waist/height ratio; WC, waist circumference.

6.4.4 Adiposity from childhood to midlife

The relative risks of more severe VMS and vaginal dryness by adiposity status from childhood to midlife are displayed in Table 6.4 No significant associations of BMI categories from childhood to midlife with VMS and vaginal dryness were found. In the subsample of participants who had WHtR data in both childhood and midlife, compared with those who were not abdominally obese in both childhood and midlife, those with persistent abdominal obesity (n=8) had significantly higher risks of more severe VMS and vaginal dryness (Table 6.4 Model 1).

For total symptoms and the three domain-specific symptoms, compared with women with persistently normal BMI since childhood, those who were persistently overweight/obese had significantly higher risks of more severe total and somatic, psychosocial and urogenital symptoms after adjustment for confounders (Table 6.5 Model 1). In the subsample of participants who had WHtR data in both childhood and midlife, those who were abdominally obese in midlife but not in childhood had significantly higher risks of more severe total and somatic symptoms (Table 6.5 Model 1). Those who were persistently abdominally obese since childhood had the highest risks of more severe total symptoms and all the domain-specific symptoms (Table 6.5 Model 1).

6.4.5 Sensitivity analysis

Similar associations of childhood adiposity with VMS and vaginal dryness were observed after excluding 92 women who were using hormonal contraception at midlife (n=242) (data not shown). In the subsample of participants with adult abdominal obesity measures (n=247) (Appendix6-1), the associations of childhood abdominal obesity with more severe total symptoms and domain-specific symptoms persisted after further adjustment for corresponding abdominal obesity measures in midlife. The observed associations of adiposity with VMS and

vaginal dryness did not change after excluding those who were underweight in childhood (n=5) and in midlife (n=2) (data not shown). When analyses were performed by separating childhood overweight (n=22) and obesity (n=6), no association was found with VMS and vaginal dryness (Appendix6-2). Childhood obesity was associated with increased risks of urogenital symptoms and total score independent of BMI in midlife (Appendix6-3). Reanalysis of the data with inverse probability weighting produced results consistent with unweighted analyses, with the direction of the associations remaining the same and the changes in β coefficient of significant associations ranging from -3.5% to 81.6%.

Adiposity status from		Vasomotor	symptoms	Vaginal dryness		
childhood to midlife	n (%)	Unadjusted model	Model 1	Unadjusted model	Model 1	
		RR (95% CI)	RR (95% CI)	RR (95% CI)	RR (95% CI)	
BMI category						
Persistently normal	126 (37.8)	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	
Normal to overweight/obese	180 (54.1)	1.14 (0.93-1.40)	1.05 (0.85-1.29)	1.09 (0.81-1.46)	1.05 (0.78-1.40)	
Persistently overweight/obese	27 (8.1)	1.21 (0.88-1.65)	1.13 (0.82-1.55)	1.16 (0.71-1.89)	1.17 (0.72-1.92)	
WHtR category						
Persistently not						
abdominally obese	116 (47.2)	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	
Not abdominally obese						
to abdominally obese	122 (49.6)	1.24 (0.95-1.63)	1.08 (0.81-1.44)	1.33 (0.90-1.95)	1.19 (0.80-1.76)	
Persistently abdominally obese	8 (3.3)	1.89 (1.30-2.75)	2.36 (1.42-3.93)	2.31 (1.34-3.99)	2.34 (1.13-4.84)	

Table 6.4 Associations of adiposity status from childhood to midlife with vasomotor symptoms and vaginal dryness measured by the MRS

Model1: adjusted for smoking status, occupation, highest own-education and dietary guidelines index in midlife; Abbreviation: BMI, body mass index; CI, confidence interval; MRS, menopause rating scale; RR, relative risk; WHtR, waist/height ratio.

Table 6.5 Associations of adiposity status from childhood to midlife with total menopausal symptoms and domain-specific symptom
measured by the MRS

Adiposity status from childhood to midlife		Total score		Sor	natic	Psychol	ogical	Urogenital	
	n (%)	Unadjusted model	Model 1	Unadjusted model	Model 1	Unadjusted model	Model 1	Unadjusted model	Model 1
		RR (95% CI)	RR (95% CI)	RR (95% CI)	RR (95% CI)	RR (95% CI)	RR (95% CI)	RR (95% CI)	RR (95% CI)
BMI category									
Persistently normal	126 (37.8)Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
Normal to overweight/obese	180 (54.1) ^{1.15} (1.02-1.29)	1.12 (0.99-1.26)	1.28 (1.06-1.55)	1.19 (0.98-1.45)	1.12 (1.00-1.25)	1.08 (0.96-1.21)	1.07 (0.96-1.19)	1.06 (0.95-1.18)
Persistently overweight/obese	27 (8.1)	1.22 (1.03-1.44)	1.22 (1.04-1.44)	1.36 (1.03-1.80)	1.34 (1.02-1.75)	1.25 (1.09-1.44)	1.20 (1.04-1.40)	1.27 (1.12-1.44)	1.34 (1.16-1.53)
WHtR category									
Persistently not abdominally obese	116 (47.2)Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
Not abdominally obese to abdominally obese	122 (49.6) ^{1.34} (1.12-1.61)	1.39 (1.14-1.69)	1.64 (1.25-2.15)	1.57 (1.19-2.05)	1.18 (1.04-1.33)	1.13 (0.99-1.30)	1.20 (1.01-1.42)	1.12 (0.95-1.32)
Persistently abdominally obese	8 (3.3)	2.42 (1.88-3.11)	9.40 (4.92-17.94)	3.16 (1.96-5.09)	3.03 (1.92-4.80)	1.35 (1.13-1.60)	1.32 (1.06-1.64)	1.76 (1.42-2.17)	3.23 (2.13-4.91)

Model1: adjusted for smoking status, occupation, highest own-education and dietary guidelines index in midlife;

Abbreviation: BMI, body mass index; CI, confidence interval; MRS, menopause rating scale; RR, relative risk; WHtR, waist/height ratio.

6.5 Discussion

This study is the first to report the associations of childhood adiposity with menopausal symptoms in midlife women aged 45-49 years. We found no association between childhood adiposity and VMS or vaginal dryness. However, childhood adiposity was associated with more severe "other" menopausal symptoms as measured by the MRS. Childhood overweight/obesity was associated with more severe psychological and urogenital symptoms and total score, with the associations with urogenital symptoms persisting after adjustment for adult BMI. Childhood abdominal obesity measures, including waist circumference and WHtR, were positively associated with more severe somatic, psychological and urogenital symptoms and total score, with the associations with psychological and urogenital symptoms and total score, with the associations with psychological and urogenital symptoms and total score persisting after adjustment for adult BMI. Women with persistently high adiposity since childhood had the highest risks of somatic, psychological and urogenital symptoms and total score.

There is a lack of consensus about precisely which symptoms are attributable to menopause. The 2005 National Institutes of Health (NIH) State of the Science report concluded that VMS, vaginal dryness and possibly sleep disturbance were attributable to menopause ²²⁰. Subsequently, cross-sectional and prospective studies have reported changes in psychological, sexual, and urogenital symptoms in addition to changes in metabolic, cardiovascular and musculoskeletal function ²²¹. However, it is uncertain whether these are due to ageing or the endocrine changes at menopause.

Although widely used, the MRS includes measures which are poorly defined, such as "heart discomfort" and "bladder problems" and symptoms such as irritability and anxiety that are not consistently associated with menopause. The association between childhood adiposity and total

MRS score in the current study was largely accounted for by symptoms in these nonspecific domains.

Multiple cross-sectional and longitudinal studies have reported positive associations of adult adiposity with VMS in midlife ¹¹⁸ but others have not ^{222, 223}. The inconsistency of these study results may reflect various factors, including differences in participants' race/ethnicity, sample size, menopausal status, the measurement of VMS, and other environmental factors. In our study, no association of childhood adiposity with VMS and vaginal dryness was found. It is possible that most women were in their pre-menopause or in the early menopause transition with a low prevalence of VMS and vaginal dryness. Since overweight and obesity have been associated with later age at natural menopause and later inception of menopause transition, this might dilute the associations observed.

The long-term associations of childhood adiposity, especially abdominal obesity, with psychological and urinary symptoms remain understudied. Psychological symptoms including depression and anxiety are twice as common in women than men with a prevalence of 25-50% at midlife ²²⁴. Our team have previously reported that childhood overweight and obesity are associated with an increased risk of mood disorder in women aged 26-36 years, but this association was largely explained by overweight/obesity in adulthood ⁴⁴. Urinary incontinence affects 30-40% of women at midlife and almost 50% of older women ²²⁵. Epidemiological studies have shown that adult obesity is a major modifiable risk factor for urinary incontinence at midlife ²²⁶. Our findings that childhood adiposity was associated with psychological symptoms and "urinary problems" in midlife independently of adult BMI are novel and suggest that early prevention of childhood adiposity may modify or help prevent these conditions. The explanation for why all adiposity measures were associated with urogenital symptoms but mainly abdominal obesity measures were associated with psychological symptoms and total score, independent of adult BMI, are unclear. High BMI is an established risk factor for urinary

incontinence, which may explain the association with urogenital symptoms. The associations between psychological symptoms and menopause are uncertain and vary considerably between women, so the observed association with psychological symptoms may have been spurious.

Those at greatest risk for high total MRS scores and the three domain-specific symptoms were women with persistently high adiposity since childhood. This may reflect the cumulative burden of high adiposity over the life-course or a greater severity of excess adiposity. However, the associations with VMS and vaginal dryness in women with persistent abdominal obesity should be interpreted with caution as there were only 8 participants in this group and the finding therefore needs to be confirmed in larger studies.

We acknowledge the limitations of our study. Reproductive stage was not defined according to Stages of Reproductive Aging Workshop (STRAW) criteria. Our finding that most women did not report VMS or vaginal dryness suggests that they were either pre-menopausal or in the early menopause transition. In addition, because the MRS includes symptoms that may not be attributable to menopause, we cannot be certain that our findings reflect a true association between childhood adiposity and menopausal symptoms. In reproductive age women, higher MRS scores may reflect the known adverse consequences of adiposity rather than menopause. However, in our study, we have separately analyzed the associations with VMS and vaginal dryness that are consistently associated with menopause, though they are not specific to menopause and are commonly reported by premenopausal women as well ^{227, 228}. A further limitation was the loss to follow-up. We applied inverse probability weighting to account for missingness, and this did not appreciably change our results. Third, the prevalence of high adiposity in our cohort was substantially less than that reported in more contemporary children. The low prevalence of high adiposity in childhood and relatively small sample size may account for the lack of statistically significant associations. Furthermore, whether the associations between childhood adiposity and menopausal symptoms persist when high

adiposity resolves between childhood and midlife is unclear because too few participants (n=1) demonstrated this trajectory. Larger prospective studies including greater numbers of children with high adiposity followed up through the menopause transition are needed to confirm our findings and help better understand whether childhood adiposity, adult adiposity, or both contribute to different types and severities of menopausal symptoms. Finally, this study is an Australian cohort comprised of mainly white women. Whether these findings extend to other geographical regions and races is unknown.

The strengths of our study include that it is the first prospective study to investigate the longterm associations between various childhood adiposity measures and menopausal symptoms using a validated instrument. Second, a wide range of potential confounders was considered in our study.

6.6 Conclusion

Childhood adiposity was not associated with significantly increased risks of vasomotor symptoms or vaginal dryness at midlife in women aged 45-49 years; symptoms that are consistently associated with menopause. Associations of childhood adiposity, especially childhood abdominal obesity, with more severe somatic, psychological and urogenital symptoms were observed and the associations for psychological and urogenital symptoms were independent of adult BMI. However, the association between these symptoms and menopause is not established and needs to be clarified in future studies.

6.7 Appendix 6 Supplementary material for Chapter 6

Childhood		Total score			Somatic			Psychological			Urogenital		
measures	n (%)	Unadjusted model	Model 1	Model 2									
		RR (95% CI)											
WC z score	247	1.09 (1.01-1.16)	1.13 (1.04-1.22)	1.10 (1.01-1.21)	1.21 (1.09-1.35)	1.29 (1.15-1.45)	1.23 (1.07-1.41)	1.09 (1.03-1.15)	1.10 (1.03-1.17)	1.11 (1.02-1.21)	1.07 (1.01-1.14)	1.11 (1.03-1.19)	1.25 (1.13-1.39)
WHtR, per SD (0.04)	247	1.10 (1.02-1.18)	1.12 (1.03-1.23)	1.10 (1.00-1.21)	1.28 (1.14-1.43)	1.35 (1.19-1.56)	1.28 (1.11-1.48)	1.07 (1.02-1.13)	1.07 (1.01-1.14)	1.08 (1.00-1.15)	1.11 (1.04-1.18)	1.13 (1.05-1.22)	1.13 (1.04-1.22)
WHtR category													
<0.5	238 (96.4)) Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
≥0.5	9 (3.6)	2.07 (1.67-2.58)	3.13 (2.09-4.70)	2.83 (1.82-4.40)	2.18 (1.40-3.41)	2.09 (1.31-3.33)	1.99 (1.28-3.10)	1.24 (1.08-1.42)	1.21 (1.01-1.46)	1.18 (0.98-1.42)	1.58 (1.33-1.88)	2.50 (1.84-3.40)	3.71 (2.34-5.89)

Appendix6-1 Associations of childhood abdominal obesity measures with total menopausal symptoms and domain-specific symptoms measured by the MRS in midlife

Model1: adjusted for childhood age, follow-up length, smoking status, occupation, highest own-education and dietary guidelines index in midlife;

Model2: Model1 + corresponding abdominal obesity measures in midlife;

Abbreviation: CI, confidence interval; MRS, menopause rating scale; RR, relative risk; SD, standard deviation; WHtR, waist/height ratio; WC, waist circumference.

Appendix6-2 Associations of childhood weight status with vasomotor symptoms and vaginal dryness measured by the MRS in midlife.

Childhood weight		Vasomotor	symptoms	Vaginal dryness			
status	n (%)	Unadjusted model	Model 1	Unadjusted model	Model 1		
		RR (95% CI)	RR (95% CI)	RR (95% CI)	RR (95% CI)		
BMI category							
Normal	306 (91.6)	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.		
Overweight	22 (6.6)	1.05 (0.75-1.46)	1.02 (0.73-1.42)	1.06 (0.64-1.77)	1.09 (0.64-1.84)		
Obese	6 (1.8)	1.26 (0.79-2.02)	1.02 (0.62-1.67)	1.15 (0.47-2.85)	1.08 (0.62-2.73)		

Model1: adjusted for childhood age, follow-up length, smoking status, occupation, highest own-education and dietary guidelines index in midlife;

Abbreviation: BMI, body mass index; CI, confidence interval; MRS, menopause rating scale; RR, relative risk.

Appendix6-3 Associations of childhood weight status with total menopausal symptoms and domain-specific symptoms measured by the MRS in midlife.

Childhood weight status		Total score			Somatic			Psychological			Urogenital		
	n (%)	Unadjuste model	d Model 1	Model 2	Unadjusted model	Model 1	Model 2	Unadjusted model	Model 1	Model 2	Unadjusted model	Model 1	Model 2
		RR	RR	RR	RR	RR	RR	RR	RR	RR	RR	RR	RR
		(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)	(95% CI)
BMI category													
Normal	306 (91.6)	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
Overweight	22 (6.6)	1.12 (0.88-1.42	1.17)(0.91-1.51)	1.03 (0.77-1.37)	1.14 (0.87-1.49)	1.12 (0.85-1.47	0.97) (0.72-1.30)	1.14 (0.90-1.44)	1.14 (0.89-1.47)	1.03 (0.79-1.34)	1.24) (1.03-1.50)	1.40 (1.13-1.75)	1.64 (1.26-2.14)
Obese	6 (1.8)	1.71 (1.33-2.19	2.06)(1.40-3.05)	2.12 (1.30-3.44)	1.35 (0.97-1.89)	1.41 (0.96-2.06	1.17) (0.78-1.74)	1.46 (1.00-2.13)	1.20 (0.76-1.91)	1.19 (0.75-1.88)	1.39) (1.02-1.87)	1.37 (0.96-1.96)	1.65 (1.01-2.69)

Model1: adjusted for childhood age, follow-up length, smoking status, occupation, highest own-education and dietary guidelines index in midlife;

Model2: Model1 + body mass index in midlife;

Abbreviation: BMI, body mass index; CI, confidence interval; MRS, menopause rating scale; RR, relative risk.

7.1 Preamble

Over the past three decades, the worldwide prevalence of childhood obesity has increased dramatically, and its related health burden has been of great concern, particularly the long-term health consequences. Although a large number of investigations has helped to fill a growing list of the potential long-term risks from childhood adiposity, women's reproductive health remains understudied and poorly understood. By using original data from two population-based cohorts, CDAH and BBS, I aimed in this thesis to contribute to current knowledge in this area by investigating the associations of childhood adiposity with infertility, pregnancy hypertension, menstrual irregularity, PCOS and menopausal symptoms in adulthood. By addressing these questions, the long-term consequences of childhood adiposity for women's reproductive health will be better understood. The present work may, therefore, be helpful in making the case for greater emphasis on timely prevention and interventions of childhood adiposity that will benefit the health of the current and future generations including their reproductive health.

The following sections provide a summary of the principal findings of this thesis, their public health implications and an overview of future research directions.

7.2 Summary of findings and public health implications

7.2.1 Childhood obesity before age 12 was associated with an increased risk of infertility

The negative impact of adult adiposity on fertility has been primarily thought to be due to functional alteration of the HPO axis resulting in irregular menstrual cycles and anovulation,

leading to infertility ^{70, 229}. As childhood and adolescence are the important periods for HPO axis development ²³⁰, adiposity during this critical window could have a persistent association with reproductive capacity. In Chapter 3, we showed a U-shaped association of childhood BMI z-score before 12 years of age with infertility and identified an increased risk of later infertility among women with obesity as defined by BMI before 12 years. Our findings of the associations of child obesity with infertility were only observed in the younger age group of 7-11 years but not in 12-15 years age group and were supported by earlier findings from the Bogalusa Heart Study that had similar results ⁷⁸. This suggests a differential risk of infertility based on exposure to adiposity during various time periods of growth and the pre-pubertal time window may be a sensitive period where the effects of excess body weight on infertility are more significant and profound than post-pubertal stages. Measures of abdominal adiposity (WC, WHtR and waist-to-hip ratio) in our study were not found to be associated with infertility.

Infertility can be a devastating condition for couples who want to have children, especially for women who have a limited time window for childbearing. Impaired human fertility may arise from many conditions caused by genetic disorders, delayed childbearing, infectious or environmental factors, behaviours and certain diseases ²³¹. Awareness of the potential risks may lead some people to adopt corrective behaviours and protect fertility. Our study provides evidence of the association of early childhood obesity with infertility making it a potentially modifiable risk factor for infertility and providing further incentives for the early prevention of childhood obesity.

7.2.2 Childhood adiposity was associated with an increased risk of pregnancy hypertension

Although the important role of childhood abdominal obesity in cardiometabolic diseases has been recognised in many previous studies ^{13, 90, 167}, no study has yet reported the association of

childhood abdominal obesity with pregnancy hypertension. In Chapter 4, I extended the findings of two previous longitudinal studies in childhood which examined childhood BMI ^{77, 91}. Our study explored the associations of different childhood adiposity measures including abdominal obesity with pregnancy hypertension and further determined whether these associations were independent of adult adiposity. It revealed that childhood adiposity was associated with an increased risk of pregnancy hypertension, with the association of childhood addiposity abdominal obesity independent of adult abdominal obesity.

The results of our study suggest that higher childhood BMI has adverse consequences for pregnancy hypertension, but largely mediated through its association with adult BMI. This is consistent with previous systematic reviews ^{232, 233} and meta-analysis ²³⁴ showing that the associations of childhood BMI with adult cardiovascular diseases were not independent of adult BMI. As adiposity tracks between childhood and adulthood ²⁵, targeting childhood for prevention and treatment of adiposity could have lasting benefits. Furthermore, the independent contribution of childhood abdominal obesity to pregnancy hypertension in our study highlighted that childhood WHtR has the potential to be used as an indicator to identify those at increased risk of future cardiometabolic conditions including pregnancy hypertension.

7.2.3 Childhood adiposity was positively associated with a higher risk of menstrual irregularity in both white and black women, however a higher risk of PCOS was only present in white women

Adult adiposity has long been considered as a risk factor for menstrual irregularity. The association with adiposity, however, remains unclear for PCOS, although PCOS is strongly related to menstrual irregularity. Both environmental and genetic factors have been suggested to influence the development of PCOS¹⁰⁵. For both disorders, their long-term associations with childhood adiposity remain understudied. By using two cohorts from Australia (CDAH) and

USA (BBS) with different populations and races, Chapter 5 showed childhood adiposity as measured by BMI and WHtR was associated increased risk of menstrual irregularity and PCOS in adulthood, whereas there were racial difference in the associations of adiposity with PCOS, with the association for PCOS only present in white but not in black participants.

Collectively, these findings suggest long-term implications of childhood adiposity on menstrual irregularity in adulthood that are present consistently in different populations and races. The potential biological plausibility includes a series of hormonal factors (increased concentrations of testosterone, LH, insulin, and reduced concentrations of SHBG) caused by childhood adiposity ¹⁴¹. In addition, increased adipokines produced in adipose tissue can directly inhibit ovarian function ²³⁵. However, the finding of the racial differences in childhood adiposity associating with PCOS highlights that PCOS is a complex trait with contributions from both heritable and nonheritable factors. Though childhood adiposity is not expected to be a single cause of PCOS, it is a risk factor for promoting the development of PCOS in white women. This study has also called for more future investigations into reproductive health across varied races and populations to enhance understanding of reproductive health across diverse societies.

7.2.4 Childhood adiposity was not associated with VMS and vaginal dryness but was associated with other symptoms that are not clearly attributable to menopause at 45-49 years

Whether childhood adiposity is associated with menopausal symptoms in women's midlife is unknown in the current literature. In Chapter 6, menopausal symptoms were measured by the MRS in women aged 45-49 years. We found that childhood adiposity was not associated with VMS and vaginal dryness, symptoms that are consistently associated with menopause, in women aged 45-49 years. However, childhood adiposity, especially abdominal obesity, was

associated with total menopausal symptoms and three domain-specific symptoms (somatic, psychological and urogenital) in midlife that are not clearly attributable to menopause. The associations with psychological and urinary symptoms in particular were independent of adult BMI.

Taken together, our findings suggest childhood adiposity was more likely to be associated with 'other' menopausal symptoms in women aged 45-49 years rather than VMS and vaginal dryness which are most consistently associated with menopause. Therefore, the prevention of childhood adiposity may help reduce the severity of total menopausal symptoms, especially psychological and urinary symptoms during the early stage of menopause transition. However, it is important to note that at this stage, we are not sure whether these 'other' symptoms are attributable to menopause or may be secondary to childhood adiposity in this age group of women. More than one third and less than 20% of women reported having VMS and vaginal dryness in our study suggesting most of the women were in their pre-menopause and early menopause transition. As women proceed into late stages of the menopause, there will be a further opportunity for our team to investigate whether childhood adiposity is associated with menopausal symptoms in women of more advanced age.

7.2.5 Childhood abdominal obesity was associated with increased risks of women's reproductive health problems

This thesis has filled a gap in current knowledge on the effect of childhood abdominal obesity on women's reproductive health. The results from this thesis support the simple public health message for children and adolescents to 'keep your waist circumference to less than half your height' and this message can be extended to reproductive health. The general population and health professionals need to become better educated about the potential health risks, including reproductive disorders, of childhood abdominal obesity. Therefore, efforts should be made to promote a healthy childhood weight but also to prevent childhood abdominal obesity.

7.2.6 There are cumulative risks of childhood adiposity across the life course on reproductive health

All the risks of adverse reproductive outcomes in the studies in this thesis were significantly highest in women with persistently high adiposity since childhood. These cumulative higher risks may be explained by the longer duration of adiposity and a more severe adiposity pattern for those with persistently high adiposity since childhood.

There are two major implications for this finding. Firstly, keeping a healthy adiposity status since childhood is of great importance. As adiposity tracks between childhood and adulthood ²³⁶, promoting normal adiposity status in childhood could have a lasting effect on future adiposity status. Secondly, prevention of persistently high adiposity trajectories will potentially help reduce the burden of adverse reproductive health outcomes.

Overall, the findings from this thesis add impetus to improving the current efficacy of interventions to reduce the prevalence of childhood obesity, which will help mitigate long-term diseases including women's reproductive health problems.

7.2.7 Potential interpretations and mechanisms for the associations of childhood adiposity with women's reproductive health

Although longitudinal associations between childhood adiposity and later reproductive outcomes were observed in our studies, it is problematic to make causal inferences. Drawing causal inferences from observational epidemiology can be challenging because of complex confounding effects (such as residual confounding and socially patterned behaviours affecting exposure), potential reverse causation (e.g. the relationship between childhood adiposity and

PCOS in our study), chance findings and the results of bias (for example due to considerable loss to follow-up) ^{237, 238}. The mechanisms for how childhood adiposity may influence later reproductive health are not completely understood, however, multiple factors may play a role and current evidence suggests there may be complex endocrinological mechanisms. Dysregulation of the HPO axis is one hypothesis often used to explain the association between adiposity and reproductive disorders in women. Excess body fat is associated with increased concentrations of insulin, androgens and estrogens, and decreased SHBG levels, which in turn leads to negative feedback on the hypothalamic pituitary axis, decreased gonadotropinreleasing hormone (GnRH) production, less follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) secretion and luteinizing hormone (LH) pulse amplitude ^{229, 239}. These affect ovarian follicular recruitment and ovulation. Additionally, adipokines and cytokines secreted by adipose tissue (such as leptin and adiponectin), as well as higher levels of insulin and inflammatory markers (e.g. C-reaction protein) may have direct impacts on endometrium receptivity, oocyte and embryo quality, and association with pregnancy complications ²⁴⁰. However, it is also possible that childhood adiposity is an epiphenomenon (or by-product) of an underlying endocrine-related condition (for example insulin resistance) which is related to reproductive disorders in later life. Taking PCOS as an example, although the aetiology of PCOS is uncertain, childhood adiposity is not likely the cause and increasing evidence suggests a genetic or intra-uterine origin. Therefore, childhood adiposity may be a result of PCOS related endocrine dysregulation in early life, and may amplify the symptoms of PCOS in later life. This may explain why the recent increase in the prevalence of childhood adiposity will not necessarily lead to an increase in the prevalence of adverse reproductive health outcomes.

7.3 Future directions

The work presented in this thesis has broadened knowledge of the long-term associations of childhood adiposity with women's reproductive health. It highlights the need for and importance of studies that use a life course approach to conduct these investigations. Directions for future research include the following:

• Exploring the associations of childhood adiposity with a more comprehensive spectrum of reproductive outcomes in both men and women

Although CDAH is a population-based cohort study, it was not initially designed specifically for observing reproductive health outcomes. Therefore, the studies in this thesis have been limited to several reproductive health outcomes in adult females that were available in the follow-ups from CDAH. Similarly, although BBS aimed to examine the role of cardiovascular risk factors in childhood on reproductive outcomes in women, it is a sub-study of BHS which was not initially designed for the observations of reproductive outcomes and was only conducted among female participants. Furthermore, when BBS commenced most women were already in late midlife. It also should be noted that there is rising evidence in the literature demonstrating adverse influences of adult adiposity on male reproductive health, however this research area is still in its infancy. Future cohorts that specifically target reproductive health in both men and women will help extend our knowledge of the associations of childhood adiposity with more areas of reproductive health.

• Improving the accuracy of reproductive outcome measures

The reproductive outcomes in the current studies were self-reported. This may lead to potential under- or over-estimation of the prevalence of adverse reproductive outcomes. However, in general, the prevalence of the reproductive outcomes presented in this thesis is consistent with the prevalence in the literature. More accurate definitions from clinical diagnosis, biomedical markers or validated questionnaires in future studies will provide more precise and convincing results.

• **Investigating whether the findings can be generalised to different countries and races** Most of the available evidence of the associations of childhood adiposity with reproductive health comes from cohorts from western countries. Future studies should come from a series of diverse cohorts and races to provide external validity to the findings of this thesis.

• Examining the associations in contemporary cohorts and understanding the associations with growth patterns from infancy to adolescence

The prevalence of childhood overweight (10.1%), obesity (1.6%) and abdominal obesity (7.3%) in CDAH was relatively low in 1985 compared to the prevalence in present-day children in whom more extreme adiposity and earlier onset of adiposity is observed. Contemporary cohorts with greater numbers of children with high adiposity will add statistical power to examine these associations, making results more robust. Furthermore, contemporary cohorts will help verify whether associations observed in historical cohorts are consistently observed or if there are changes in the strength of associations due to changes in the characteristics of childhood adiposity.

The CDAH study had only a single time point of adiposity measures in childhood, which cannot adequately reflect the complex and dynamic adiposity changes that vary over time during a child's development. Future studies with multiple time points of adiposity measures in early life, for example from infancy to adolescence, could help understand the different risks of diverse adiposity patterns in early life for later reproductive health. They would also help identify potential sensitive periods during early life when exposure to adiposity might have more pronounced associations with later reproductive disorders and help better understand the potential biological mechanisms for the associations.

145
• Exploring the role of genetics and epigenetics in the association between childhood adiposity and reproductive health

It has been suggested that about 30% to 49% of the variation in BMI can be attributed to genetics and 60% to 70% to environment ²⁴¹. The patterns of body fat distribution also appear to be partly under genetic control ^{242, 243}. For example, fat distribution in men is more likely to be abdominal or upper-body whereas in women is more likely to be peripheral or lower-body. Furthermore, there is also growing evidence for the role of epigenetic factors (e.g. parental and intrauterine exposures, dietary, lifestyle and environmental factors) in the development of adiposity. The associations between genetics of adiposity and reproductive health have been explored in recent times. Studies have shown that the genes implicated in the development of adiposity, for example the fat mass and obesity-associated gene (FTO), are associated with susceptibility to PCOS, fertility problems and pregnancy complications ²⁴⁴⁻²⁴⁶. The role of epigenetics in obesity and later metabolic disease has been increasingly explored in recent years ²⁴⁷, but little attention has been paid to reproductive health yet. Future research attempting to better understand how genetic factors and epigenetic changes are associated with adiposity and how they influence reproductive health will not only increase our understanding of the pathogenesis of adiposity and the mechanisms behind these associations, but might also help tailor proper therapeutic strategies for those at risk of childhood adiposity and its associated reproductive disorders.

7.4 Conclusion

The studies presented in this thesis together reveal that childhood adiposity has important implications for long-term risks of reproductive health outcomes including infertility, pregnancy hypertension, menstrual irregularity and PCOS in women of reproductive age and some menopausal symptoms. Cumulative exposure to higher levels of adiposity across the life

Chapter 7: Summary and future directions

course was associated with higher risks of adverse reproductive consequences in adulthood. Collectively, the results of these studies provide a better understanding of the long-term consequences of childhood adiposity, especially childhood abdominal obesity, for reproductive health in women. The work undertaken in this thesis suggests that the prevention of childhood adiposity is important for women's reproductive health as well as other disease prevention, adding impetus to strategies aimed at prevention and treatment of childhood adiposity.

References

1. Bays HE, Toth PP, Kris-Etherton PM, et al. Obesity, adiposity, and dyslipidemia: a consensus statement from the National Lipid Association. J Clin Lipidol. 2013;7: 304-383.

2. Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic. Report of a WHO consultation. World Health Organ Tech Rep Ser. 2000;894: i-xii, 1-253.

3. Rolland-Cachera MF, Sempe M, Guilloud-Bataille M, Patois E, Pequignot-Guggenbuhl F, Fautrad V. Adiposity indices in children. Am J Clin Nutr. 1982;36: 178-184.

4. Cole TJ, Freeman JV, Preece MA. Body mass index reference curves for the UK, 1990. Arch Dis Child. 1995;73: 25-29.

5. Barlow SE, Dietz WH. Obesity evaluation and treatment: expert committee recommendations. The Maternal and Child Health Bureau, Health Resources and Services Administration and the Department of Health and Human Services. Pediatrics. 1998;102: e29.

6. de Onis M, Onyango AW, Borghi E, Siyam A, Nishida C, Siekmann J. Development of a WHO growth reference for school-aged children and adolescents. Bull World Health Organ. 2007;85: 660-667.

7. WHO child growth standards: length/height-for-age, weight-for-age, weight-for-length, weight -for-height and body mass index-for-age: methods and development. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2006.

8. Cole TJ, Bellizzi MC, Flegal KM, Dietz WH. Establishing a standard definition for child overweight and obesity worldwide: international survey. BMJ. 2000;320: 1240-1243.

9. Monasta L, Lobstein T, Cole TJ, Vignerova J, Cattaneo A. Defining overweight and obesity in pre-school children: IOTF reference or WHO standard? Obes Rev. 2011;12: 295-300.

10. Wells JC, Fewtrell MS. Measuring body composition. Arch Dis Child. 2006;91: 612-617.

11. Katzmarzyk PT, Shen W, Baxter-Jones A, et al. Adiposity in children and adolescents: correlates and clinical consequences of fat stored in specific body depots. Pediatr Obes. 2012;7: e42-61.

12. Ashwell M, Lejeune S, McPherson K. Ratio of waist circumference to height may be better indicator of need for weight management. BMJ. 1996;312: 377.

13. Browning LM, Hsieh SD, Ashwell M. A systematic review of waist-to-height ratio as a screening tool for the prediction of cardiovascular disease and diabetes: 0.5 could be a suitable global boundary value. Nutr Res Rev. 2010;23: 247-269.

14. McCarthy HD, Ashwell M. A study of central fatness using waist-to-height ratios in UK children and adolescents over two decades supports the simple message--'keep your waist circumference to less than half your height'. Int J Obes (Lond). 2006;30: 988-992.

15. Global change in obesity and overweight in adults and children over time. Available from URL: <u>https://www.worldobesitydata.org/presentation-graphics/resources/maps/</u> [accessed 23rd Oct, 2019].

16. Obesity and overweight. Available from URL: <u>https://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/obesity-and-overweight</u> [accessed 21 Oct 2019].

17. Li C, Ford ES, Mokdad AH, Cook S. Recent trends in waist circumference and waistheight ratio among US children and adolescents. Pediatrics. 2006;118: e1390-1398.

18. Xi B, Mi J, Zhao M, et al. Trends in Abdominal Obesity Among US Children and Adolescents. Pediatrics. 2014;134: e334.

19. Liang YJ, Xi B, Song AQ, Liu JX, Mi J. Trends in general and abdominal obesity among Chinese children and adolescents 1993-2009. Pediatr Obes. 2012;7: 355-364.

20. Overweight and obesity in Australia. Available from URL: <u>https://www.aph.gov.au/About_Parliament/Parliamentary_Departments/Parliamentary_Library/Publications_Archive/archive/obesity</u> [accessed 3rd November 2019].

21. A picture of overweight and obesity in Australia. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare 2017:60.

22. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Overweight and obesity: an interactive insight. Available from URL: <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/overweight-obesity/overweight-and-obesity-an-interactive-insight/contents/prevalence</u> [accessed 8th December, 2019].

23. Hardy LL, Mihrshahi S, Gale J, Drayton BA, Bauman A, Mitchell J. 30-year trends in overweight, obesity and waist-to-height ratio by socioeconomic status in Australian children, 1985 to 2015. Int J Obes (Lond). 2017;41: 76-82.

24. Ang YN, Wee BS, Poh BK, Ismail MN. Multifactorial influences of childhood obesity. Curr Obes Rep. 2013;2: 10-22.

25. Singh AS, Mulder C, Twisk JW, van Mechelen W, Chinapaw MJ. Tracking of childhood overweight into adulthood: a systematic review of the literature. Obes Rev. 2008;9: 474-488.

26. Venn AJ, Thomson RJ, Schmidt MD, et al. Overweight and obesity from childhood to adulthood: a follow-up of participants in the 1985 Australian Schools Health and Fitness Survey. Med J Aust. 2007;186: 458-460.

27. Freedman DS, Khan LK, Serdula MK, Dietz WH, Srinivasan SR, Berenson GS. The relation of childhood BMI to adult adiposity: the Bogalusa Heart Study. Pediatrics. 2005;115: 22-27.

28. Han JC, Lawlor DA, Kimm SY. Childhood obesity. Lancet. 2010;375: 1737-1748.

29. Alemzadeh R, Kichler J, Babar G, Calhoun M. Hypovitaminosis D in obese children and adolescents: relationship with adiposity, insulin sensitivity, ethnicity, and season. Metabolism. 2008;57: 183-191.

30. Yanoff LB, Parikh SJ, Spitalnik A, et al. The prevalence of hypovitaminosis D and secondary hyperparathyroidism in obese Black Americans. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2006;64: 523-529.

31. Taylor ED, Theim KR, Mirch MC, et al. Orthopedic complications of overweight in children and adolescents. Pediatrics. 2006;117: 2167-2174.

32. Fiorino EK, Brooks LJ. Obesity and respiratory diseases in childhood. Clin Chest Med. 2009;30: 601-608.

33. Dietz WH. Health consequences of obesity in youth: childhood predictors of adult disease. Pediatrics. 1998;101: 518-525.

34. Reilly JJ, Methven E, McDowell ZC, et al. Health consequences of obesity. Arch Dis Child. 2003;88: 748-752.

35. Steinberger J, Daniels SR. Obesity, insulin resistance, diabetes, and cardiovascular risk in children: an American heart association scientific statement from the atherosclerosis, hypertension, and obesity in the young committee (council on cardiovascular disease in the young) and the diabetes committee (council on nutrition, physical activity, and metabolism). Circulation. 2003;107: 1448-1453.

36. Bell JA, Carslake D, O'Keeffe LM, et al. Associations of body mass and fat indexes with cardiometabolic traits. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2018;72: 3142-3154.

37. Juonala M, Magnussen CG, Berenson GS, et al. Childhood adiposity, adult adiposity, and cardiovascular risk factors. N Engl J Med. 2011;365: 1876-1885.

38. Schmidt MD, Dwyer T, Magnussen CG, Venn AJ. Predictive associations between alternative measures of childhood adiposity and adult cardio-metabolic health. Int J Obes (Lond). 2011;35: 38-45.

39. Rankin J, Matthews L, Cobley S, et al. Psychological consequences of childhood obesity: psychiatric comorbidity and prevention. Adolesc Health Med Ther. 2016;7: 125-146.

40. Incledon E, Wake M, Hay M. Psychological predictors of adiposity: systematic review of longitudinal studies. Int J Pediatr Obes. 2011;6: e1-11.

41. Viner RM, Cole TJ. Adult socioeconomic, educational, social, and psychological outcomes of childhood obesity: a national birth cohort study. BMJ. 2005;330: 1354.

42. Herva A, Laitinen J, Miettunen J, et al. Obesity and depression: results from the longitudinal Northern Finland 1966 Birth Cohort Study. Int J Obes (Lond). 2006;30: 520-527.

43. Anderson SE, Cohen P, Naumova EN, Jacques PF, Must A. Adolescent obesity and risk for subsequent major depressive disorder and anxiety disorder: prospective evidence. Psychosom Med. 2007;69: 740-747.

44. Sanderson K, Patton GC, McKercher C, Dwyer T, Venn AJ. Overweight and obesity in childhood and risk of mental disorder: a 20-year cohort study. Aust N Z J Psychiatry. 2011;45: 384-392.

45. Martinson ML, Vasunilashorn SM. The long-term of adolescent weight status on later life depressive symptoms. Age Ageing. 2016;45: 389-395.

46. Gibson-Smith D, Halldorsson TI, Bot M, et al. Childhood overweight and obesity and the risk of depression across the lifespan. BMC Pediatr. 2020;20: 25.

47. Wood PL, Bauman D. Gynaecological issues affecting the obese adolescent. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol. 2015;29: 453-465.

48. Li W, Liu Q, Deng X, Chen Y, Liu S, Story M. Association between obesity and puberty timing: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2017;14.

49. Witchel SF, Roumimper H, Oberfield S. Polycystic Ovary Syndrome in Adolescents. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am. 2016;45: 329-344.

50. Franks S. Polycystic ovary syndrome in adolescents. Int J Obes (Lond). 2008;32: 1035-1041.

51. Peacock A, Alvi NS, Mushtaq T. Period problems: disorders of menstruation in adolescents. Arch Dis Child. 2012;97: 554-560.

52. Norman RJ, Clark AM. Obesity and reproductive disorders: a review. Reprod Fertil Dev. 1998;10: 55-63.

53. Pasquali R, Pelusi C, Genghini S, Cacciari M, Gambineri A. Obesity and reproductive disorders in women. Hum Reprod Update. 2003;9: 359-372.

54. Luke B. Adverse effects of female obesity and interaction with race on reproductive potential. Fertil Steril. 2017;107: 868-877.

55. Mushannen T, Cortez P, Stanford FC, Singhal V. Obesity and hypogonadism-a narrative review highlighting the need for high-quality data in adolescents. Children (Basel, Switzerland). 2019;6: 63.

56. Palmer NO, Bakos HW, Fullston T, Lane M. Impact of obesity on male fertility, sperm function and molecular composition. Spermatogenesis. 2012;2: 253-263.

57. Pizzol D, Smith L, Fontana L, et al. Associations between body mass index, waist circumference and erectile dysfunction: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Rev Endocr Metab Disord. 2020.

58. Ramlau-Hansen CH, Hansen M, Jensen CR, Olsen J, Bonde JP, Thulstrup AM. Semen quality and reproductive hormones according to birthweight and body mass index in childhood and adult life: two decades of follow-up. Fertil Steril. 2010;94: 610-618.

59. Kahn LG, Widen EM, Janevic T, et al. The relation of birth weight and adiposity across the life course to semen quality in middle age. Epidemiology. 2019;30 Suppl 2: S17-S27.

60. Reproductive health. Available from URL: <u>https://www.who.int/westernpacific/health-topics/reproductive-health</u> [accessed 29 Oct, 2019].

61. Murray CJL, Lopez AD, World Health Organization. Health dimensions of sex and reproduction: the global burden of sexually transmitted diseases, HIV, maternal conditions, perinatal disorders, and congenital anomalies / edited by Christopher J. L. Murray, Alan D. Lopez: Boston: Harvard School of Public Health, 1998.

62. Multiple definitions of infertility. Available from URL: <u>https://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/topics/infertility/multiple-definitions/en/</u> [accessed 16 April, 2020].

63. Infertility definitions and terminology. Available from URL: <u>https://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/topics/infertility/definitions/en/</u> [accessed 16 April, 2020].

64. Gurunath S, Pandian Z, Anderson RA, Bhattacharya S. Defining infertility--a systematic review of prevalence studies. Hum Reprod Update. 2011;17: 575-588.

65. Boivin J, Bunting L, Collins JA, Nygren KG. International estimates of infertility prevalence and treatment-seeking: potential need and demand for infertility medical care. Hum Reprod. 2007;22: 1506-1512.

66. Mascarenhas MN, Flaxman SR, Boerma T, Vanderpoel S, Stevens GA. National, regional, and global trends in infertility prevalence since 1990: a systematic analysis of 277 health surveys. PLoS Med. 2012;9: e1001356.

67. Clark A, Mackenzie C. The National Fertility Study 2006 (1): Australians' experience and knowledge of fertility issues. Hum Reprod. 2007;22: I29-I29.

68. Herbert DL, Lucke JC, Dobson AJ. Infertility, medical advice and treatment with fertility hormones and/or in vitro fertilisation: a population perspective from the Australian Longitudinal Study on Women's Health. Aust N Z J Public Health. 2009;33: 358-364.

69. Brugo-Olmedo S, Chillik C, Kopelman S. Definition and causes of infertility. Reprod Biomed Online. 2001;2: 41-53.

70. Broughton DE, Moley KH. Obesity and female infertility: potential mediators of obesity's impact. Fertil Steril. 2017;107: 840-847.

71. Pasquali R, Patton L, Gambineri A. Obesity and infertility. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes. 2007;14: 482-487.

72. Silvestris E, de Pergola G, Rosania R, Loverro G. Obesity as disruptor of the female fertility. Reprod Biol Endocrinol. 2018;16: 22.

73. Talmor A, Dunphy B. Female obesity and infertility. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol. 2015;29: 498-506.

74. National Collaborating Centre for Women's Children's Health. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence: Guidance. Fertility: assessment and treatment for people with fertility problems. London (UK): RCOG Press National Collaborating Centre for Women's and Children's Health, 2004.

75. Pasquali R. Obesity, fat distribution and infertility. Maturitas. 2006;54: 363-371.

76. Diamanti-Kandarakis E, Bergiele A. The influence of obesity on hyperandrogenism and infertility in the female. Obes Rev. 2001;2: 231-238.

77. Lake JK, Power C, Cole TJ. Women's reproductive health: the role of body mass index in early and adult life. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 1997;21: 432-438.

78. Jacobs MB, Bazzano LA, Pridjian G, Harville EW. Childhood adiposity and fertility difficulties: the Bogalusa Heart Study. Pediatr Obes. 2017;12: 477-484.

79. Rich-Edwards JW, Goldman MB, Willett WC, et al. Adolescent body mass index and infertility caused by ovulatory disorder. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1994;171: 171-177.

80. Polotsky AJ, Hailpern SM, Skurnick JH, Lo JC, Sternfeld B, Santoro N. Association of adolescent obesity and lifetime nulliparity--the Study of Women's Health Across the Nation (SWAN). Fertil Steril. 2010;93: 2004-2011.

81. Report of the national high blood pressure education program working group on high Blood pressure in pregnancy. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2000;183: S1-s22.

82. Brown MA, Hague WM, Higgins J, et al. The detection, investigation and management of hypertension in pregnancy: full consensus statement. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol. 2000;40: 139-155.

83. Khan KS, Wojdyla D, Say L, Gulmezoglu AM, Van Look PF. WHO analysis of causes of maternal death: a systematic review. Lancet. 2006;367: 1066-1074.

84. Hutcheon JA, Lisonkova S, Joseph KS. Epidemiology of pre-eclampsia and the other hypertensive disorders of pregnancy. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol. 2011;25: 391-403.

85. O'Brien TE, Ray JG, Chan WS. Maternal body mass index and the risk of preeclampsia: a systematic overview. Epidemiology. 2003;14: 368-374.

86. Kotchen TA. Obesity-related hypertension: epidemiology, pathophysiology, and clinical management. Am J Hypertens. 2010;23: 1170-1178.

87. Ijuin H, Douchi T, Nakamura S, Oki T, Yamamoto S, Nagata Y. Possible association of body-fat distribution with preeclampsia. J Obstet Gynaecol Res. 1997;23: 45-49.

88. Campbell SK, Lynch J, Esterman A, McDermott R. Pre-pregnancy predictors of hypertension in pregnancy among Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women in north Queensland, Australia; a prospective cohort study. BMC public health. 2013;13: 138.

89. Sina M, Hoy W, Wang Z. Anthropometric predictors of gestational hypertensive disorders in a remote aboriginal community: a nested case-control study. BMC Res Notes. 2014;7: 122.

90. Ochoa Sangrador C, Ochoa-Brezmes J. Waist-to-height ratio as a risk marker for metabolic syndrome in childhood. A meta-analysis. Pediatr Obes. 2018;13: 421-432.

91. Li S, Xiong X, Harville E, et al. Childhood risk factors and pregnancy-induced hypertension: The Bogalusa Heart Study. Am J Hypertens. 2016;29: 1206-1211.

92. Harlow SD, Ephross SA. Epidemiology of menstruation and its relevance to women's health. Epidemiol Rev. 1995;17: 265-286.

93. Rowland AS, Baird DD, Long S, et al. Influence of medical conditions and lifestyle factors on the menstrual cycle. Epidemiology. 2002;13: 668-674.

94. Kato I, Toniolo P, Koenig KL, et al. Epidemiologic correlates with menstrual cycle length in middle aged women. Eur J Epidemiol. 1999;15: 809-814.

95. Small CM, Manatunga AK, Marcus M. Validity of self-reported menstrual cycle length. Ann Epidemiol. 2007;17: 163-170.

96. Teede HJ, Misso ML, Costello MF, et al. Recommendations from the international evidence-based guideline for the assessment and management of polycystic ovary syndrome. Human Reproduction. 2018;33: 1602-1618.

97. Newton TL, Philhower CL. Socioemotional correlates of self-reported menstrual cycle irregularity in premenopausal women. Psychosom Med. 2003;65: 1065-1069.

98. Weller A, Weller L. Assessment of menstrual regularity and irregularity using self-reports and objective criteria. J Psychosom Obstet Gynaecol. 1998;19: 111-116.

99. Gast GC, Grobbee DE, Smit HA, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, Samsioe GN, van der Schouw YT. Menstrual cycle characteristics and risk of coronary heart disease and type 2 diabetes. Fertil Steril. 2010;94: 2379-2381.

100. Wang ET, Cirillo PM, Vittinghoff E, Bibbins-Domingo K, Cohn BA, Cedars MI. Menstrual irregularity and cardiovascular mortality. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96: E114-118.

101. March WA, Moore VM, Willson KJ, Phillips DI, Norman RJ, Davies MJ. The prevalence of polycystic ovary syndrome in a community sample assessed under contrasting diagnostic criteria. Hum Reprod. 2010;25: 544-551.

102. Polycystic ovary syndrome: ACOG practice bulletin, number 194. Obstet Gynecol. 2018;131: e157-e171.

103. Seif MW, Diamond K, Nickkho-Amiry M. Obesity and menstrual disorders. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol. 2015;29: 516-527.

104. Lim SS, Davies MJ, Norman RJ, Moran LJ. Overweight, obesity and central obesity in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Hum Reprod Update. 2012;18: 618-637.

105. Norman RJ, Dewailly D, Legro RS, Hickey TE. Polycystic ovary syndrome. Lancet. 2007;370: 685-697.

106. Laitinen J, Taponen S, Martikainen H, et al. Body size from birth to adulthood as a predictor of self-reported polycystic ovary syndrome symptoms. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 2003;27: 710-715.

107. McCartney CR, Prendergast KA, Chhabra S, et al. The association of obesity and hyperandrogenemia during the pubertal transition in girls: obesity as a potential factor in the genesis of postpubertal hyperandrogenism. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2006;91: 1714-1722.

108. Franks S. Adult polycystic ovary syndrome begins in childhood. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2002;16: 263-272.

109. Legro RS. Obesity and PCOS: implications for diagnosis and treatment. Semin Reprod Med. 2012;30: 496-506.

110. McKinlay SM, Brambilla DJ, Posner JG. The normal menopause transition. Maturitas. 1992;14: 103-115.

111. Harlow SD, Gass M, Hall JE, et al. Executive summary of the Stages of Reproductive Aging Workshop + 10: addressing the unfinished agenda of staging reproductive aging. Menopause. 2012;19: 387-395.

112. Nelson HD. Menopause. Lancet. 2008;371: 760-770.

113. Duffy OK, Iversen L, Hannaford PC. The impact and management of symptoms experienced at midlife: a community-based study of women in northeast Scotland. BJOG. 2012;119: 554-564.

114. Chuni N, Sreeramareddy CT. Frequency of symptoms, determinants of severe symptoms, validity of and cut-off score for Menopause Rating Scale (MRS) as a screening tool: a cross-sectional survey among midlife Nepalese women. BMC Womens Health. 2011;11: 30.

115. Wilbur J, Miller AM, Montgomery A, Chandler P. Sociodemographic characteristics, biological factors, and symptom reporting in midlife women. Menopause. 1998;5: 43-51.

116. Heinemann K, Ruebig A, Potthoff P, et al. The Menopause Rating Scale (MRS) scale: a methodological review. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2004;2: 45.

117. Al-Safi ZA, Polotsky AJ. Obesity and menopause. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol. 2015;29: 548-553.

118. Thurston RC, Joffe H. Vasomotor symptoms and menopause: findings from the Study of Women's Health across the Nation. Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am. 2011;38: 489-501.

119. Thurston RC, Sowers MR, Sutton-Tyrrell K, et al. Abdominal adiposity and hot flashes among midlife women. Menopause. 2008;15: 429-434.

120. Freedman RR. Hot flash trends and mechanisms. Menopause. 2002;9: 151-152.

121. Casper RF, Yen SS. Neuroendocrinology of menopausal flushes: an hypothesis of flush mechanism. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 1985;22: 293-312.

122. Schilling C, Gallicchio L, Miller SR, Langenberg P, Zacur H, Flaws JA. Relation of body mass and sex steroid hormone levels to hot flushes in a sample of mid-life women. Climacteric. 2007;10: 27-37.

123. Alexander C, Cochran CJ, Gallicchio L, Miller SR, Flaws JA, Zacur H. Serum leptin levels, hormone levels, and hot flashes in midlife women. Fertil Steril. 2010;94: 1037-1043.

124. Klinga K, von Holst T, Runnebaum B. Influence of severe obesity on peripheral hormone concentrations in pre- and postmenopausal women. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 1983;15: 103-112.

125. Moslehi N, Shab-Bidar S, Ramezani Tehrani F, Mirmiran P, Azizi F. Is ovarian reserve associated with body mass index and obesity in reproductive aged women? A meta-analysis. Menopause. 2018;25: 1046-1055.

126. Saccomani S, Lui-Filho JF, Juliato CR, Gabiatti JR, Pedro AO, Costa-Paiva L. Does obesity increase the risk of hot flashes among midlife women?: a population-based study. Menopause. 2017;24: 1065-1070.

127. Koo S, Ahn Y, Lim JY, Cho J, Park HY. Obesity associates with vasomotor symptoms in postmenopause but with physical symptoms in perimenopause: a cross-sectional study. BMC Womens Health. 2017;17: 126.

128. Mishra GD, Cooper R, Tom SE, Kuh D. Early life circumstances and their impact on menarche and menopause. Womens Health (Lond). 2009;5: 175-190.

129. Sadrzadeh S, Verschuuren M, Schoonmade LJ, Lambalk CB, Painter RC. The effect of adverse intrauterine conditions, early childhood growth and famine exposure on age at menopause: a systematic review. J Dev Orig Health Dis. 2018;9: 127-136.

130. Goldberg M, Tawfik H, Kline J, et al. Body size at birth, early-life growth and the timing of the menopausal transition and natural menopause. Reprod Toxicol. 2019.

131. Hardy R, Mishra GD, Kuh D. Body mass index trajectories and age at menopause in a British birth cohort. Maturitas. 2008;59: 304-314.

132. Pyke JE, Australian Council for Health, Physical Education and Recreation. Australian health and fitness survey 1985: the fitness, health and physical performance of Australian school students aged 7-15 years. Parkside: Australian council for health physical education and recreation, 1987.

133. Brambilla P, Bedogni G, Heo M, Pietrobelli A. Waist circumference-to-height ratio predicts adiposity better than body mass index in children and adolescents. Int J Obes (Lond). 2013;37: 943-946.

134. Brook CGD. Cardiovascular risk factors in children: the early natural history of atherosclerosis and essential hypertension. Arch Dis Child. 1981;56: 488-488.

135. Foster TA, Voors AW, Webber LS, Frerichs RR, Berenson GS. Anthropometric and maturation measurements of children, ages 5 to 14 years, in a biracial community — the Bogalusa Heart Study. Am J Clin Nutr. 1977;30: 582-591.

136. Paley J, Talor J, Levin A, Bhave A, Paley D, Herzenberg JE. The multiplier method for prediction of adult height. J Pediatr Orthop. 2004;24: 732-737.

137. Williams EP, Mesidor M, Winters K, Dubbert PM, Wyatt SB. Overweight and Obesity: Prevalence, Consequences, and Causes of a Growing Public Health Problem. Curr Obes Rep. 2015;4: 363-370.

138. National Health Survey: First Results, 2014–15. In: Australian Bureau of Statistics, editor. Canberra: ABS cat, 2015.

139. Nelson SM, Fleming R. Obesity and reproduction: impact and interventions. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol. 2007;19: 384-389.

140. Pandey S, Bhattacharya S. Impact of obesity on gynecology. Womens Health (Lond). 2010;6: 107-117.

141. Elizondo-Montemayor L, Hernandez-Escobar C, Lara-Torre E, Nieblas B, Gomez-Carmona M. Gynecologic and Obstetric Consequences of Obesity in Adolescent Girls. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol. 2017;30: 156-168.

142. Kumar S, Kelly AS. Review of Childhood Obesity: From Epidemiology, Etiology, and Comorbidities to Clinical Assessment and Treatment. Mayo Clin Proc. 2017;92: 251-265.

143. Gall SL, Jamrozik K, Blizzard L, Dwyer T, Venn A. Healthy lifestyles and cardiovascular risk profiles in young Australian adults: the Childhood Determinants of Adult Health Study. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil. 2009;16: 684-689.

144. Zou G. A modified poisson regression approach to prospective studies with binary data. Am J Epidemiol. 2004;159: 702-706.

145. Carter RE, Lipsitz SR, Tilley BC. Quasi-likelihood estimation for relative risk regression models. Biostatistics. 2005;6: 39-44.

146. Spiegelman D, Hertzmark E. Easy SAS calculations for risk or prevalence ratios and differences. Am J Epidemiol. 2005;162: 199-200.

147. McNutt LA, Wu C, Xue X, Hafner JP. Estimating the relative risk in cohort studies and clinical trials of common outcomes. Am J Epidemiol. 2003;157: 940-943.

148. Durrleman S, Simon R. Flexible regression models with cubic splines. Stat Med. 1989;8: 551-561.

149. Bann D, Johnson W, Li L, Kuh D, Hardy R. Socioeconomic inequalities in childhood and adolescent body-mass index, weight, and height from 1953 to 2015: an analysis of four longitudinal, observational, British birth cohort studies. Lancet Public Health. 2018;3: e194-e203.

150. Jokela M, Kivimaki M, Elovainio M, Viikari J, Raitakari OT, Keltikangas-Jarvinen L. Body mass index in adolescence and number of children in adulthood. Epidemiology. 2007;18: 599-606.

151. Zaadstra BM, Seidell JC, Van Noord PA, et al. Fat and female fecundity: prospective study of effect of body fat distribution on conception rates. BMJ. 1993;306: 484-487.

152. Sagae SC, Menezes EF, Bonfleur ML, et al. Early onset of obesity induces reproductive deficits in female rats. Physiol Behav. 2012;105: 1104-1111.

153. Davison KK, Susman EJ, Birch LL. Percent body fat at age 5 predicts earlier pubertal development among girls at age 9. Pediatrics. 2003;111: 815-821.

154. Johnson MD, Sanfilippo JS. Childhood and Adolescent Obesity: Implications for Reproductive Health and Function. In: Jungheim ES, editor. Obesity and Fertility: A Practical Guide for Clinicians. New York, NY: Springer New York, 2015:15-30.

155. Anderson AD, Solorzano CM, McCartney CR. Childhood obesity and its impact on the development of adolescent PCOS. Semin Reprod Med. 2014;32: 202-213.

156. Hassan A, Gordon CM. Polycystic ovary syndrome update in adolescence. Curr Opin Pediatr. 2007;19: 389-397.

157. Liu Y, Zhang W. Association between body mass index and endometriosis risk: a metaanalysis. Oncotarget. 2017.

158. Datta J, Palmer MJ, Tanton C, et al. Prevalence of infertility and help seeking among 15 000 women and men. Hum Reprod. 2016;31: 2108-2118.

159. Duley L. The global impact of pre-eclampsia and eclampsia. Semin Perinatol. 2009;33: 130-137.

160. Dwyer T, Gibbons LE. The Australian Schools Health and Fitness Survey. Physical fitness related to blood pressure but not lipoproteins. Circulation. 1994;89: 1539-1544.

161. Pink B. Socio-economic indexes for areas (SEIFA), technical paper, 2011. Available from URL:

http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Lookup/by%20Subject/2033.0.55.001~2011~Main %20Features~Technical%20Paper~5.

162. Pare E, Parry S, McElrath TF, Pucci D, Newton A, Lim KH. Clinical risk factors for preeclampsia in the 21st century. Obstet Gynecol. 2014;124: 763-770.

163. Wallace M, Bazzano L, Chen W, Harville E. Maternal childhood cardiometabolic risk factors and pregnancy complications. Ann Epidemiol. 2017;27: 429-434.

164. Seaman SR, White IR, Copas AJ, Li L. Combining multiple imputation and inverse-probability weighting. Biometrics. 2012;68: 129-137.

165. Bluher S, Molz E, Wiegand S, et al. Body mass index, waist circumference, and waistto-height ratio as predictors of cardiometabolic risk in childhood obesity depending on pubertal development. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2013;98: 3384-3393.

166. Lo K, Wong M, Khalechelvam P, Tam W. Waist-to-height ratio, body mass index and waist circumference for screening paediatric cardio-metabolic risk factors: a meta-analysis. Obes Rev. 2016;17: 1258-1275.

167. Savva SC, Tornaritis M, Savva ME, et al. Waist circumference and waist-to-height ratio are better predictors of cardiovascular disease risk factors in children than body mass index. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 2000;24: 1453-1458.

168. Kelsey MM, Zaepfel A, Bjornstad P, Nadeau KJ. Age-related consequences of childhood obesity. Gerontology. 2014;60: 222-228.

169. Callaway LK, O'Callaghan M, McIntyre HD. Obesity and the hypertensive disorders of pregnancy. Hypertens Pregnancy. 2009;28: 473-493.

170. Roberts JM, Bodnar LM, Patrick TE, Powers RW. The role of obesity in preeclampsia. Pregnancy Hypertens. 2011;1: 6-16.

171. Solomon CG, Seely EW. Brief review: hypertension in pregnancy : a manifestation of the insulin resistance syndrome? Hypertension. 2001;37: 232-239.

172. Zavalza-Gomez AB. Obesity and oxidative stress: a direct link to preeclampsia? Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2011;283: 415-422.

173. Dietz P, Bombard J, Mulready-Ward C, et al. Validation of self-reported maternal and infant health indicators in the Pregnancy Risk Assessment Monitoring System. Matern Child Health J. 2014;18: 2489-2498.

174. Coolman M, de Groot CJ, Jaddoe VW, Hofman A, Raat H, Steegers EA. Medical record validation of maternally reported history of preeclampsia. J Clin Epidemiol. 2010;63: 932-937.

175. Falkegard M, Schirmer H, Lochen ML, Oian P, Acharya G. The validity of self-reported information about hypertensive disorders of pregnancy in a population-based survey: the Tromso Study. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2015;94: 28-34.

176. Shopen N, Schiff E, Koren-Morag N, Grossman E. Factors that predict the development of hypertension in women with pregnancy-induced hypertension. Am J Hypertens. 2016;29: 141-146.

177. Lykke JA, Langhoff-Roos J, Sibai BM, Funai EF, Triche EW, Paidas MJ. Hypertensive pregnancy disorders and subsequent cardiovascular morbidity and type 2 diabetes mellitus in the mother. Hypertension. 2009;53: 944-951.

178. West S, Lashen H, Bloigu A, et al. Irregular menstruation and hyperandrogenaemia in adolescence are associated with polycystic ovary syndrome and infertility in later life: Northern Finland Birth Cohort 1986 study. Hum Reprod. 2014;29: 2339-2351.

179. Solomon CG, Hu FB, Dunaif A, et al. Menstrual cycle irregularity and risk for future cardiovascular disease. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2002;87: 2013-2017.

180. Harris HR, Titus LJ, Cramer DW, Terry KL. Long and irregular menstrual cycles, polycystic ovary syndrome, and ovarian cancer risk in a population-based case-control study. Int J Cancer. 2017;140: 285-291.

181. Harris HR, Babic A, Webb PM, et al. Polycystic ovary syndrome, oligomenorrhea, and risk of ovarian cancer histotypes: evidence from the Ovarian Cancer Association Consortium. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2018;27: 174-182.

182. Wei S, Schmidt MD, Dwyer T, Norman RJ, Venn AJ. Obesity and menstrual irregularity: associations with SHBG, testosterone, and insulin. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2009;17: 1070-1076.

183. Hahn KA, Wise LA, Riis AH, et al. Correlates of menstrual cycle characteristics among nulliparous Danish women. Clin Epidemiol. 2013;5: 311-319.

184. Jacobsen BK, Knutsen SF, Oda K, Fraser GE. Obesity at age 20 and the risk of miscarriages, irregular periods and reported problems of becoming pregnant: the Adventist Health Study-2. Eur J Epidemiol. 2012;27: 923-931.

185. Douchi T, Kuwahata R, Yamamoto S, Oki T, Yamasaki H, Nagata Y. Relationship of upper body obesity to menstrual disorders. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2002;81: 147-150.

186. Ollila MM, Piltonen T, Puukka K, et al. Weight Gain and Dyslipidemia in Early Adulthood Associate With Polycystic Ovary Syndrome: Prospective Cohort Study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2016;101: 739-747.

187. Koivuaho E, Laru J, Ojaniemi M, et al. Age at adiposity rebound in childhood is associated with PCOS diagnosis and obesity in adulthood-longitudinal analysis of BMI data from birth to age 46 in cases of PCOS. Int J Obes (Lond). 2019;43: 1370-1379.

188. de Zegher F, Reinehr T, Malpique R, Darendeliler F, Lopez-Bermejo A, Ibanez L. Reduced prenatal weight gain and/or augmented postnatal weight gain precedes polycystic ovary syndrome in adolescent girls. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2017;25: 1486-1489.

189. Taponen S, Ahonkallio S, Martikainen H, et al. Prevalence of polycystic ovaries in women with self-reported symptoms of oligomenorrhoea and/or hirsutism: Northern Finland Birth Cohort 1966 Study. Hum Reprod. 2004;19: 1083-1088.

190. Australian Government NHMRC. Australian guidelines to reduce health risks from drinking alcohol. Canberra: National Health and Medical Research Council, 2009.

191. Berkey CS, Dockery DW, Wang X, Wypij D, Ferris B, Jr. Longitudinal height velocity standards for U.S. adolescents. Stat Med. 1993;12: 403-414.

192. Wattigney WA, Srinivasan SR, Chen W, Greenlund KJ, Berenson GS. Secular trend of earlier onset of menarche with increasing obesity in black and white girls: the Bogalusa Heart Study. Ethn Dis. 1999;9: 181-189.

193. Azur MJ, Stuart EA, Frangakis C, Leaf PJ. Multiple imputation by chained equations: what is it and how does it work? Int J Methods Psychiatr Res. 2011;20: 40-49.

194. Chen W, Srinivasan SR, Yao L, et al. Low birth weight is associated with higher blood pressure variability from childhood to young adulthood: the Bogalusa Heart Study. Am J Epidemiol. 2012;176 Suppl 7: S99-105.

195. Vermeulen A, Verdonck L, Kaufman JM. A critical evaluation of simple methods for the estimation of free testosterone in serum. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1999;84: 3666-3672.

196. Marcovecchio ML, Chiarelli F. Obesity and growth during childhood and puberty. World Rev Nutr Diet. 2013;106: 135-141.

197. de Zegher F, Lopez-Bermejo A, Ibanez L. Central obesity, faster maturation, and 'PCOS' in girls. Trends Endocrinol Metab. 2018;29: 815-818.

198. Christensen SB, Black MH, Smith N, et al. Prevalence of polycystic ovary syndrome in adolescents. Fertil Steril. 2013;100: 470-477.

199. Wolf WM, Wattick RA, Kinkade ON, Olfert MD. Geographical prevalence of polycystic ovary syndrome as determined by region and race/ethnicity. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2018;15.

200. Azziz R, Woods KS, Reyna R, Key TJ, Knochenhauer ES, Yildiz BO. The prevalence and features of the polycystic ovary syndrome in an unselected population. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2004;89: 2745-2749.

201. Knochenhauer ES, Key TJ, Kahsar-Miller M, Waggoner W, Boots LR, Azziz R. Prevalence of the polycystic ovary syndrome in unselected black and white women of the southeastern United States: a prospective study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1998;83: 3078-3082.

202. Merkin SS, Phy JL, Sites CK, Yang D. Environmental determinants of polycystic ovary syndrome. Fertil Steril. 2016;106: 16-24.

203. Hillman JK, Johnson LN, Limaye M, Feldman RA, Sammel M, Dokras A. Black women with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) have increased risk for metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular disease compared with white women with PCOS [corrected]. Fertil Steril. 2014;101: 530-535.

204. Chan JL, Kar S, Vanky E, et al. Racial and ethnic differences in the prevalence of metabolic syndrome and its components of metabolic syndrome in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a regional cross-sectional study. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2017;217: 189.e181-189.e188.

205. Hickey M, Sloboda DM, Atkinson HC, et al. The relationship between maternal and umbilical cord androgen levels and polycystic ovary syndrome in adolescence: a prospective cohort study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2009;94: 3714-3720.

206. Crespo RP, Bachega T, Mendonca BB, Gomes LG. An update of genetic basis of PCOS pathogenesis. Arch Endocrinol Metab. 2018;62: 352-361.

207. Jukic AM, Weinberg CR, Wilcox AJ, McConnaughey DR, Hornsby P, Baird DD. Accuracy of reporting of menstrual cycle length. Am J Epidemiol. 2008;167: 25-33.

208. Wang Y, Xiong X, Bazzano L, Harville EW. Childhood cardiovascular health and subfertility: the Bogalusa Heart Study. Pediatr Res. 2018;84: 625-631.

209. Varanasi LC, Subasinghe A, Jayasinghe YL, et al. Polycystic ovarian syndrome: Prevalence and impact on the wellbeing of Australian women aged 16-29 years. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol. 2018;58: 222-233.

210. Committee on Practice Bulletins—Gynecology. Practice bulletin No. 136: management of abnormal uterine bleeding associated with ovulatory dysfunction. Obstet Gynecol. 2013;122: 176-185.

211. Santoro N, Epperson CN, Mathews SB. Menopausal symptoms and their management. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am. 2015;44: 497-515.

212. Thurston RC, Chang Y, Mancuso P, Matthews KA. Adipokines, adiposity, and vasomotor symptoms during the menopause transition: findings from the Study of Women's Health Across the Nation. Fertil Steril. 2013;100: 793-800.

213. Tan MN, Kartal M, Guldal D. The effect of physical activity and body mass index on menopausal symptoms in Turkish women: a cross-sectional study in primary care. BMC Womens Health. 2014;14: 38.

214. Gold EB, Sternfeld B, Kelsey JL, et al. Relation of demographic and lifestyle factors to symptoms in a multi-racial/ethnic population of women 40-55 years of age. Am J Epidemiol. 2000;152: 463-473.

215. Gold EB. The timing of the age at which natural menopause occurs. Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am. 2011;38: 425-440.

216. Wilson JE, Blizzard L, Gall SL, et al. An age- and sex-specific dietary guidelines index is a valid measure of diet quality in an Australian cohort during youth and adulthood. Nutr Res. 2019;65: 43-53.

217. Blizzard CL, Quinn SJ, Canary JD, Hosmer DW. Log-link regression models for ordinal responses. Open J Stat. 2013;3: 16-25.

218. Whiteman MK, Staropoli CA, Benedict JC, Borgeest C, Flaws JA. Risk factors for hot flashes in midlife women. J Womens Health (Larchmt). 2003;12: 459-472.

219. Cole TJ, Flegal KM, Nicholls D, Jackson AA. Body mass index cut offs to define thinness in children and adolescents: international survey. BMJ. 2007;335: 194.

220. National Institutes of Health State-of-the-Science Conference Statement: management of menopause-related symptoms. Annals of Internal Medicine. 2005;142: 1003-1013.

221. Monteleone P, Mascagni G, Giannini A, Genazzani AR, Simoncini T. Symptoms of menopause - global prevalence, physiology and implications. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2018;14: 199-215.

222. Gallicchio L, Miller SR, Kiefer J, Greene T, Zacur HA, Flaws JA. Change in body mass index, weight, and hot flashes: a longitudinal analysis from the midlife women's health study. J Womens Health (Larchmt). 2014;23: 231-237.

223. Sabia S, Fournier A, Mesrine S, Boutron-Ruault MC, Clavel-Chapelon F. Risk factors for onset of menopausal symptoms: results from a large cohort study. Maturitas. 2008;60: 108-121.

224. Gartoulla P, Islam MR, Bell RJ, Davis SR. Prevalence of menopausal symptoms in Australian women at midlife: a systematic review. Climacteric. 2014;17: 529-539.

225. Troko J, Bach F, Toozs-Hobson P. Predicting urinary incontinence in women in later life: a systematic review. Maturitas. 2016;94: 110-116.

226. Lamerton TJ, Torquati L, Brown WJ. Overweight and obesity as major, modifiable risk factors for urinary incontinence in young to mid-aged women: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Obes Rev. 2018;19: 1735-1745.

227. Reed SD, Lampe JW, Qu C, et al. Premenopausal vasomotor symptoms in an ethnically diverse population. Menopause. 2014;21: 153-158.

228. Watson LJ, James KE, Hatoum Moeller IJ, Mitchell CM. Vulvovaginal discomfort is common in both premenopausal and postmenopausal women. J Low Genit Tract Dis. 2019;23: 164-169.

229. Klenov VE, Jungheim ES. Obesity and reproductive function: a review of the evidence. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol. 2014;26: 455-460.

230. Apter D. Development of the hypothalamic-pituitary-ovarian axis. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. 1997;816: 9-21.

231. Macaluso M, Wright-Schnapp TJ, Chandra A, et al. A public health focus on infertility prevention, detection, and management. Fertil Steril. 2010;93: 16 e11-10.

232. Lloyd LJ, Langley-Evans SC, McMullen S. Childhood obesity and adult cardiovascular disease risk: a systematic review. Int J Obes (Lond). 2010;34: 18-28.

233. Lloyd LJ, Langley-Evans SC, McMullen S. Childhood obesity and risk of the adult metabolic syndrome: a systematic review. Int J Obes (Lond). 2012;36: 1-11.

234. Umer A, Kelley GA, Cottrell LE, Giacobbi P, Jr., Innes KE, Lilly CL. Childhood obesity and adult cardiovascular disease risk factors: a systematic review with meta-analysis. BMC public health. 2017;17: 683.

235. Agarwal SK, Vogel K, Weitsman SR, Magoffin DA. Leptin antagonizes the insulin-like growth factor-I augmentation of steroidogenesis in granulosa and theca cells of the human ovary. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism. 1999;84: 1072-1076.

236. Clarke WR, Lauer RM. Does childhood obesity track into adulthood? Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. 1993;33: 423-430.

237. Ness AR, Griffiths AE, Howe LD, Leary SD. Drawing causal inferences in epidemiologic studies of early life influences. Am J Clin Nutr. 2011;94: 1959S-1963S.

238. Rothman KJ, Greenland S. Causation and causal inference in epidemiology. Am J Public Health. 2005;95 Suppl 1: S144-150.

239. Goldsammler M, Merhi Z, Buyuk E. Role of hormonal and inflammatory alterations in obesity-related reproductive dysfunction at the level of the hypothalamic-pituitary-ovarian axis. Reproductive Biology and Endocrinology. 2018;16: 45.

240. Mintziori G, Nigdelis MP, Mathew H, Mousiolis A, Goulis DG, Mantzoros CS. The effect of excess body fat on female and male reproduction. Metabolism. 2020;107: 154193.

241. Pi-Sunyer FX. The obesity epidemic: pathophysiology and consequences of obesity. Obes Res. 2002;10 Suppl 2: 97S-104S.

242. Campbell AM L. Genetics of obesity. Australian Family Physician. 2017;46: 456-459.

243. Shungin D, Winkler TW, Croteau-Chonka DC, et al. New genetic loci link adipose and insulin biology to body fat distribution. Nature. 2015;518: 187-196.

244. Liu AL, Xie HJ, Xie HY, et al. Association between fat mass and obesity associated (FTO) gene rs9939609 A/T polymorphism and polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Med Genet. 2017;18: 89-89.

245. Butler MG, McGuire A, Manzardo AM. Clinically relevant known and candidate genes for obesity and their overlap with human infertility and reproduction. J Assist Reprod Genet. 2015;32: 495-508.

246. Andraweera PH, Dekker GA, Leemaqz S, McCowan L, Roberts CT, Scope consortium. The obesity associated FTO gene variant and the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes: evidence from the SCOPE study. Obesity. 2016;24: 2600-2607.

247. van Dijk SJ, Tellam RL, Morrison JL, Muhlhausler BS, Molloy PL. Recent developments on the role of epigenetics in obesity and metabolic disease. Clin Epigenetics. 2015;7: 66.

Appendices

Appendix A Reproductive health questions for female participants in CDAH-1 and CDAH-2

8369007496	10		
SECTION D: This section is for WOMEN ONLY . If you are MALE please skip to SECTION E (page 15). The answers to the following questions will help us investigate the influence of hormones on the cardiovascular system.			
 Are you currently using any of the following hormonal cont using them for reasons other than contraception? 	traceptives, even if you are		
O Oral contraceptive pill			
O Minipill (progesterone only pill)			
O Weekly contraceptive patch			
O Progestagen (e.g., Implanon)			
O Progestagen injection (e.g., Depo Provera)			
O Progestin injection (e.g. , Noristerat)			
O Progestin releasing intrauterine device (e.g. , Mirena,	, Copper T380A)		
O Progestin releasing implant (e.g. , Norplant)			
O Other (please specify)			
3. Have you had a hysterectomy; that is, an operation to re	Years Months		
	O No>Skip to Question 4		
	OYes		
IF YES			
3a) What age were you when you had the hysterectomy?	Years		
3b) Were your ovaries removed as well?	O Yes, both ovaries removed		
	O Yes, only one ovary removed		
	O No		
	O Don't know		
L	SKIP TO Question 5		

Appendices

70720	007496	
4. The m	nenstrual cycle is the time from	n the <u>first day</u> of one period to the <u>first day</u> of the
next.	<u>Bleeding day</u> s	Non-bleeding days <u>Bleeding day</u> s
	<the me<="" th=""><th>nstrual cycle></th></the>	nstrual cycle>
4a)] 1	How long is your usual <u>menstru</u> In other words, how many days the FIRST DAY OF THE NEX	<u>al cycle</u> ? s are there from the FIRST DAY OF ONE PERIOD to T? Days
4b) V	What is the longest <u>menstrual</u> from the FIRST DAY OF ON	<u>cycle</u> you have had in the last 12 months? Again count E PERIOD to the FIRST DAY OF THE NEXT.
		Days
4c) \	What is the shortest <u>menstrua</u> count from the FIRST DAY O	<u>I cycle</u> you have had in the last 12 months? Again F ONE PERIOD to the FIRST DAY OF THE NEXT.
		Days
5. Thinkin hormon	ng about the most recent time nal contraceptives (e.g., the pi	when you were having periods and were NOT using II) and were not pregnant or breastfeeding:
5a)	Would you describe your perio	ds as: O Very regular
		O Fairly regular
		0 Irregular
		O Very irregular
5b)	How old were you at this time That is, at the most recent t hormonal contraceptives (e.g.,	? ime when you were having periods and were NOT using the pill) and were not pregnant or breastfeeding.
		Years
5c)	During this time, approximate months?	y how many periods did you have in the space of 12
		O More than 13
		O 11-13
		O 6-10
		O 1-5
1		O None

Γ	5232007492			12
	6. Have you ever seen a doctor	because	of irregular periods?	
		O No	>Skip to Question 7	
	IF YES	0 Yes		
	6a) How old were you when y	you tirst	saw your doctor about irregular pe	riods?
			Years	
	6b) Have you ever taken pres	cribed h	ormone medications for irregular pe	riods?
		O Yes	O No	
	6c) Has a doctor ever told yo syndrome?	ou that y	ou have polycystic ovaries or polycy	vstic ovary
		0 Yes	O No	
	7. Have you ever seen a doctor	Decause O No - O Yes	of concern about the amount of hai ->Skip to Question 8	ir on your face?
	IF YES	.	-+ for this	
	(a) were you prescribed any	O No	nt for this?	
		0 Yes	(please specify)	
	8. Has a doctor ever told you th	nat you h	ave acne?	
		O No	>Skip to Question 9	
	IF YES	O Yes		
	8a) Were you prescribed any	treatme	nt for this?	
		O No		
		O Yes		
L			(please specify)	I

9926007496 13 9. Have you ever tried to become pregnant for 12 months or more without succeeding? OYes ON0 10. Have you ever seen a doctor because you were having trouble becoming pregnant? O No -->Skip to Question 11 O Yes IF YES 10a) Did you have any of the following fertility investigations? O Test of blood or urine hormone levels O Laparoscopy (incision in your stomach to look at your reproductive organs) O Your partner's semen analysed 10b) Did a doctor ever tell you that you or your partner had: O An ovulatory problem? O A tubal problem? O Any other female fertility problem? - please specify O Semen abnormalities? O An unexplained fertility problem? 11. Have you ever been pregnant? O No -->Skip to SECTION E (Page 15) 0 Yes 12. How many times have you been pregnant? times

3670007496



13. How many live births have you had?



13a) When were these babies born?



If you have had more than 5 live births please continue at the end of this section.

14. When you were pregnant were you ever tested for diabetes? That is, did you have a blood or urine sugar test? This may have involved drinking a very sugary drink.

OYes ON0

15. Were you ever told that you had gestational diabetes or pregnancy related diabetes?

OYes ON0

8223007495	3
8. Which of the following describes your o	current employment status? You can pick more than
one.	O Working full-time
c	D Working part-time
c	Not working (but not retired)
(D Home duties
(D Full-time student
C	D Part-time student
C	D Retired
C	D Permanently unable to work / Ill
C	D Other
	(please specify)
SECTION B: This section is about	your health and your medical history
1. Have you <u>ever</u> been told that you hav	ve high blood pressure?
C	No>Skip to Question 2
C	D Yes
IF 'YES'	
1a) When were you first told this?	(Year)
1b) Was this during pregnancy?	O Yes O No O Not applicable
1c) Are you currently taking medicat	ion prescribed by a doctor to lower your blood pressure?
	O Yes O No
1d) Has a doctor in the past year re to lower your blood pressure?	commended you change your way of life, in order
	O Yes O No
L	

Appendices

Appendix B Protocols for anthropometric measurements in CDAH-1 and CDAH-3 clinics





HEIGHT & WEIGHT MEASUREMENT PROTOCOL

Equipment:Stadiometer
Heine portable scales
Baseboard for scalesEligibility:Participants who are cl

Dility: Participants who are chairbound should not have their height and weight taken. Similarly, if after discussion with a participant it becomes clear that they are too unsteady on their feet for these measurements, do not attempt to take them. In addition, pregnant women are not eligible for weight as this is clearly affected by their condition.

Procedure:

Height Measurement





Installing the Leicester Height Measure

Slot the white upright sections firmly together and ensure that the bottom section locks into the blue base. Slide on the measuring arm and position the 2 white stabilizers as required (see diagram 1).

Ensure the stabilizers stay clear of the joins. The base should be placed on a firm uncarpeted surface with the stabilizers resting against a wall/door to give the Leicester rigidity.

N.B. The metric and imperial scales are calibrated to take account of the 3cm difference between the black measurement arrow and the flat surface of the measuring arm.

- Stand subject on the "feet" preferably barefoot with his/her heels together and touching the backstop. The spine at pelvis and shoulder level should touch the upright. Shoulders should be relaxed, arms to the side. Remove headgear (bows, ribbon etc.) where possible.
- 2. Lower the measuring arm onto the head and position the head so that an imaginary horizontal line runs between the ear hole and the lower border of the eye socket (see diagram 2).
- 3. Ask the subject to stand up straight.
- 4. Read off the metric height to the last completed millimeter. Do not round up! Measure with care.
- 5. Record the height in the boxes provided on the Data Record Form.

Additional points:

- If the subject cannot stand upright with their back against the stadiometer and have their heels against the rod (e.g., those with protruding bottoms) then give priority to standing upright.
- If the subject has a hairstyle which stands well above the top of their head, bring the head plate down until it touches the hair. With some hairstyles you can compress the hair to touch the head. If it is a hairstyle that can be altered, e.g., a bun, if possible, ask the subject to change/undo it.
- If the subject is tall, it can be difficult to line up the Frankfort Plane. When you think that the plane is horizontal, take one step back to check from a short distance that this is the case.

Weight Measurement

- 1. Turn scales on before subject steps on. Scales will automatically re-zero.
- Ask subject to remove shoes and any heavy clothing, such as jacket etc., and to remove any heavy articles from pockets such as keys, wallets. It is acceptable to leave socks on.
- 3. Ask subject to step onto scales, look forward (not down) with their hands by their side, and to keep as still as possible.
- 4. Write down reading, recording to the nearest 0.1 kg.





WAIST & HIP MEASUREMENT PROTOCOL (Version 3)

Equipment:

Lufkin steel (non-stretch) tape measure

Eligibility:

All subjects will have waist and hip circumference measurements performed except those who:

- are pregnant
- are chairbound or
- have a colostomy / ileostomy.

Procedure:

- a) If possible, without embarrassing the subject, ensure that the following items of clothing are removed:
 - All outer layers of clothing, such as jackets, heavy or baggy jumpers, cardigans and waistcoats.
 Shoes with heels.
 - Tight garments intended to alter the shape of the body, such as corsets, lycra body suits and support tights.
 - If the subject is wearing a belt, ask them if it would be possible to remove it or loosen it for the measurement (if necessary).
 - Ask subject to empty pockets of heavy items (e.g. keys).
- b) Ensure that the subject is standing erect in a relaxed manner and breathing normally. Weight should be balanced evenly on both feet.
- c) If possible, either kneel or sit on a chair to the side of the subject.
- d) If the subject is large, ask him/her to pass the tape around rather than having to 'hug' them.
- e) Measure and record the waist circumference, followed by the hip circumference. Repeat each 3 times. If the first two scores are the same, it is not necessary to take the third measurement.

Waist Circumference

The waist girth is taken at the level of **the narrowest point** between the lower costal (10th rib) border and the iliac crest. An approximate indicator of this level may be ascertained by asking the subject to bend sideways.

Do not try to avoid the effects of waistbands by measuring the circumference at a different position or by lifting or lowering clothing items. For example, if the subject has a waistband at the correct level of the waist (midway between the lower rib margin and the iliac crest), then ask the subject to move the waistband, or measure the waist circumference over the waistband. If you believe that clothing, posture or any other factor is significantly affecting the waist measurement, record this on the data record form.

Waist and Hip Measurement Protocol 3 5/8/04

- 1. Ask the subject to assume a relaxed standing position with the arms folded across the thorax.
- Stand in front of the subject, while the subject abducts (lifts) the arms slightly, allowing the tape to be passed around the subject's abdomen.
- 3. The stub of the tape and the housing are then both held in the right hand while you adjust the level of the tape at the back to ensure that it is level with the adjudged level of the narrowest point, with your left hand. (This will be easier if you are kneeling or sitting on a chair to the side of the subject).
- Instruct the subject to lower their arms to the relaxed position. Readjust the tape to ensure that it has not slipped and is not too tight on the skin (i.e., does not indent the skin).
- Ask the subject to breathe out normally and to look straight ahead (to prevent holding of one's breath). Take the measurement at the end of a normal expiration, recording measurement to the nearest 0.5 centimetres.



Hip Circumference

The hip girth is taken at the level of the greatest posterior protuberance of the buttocks which usually corresponds anteriorly to about the level of the symphysis publs.

- Ask the subject to assume a relaxed standing position with the arms folded across the thorax. The subject's feet should be together and the gluteal muscles relaxed.
- Pass the tape around the hips from the side. The stub of the tape and the housing are then held in the right hand while you use your left hand to adjust the level of the tape at the back to the adjusted level of the greatest posterior protuberance of the buttocks.
- Position the tape in front and the sides so that the tape is held in a horizontal plane at the target level.
- Readjust the tape if necessary, to ensure that it has not slipped and does not cause indentation of the skin.
- If clothing is significantly affecting the measurement, record this on the data record sheet.



Appendix C The Menopause Rating Scale for measuring menopausal symptoms in CDAH-3

Menopause Rating Scale (MRS)

	Which of the following symptoms apply to you at this each symptom. For symptoms that do not apply, plea	time? Please, m se mark 'none'.	ark the	appropriate	e box for	
	Symptoms:	none 	mild 	moderate	severe	very severe
	s	core = 0	1	2	3	4
1.	Hot flushes, sweating (episodes of sweating)					
2.	Heart discomfort (unusual awareness of heart beat, heart skipping, heart racing, tightness)					
3.	Sleep problems (difficulty in falling asleep, difficulty in sleeping through, waking up early)					
4. 5	Verge of tears, lack of drive, mood swings)					
J.	feeling aggressive)					
6. 7.	Anxiety (inner restlessness, feeling panicky) Physical and mental exhaustion (general decrease in performance, impaired memory, decrease in					
8	concentration, forgetfulness)					
0.	sexual activity and satisfaction)					
9.	increased need to urinate, bladder incontinence)					
10.	in the vagina, difficulty with sexual intercourse)					
11.	Joint and muscular discomfort (pain in the joints, rheumatoid complaints)					

Appendix D Diagnosis of menstrual irregularity and PCOS in BBS

	Criteria to attain score		
Question	value	Score value	
Have you ever been told by a			
doctor that you had PCOS?			
• Yes			
• No			
Between the ages of 16 and 40,			
about how long was your			
average menstrual cycle (time			
from first day of one period to			
the first day of the next period)?	Participant indicates		
(select ONE only)	any one of	1	
• <25 d	• <25 d		
• 25-34 d	• 35-60 d		
• 35-60 d	• more than 60 d		
• More than 60 d	• totally variable		
• Iotally variable			
During your menstruating years			
(not including during			
pregnancy),			
dank accesse hain on your (circle	Dortiginant indicator 2 or		
AI I that apply)	more sites	1	
• upper lin?	more sites	1	
• chin?			
• breasts?			
• chest between the breasts?			
• back?			
• helly?			
• unner arms?			
• upper thighs?			
A diagnosis of menstrual	If participant attained a score	value of 1 for	
irregularity	the second question:		
	If participant attained a score value of 1 for		
A diagnosis of hirsutism	the third question:		
A diagnosis of PCOS	If participant answered "Yes" to the first question;		
	total score value > 2		
	total 50010 value - 2.		

Appendices

Appendix E Publications of Chapter 3, Chapter 4 and Chapter5

Appendix E 1 Publication of Chapter 3

SEMINAL CONTRIBUTION

Check for updates

Association of childhood obesity with female infertility in adulthood: a 25-year follow-up study

Ye He, Ph.D.,^a Jing Tian, Ph.D.,^a Wendy H. Oddy, Ph.D.,^a Terence Dwyer, M.D.,^{a,b} and Alison J. Venn, Ph.D.^a ^a Menzies Institute for Medical Research, University of Tasmania, Hobart, Tasmania, Australia; and ^b The George Institute for Global Health, University of Oxford, Oxford, United Kingdom

Objective: To evaluate whether childhood obesity is associated with infertility in women's reproductive-aged life. Design: Prospective longitudinal study.

Setting: Not applicable.

Intervention(s): None

Patient(s): A total of 1,544 girls, aged 7-15 years in 1985, and who completed questionnaires at follow-up in 2004-2006 and/or 2009-2011

Main Outcome Measure(s): Infertility was defined as having difficulty conceiving (had tried for \geq 12 months to become pregnant without succeeding) or having seen a doctor because of trouble becoming pregnant.

Result(s): At ages from 7-11 years, girls at both the lower and upper end of the body mass index (BMI) z score had increased risk of infertility. Compared with normal weight girls, those with obesity at ages 7–11 years were more likely in adulthood to report infertility (adjusted relative risk [aRR] = 2.94, 95% confidence interval [CI] 1.48–5.84), difficulty conceiving (aRR = 3.89, 95% CI 1.95–7.77), or having seen a doctor because of trouble becoming pregnant (aRR = 3.65, 95% CI 1.90-7.02) after adjusting for childhood age, follow-up length, highest parental education, and marital status.

Conclusion(s): Childhood obesity before 12 years of age appears to increase the risk of female infertility in later life. (Fertil Steril® 2018;110:596-604. ©2018 by American Society for Reproductive Medicine.) El resumen está disponible en Español al final del artículo.

Key Words: Childhood, body mass index, infertility, body composition, waist-to-height ratio

Discuss: You can discuss this article with its authors and other readers at https://www.fertstertdialog.com/users/16110-fertilityand-sterility/posts/33058-25796

he increase in obesity among children and adolescents is of great concern around the world (1). In Australia, one in four children aged 5-17 years were overweight or obese in 2014-2015, which is twice the recorded prevalence in 1986 (2). Substantial evidence suggests that obesity in women is associated with a wide range of gynecological disorders including infertility (3, 4). Obesity during childhood and adolescence has been linked with early puberty,

596

menstrual disorders, and polycystic ovarian syndrome (PCOS) (5). From the life course perspective of female reproductive health, it is important to determine whether childhood obesity has long-term effects on infertility in adulthood, typically defined clinically as a failure to conceive after regular unprotected intercourse or attempting pregnancy for ≥ 12 months (6).

Few studies have investigated the association of childhood obesity with female infertility and the findings were

Received February 14, 2018; revised April 24, 2018; accepted May 10, 2018. Y.H. has nothing to disclose. J.T. has nothing to disclose. W.H.O. has nothing to disclose. T.D. has nothing to disclose. A.J.V. has nothing to disclose. Supported by grants from the National Health and Medical Research Council (grants 211316 and 544923).

Presented at the 2017 Australian and New Zealand Obesity Society Conference, Adelaide, Australia, October 4-6

Reprint requests: Alison J. Venn, Ph.D., Menzies Institute for Medical Research, University of Tasma-nia, Hobart, Tasmania, Australia (E-mail: Alison.Venn@utas.edu.au).

Fertility and Sterility® Vol. 110, No. 4, September 2018 0015-0282/\$36.00 Copyright ©2018 American Society for Reproductive Medicine, Published by Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fertnstert.2018.05.011

not consistent. In a study of 3,327 British girls, Lake and colleagues (7) reported little impact of childhood body mass index (BMI) at the age of 7 years on infertility 26 years later (defined by achieving a pregnancy after ≥ 12 months). However, participants were restricted to women with a live birth from their first pregnancy. The BMI cutpoints were defined using an index of relative weight (weight expressed as a percentage of the standard weight for age, height, and sex). More recently, a report (8) based on 1,061 participants in the Bogalusa Heart Study in the United States showed that girls with obesity before 12 years of age were more likely in later life to have tried to become pregnant without success. Weight status was defined according to age and gender specific BMI percentiles and based on US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention statistics (e.g., \geq 95th percentile for obesity). A

VOL. 110 NO. 4 / SEPTEMBER 2018

Fertility and Sterility®



He. Childhood obesity and infertility. Fertil Steril 2018.

limitation of this study is that it determined whether participants had "ever tried to become pregnant and were unable to" but did not specify a time interval and may have resulted in misclassification of infertility. In addition, male factors (e.g., poor semen quality) are commonly reported causes of infertility (9) and not the outcome of interest. Neither of these studies was able to exclude them. The aim of the present study was to examine the association between different measures of body composition at ages 7-15 years and infertility at ages 26-41 years in a large population-based sample of Australian women with consideration of a wide range of potential confounders.

MATERIALS AND METHODS Participants

The Childhood Determinants of Adult Health (CDAH) study is a follow-up of 8,498 children, which included 4,191 girls who participated in the 1985 Australian Schools Health and

VOL. 110 NO. 4 / SEPTEMBER 2018

Fitness Survey, a nationally representative sample of Australian school children aged 7–15 years (herein referred to as "baseline") (10). At baseline, all children had physical assessments and those aged 9–15 years completed questionnaires. During 2002-2004, 3,412 women participants were traced and 2,734 women agreed to participate in the CDAH study (Fig. 1). During 2004-2006, when the participants were aged 26–36 years, 1,596 women completed questions on reproductive health (CDAH-1). The second follow-up (CDAH-2) was conducted during 2009-2011, when participants were aged 31–41 years and 1,129 women completed questions on reproductive health. After combining the two follow-ups, a total of 1,754 women who answered reproductive health questions at CDAH-1 or CDAH-2 or both were eligible for the study.

The study was approved by the Southern Tasmania Health and Medical Human Research Ethics Committee. Written informed consent was obtained at both time points.

SEMINAL CONTRIBUTION

Childhood Body Composition Measurement

The BMI, calculated as weight (in kilograms)/height (in meters)², was derived from measured height and weight with weight status defined using international age- and sex-specific cutpoints (11) and was transformed into BMI *z* scores based on age- and sex-specific standardization of the full childhood cohort (n = 4,189 girls). Waist circumference was taken at the level of the umbilicus to the nearest 0.1 cm. Hip circumference was measured at the level of the greatest posterior protuberance of the buttocks. Waist-to-hip ratio was calculated by dividing waist by hip circumference. Waist-to-height ratio (WHtR) was calculated by dividing the waist circumference by height and the dichotomized into <0.5 or \geq 0.5. Abdominal obesity was defined as WHtR \geq 0.5 (12).

Adult Body Composition Measurement

At CDAH-1, weight and height were measured at study clinics. A subsample of these participants also self-reported their weight and height before measurements were taken to assess the accuracy of self-reported values. The difference between clinic and self-reported weight and height was used to calculate a correction factor from a linear regression model. Participants who did not visit a study clinic self-reported their weight and height, and a correction factor was applied to adjust for error [13]. The BMI (in kilograms per meter squared) was calculated from height and weight.

Weight was self-reported at CDAH-2. Adjusted weight values were calculated using the correction factor applied at CDAH-1. The BMI was calculated using measured height at CDAH-1, adjusted self-reported height at CDAH-1, or at enrolment.

Adult BMI was categorized into three groups (<25, 25–30, and \geq 30 kg/m²). Overweight was defined as 25 kg/m² \leq BMI \leq 29.9 kg/m² and obesity was defined as BMI \geq 30 kg/m² (14).

Adult Infertility Measurement

In the reproductive questionnaire of CDAH-1 and CDAH-2. women were asked to answer yes or no to questions "Have you ever tried to become pregnant for 12 months or more without succeeding?" and "Have you ever seen a doctor because you were having trouble becoming pregnant?" Infertility was recorded if they responded "yes" to either of the two questions. Women were further asked whether any of the following investigations had been undertaken if they reported having seen a doctor because of difficulty conceiving: hormone test, laparoscopy, and partner's semen test. Participants were also asked about any diagnosis they had been given including ovulatory problem, tubal problem, male factor, unexplained fertility problem, or any other female problem with a written specified reason. We categorized the answers into tubal, male, ovulatory (including ovulatory problem, PCOS, hyperprolactinemia, hypogonadotrophic, hypergonadotrophic, and premature ovarian failure), endometriosis, unexplained, other, and uterine factors.

Covariate Measures

Childhood factors considered as covariates included age, age at menarche (self-reported in adulthood), socioeconomic position based on area of residence (high, medium high, medium low, or low), highest parental education (reported in adulthood as high school only, vocational training, any university education), smoking experimentation (none, a few puffs, <10 cigarettes in their life, and ≥ 10 cigarettes in their life), alcohol consumption (never, less than once per week, more than once per week), and total physical activity (minutes/ week). Sociodemographic characteristics were self-reported at follow-ups. Adult covariates included highest level of education attained (classified as for childhood), socioeconomic position based on area of residence (classified as for childhood), marital status (single, married/living as married, separated/divorced/widowed), smoking status (never, exsmoker, current smoker), alcohol consumption (nondrinker, light drinker, moderate drinker, heavy/very heavy drinker), and total physical activity (minutes/week). Follow-up length was also considered as a potential confounder.

Statistical Analyses

Subgroup analyses by child age (7–11 years and 12–15 years) were undertaken because of reported differences in the association of onset of obesity in childhood with later infertility (8). Univariable and multivariable log-binomial regression was used to derive risk ratio (RR) estimates for the association between body composition and infertility before and after adjustment for potential confounders. If the log binomial model failed to converge, RRs were estimated using Poisson regression with robust standard errors to correct for the misspecification of the binomial errors (15–18). Covariates kept in the final model were variables associated with the exposure and the outcome, and resulted in >10% change in the coefficient of the principal study factor when added into the model.

Restricted cubic regression splines based on 4 knot points were used to present associations between childhood BMI *z* score and infertility (19). The x-axis on the graph goes from the 5th to the 95th percentile of childhood BMI *z* score.

The following sensitivity analyses were conducted. First, we excluded those who reported male factor infertility to examine whether it had biased the observed association between childhood obesity and having ever seen a doctor because of trouble becoming pregnant. Second, we restricted our sample to women who were married or living as married. Third, we considered the effect of loss to follow-up using inverse probability weighting. The completed factors available at baseline used to determine the weights were childhood age, school type, and state of residence. Fourth, childhood BMI was classified alternatively as normal (<85th percentile), overweight (85th-94th percentile), or obese (≥95th percentile) based on age- and sex-specific US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention norms (20) and age- and sexspecific childhood BMI in our 1985 Australian Schools Health and Fitness Survey cohort.

VOL. 110 NO. 4 / SEPTEMBER 2018
RESULTS Participant Characteristics

This study included 1,754 women who reported fertility outcomes. Of these participants, 971 completed both follow-up surveys, 625 participated in only the first follow-up, and 158 women participated in only the second follow-up. Participants who had missing data on confounders (210 women) were excluded, leaving 1,544 women for the final analysis.

The anthropometric and sociodemographic characteristics of participants at childhood and adulthood are shown in Table 1. At baseline, 17 (1.1%) children were obese, 116 (7.5%) were overweight, and 80 (5.2%) children had abdominal obesity as defined by BMI cutpoints and WHtR category. The mean age at follow-up was 34 years (range, 26-41 years). There were 346 (22.4%) women who reported experiencing infertility in adulthood, including 264 (17.1%) who reported having tried for ≥ 12 months to become pregnant without succeeding and 281 (18.2%) who had seen a doctor because of trouble becoming pregnant. Participants with lower parental education in childhood and those who were married or living as married in adulthood were more likely to report infertility. Compared with those who did not participate in the follow-up, those who did participate were slightly older (11.0 vs. 10.8 years; P=.003), had marginally lower BMI (18.2 vs. 18.4 kg/m²; P=.009), and were less likely to have abdominal obesity (5.2% vs. 8.3%; P<.001) at baseline.

Infertility

After adjustment for age, follow-up length, parental education, and marital status, compared with women with normal childhood weight between 7 and 11 years (Table 2), those who were obese as children were more likely to report infertility (adjusted relative risk [aRR] = 2.94, 95% confidence interval [CI] 1.48–5.84), having ever tried for >12 months to become pregnant without succeeding (aRR = 3.89, 95% CI 1.95–7.77), and having seen a doctor because of trouble becoming pregnant (aRR = 3.65, 95% CI 1.90–7.02). This association was not evident for the group aged 12–15 years at baseline. No significant association was found between other adiposity indicators (waist circumference, waist-to-hip ratio, and WHtR ≥ 0.5) in childhood and infertility in adulthood, including when abdominal adiposity measures were adjusted for childhood BMI.

The association between childhood BMI *z* score and relative risk of infertility in adulthood is shown in Figure 2. There was a U-shaped association of BMI *z* score with infertility in the 7- to 11-year-old group (Fig. 2A), with the risk significantly higher in children with *z* scores >1.05 or < -0.80. No significant association was observed for those in the 12- to 15-year-old group (Fig. 2B).

VOL. 110 NO. 4 / SEPTEMBER 2018

Fertility and Sterility®

Cause of Infertility

Most women who had seen a doctor because of trouble becoming pregnant reported one or more infertility causes and infertility investigations (Supplemental Table 1, available online). Endometriosis was a less common cause of infertility in those who were overweight or obses in childhood (15.1% in normal vs. 3.3% in overweight/obses; P=.10). Similar proportions of women had infertility investigations irrespective of their childhood BMI category (Supplemental Table 1).

Influence of Adiposity from childhood into Adulthood

The proportions and the number of women who reported infertility by adiposity status from childhood to adulthood are displayed in Supplemental Figure 1 and Supplemental Table 2, both available online. For consistently normal weight participants (normal weight in childhood and adulthood), the prevalence of infertility was 21.6%, and for consistently overweight/ obese participants (overweight/obese from childhood to adulthood), the corresponding figure was 27.9%. Although a higher prevalence of reported infertility was observed in the persistently overweight and obese group, it did not reach statistical significance (P=.37). After adjustment for childhood age and parental education at baseline, length of follow-up, adult education, marital status, and alcohol consumption in adulthood, the risk of infertility was significantly higher in women who were persistently overweight or obese from childhood (ages 7-11 years) into adulthood than those who had consistently healthy weight (Supplemental Table 3, available online).

Sensitivity Analysis

Similar results were observed after excluding women who reported infertility due to male factor (n = 20) and endometriosis (n = 39). Compared with those of normal weight in childhood, the risk of having ever seen a doctor because of trouble becoming pregnant in the obese group was 3.69 (95% CI 1.94-6.99) and 4.16 (95% CI 2.14-8.06) for those aged 7-11 years at baseline. When restricting the sample to women who were married or living as married (and who it might be assumed would have a greater likelihood of becoming pregnant), the risks of infertility (aRR = 3.15, 95% CI 1.37-7.25), having ever tried for >12 months to become pregnant without succeeding (aRR = 4.12, 95% CI 1.78-9.50) and having ever seen a doctor because of trouble becoming pregnant (aRR = 3.84, 95% CI 1.78-8.25) remained significantly higher in those who were obese at ages 7-11 years. Sensitivity analyses conducted by reanalyzing the data with inverse probability weighting produced similar patterns of results as the unweighted analyses and the changes in the magnitude of significant associations were small, ranging from 1.5%-3.3% (Supplemental Table 4, available online). Further analysis using US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and our cohort internal cutpoints of 85th and 95th childhood BMI percentiles showed similar significant associations of childhood obesity and infertility in the 7- to 11-year-old group (Supplemental Tables 5 and 6, available online).

SEMINAL CONTRIBUTION

Т	Δ'	R	Т	F.
		-		_

	Tried for ≥12 pregnant with	mo to become out succeeding	Seen a doct trouble beco	or because of ming pregnant	Any fertili	ty problem ^b
	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No
Characteristic	(n = 264)	(n = 1,279)	(n = 281)	(n = 1,263)	(n = 346)	(n = 1,198)
Childhood						
Age (y), mean ± SD	$11.5 \pm 2.4^{\circ}$	10.9 ± 2.5	11.4 ± 2.5 ^c	10.9 ± 2.5	$11.4 \pm 2.4^{\circ}$	10.9 ± 2.5
High	24.3	27.5	28.9	26.4	25.8	27.2
Medium-high	30.3	28.7	27.6	29.4	29.7	28.8
Medium-low	37.2	38.1	36.9	38.2	37.8	38.0
Low Waist singumforance (cm) mean + SD	8.3	5.7	6.7	6.1	6.7	6.0
Waist circumerence (ciri), mean \pm SD	0.81 ± 0.06	0.81 ± 0.06	02.9 ± 0.1 0.81 ± 0.06	0.81 ± 0.06	0.81 ± 0.06	0.82 ± 0.06
Body mass index (kg/m ²), mean \pm SD	18.4 ± 3.0	18.1 ± 2.7	18.4 ± 3.0	18.1 ± 2.7	18.4 ± 3.0	18.1 ± 2.7
BMI category, %						
Normal	90.1	91.6	89.6	91.8	89.9	91.8
Overweight	8.0	7.4	8.6	/.3	8./	1.2
Smoking experimentation. %	1.5	0.9	1.0	1.0	1.5	1.0
None	55.7	59.2	57.9	58.7	57.1	59.0
A few puffs	20.8	21.9	19.7	22.2	20.2	22.2
<10 cigarettes	8.6	7.2	8.8	7.1	8.7	7.0
> IU cigarettes Parental education %	14.9	11.7	13.6	12.0	13.9	11.8
University education	20.1 ^c	29.1	23.8	28.4	22.5	29.0
Vocational training	37.1	33.0	34.9	33.5	35.3	33.3
High school	42.8	37.9	41.3	38.2	42.2	37.7
Alcohol assumption, %	72.0	CO 5	70.0	70.0	70 5	60 D
<1 per wik	72.9	69.5	70.2	70.0	/2.5	69.3 24.0
>1 per wk	4.5	5.9	4.8	5.9	5.2	5.8
Physical activity (min/wk), mean \pm SD	384 ± 342	398 ± 376	396 ± 378	395 ± 368	388 ± 353	398 ± 375
Age at menarche (y), mean \pm SD	13.1 ± 1.3	13.2 ± 1.3	13.1 ± 1.3	13.2 ± 1.3	13.1 ± 1.3	13.1 ± 1.3
Adulthood		242 . 25	22.4.1.2.05	242 - 25	224 205	242 - 25
Age (y), mean ± SD SEIEA disadvantage %	33.5 ± 2.9°	34.2 ± 3.5	33.4 ± 2.9°	34.3 ± 3.5	33.4 ± 2.8°	34.2 ± 3.5
High	26.9	24.1	25.6	24.9	26.0	24.4
Medium-high	25.4	22.9	19.9	23.5	23.4	23.2
Medium-low	23.9	25.2	24.9	25.2	24.0	25.3
Low	23.9	27.8	29.5	26.3	26.0	27.1
BIMI (kg/m ²), mean \pm SD	25.7 ± 5.8	25.2 ± 5.4	25.4 ± 5.6	25.3 ± 5.5	25.5 ± 5.6	25.3 ± 5.4
Normal	56.2	60.2	58.1	59.7	57.5	60.1
Overweight	23.7	24.1	22.3	24.2	23.1	24.1
Obese	20.1	15.7	19.6	16.1	19.4	15.8
Smoking status, %	54.2	FF 3		FF 0	F	F F - 2
Never smoker Exsmoker	54.Z 25.0	26.9	55.7 26.4	55.Z 26.5	55.4 25.8	55.Z 26.7
Current smoker	20.8	17.8	17.9	18.3	18.8	18.1
Self-education, %						
University education	45.1 ^c	47.1	46.4	46.8	45.2°	47.2
Vocational training	22.4	28.2	24.3	28.0	23.8	28.4
High school Marital status %	32.0	24.7	29.3	25.2	31.0	24.5
Single	2.7 ^c	22.4	2.5°	22.5	2.9 ^c	23.5
Married/living as married	93.2	72.7	94.0	72.7	93.4	71.5
Separated/divorced/widowed	4.2	4.9	3.6	4.8	3.8	4.9
Alcohol consumption, %		24.4	245	22.2	27.25	24.5
Light drinkers	29.5	21.4	24.0 50.7	22.3	Z7.Z 57.A	21.0
Moderate drinkers	10.3	16.2	13.2	15.8	12.4	16.2
Heavy/very heavy drinkers	2.3	5.6	2.6	5.4	3.0	5.5
Physical activity (min/wk), mean \pm SD	755 ± 512	766 ± 495	732 ± 500	770 ± 497	743 ± 488	769 ± 501
Follow-up length (y), mean \pm SD	22.6	± 2.5	22.6	± 2.5	22.5	± 2.5

He. Childhood obesity and infertility. Fertil Steril 2018.

600

VOL. 110 NO. 4 / SEPTEMBER 2018



TABLE 2															
Associations between bo	dy compo	sition meas	sures in childhoo	d with fertil	ity problem in adu	ulthood, s	tratified b	y childhood age.							
	Tried for ≥12 mo to become pregnant without succeeding				Seer	a doctor	because of troub	le becomi	ng pregnant	Infertility					
		Ur	nadjusted	,	Nodel 1		U	nadjusted	P	Nodel 1		Ur	adjusted	ħ	Aodel 1
Body composition	n	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	n	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	n	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI
Age, 7–11 y															
BMI category															
Normal	786	Ref.	—	Ref.	—	786	Ref.	—	Ref.	—	786	Ref.	—	Ref.	—
Overweight	69	0.80	0.41-1.57	0.85	0.45-1.61	69	1.18	0.71-1.98	1.30	0.82-2.07	69	1.12	0.70-1.80	1.21	0.80-1.84
Obese	8	2.59	1.04-6.43	3.89	1.95-7.77	8	2.36	0.95-5.85	3.65	1.90-7.02	8	1.94	0.78-4.80	2.94	1.48-5.84
Waist circumference	864	1.01	0.98-1.03	0.99	0.97-1.02	864	1.01	0.98-1.03	1.00	0.97-1.03	864	1.01	0.99-1.03	1.00	0.97-1.02
Waist-to-hip ratio	864	0.90	0.67-1.20	0.97	0.72-1.29	864	0.82	0.63-1.09	0.88	0.67-1.16	864	0.88	0.69-1.13	0.98	0.77-1.24
Waist-to-height ratio															
<0.5	814	Ref.	_	Ref.	_	814	Ref.	_	Ref.	_	814	Ref.	_	Ref.	_
>0.5	49	0.99	0.49-2.00	1.17	0.60-2.27	49	0.87	0.43-1.75	1.02	0.52-1.99	49	1.04	0.59-1.84	1.29	0.76-2.18
Age, 12–15 y															
BMI category															
Normal	622	Ref.	_	Ref.	—	623	Ref.	_	Ref.	_	623	Ref.	_	Ref.	
Overweight	47	1.40	0.86-2.28	1.18	0.75-1.87	47	1.16	0.67-1.99	1.06	0.64-1.76	47	1.26	0.81-1.95	1.11	0.72-1.70
Obese	9	1.12	0.33-3.85	1.05	0.33-3.37	9	1.10	0.32-3.77	1.03	0.32-3.27	9	0.88	0.26-3.00	0.90	0.26-3.12
Waist circumference	679	1.01	0.99-1.03	1.01	0.99-1.03	680	1.01	0.99-1.03	1.00	0.98-1.02	680	1.01	0.99-1.02	1.00	0.99-1.02
Waist-to-hip ratio	679	1.18	0.91-1.53	1.18	0.90-1.53	680	1.23	0.95-1.58	1.23	0.95-1.59	680	1.15	0.92-1.43	1.14	0.91-1.43
Waist-to-height ratio															
< 0.5	647	Ref.	_	Ref.	_	648	Ref.	_	Ref.	_	648	Ref.	_	Ref.	_
≥0.5	31	1.28	0.69-2.38	1.24	0.70-2.18	31	1.11	0.57-2.16	1.07	0.57-2.01	31	1.13	0.64-2.00	1.09	0.65-1.82
Note: Model 1: adjusted for age : * Women answered yes to any or	and parental ne of the swo	education at ba related infertil	aseline, follow-up lengt ity questions.	n, and marital :	status at adulthood. BM	– bocy ma	iss index;⊂ -	- confidence interva ; R	R – risk ratio						
He. Chilabood opesity and infertil	ity. Fectil Steel	8 2018													

SEMINAL CONTRIBUTION



Relative risk (RR) of infertility and childhood body mass index (BMI) *z* score, adjusting for age, parental status at baseline, follow-up length, and marital status at adulthood. **(A)** 7- to 11-year-old group; **(B)** 12- to 15-year-old group. The *dashed line* indicates an RR of 1. The *green lines* indicate the RR for the association between childhood BMI *z* score and adult infertility. The *blue and red line* indicate the upper and lower bounds of the 95% confidence interval for the association. The axes on the graph go from 5th to 95th percentile of the childhood BMI *z* score distribution, which range from -1.28 to 1.57 in 7–11 years age group **(A)** and from -1.38 to 1.69 in 12–15 years age group **(B)**. *He. Childhood obesly and infertility. Fertil Stoni* 2018.

DISCUSSION

Our findings indicate that being obese before the age of 12 years is associated with impaired fertility in later life and a U-shaped relationship between childhood BMI *z* score and infertility. A previous study [21] also suggested an inverted U-shaped between BMI in adolescence and the number of children conceived. Some evidence suggests that body fat distribution in women may have more impact on fertility than obesity (22), but our results did not support this association in relation to children's WHtR. No appreciable differences in the associations of waist circumference, waist-to-hip ratio, and abdominal obesity in childhood were found with later infertility in adulthood.

Current evidence on the association of childhood obesity and adult infertility is not consistent. Similar to our finding, a study from the United States (8) reported that obesity before age 12 years was associated with an increased likelihood of having ever tried to become pregnant without success. In contrast, the analysis from a British cohort study (7) showed that weight during childhood did not predict subsequent fecundity, but it did find that obesity at the age of 7 years was associated with increased menstrual irregularities by age 33 years. The reasons for the inconsistent results may be the use of different methods to sample study populations (e.g., the British cohort study was limited to women with a live birth from their first pregnancy).

The explanation for the difference in associations by age group is unclear but there may be cumulative impacts of childhood obesity on adult infertility whereby girls who are obese at a younger age (i.e., 7–11 years in this study) have more impaired fertility, and/or that the prepubertal phase is a more sensitive window for the effects of high BMI on the development of reproductive capacity than later pubertal or postpubertal stages of development. A recent study [23] in rodents suggests that early-onset obesity induces reproductive deficits in adult female rats by reducing the number of occyte and preantral follicles and inhibiting the LH surge. In humans, early-onset obesity is associated with the earlier puberty and earlier maturation of the hypothalamopituitary axis, which may impact on the development of the reproductive system in girls (24). Increased estrogen (E) produced by more body fat and accelerated aromatization of adrenal and ovarian androgens in adipose tissue promotes earlier adrenarche, pubarche, and thelarche, which may have unfavorable influences on the hypothalamopituitary axis, ovarian function, oocyte quality, endometrial receptivity, or any combination of these factors in the long-term (25). In addition, obesity in childhood is an important factor contributing to the presence and severity of PCOS in adolescents, which may increase the risk of subsequent anovulatory infertility (26-28). In our study, we failed to detect an association between elevated level of childhood adiposity and infertility due to ovulatory dysfunction. It is plausible that obesity disrupts endocrine homeostasis with long-term effects on infertility. However, the mechanisms involved in reducing reproductive potential are still poorly understood.

Our finding that endometriosis as a cause of infertility was less common in those in the childhood overweight/ obese group (3.5%) than in the normal weight group (15.1%) was similar to findings from a recent metaanalysis (29), which pooled 11 studies of participants with ages ranging from 16–65 years and reported that more elevated BMI was associated with a lower risk of endometriosis in adulthood. Furthermore, results from our sensitivity analysis suggest that male factor infertility did not bias the observed association between childhood obesity and infertility in adulthood.

The strengths of our study are a relatively contemporary cohort with childhood body composition measurements taken in 1985 and follow-ups conducted during women's reproductive years. Although the Bogalusa Heart Study measured

VOL. 110 NO. 4 / SEPTEMBER 2018

skinfolds in childhood, to our knowledge our study is the first to have reported the associations of various abdominal obesity indicators in childhood with adult infertility including waist circumference, waist-to-hip ratio, and WHtR. In addition, our definition of having difficulty conceiving specified a time interval of having tried for ≥ 12 months and is more consistent with definitions used in clinical practice (30). In addition, we demonstrated associations with infertility of BMI *z* score as a continuous variable as well as obesity defined by age- and sex-specific BMI ≥ 95 th percentile.

Some limitations should be acknowledged. First, the sample size in the childhood obese group is small. The prevalence of obesity in girls using international BMI cutpoints was only 1.1%. However, similar findings were shown with continuous BMI z scores and sensitivity analyses in our study. Second, we could not distinguish primary infertility (no prior pregnancies) and secondary infertility (infertility after at least one prior conception), which is important for evaluating women's ability to have children and exploring the etiology of infertility. Third, our measure of infertility relied on self-reported problems. However, the prevalence of infertility in our study is consistent with Australian estimates of approximately one in six couples experiencing a delay of \geq 12 months to achieve a planned pregnancy during their reproductive life (31, 32). Although infertility diagnoses and investigations are selfreported, these are likely to be important events for women, and women should be able to recall specific diagnoses and investigations that have been undertaken.

In conclusion, our study of a cohort of Australian women indicated a detrimental impact of childhood obesity before age 12 years on infertility later in life. The early prevention of childhood obesity is important for fertility, as well as disease prevention.

Acknowledgments: The authors gratefully acknowledge the contributions of the CDAH project manager, Marita Dalton, and all other project staff.

REFERENCES

- Williams EP, Mesidor M, Winters K, Dubbert PM, Wyatt SB. Overweight and obesity: prevalence, consequences, and causes of a growing public health problem. Curr Obes Rep 2015;4:363–70.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics. Australian Bureau of Statistics 2015, National Health Survey. First Results, 2014-15, cat. no. 4364.0.55.001, ABS, Canberra.
- Nelson SM, Fleming R. Obesity and reproduction: impact and interventions Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol 2007;19:384–9.
- Pandey S, Bhattacharya S. Impact of obesity on gynecology. Womens Health (Lond) 2010;6:107–17.
- Elizondo-Montemayor L, Hernandez-Escobar C, Lara-Torre E, Nieblas B, Gomez-Carmona M. Gynecologic and obstetric consequences of obesity in adolescent girls. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol 2017;30:156–68.
- Zegers-Hochschild F, Adamson GD, de Mouzon J, Ishihara O, Mansour R, Nygren K, et al. International Committee for Monitoring Assisted Reproductive Technology (ICMART) and the World Health Organization (WHO) revised glossary of ART terminology, 2009. Fertil Steril 2009;92:1520-4.
- Lake JK, Power C, Cole TJ. Women's reproductive health: the role of body mass index in early and adult life. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 1997;21:432–8.
- Jacobs MB, Bazzano LA, Pridjian G, Harville EW. Childhood adiposity and fertility difficulties: the Bogalusa Heart Study. Pediatr Obes 2017;12:477–84.

VOL. 110 NO. 4 / SEPTEMBER 2018

- Brugo-Olmedo S, Chillik C, Kopelman S. Definition and causes of infertility. Reprod Biomed Online 2001;2:41–53.
- Gall SL, Jamrozik K, Blizzard L, Dwyer T, Venn A. Healthy lifestyles and cardiovascular risk profiles in young Australian adults: the Childhood Determinants of Adult Health Study. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil 2009, 16:684–9.
- Cole TJ, Bellizzi MC, Flegal KM, Dietz WH. Establishing a standard definition for child overweight and obesity worldwide: international survey. BMJ 2000; 320:1240–3.
- Brambilla P, Bedogni G, Heo M, Pietrobelli A. Waist circumference-to-height ratio predicts adiposity better than body mass index in children and adolescents. Intern J Obes 2013;37:943–6.
- Venn AJ, Thomson RJ, Schmidt MD, Cleland VJ, Curry BA, Gennat HC, et al. Overweight and obesity from childhood to adulthood: a follow-up of participants in the 1985 Australian Schools Health and Fitness Survey. Med J Aust 2007;186:458–60.
- Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic. Report of a WHO consultation. World Health Organ Tech Rep Ser 2000;894:i–xii, 1–253.
- Zou G. A modified poisson regression approach to prospective studies with binary data. Am J Epidemiol 2004;159:702–6.
- Carter RE, Lipsitz SR, Tilley BC. Quasi-likelihood estimation for relative risk regression models. Biostatistics 2005;6:39–44.
- Spiegelman D, Hertzmark E. Easy SAS calculations for risk or prevalence ratios and differences. Am J Epidemiol 2005;162:199–200.
- McNutt LA, Wu C, Xue X, Hafner JP. Estimating the relative risk in cohort studies and clinical trials of common outcomes. Am J Epidemiol 2003;157:940–3.
 Durrleman S, Simon R. Flexible regression models with cubic splines. Stat
- Durneman S, Simon R. Hexible regression models with cubic splines. Stat Med 1989;8:551–61.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics. In: Data table of BMI-for-age charts. female, 2–20 years. November 1, 2017. Available at https://www.cdc.gov/growthcharts/html_charts/bmia gerev.htm.
- Jokela M, Kivimaki M, Elovainio M, Viikari J, Raitakari OT, Keltikangas-Jarvinen L. Body mass index in adolescence and number of children in adulthood. Epidemiology 2007;18:599–606.
- Zaadstra BM, Seidell JC, van Noord PA, te Velde ER, Habbema JD, Vrieswijk B, et al. Fat and female fecundity: prospective study of effect of body fat distribution on conception rates. BMJ 1993;306:484–7.
- Sagae SC, Menezes EF, Bonfleur ML, Vanzela EC, Zacharias P, Lubaczeuski C, et al. Early onset of obesity induces reproductive deficits in female rats. Physiol Behav 2012;105:1104–11.
- Davison KK, Susman EJ, Birch LL. Percent body fat at age 5 predicts earlier pubertal development among girls at age 9. Pediatrics 2003;111:815–21.
- Johnson MD, Sanfilippo JS. Childhood and adolescent obesity: implications for reproductive health and function. In: Jungheim ES, editor. Obesity and fertility: a practical guide for clinicians. New York: Springer New York; 2015;15–30.
- Anderson AD, Solorzano CM, McCartney CR. Childhood obesity and its impact on the development of adolescent PCOS. Semin Reprod Med 2014;32:202–13.
- Hassan A, Gordon CM. Polycystic ovary syndrome update in adolescence. Curr Opin Pediatr 2007;19:389–97.
- Rich-Edwards JW, Goldman MB, Willett WC, Hunter DJ, Stampfer MJ, Colditz GA, et al. Adolescent body mass index and infertility caused by ovulatory disorder. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1994;171:171–7.
- Liu Y, Zhang W. Association between body mass index and endometriosis risk: a meta-analysis. Oncotarget 2017;8:46928–36.
- Datta J, Palmer MJ, Tanton C, Gibson LJ, Jones KG, Macdowall W, et al. Prevalence of infertility and help seeking among 15 000 women and men. Hum Reprod 2016;31:2108–18.
- Clark A, Mackenzie C. The National Fertility Study 2006(1): Australians' experience and knowledge of fertility issues. Hum Reprod 2007;22:i29–31.
- Gurunath S, Pandian Z, Anderson RA, Bhattacharya S. Defining infertility—a systematic review of prevalence studies. Hum Reprod Update 2011;17: 575–88.

SEMINAL CONTRIBUTION

Asociación de obesidad infantil con infertilidad femenina en la edad adulta: Un estudio de 25 años de seguimiento

Objetivo: Evaluar si la obesidad infantil se asocia a infertilidad en mujeres en edad reproductiva.

Diseño: Estudio prospectivo longitudinal.

Entorno: No aplica.

Intervención(es): Ninguna.

Paciente(s): Un total de 1544 niñas, con edades entre 7-15 años en 1985, y que completaron cuestionarios en seguimientos en 2004-2006 y/o 2009-2011.

Principales medidas de resultados: La infertilidad fue definida como tener dificultad para concebir (haber intentado conseguir embarazo durante ≥ 12 meses sin éxito), o haber visitado al médico por problemas para conseguir embarazo).

Resultado(s): A las edades de 7-11 años, las niñas en los límites inferior y superior del índice de masa corporal (IMC) tuvieron un riesgo incrementado de infertilidad. Comparadas con las niñas en peso corporal normal, aquellas con obesidad a las edades de 7-11 años fueron más propensas a reportar infertilidad en la edad adulta (riesgo relativo ajustado [aRR] = 2,94, 95% intervalo de confianza [IC] 1,48-5,84), dificultad para concebir (aRR = 3,89, 95% IC 1,95-7,77), o haber visitado a un médico por problemas para conseguir embarazo (aRR = 3,69, 95% IC 1,90-7,02) después de ajustar para edad infantil, duración del seguimiento, mayor educación de los padres y estado civil.

Conclusión: La obesidad infantil antes de los 12 años parece aumentar el riesgo de infertilidad femenina en la vida posterior.

604

VOL. 110 NO. 4 / SEPTEMBER 2018

Fertility and Sterility®



VOL. 110 NO. 4 / SEPTEMBER 2018

604.e1

Appendix E 2 Publication of Chapter 4

	Pregnancy Hypertension 19 (2020) 218–225	
	Contents lists available at ScienceDirect	
	Pregnancy Hypertension	
ELSEVIER	journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/preghy	۲

Associations of childhood adiposity and changes in a diposity status from childhood to a dulthood with pregnancy hypertension *



Ye He^a, Jing Tian^a, Leigh Blizzard^a, Wendy H. Oddy^a, Terence Dwyer^{a,b}, Alison J. Venn^{a,•} ^a Mensies Institute for Medical Research, University of Tasmania, Hobart, Australia ^b The George Institute for Global Health, University of Castrond, UK

ARTICLE INFO	A B S T R A C T
Keywords: Abdominal obesity Body mass index Childhood Pregnancy hypertension Waist-to-height ratio	Objective(s): To investigate the associations between adiposity in childhood, and adiposity change from child hood to adulthood, with pregnancy hypertension. Study Design: The study followed-up 985 girls from the 1985 Australian Schools Health and Fitness Survey (age 9–15 years) who were ever pregnant in 2004–2006 and/or 2009–2011. In childhood, overweight and obesity were defined by age-ex-specific international standard for body mass index (BMD) and in adulthood a BMI ≥ 25 kg/m ² . Childhood and adult abdominal obesity were defined as waist-to-height ratio (WHR) ≥ 0.5. <i>A</i> subsample of adults had abdominal obesity measures (n = 549). <i>Main outcome measures</i> : Pregnancy hypertension was self-reported as having had high blood pressure during o due to pregnancy. <i>Results</i> : Childhood overweight/obesity (relative risk [RR] = 1.66, 95% confidence interval [CI]:1.07–2.52) and abdominal obesity (RR = 2.55, 95% CI:1.34–4.85) were associated with higher risks of pregnancy hypertension after adjustment for age, socioeconomic status and parity. Further adjustment for adult BMI attenuated th association for childhood overweight/obesity which was no longer statistically significant (RR = 1.28, 95% CI:0.79–2.07). The association with childhood abdominal obesity persisted after adjustment for adult BMI (RR = 2.15, 95% CI:1.10–4.20). Compared to participants with persistently normal BMI or WHR, those wh were overweight/obese in adulthood only (RR = 1.49, 95% CI:1.10–2.02), persistently overweight/obes (RR = 2.06, 95% CI:1.29–3.29) or persistently abdominal) obes (RR = 3.09, 95% CI:1.54–6.20) had increasee risks of pregnancy hypertension. <i>Conclusion(s)</i> : Childhood abdominal obesity independent of adult abdominal obesity. Women who were persist torthy averyeich (obes or addominal obesity independent of adult abdominal obesity. Women who were persist torthy averyeich (obes or addominal obesity independent of adult abdominal obesity. Komen who were persist torthy averyeich (babos abdominal obesity independent of adult abdominal

1. Introduction

Hypertension affects an estimated 10% of all pregnancies and is the most frequently identified medical problem during pregnancy. Hypertensive disorders of pregnancy include both pregnancy-induced (gestational hypertension) and pre-existing (chronic hypertension) conditions and are associated with a higher risk of cardiovascular events later in life [1].

pregnancy hypertension. The risk of preeclampsia doubles with each 5–7 unit increase in pre-pregnancy body mass index (BMI) [2]. Abdominal obesity has also been associated with pregnancy hypertension. The results from one Australian cohort indicated that every 1 cm increase in waist circumference was associated with a 4% increased risk of pregnancy hypertension [3]. Another case-control study indicated that waist circumference was a better predictor of pregnancy hypertension than BMI [4]. Despite the known detrimental effect of adult adiposity on pregnancy hypertension, the relationship with childhood

Being overweight or obese puts a woman at risk of developing

* Corresponding author at: Menzies Institute for Medical Research, University of Tasmania, 17 Liverpool Street, Hobart, Tasmania 7000, Australia. E-mail address: Alison.Venn@utas.edu.au (A.J. Venn).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.preghy.2019.11.006

Received 10 May 2019; Received in revised form 17 October 2019; Accepted 18 November 2019

Available online 03 December 2019

2210-7789/ © 2019 International Society for the Study of Hypertension in Pregnancy. Published by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Abbreviations: ASHFS, Australian Schools Health and Fitness Survey; BMI, Body Mass Index; CI, Confidence Interval; CDAH, Childhood Determinants of Adult Health; DBP, Diastolic Blood Pressure; GEE, generalized estimating equations; RR, Relative Risk; WHtR, Waist-to-height Ratio; SBP, Systolic Blood Pressure; SD, Standard Deviation

^{*} Previous presentation: The abstract was presented at the XXIII Annual Congress of Perinatal Society of Australian and New Zealand from 17th-20th March 2019 in Gold Coast, Australia.

obesity, especially childhood abdominal obesity with pregnancy hypertension is less well understood.

To our knowledge, only two studies have reported a longitudinal relationship between childhood obesity and pregnancy hypertension, and childhood BMI was the only predictor [5–6]. The 1958 British birth cohort study included 4,681 girls and reported that being overweight or obese at the age of 7 years increased the risk of self-reported hypertension in pregnancy before age 33, but this risk did not persist after adjustment for adult BMI [5]. More recently, a report based on 703 participants in the USA Bogalusa Heart Study showed that elevated childhood BMI was a significant risk factor for self-reported pregnancy hypertension without considering adult BMI.

Therefore, the aim of our present study was to examine the association between different adiposity measures in childhood and changes in adiposity status from childhood to adulthood, with pregnancy hypertension.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Participants

The Childhood Determinants of Adult Health (CDAH) Study is a follow-up of 8,498 children including 4,191 girls aged 7-15 years who participated in the 1985 Australian Schools Health and Fitness Survey (ASHFS), a nationwide sample of Australian school children. [7] In 1985, all children had physical assessments and those aged 9, 12 and 15 years had blood pressure measured. During 2002-2004, a total of 3,412 female participants were traced and 2,734 enrolled to participate in the CDAH Study (enrolment) (Fig. 1). During 2004-2006, the first follow-up (CDAH-1) of those enrolled was conducted when participants were aged 26-36 years. Of the 1,017 women who reported having ever been pregnant and answered questions about pregnancy hypertension in the questionnaire, 735 attended one of 34 study clinics held around Australia for physical measurements. The second follow-up (CDAH-2) was conducted during 2009-2011 when participants were aged 31-41 years and 901 reported having ever been pregnant women and completed the same questions about pregnancy hypertension. A total of 1.324 women who were ever pregnant and answered the pregnancy hypertension questions at CDAH-1 and/or CDAH-2 were included in the analysis reported here (423 women only participated in CDAH-1, 307 women only participated in CDAH-2 and 594 women participated in both CDAH-1 and CDAH-2).

The study was approved by the Southern Tasmania Health and Medical Human Research Ethics Committee. Written informed consent was obtained at childhood from parents and obtained at each follow-up from participants.

2.2. Childhood adiposity measures

BMI, calculated as weight (kg)/height (m)², was derived from measured height and weight. Overweight and obese were combined for analysis and defined using international age- and sex-specific cut-points for BMI [8]. Waist and hip circumference were measured to the nearest 0.1 cm. Waist-to-hip ratio was calculated by dividing waist by hip circumference. Waist-to-height ratio (WHtR) was calculated by dividing waist circumference by height. Abdominal obesity was defined as WHtR \geq 0.5 [9]. Childhood BMI and waist circumference z scores were calculated based on age- and sex-specific standardization of the full childhood cohort.

2.3. Adult adiposity measures

At CDAH-1, weight, height, waist circumference and hip circumference were measured at study clinics for most participants. Some participants (n = 1,119) also self-reported their weight and height before measurements were taken to assess the accuracy of self-reported

values. Participants who did not visit clinics self-reported their weight and height, and a correction factor was applied to adjust for error [10]. BMI (kg/m²) was calculated from height and weight. WHtR was calculated from measured waist circumference and height at clinics.

Weight was self-reported at CDAH-2. Adjusted weight values were calculated using the correction factor applied at CDAH-1. Height was self-reported and adjusted as described above.

Adult BMI was categorized as normal (BMI $<25~kg/m^2)$, overweight (25.0 \leq BMI $\leq29.9~kg/m^2)$ or obese (BMI $\geq30~kg/m^2)$ [11]. Adult abdominal obesity was defined as WHtR ≥0.5 [12].

2.4. Pregnancy hypertension

In CDAH-1 and CDAH-2, women were asked to answer 'yes' or 'no' to the question 'Have you ever been told that you have high blood pressure during pregnancy or due to pregnancy?' Pregnancy hypertension was recorded if they responded 'yes'.

2.5. Covariate measures

Information on sociodemographic characteristics was self-reported in childhood and follow-up including childhood age, parental education, parental smoking and childhood smoking experimentation, both childhood and adult area-level disadvantage [13], alcohol consumption, physical activity and adult education level, smoking status, occupation and parity.

2.6. Statistical analyses

Taking into account the repeated measures of variables over CDAH-1 and CDAH-2, log-binomial models with generalized estimating equations (GEE) were used to estimate relative risk (RR) for associations between childhood adiposity measures and change in adiposity status from childhood to adulthood with pregnancy hypertension. Subsample analysis was conducted among those with measured adult waist circumference and height at the CDAH-1 clinics.

The independent effects of childhood BMI and childhood abdominal obesity measures on pregnancy hypertension were examined by including corresponding adult BMI and adult abdominal obesity measures (for the subsample only) in the models. In addition, as abdominal obesity had been suggested to be a stronger predictor of cardiovascular disease than BMI [12,14], in the current study, childhood abdominal obesity measures were further adjusted for childhood and adult BMI to investigate the effects of fat distribution in childhood on pregnancy hypertension more specifically. Covariates remaining in the final model were variables which associated with the exposure and the outcome and resulted in more than 10% change in the coefficient of the study factor.

The following sensitivity analyses were conducted. First, we excluded those who reported 'yes' to ever having pregnancy hypertension in CDAH-1 but 'no' in CDAH-2. Second, since multiple births and high childhood blood pressure may be associated with increased risk of pregnancy hypertension [15–16], we restricted our sample to women who had singleton pregnancies and those who had measured childhood systolic (SBP) and diastolic blood pressure (DBP). Third, to investigate whether high blood pressure persisted post-pregnancy in those with a history of pregnancy hypertension, we compared blood pressure in a subsample of women (n = 609) who had participated in the first follow-up (CDAH-1) clinics and had measured systolic and diastolic blood pressure. Fourth, inverse probability weighting was used to account for missing data at follow-up, with multiple imputation of incomplete baseline data [17].

Finally, to examine if there is a difference in risk of pregnancy hypertension associated with adiposity during different time periods of growth, we repeated the analyses by stratifying childhood age before or after 12 years.

Appendices

Y. He, et al.

Pregnancy Hypertension 19 (2020) 218-225



Fig. 1. Selection of participants for the Childhood Determinants of Adult Health (CDAH) Study.

All analyses were performed using STATA software, version 15.0 (Stata Corp., College Station, TX); A p-value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

3. Results

3.1. Participant characteristics

This study included 1,324 women who had ever been pregnant and completed hypertension questions at follow-ups; 594 of them completed both follow-ups; 423 participated in CDAH-1 only; and 307 women participated in CDAH-2 only. Participants who had missing data on confounders (n = 339) were excluded, leaving 985 women for the final analysis. A total of 549 women with measured waist circumference and height at the CDAH-1 clinics were included in the subsample analysis.

Characteristics of participants in childhood and adulthood are shown in Table 1. In childhood, 10 (1.0%) girls were obese, 77 (7.8%) were overweight as defined by BMI cutoffs, and 47 (4.8%) had abdominal obesity as defined by WHtR category. The mean age at CDAH-1 was 32.8 years and 37.5 years at CDAH-2. There were 111 (13.8%) and 68 (10.6%) women who reported experiencing pregnancy hypertension in CDAH-1 and CDAH-2. Among them 21 women reported having had pregnancy hypertension in CDAH-1 but not in CDAH-2.

Compared with those who did not participate in CDAH-1 or CDAH-2, those who did participate in CDAH-1 and/or CDAH-2 were older in childhood (12.1 vs 10.5 years; P < 0.001), had greater BMI (18.8 vs 18.2 kg/m²; P < 0.001) and waist circumference (64.1 vs 62.1 cm; P < 0.001), lower WHtR (0.42 vs 0.44; P < 0.001) and waist-to-hip ratio (0.80 vs 0.82; P < 0.001), and were less likely to be obese (1.0% vs 1.8%; P = 0.001) or abdominally obese (4.8% vs 7.9%; P = 0.001).

3.2. Pregnancy hypertension

As shown in Table 2, after adjustment for age, area-level disadvantage in childhood, parity and occupation in adulthood, childhood overweight/obese and abdominal obesity measures were all associated with an increased risk of pregnancy hypertension (Model 1). To determine whether childhood abdominal obesity measures contributed to the risks of pregnancy hypertension were independent of childhood

Appendices

Y. He, et al.

Pregnancy Hypertension 19 (2020) 218-225

Table 1

Characteristics of participants in childhood (1985), CDAH-1 (2004–2006) and CDAH-2 (2009–2011), Childhood Determinants of Adult Health study.^a

Characteristical	altitute at	CDAUL 1	(DAU 0
Characteristics	(n = 985)	(n = 806)	CDAH-2 (n = 641)
	(((
Age, years, Mean(SD)	12.1(2.0)	32.8(2.0)	37.5(2.0)
BMI, kg/m ² , Mean(SD)	18.8(2.8)	25.0(5.1)	25.2(5.5)
Waist circumference, cm, Mean(SD)	64.1(7.5)	79.3(10.9)	
Waist-to-height ratio, Mean(SD)	0.42(0.04)	0.48(0.07)	
Waist-to-hip ratio, Mean(SD)	0.80(0.06)	0.76(0.06)	
BMI category (%)			
Normal	91.2	60.7	59.9
Overweight	7.8	24.8	22.9
Obese	1.0	14.5	17.2
WHtR category (%)			
< 0.5	95.2	69.0	
≥0.5	4.8	31.0	
Area-level disadvantage (%)			
High	26.9	27.3	25.7
Medium-high	28.9	25.0	24.7
Medium-low	38.2	22.5	23.8
Low	6.0	25.2	25.8
Highest parental education (%)			
University education	23.3		
Vocational training	35.0		
High school	41.7		
Childhood smoking experimentation (%)			
None	56.1		
A few puffs	21.7		
< 10 cigarettes	8.5		
greater than10 cigarettes	13.8		
Parental smoking (%)			
None	57.8		
Either parent smoked	26.8		
Both parents smoked	15.4		
Childhood alcohol assumption (%)			
Never	67.6		
Less than once per week	26.3		
More than once per week	6.1		
Physical activity, mins/week, Mean(SD)°	406.7(365.7)	784.3(502.0)	819.4(507.0)
Systolic blood pressure, mmHg, Mean(SD)	108.9(12.0)		
Diastolic blood pressure, mmHg, Mean(SD)	66.6(11.0)		
Adulthood smoking status (%)			
Never smoker		49.7	56.1
Ex-smoker		28.0	30.4
Current smoker		22.4	13.5
Highest education attainment (%)			
University education		36.6	46.2
Vocational training		26.8	27.7
High school		36.6	26.1
Adulthood alcohol consumption (%)			
Non-drinkers		23.6	22.6
Light drinkers		56.8	57.8
Moderate drinkers		14.5	14.9
Heavy/very heavy drinkers		5.2	4.7
Occupation (%)			
Professional or manager		38.8	43.7
Nonmanual		28.3	27.6
Manual		5.5	6.1
Not in the labor force		27.4	22.6
Parity, Mean(SD)		1.6(1.0)	2.1(1.0)
Pregnancy hypertension (%)		13.8	10.6

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; CDAH, Childhood Determinants of Adult Health Study; SD, standard deviation; WHtR, waist-to-height ratio.
^a Childhood overweight and obesity were defined according to the international cutoffs; the final sample (n = 985) included participants who participated in CDAH-1 (n = 806) or CDAH-2 (n = 641).
^b Sample size in Childhood ranges from 415 to 985, CDAH-1 ranges from 549 to 806, CDAH-2 ranges from 596 to 641 due to missing data on some variables;
^c Childhood physical activity was assessed by Australia Health and Fitness Survey, 1985; CDAH-1 and CDAH-2 physical activity was assessed by International Physical Activity Questionnaire;

Table 2

Associations between adiposity measures in childhood with pregnancy hypertension, Childhood Determinants of Adult Health study.

1 2			1 0 7 71				,			
Body composition	n	Unadjus	ted model	Model 1		Model 2	Model 2		Model 3	
		RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	
BMI (kg/m ²)	985	1.06	1.01-1.12	1.08	1.02-1.14			1.04	0.97-1.11	
BMI z score	985	1.19	1.03-1.38	1.20	1.04-1.40			1.09	0.92 - 1.30	
BMI category										
Normal	898	Ref.	-	Ref.	-			Ref.	-	
Overweight/obese	87	1.64	1.05-2.49	1.66	1.07 - 2.57			1.28	0.79-2.07	
Waist circumference (cm)	985	1.03	1.01-1.05	1.04	1.02 - 1.06	1.04	1.01-1.07	1.03	1.00 - 1.07	
Waist circumference z score	985	1.28	1.11-1.41	1.29	1.12-1.49	1.28	1.01-1.61	1.25	0.99 - 1.57	
Waist circumference, per SD (7.51 cm)	985	1.26	1.10 - 1.44	1.32	1.14-1.54	1.33	1.04-1.69	1.29	1.01 - 1.65	
Waist-to-hip ratio, per SD (0.06)	985	1.22	1.05-1.42	1.25	1.07-1.47	1.22	1.04-1.43	1.20	1.03-1.41	
Waist-to-height ratio, per SD (0.04)	985	1.33	1.17-1.51	1.33	1.15-1.53	1.35	1.09-1.67	1.24	1.06 - 1.43	
WHtR category										
< 0.5	938	Ref.	_	Ref.	-	Ref.	_	Ref.	_	
≥0.5	47	2.33	1.45-3.74	2.54	1.61-4.01	2.14	1.18-3.87	2.21	1.09-4.48	

Model 1: adjusted for age, area-level disadvantage at childhood, parity and occupation at adulthood; Model 2: adjusted for age, area-level disadvantage and body mass index at childhood, parity and occupation at adulthood;

Model 3: adjusted for age, area-level disadvantage and body mass index at childhood (for abdominal obesity measures only), parity, occupation and body mass index at adulthood:

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; CI, confidence interval; RR, risk ratio; SD, standard deviation; WHtR, waist-to-height ratio.

Table 3

Associations between abdominal measures in childhood with pregnancy hypertension in CDAH-1 clinic participants, Childhood Determinants of Adult Health study.

Body composition	n	Unadjuste	d model	Model 1		Model 2	Model 2	
		RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	
Waist circumference (cm)	549	1.03	1.00-1.06	1.04	1.01-1.07	1.03	1.00-1.07	
Waist circumference z score	549	1.26	1.03-1.55	1.33	1.08-1.65	1.22	0.96-1.56	
Waist circumference, per SD (7.30 cm)	549	1.22	1.01-1.48	1.36	1.09-1.69	1.25	0.97 - 1.60	
Waist-to-hip ratio, per SD (0.06)	549	1.15	0.93-1.42	1.21	0.96-1.52	1.20	0.94 - 1.52	
Waist-to-height ratio, per SD (0.04)	549	1.32	1.10 - 1.58	1.34	1.11-1.61	1.24	1.01 - 1.54	
WHtR category								
< 0.5	526	Ref.	-	Ref.	-	Ref.	-	
≥0.5	23	2.29	1.19-4.40	2.55	1.34-4.85	2.15	1.10 - 4.20	

Model 1: adjusted for age, area-level disadvantage at childhood, parity and occupation at adulthood;

Model 2: adjusted for age, area-level disadvantage at childhood, parity, occupation and corresponding abdominal measures at adulthood; Abbreviations: CI, confidence interval; RR, risk ratio; SD, standard deviation; WHtR, waist-to-height ratio.

Table 4

Relative risk of pregnancy hypertension according to adiposity status from childhood to adulthood, Childhood Determinants of Adult Health Study.

Body composition from childhood to adulthood	n (%) ^a	Pregnancy hypertension						
		Unadjusted	model	Model 1	Model 1			
		RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI			
BMI category (N = 985)								
Persistently normal	860(59.4)	Ref.	_	Ref.	-			
Normal to overweight/obese	469(32.4)	1.49	1.11-2.01	1.49	1.10 - 2.02			
Overweight/obese to normal	13(0.9)	1.00	0.15-6.53	1.09	0.16-7.29			
Persistently overweight/obese	105(7.3)	2.05	1.27-3.29	2.06	1.29 - 3.29			
WHtR category b (N = 549)								
Persistently not abdominally obese	375(68.3)	Ref.	-	Ref.	-			
Not abdominally obese to abdominally obese	151(27.5)	1.56	1.00-2.43	1.43	0.92 - 2.25			
Abdominally obese to not abdominally obese	4(0.7)	2.18	0.39-12.18	2.13	0.40-11.43			
Persistently abdominally obese	19(3.5)	2.75	1.34-5.65	3.09	1.54 - 6.20			

Model 1: adjusted for age, area-level disadvantage at childhood, parity and occupation at adulthood;

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; CI, confidence interval; R, risk ratio; WHR, waist-height ratio. * n indicated the total number of observations in each BMI category from childhood to CDAH-1 and/or CDAH-2 and the number of participants in each WHR category from childhood to CDAH-1; ^b Subgroup analysis which only available in those who participated in 1985 Australian Schools Health and Fitness Survey and CDAH-1 clinics;

BML we further adjusted for childhood BML (Model 2), the associations between childhood abdominal obesity measures and pregnancy hypertension remained significant. Model 3 included additional adjustment for adult BMI to investigate whether associations with childhood overweight/obese and abdominal obesity measures were independent of adult BMI. Childhood overweight/obese was no longer associated with pregnancy hypertension after adjustment for adult BMI (Model 3). However, associations remained for childhood abdominal obesity measures. In the subsample of participants with measured waist circumference and height at the CDAH-1 clinics (Table 3), childhood abdominal obesity measures were associated with increased risk of pregnancy hypertension (Model 1). When further adjusted for corresponding abdominal measures in adulthood (Model 2), although there remained significant associations with childhood WHtR (RR = 1.24, 95% CI:1.01-1.54) and childhood abdominal obesity (WHtR ≥ 0.5) (RR = 2.15, 95% CI:1.10-4.20), these associations were attenuated with adjustment for adult WHtR.

3.3. Influence of adiposity change from childhood to adulthood

The relative risk of pregnancy hypertension by BMI and WHtR category change from childhood to adulthood is displayed in Table Compared with participants who had persistently normal BMI in childhood and adulthood, those who became overweight/obese reported a higher risk of pregnancy hypertension with a RR of 1.49 (95% CI 1.10-2.02). The risk was highest for participants who were persistently overweight/obese from childhood into adulthood (RR = 2.06; 95% CI 1.29-3.29). In the subsample of participants who had WHtR data in both childhood and adulthood (N = 549), 19 (3.5%) were abdominally obese in both childhood and adulthood and 31.6% of them had pregnancy hypertension (Fig. 2). Compared with those who were not abdominally obese in childhood and adulthood (68.3% of the subset, 11.5% with pregnancy hypertension), those who were persistently abdominally obese had a significantly higher risk of pregnancy hypertension (RR = 3.09; 95% CI: 1.54–6.20) (Table 3). Subjects who were not abdominally obese in childhood but who developed abdominal obesity in adulthood (27.5%) also had a higher risk of pregnancy hypertension (RR = 1.56; 95% CI 1.00-2.43), but the significance of this association was attenuated after adjustment for confounders.

3.4. Sensitivity analysis

Similar results were observed after excluding women who reported they had pregnancy hypertension in CDAH-1 but not in CDAH-2 231). When restricting the sample to women with singleton pregnancies, the risk of pregnancy hypertension (RR = 2.55, 95% CI 1.28-5.09) remained significantly higher in those who were abdominally obese in childhood. A total of 415 girls aged 9, 12 and 15 years had blood pressure measured in childhood. The mean childhood SBP and DBP were similar in those with and without self-reported pregnancy hypertension in CDAH-1 (SBP: 110.4 $~\pm~$ 14.8 vs 109.0 $~\pm~$ 11.8. P = 0.50; DBP: 65.4 ± 12.2 vs 66.8 ± 10.8 , P = 0.43) and CDAH-2 (SBP: 112.6 \pm 12.7 vs 108.5 \pm 11.8, P = 0.06; DBP: 67.8 \pm 11.1 vs 66.1 \pm 10.6, P = 0.38). Further adjustment for childhood SBP and DBP in these participants did not substantially change the main results: the changes in the magnitude of estimates were within 17.2%(Supplemental Table 1). In the subsample of women (n = 609) who had participated in the first follow-up (CDAH-1) clinics and had measured blood pressure, we found that compared with women who did not report pregnancy hypertension, those who reported ever having had pregnancy hypertension had significantly higher SBP (116.7 vs 110.0 mmHg, P < 0.001), and DBP (74.7 vs 68.7 mmHg, P < 0.001) and higher prevalence of hypertension (9.5% vs 1.1%, P $\,<\,$ 0.001). Sensitivity analyses to address loss to follow-up by using combined multiple imputation and inverse probability weighting produced similar patterns of results as the unweighted analyses: changes in the magnitude of significant associations ranging from -23.5 to 58.0% (Supplemental Table 2).

When stratified by age, childhood BMI and BMI z score showed similar associations in 12 to 15 year-olds (RR = 1.07, 95% CI:1.00–1.15; RR = 1.21, 95% CI:0.09–1.16; RR = 1.00, 95% CI:0.99–1.19; RR = 1.20, 95% CI:0.94–1.53). However, the observed statistically significant association in the 12 to 15 year age group did not persist after further adjustment for adult BMI. In a subsample analysis, a stronger association with pregnancy hypertension was found with abdominal obesity before age 12 (RR = 5.38, 95% CI:2.67–10.82) than age 12–15 years (RR = 1.48, 95% CI:0.52–4.27). The significant associations with abdominal obesity before age 12 persisted after adjustment for adult WHTR (RR = 5.36, 95% CI:2.68–10.73).



Fig. 2. Percentage of ever had pregnancy hypertension across abdominal obesity category from childhood to adulthood, Childhood Determinants of Adult Health Study.

4. Discussion

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to report the long-term associations of childhood abdominal obesity and change in body composition from childhood to adulthood with pregnancy hypertension. We found that childhood abdominal obesity was associated with an increased risk of pregnancy hypertension. This association persisted after adjustment for adult abdominal obesity. Persistent overweight/obesity and abdominal obesity were associated with the highest risk of pregnancy hypertension.

Our finding that the association of childhood BMI with pregnancy hypertension was not independent of adult BMI was consistent with findings from the 1958 British birth cohort study [5] and that overweight/obesity that is proximal to pregnancy is especially important for pregnancy hypertension risk. A higher risk was found for women who were persistently overweight/obese in childhood and adulthood than those who became overweight/obese as adults, even though the difference did not reach statistical significance. This may be explained by the higher BMI in adulthood among those with persistently high adiposity status from childhood to adulthood than in those who had a normal BMI as children and were overweight/obese as adults (33.2 vs 29.5, P < 0.001).

Although childhood abdominal obesity has been observed in several cross-sectional studies to be associated with cardio-metabolic risk in childhood [12,18-20], the current understanding of the long-term effect of abdominal obesity on chronic conditions including pregnancy hypertension remains limited. Most studies from childhood have followed participants into adulthood and collected BMI due to ease of measurement. In our study, one SD of 0.04 unit increase in childhood WHtR was associated with 33% greater likelihood of reporting pregnancy hypertension and was largely unchanged after adjusting for childhood and adulthood BMI. Similar results were found in a subsample with adult abdominal obesity measures, the associations of childhood WHtR persisted with further adjustment for adult WHtR. These results indicated a detrimental impact of childhood abdominal obesity on the risk of pregnancy hypertension, which was not modified by BMI or adult abdominal obesity. It has been suggested that early onset obesity may have higher risks of adverse outcomes in later life [21]. Consistent with this we observed stronger associations with childhood abdominal obesity in girls younger than age 12 than in older girls. In the Bogalusa Heart Study, a stronger association of childhood BMI with pregnancy hypertension was reported between ages 12 to 17 than before age 12. In our study, similar associations of childhood BMI with pregnancy hypertension were found in these younger than age 12 and age 12 to 15 after accounting for adult BMI.

The exact mechanism by which childhood abdominal obesity influences risk of pregnancy hypertension remains unclear. Plausible mechanisms include the long-term adverse effects of excess childhood visceral fat on blood pressure, insulin resistance, inflammation upregulation, oxidative stress and endothelial dysfunction [22-25].

Some potential limitations of our study are acknowledged. The first is the measurement of pregnancy hypertension and that self-report may lead to misclassification [26,27]. However, the prevalence of pregnancy hypertension in our study is similar to global prevalence [1]. Beyond that, two validation studies to investigate the validity of self-reported pregnancy hypertension show good concordance of self-report with clinical records [26,28]. Second is the loss to follow-up. We applied inverse probability weighting to account for missingness but these did not appreciably change the results. Third is the potential over adjustment of adult BMI and abdominal obesity measures. Our findings were for ever-pregnant women, but we were unable to account for their BMI and abdominal measures immediately prior to pregnancy. Women's weight or waist circumference may increase after pregnancy, however, over adjustment of adult anthropometric measures tend to favor our study results. Fourth, we cannot classify the category of pregnancy hypertension exactly. Preeclampsia is a distinct cause of maternal Pregnancy Hypertension 19 (2020) 218-225

morbidity and mortality and can lead to further systemic disorders [1]. Future studies that address pre-eclampsia specifically are needed. Finally, we did not have information on whether hypertension persisted beyond delivery. However, our finding of subsequent higher blood pressure and more prevalent hypertension in a subsample of women who reported a history of pregnancy hypertension is consistent with the literature [29,30], indicating that the risk of future chronic hypertension may be increased.

The strengths of our study include the following. Foremost, this is the first prospective study to investigate the long-term association between childhood abdominal obesity measures and pregnancy hypertension. Second, we conducted objective measurement of childhood anthropometrics including childhood BMI and abdominal obesity measures. Third, unlike previous two studies examining childhood BMI and pregnancy hypertension, a range of data on covariates has been collected in our study.

5. Conclusion

Childhood adiposity was associated with increased risk of pregnancy hypertension, with the association of childhood abdominal obesity independent of adult abdominal obesity. Women with persistently high adiposity from childhood to adulthood had the highest risk of pregnancy hypertension. Childhood abdominal obesity may be considered in addition to BMI, as an indicator of the risk of future cardiometabolic conditions including pregnancy hypertension.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgments

We gratefully acknowledge the contributions of the CDAH project manager, Marita Dalton, CDAH participants, funders and all other project staff.

Funding

This study was supported by grants from the National Health and Medical Research Council (grants 211316 and 544923).

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.preghy.2019.11.006

References

- L. Duley, The global impact of pre-eclampsia and eclampsia, Semin. Perinatol. 33

 (2009) 130–137.
 T.E. O'Brien, J.G. Ray, W.S. Chan, Maternal body mass index and the risk of pre-eclampsia: a systematic overview, Epidemiology 14 (3) (2003) 368–374.
 S.K. Campbell, J. Lynch, A. Esterman, R. McDermott, Pre-pregnancy predictors of hypertension in pregnancy among Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander women in north Queensland, Australia; a prospective cohort study, BMC Public Health 13 (2013) 138.
- north Queensland, Australia; a prospective cohort study, BMC Public Health 13 (2013) 138.
 [4] M. Sina, W. Hoy, Z. Wang, Anthropometric predictors of gestational hypertensive disorders in a remote aboriginal community: a nested case-control study, BMC research notes 7 (2014) 122.
 [5] J.K. Lake, C. Power, T.J. Cole, Women's reproductive health: the role of body mass index in early and adult life, Int. J. Obes. Relat. Metab. Disord. 21 (6) (1997) 429 (2007).
- [6] S. Li, X. Xiong, E. Harville, T. Zhang, D. Sun, C. Fernandez, et al., Childhood Risk Factors and Pregnancy-Induced Hypertension: The Bogalusa Heart Study, Am. Hypertens, 29 (10) (2016) 1206–1211.
- [7] T. Dwyer, L.E. Gibbons, The Australian Schools Health and Fitness Survey, Physical ed to blood pressure but not lipop teins, Circulation 89 (4) (1994)

1539-1544

- [5] J.J. Cole, M.C. Bellizzi, K.M. Flegal, W.H. Dietz, Establishing a standard definition for child overweight and obesity worldwide: international survey, BMJ 320 (7244) (2000) 1240–1243. r child over 000) 1240–

- [8] T.J. Cole, M.C. Bellizzi, K.M. Flegal, W.H. Dietz, Establishing a standard definition for child overweight and obesity worldwide: international survey, BMJ 320 (7244) (2000) 1240–1243.
 [9] P. Brambilla, G. Bedogni, M. Heo, A. Pietrobelli, Waist circumference-to-height ratio predicts adiposity better than body mass index in children and adolescents, Int. J. Obesity (2005). 2013;37(7):943-946.
 [10] A.J. Venn, R.J. Thomson, M.D. Schmidt, V.J. Cleland, B.A. Curry, H.C. Gennat, et al., Overweight and obesity from childhood to adulthood: a follow-up of participants in the 1985 Australian Schools Health and Fitness Survey, Med. J. Aust. 186 (9) (2007) 458-460.
 [11] Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic. Report of a WHO consultation. World Health Organ Tech Rep Ser. 2000;894:i-xii, 1-253.
 [12] L.M. Browning, S.D. Tsieh, M. Ashwell, A systematic review of waist-to-height ratio as a screening tool for the prediction of cardiovascular disease and diabetes. 0.5 could be a suitable global boundary value, Nutr. Res. Rev. 23 (2) (2010) 247–269.
 [13] B. Pink, Socio-economic indexes for areas (SEFA). Icehnical paper, 2011: Cunberra: Australian Bureau of Statistics; 2011 [Available from: http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/absgi.nst/Lookup/biy8205abject/2033.0.55.001 2011 Main %20Features-TechnicH%20Paper-5.
 [14] C. Ochon Sangrador, J. Ochoa-Brezmes, Wais-to-height ratio as a risk marker for metabolic syndrome in childhood. A meta-analysis, Podiatric obesity (2018).
 [15] E. Pare, S. Parry, T.F. McElrath, D. Pueci, A. Newton, K.H. Lim, Clinical risk factors for precedampsia in the 21st century. Obstet. Gyncool. 124 (4) (2014) 763–770.
 [16] M. Wallace, L. Buzzano, W. Chen, E. Harville, Maternal childhood cardiometabolic risk factors and pregnamey complications, Ann. Epidemiol. 27 (7) (2017) 429–434.
 [17] S.R. Seaman, I.R. White, A.J. Copas, L. Li, Combining multiple imputation and inverse-probability weighting, Biometrics 66

Pregnancy Hypertension 19 (2020) 218-225

- for the Study of Obesity 17 (12) (2016) 1258–1275.
 [20] S.C. Savva, M. Tornaritis, M.E. Savva, Y. Kourides, A. Panagi, N. Silikiotou, et al., Waist circumference and waist-to-height ratio are better predictors of cardiovas-cular disease risk factors in children than body mass index, Int. J. Obes. Relat. Metab. Disord. 24 (11) (2000) 1453–1458.
 [21] M.M. Kelsey, A. Zaepfel, P. Bjornstad, K.J. Nadeau, Age-related consequences of childhood obesity, Gerontology 60 (3) (2014) 222–228.
 [22] L.K. Callaway, M. O'Callaghan, H.D. McIntyre, Obesity and the hypertensive disorders of pregnancy. Hypertens Pregnancy 28 (4) (2009) 473–493.
 [23] J.M. Roberts, L.M. Bodrar, T.E. Patrick, R.W. Powers, The Role of Obesity in Preeclampsia, Pregnancy Hypertens. 1 (1) (2011) 6–16.
 [24] C.G. Solomon, E.W. Seely, Brief review: hypertension in pregnancy : a manifestation of the insulin resistance syndrome? Hypertension Dallas, Tex. 1 (392).

- of the insulin resistance syndrome? Hypertension (Dallas, Tex : 1979).
- of the insulin resistance syndrome/ Hypertension (Dallas, Tex : 1979). 2001;37(2):232-9.
 [25] A.B. Zavalza-Gomez, Obesity and oxidative stress: a direct link to precelampsia? Arch. Gynecol. Obstet. 283 (3) (2011) 415-422.
 [26] P. Dietz, J. Bombard, C. Mulready-Ward, J. Gauthier, J. Sackoff, P. Brozicevic, et al., Validation of self-reported maternal and infant health indicators in the Pregnancy biological control of the presence of the pregnancy biological control of the presence of the presenc Risk Assessment Monitoring System, Matern Child Health J. 18 (10) (2014) 2489-2498.
- 2489-2498.
 [27] M. Coolman, C.J. de Groot, V.W. Jaddoe, A. Hofman, H. Raat, E.A. Steegers, Medical record validation of maternally reported history of preeclampsia, J. Clin. Epidemiol. 63 (8) (2010) 932-937.
 [28] M. Falkegard, H. Schirmer, M.L. Lochen, P. Oian, G. Acharya, The validity of self-reported information about hypertensive disorders of pregnancy in a population-based survey: the Tromso Study, Acta obstetricia et gynecologica Scandinavica 94 (1) (2012) 28-24.
- based survey: the Tromso Study, Acta obstetricia et gynecologica Scantinavici (1) (2015) 28-34.
 [29] N. Shopen, E. Schiff, N. Koren-Morag, E. Grossman, Factors That Predict the Development of Hypertension in Women With Pregnancy-Induced Hypertensic Am. J. Hypertens. 29 (1) (2016) 141-146.
 [30] J.A. Lykke, J. Langhoff-Roos, B.M. Sibai, E.F. Funai, E.W. Triche, M.J. Paidas.
- Hypertensive pregnancy disorders and subsequent cardiovascular morbidity and type 2 diabetes mellitus in the mother. Hypertension (Dallas, Tex : 1979). 2009;53(6):944-51.

Appendix E 3 Publication of Chapter 5

Human Reproduction, pp. 1–14, 2020 doi:10.1093/humrep/deaa069

human reproduction

ORIGINAL ARTICLE Reproductive epidemiology

Associations of childhood adiposity with menstrual irregularity and polycystic ovary syndrome in adulthood: the Childhood Determinants of Adult Health Study and the Bogalusa Heart Study

Y. He¹, J. Tian¹, L. Blizzard¹, W.H. Oddy¹, T. Dwyer^{1,2}, L.A. Bazzano³, M. Hickey⁴, E.W. Harville³, and A.J. Venn^{1,*}

¹Menzies Institute for Medical Research, University of Tasmania, Hobart, Australia. ²The George Institute for Global Health, University of Oxford, Oxford, UK ³Department of Epidemiology, School of Public Health and Tropical Medicine, Tulane University, New Orleans, LA, USA ⁴Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology. University of Melbourne, Royal Women's Hospital, Parkville, VIC, Australia

*Correspondence address. Menzies Institute for Medical Research, University of Tasmania, 17 Liverpool Street, Hobart, Tasmania 7000, Australia, Tel: 61-3-6226-7706; Fax: 61-3-6226-7704; E-mail: Alison.Venn@utas.edu.au

Submitted on November 11, 2019; resubmitted on February 28, 2020; editorial decision on March 12, 2020

STUDY QUESTION: Is high adiposity in childhood associated with menstrual irregularity and polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) in later life? **SUMMARY ANSWER:** Overall, greater childhood BMI was associated with menstrual irregularity, and greater childhood BMI and waist/height ratio (WHtR) in white but not black participants were associated with PCOS in adulthood.

WHAT IS KNOWN ALREADY: Increased childhood BMI has been associated with irregular menstrual cycles and PCOS symptoms in adulthood in two longitudinal population-based studies, but no study has reported on associations with childhood abdominal obesity. Few studies have investigated whether there are racial differences in the associations of adiposity with PCOS though there has been some suggestion that associations with high BMI may be stronger in white girls than in black girls.

STUDY DESIGN, SIZE, DURATION: The study included 1516 participants (aged 26–41 years) from the Australian Childhood Determinants of Adult Health study (CDAH) and 1247 participants (aged 26–57 years) from the biracial USA Babies substudy of the Bogalusa Heart. Study (BBS) who were aged 7–15 years at baseline. At follow-up, questions were asked about menstruation (current for CDAH or before age 40 years for BBS), ever having had a diagnosis of PCOS and symptoms of PCOS.

PARTICIPANTS/MATERIALS, SETTING, METHODS: In CDAH, a single childhood visit was conducted in 1985. In BBS, multiple childhood visits occurred from 1973 to 2000 and race was reported (59% white; 41% black). In childhood, overweight and obesity were defined by international age–sex-specific standards for BMI and WHtR was considered as an indicator of abdominal obesity. Multilevel mixed-effects Poisson regression estimated relative risks (RRs) adjusting for childhood age, highest parental and own education and age at menarche.

MAIN RESULTS AND THE ROLE OF CHANCE: The prevalence of childhood obesity was 1.1% in CDAH and 7.5% in BBS. At followup, menstrual irregularity was reported by 16.7% of CDAH and 24.5% of BBS participants. The prevalence of PCOS was 7.4% in CDAH and 8.0% in BBS participants. In CDAH, childhood obesity was associated with menstrual irregularity (RR = 2.84, 95% CI: 1.63–4.96) and PCOS (RR = 4.05, 95% CI: 1.10–14.83) in adulthood. With each 0.01 unit increase in childhood WHtR there was a 6% (95% CI: 1–11%) greater likelihood of PCOS. Overall, in BBS, childhood obesity was associated with increased risk of menstrual irregularity (RR = 1.44, 95% CI: 1.08–1.92) in adulthood. Significant interaction effects between race and childhood adiposity were detected in associations with PCOS. In BBS white participants, childhood obesity was associated with PCOS (RR = 2.93, 95% CI: 1.65–5.22) and a 0.01 unit increase in childhood WHtR was associated with an 11% (95% CI: 5–17%) greater likelihood of PCOS in adulthood. In BBS black participants, no statistically significant associations of childhood adiposity measures with PCOS were observed.

© The Author(s) 2020. Published by Oxford University Press on behalf of the European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology. All rights reserved. For permissions, please e-mail: journals.permission@oup.com. 2

LIMITATIONS, REASONS FOR CAUTION: The classification of menstrual irregularity and PCOS was based on self-report by questionnaire, which may have led to misclassification of these outcomes. However, despite the limitations of the study, the prevalence of menstrual irregularity and PCOS in the two cohorts was consistent with the literature. While the study samples at baseline were populationbased, loss to follow-up means the generalizability of the findings is uncertain.

WIDER IMPLICATIONS OF THE FINDINGS: Greater childhood adiposity indicates a higher risk of menstrual irregularity and PCOS in adulthood. Whether this is causal or an early indicator of underlying hormonal or metabolic disorders needs clarification. The stronger associations of adiposity with PCOS in white than black participants suggest that there are racial differences in childhood adiposity predisposing to the development of PCOS and other environmental or genetic factors are also important.

STUDY FUNDING/COMPETING INTEREST(S): The CDAH study was supported by grants from the Australian National Health and Medical Research Council (grants 211316, 544923 and 1128373). The Bogalusa Heart Study is supported by US National Institutes of Health grants R01HD069587, AG16592, HL121230, HD032194 and P50HL015103. No competing interests existed.

Key words: BMI / waist/height ratio / childhood / menstrual irregularity / polycystic ovary syndrome

Introduction

Menstrual irregularity and polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) have been associated with higher risk of lower fecundity and cardiovascular diseases (Solomon *et al.*, 2002; West *et al.*, 2014) as well as some cancers (Harris *et al.*, 2017; Harris *et al.*, 2018). PCOS is recognized as the most common heterogeneous endocrine disorder, affecting 8–13% of women of reproductive age (March *et al.*, 2010). Irregular menstrual cycles are part of the three diagnostic criteria (National Institutes of Health, Rotterdam and Androgen Excess Society diagnostic criteria) for PCOS in addition to hyperandrogenism and polycystic ovarian morphology (Teede *et al.*, 2018).

General and abdominal obesity are associated with a greater risk of menstrual irregularity in adult women (Douchi *et al.*, 2002; Wei *et al.*, 2009; Jacobsen *et al.*, 2012; Hahn *et al.*, 2013). Our previous cross-sectional study suggested that obese women, defined by either BMI or waist circumference, were twice as likely to have irregular menstruation, compared with normal weight women (Wei *et al.*, 2009). However, the association between adult obesity and PCOS is inconclusive. Although obesity, particularly abdominal obesity, is a common trait in women with PCOS, it is not part of the diagnostic criteria. The prevalence of PCOS is relatively uniform (Legro, 2012). This implies that obesity might not cause PCOS or there could be geographic/ethnic differences affecting the relationship between obesity and PCOS.

Only two previous population-based longitudinal studies (Lake et al., 1997; Laitinen et al., 2003) have investigated the associations between childhood obesity, adult menstrual irregularity and PCOS, in which childhood BMI was the only indicator of obesity. The 1958 British birth cohort study of 5770 girls reported that overweight and obesity at 7 years of age increased the risk of menstrual irregularity before age 33 years (Lake et al., 1997). The Northern Finland 1966 birth cohort of 2007 girls suggested that overweight and obesity at age 14 years were associated with self-reported PCOS at age 31 years (Laitinen et al., 2003). Two further papers based on the same Northern Finland cohort reported associations of weight gain (Ollila et al., 2016) and age at adiposity rebound with PCOS (Koivuaho et al., 2019). Another study based on clinical study samples suggested that change in z-score from weight at birth to weight in adolescence may be greater in girls with PCOS than in healthy controls (de Zegher et al., 2017).

In this study, we used two cohorts with different racial characteristics who were followed through childhood to adulthood. We aimed first to investigate the associations of obesity (including abdominal obesity) in childhood with menstrual irregularity and PCOS in adulthood and, second, to determine whether these associations differed by country (Australia and USA) and race (white and black).

Materials and Methods

The Childhood Determinants of Adult Health Study: a cohort from Australia Participants

The Childhood Determinants of Adult Health Study (CDAH) study is a follow-up of participants in the 1985 Australian Schools Health and Fitness Survey (ASHFS), a nationally representative sample of 8498 school children (4191 girls) aged 7–15 years (Gall *et al.*, 2009) (Fig. 1). During 2004–2006, the first follow-up (CDAH-1) was conducted when participants were 26–36 years and 1598 female participants responded to questions on their mentrual cycle characteristics and PCOS. Among them 652 participants attended a study clinic and had plasma hormone measurements including total testosterone concentrations and sex hormone-binding globulin (SHBG) (Wei *et al.*, 2009). The second follow-up (CDAH-2) was conducted during 2009–2011 when participants were aged 31–41 years and 1123 participants completed the same questions about menstrual cycles and PCOS. The current study included 1516 women who completed questions on menstrual cycles and/or PCOS in CDAH-1 and/or CDAH-2.

The study was approved by the Southern Tasmania Health and Medical Human Research Ethics Committee, Written informed consent was obtained during childhood from parents and at each follow-up from participants.

Childhood anthropometric measurements

BMI, calculated as weight (kg)/height (m)², was derived from measured weight and height. BMI was classified as normal, overweight or obese according to the international age-sex-specific cut-points (Cole et al., 2000). BMI z-score was calculated based on age-sex-specific World Health Organization Child Growth standards (World Health Organization, 2006). Waist circumference was taken at the level of the umbilicus to the nearest 0.1 cm. Waist/height ratio (WHR), calculated



Figure 1 Flow chart of the study population for the Childhood Determinants of Adult Health Study in Australia, 1985–2011. CDAH: Childhood Determinants of Adult Health.

as waist circumference divided by height (cm), was the indicator of abdominal obesity when WHtR \geq 0.5 (Brambilla et al., 2013).

Adult anthropometric measurements

Participants who attended CDAH-I clinics (n = 2329) had weight, height and waist circumference measured. Participants who did not visit clinics (n = 1556) self-reported their weight and height, and a correction factor was applied to adjust for error, as described previously (Venn *et al.*, 2007). BMI (kg/m²) was calculated from height and weight. Weight and height were self-reported at CDAH-2 and adjusted for error as described above. Adult BMI was categorized as normal (BMI < 25 kg/m²), overweight (25.0 \leq BMI \leq 29.9 kg/m²) or obese (BMI \geq 30 kg/m²) (World Health Organization, 2000).

Adult menstrual irregularity and PCOS

We defined menstrual cycle length as the time from the first day of one period to the first day of the next and participants were questioned on the length of their usual menstrual cycle. Menstrual irregularity was defined as menstrual cycles \geq 35 days or <25 days or reported as extremely irregular in CDAH-1 and/or CDAH-2. Women who were

currently pregnant (n = 31), using hormonal contraceptives (n = 411) or had a hysterectomy (n = 1) were excluded.

Women were defined as having PCOS if they self-reported in CDAH-1 and/or CDAH-2 that they had ever been told by a doctor or they reported two symptoms of PCOS. The symptoms were menstrual cycle \geq 35 days or totally variable and hirsuitism. The validity of identifying women with PCOS by way of similar questions has been reported previously as moderately high (Tapone et al., 2004). The presence of hirsuitism was defined as ever having seen a doctor because of concern about the amount of hair on their face.

Covariates

Age at menarche was self-reported in adulthood. Smoking history in childhood and adulthood were coded as ever or never smoked. Ever smoked in childhood was defined as having ≥ 10 cigarettes in their life. Former and current smokers in adulthood were defined as ever smoked. Highest parental education and own education were classified as high school only, vocational training and any university education. Childhood alcohol consumption was classified as none (never consume alcohol), light (consume alcohol less than once/week).



moderate (consume alcohol I–2 days/week), heavy (consume alcohol 3–4 days/week) and very heavy (consume alcohol \geq 5 days/week). Alcohol consumption in adulthood was classified according to daily alcohol intake: none (0 alcoholic drinks/day), light (0–1 alcoholic drinks/day), moderate (1–2 alcoholic drinks/day), heavy (>2–3 alcoholic drinks/day) and very heavy intake (>3 alcoholic drinks/day) based on Australian guidelines (Australian Government, 2009).

The Bogalusa Heart Study: a cohort from the USA

Participants

The Bogalusa Heart Study (BHS) is a biracial (65% white and 35% black) prospective cohort study of cardiovascular risk factors among children and young adults from Bogalusa, LA, USA (Brook, 1981). Initial study participants aged 3–18 years were enrolled from schools in 1973, and additional participants were recruited over time. Data collection occurred approximately every 2 years for children and 5 years for adults. These cross-sectional studies of children or adults were combined to create the overall BHS population.

The Bogalusa Babies substudy (BBS) began in May 2013 to examine the role of cardiovascular risk factors in childhood on reproductive outcomes. Women with at least one BHS visit (n=5914) were eligible to participate. We included 1247 female participants who were aged 7–15 years during childhood visits (to align with the CDAH study), who participated in BBS when they were aged 26–57 years, and had height and weight reported between ages 26 and 40 years to align with their report of their menstrual cycle characteristics prior to age 40 years (Fig. 2).

For child participants, parental permission and consent of the child were obtained and written informed consent was obtained from adult participants. All study procedures were approved by the Institutional Review Board of Tulane University.

Childhood anthropometric measurements

All BHS surveys followed an identical protocol for anthropometric measurements. In the subsample of BBS used in the current study, a total of 298 participants had childhood waist and hip circumference measured. Height, weight and waist circumference were measured twice to within 0.1 cm or 0.1 kg and mean values obtained. BMI, BMI z-score, WHtR, obesity and abdominal obesity were calculated or classified using the same criteria as described in the CDAH study.

Adult anthropometric measurements

Adult height and weight were recorded in the BBS (Paley et al., 2004). Where necessary, height and weight before age 40 years were extracted from records of the BHS (Berkey et al., 1993). BMI, overweight and obesity were calculated or classified using the same criteria as described in the CDAH study.

Adult menstrual irregularity and PCOS

Data on menstrual cycle characteristics were collected by questioning participants on the length of the average menstrual cycle between age 16 and 40 years (excluding any time spent pregnant, receiving birth control pills or injections, after menopause, or after having both ovaries or the uterus surgically removed). Participants reporting an average menstrual cycle of \geq 35 days, <25 days, or totally variable were considered to have menstrual irregularity.

The classification of PCOS was based on the presence of both menstrual cycle \geq 35 days or totally variable and hirsutism, or self-reported ever having been told by a doctor that she had PCOS. Hirsutism was determined by a series questions asking about the tendency to grow dark, coarse hair on eight body sites including upper lip, chin, breast, chest between the breasts, back, belly, upper arms and upper thighs. Those who indicated three or more sites were considered as having clinical hirsutism.

Covariates

Race (white/black) was recorded at the initial BHS visit. As previously described (Wattigney et al., 1999), information on age at menarche was obtained by a registered nurse. Smoking history in childhood and adulthood were coded as ever (currently or formerly at any visit) and never smoked. Highest parental and own-education were classified as high school only, vocational training and college or more (any university). Childhood and adulthood alcohol consumption were classified as none (tried or never drink), light (drink less than once/week), moderate (drink once or twice/week), heavy (drink three to four times/week) and very heavy drinker (drink daily or almost every day).

Statistical analyses

Means with SDs and numbers with proportions were used to describe participants' sociodemographic characteristics, menstrual irregularity and PCOS in each cohort from baseline to follow-up. Taking into account the multiple adult visits conducted in CDAH and multiple childhood visits in BBS, multi-level generalized linear mixed effects models with Poisson regression were employed to estimate the relative risks (RRs) and 95% CIs.

In BBS, \sim 50% of participants had missing data on age at menarche and more than 20% of participants had missing data on highest parental education. Multiple imputation by chained equations was used to impute the missing data (Azur *et al.*, 2011).

Covariates remaining in the final models were variables, which were causally related to the outcome, imbalanced between the exposure groups and resulted in more than 10% change in the coefficient of the principal study factor when added to the model. In analyses of the BBS, the models were additionally adjusted for race as appropriate.

Interactions between race and childhood adiposity on menstrual irregularity and PCOS in BBS were investigated in the regression model. There was no interaction between race and obesity on menstrual irregularity (P = 0.362); however, a statistically significant race interaction was present for PCOS (P = 0.042). Therefore, PCOS analyses in BBS were further stratified by race.

The following sensitivity analyses were conducted. First, we repeated the analysis by using the United States Centres for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) growth reference to calculate BMI *z*-score and to classify childhood weight status (Harris *et al.*, 2018). Second, the analysis was repeated after excluding persons who may have been of black (n = 8) or other non-white race (n = 35) in CDAH (race was inferred from the childhood questionnaire including the information on father's and mother's country of birth and language spoken at home) to compare with the results in BBS white participants. Third, associations were examined with the change between birth weight *z*-score and BMI *z*-score in childhood in a subsample of BBS (n = 788) with the relevant information on birth weight and gestational age available from

birth certificates (Chen et al., 2012). Fourth, as hyperandrogenism is also a key diagnostic feature for PCOS, the association of childhood adiposity with biochemical hyperandrogenism was analysed in a subsample of CDAH (n = 652) who attended CDAH-I clinics and were not using hormonal contraceptives. Biochemical hyperandrogenism was assessed by calculated free testosterone (cFT) levels (Vermeulen et al., 1999). The association of childhood adiposity with hirsutism was also analysed in CDAH and BBS. Fifth, we restricted our sample in BBS to women who were aged under 40 years at follow-up to ensure reporting of current menstrual characteristics and excluding retrospective reports from women aged 41–57 years. Last, a subgroup of underweight in childhood with menstrual irregularity and PCOS in adulthood.

All analyses were performed using STATA software, version 15.0 (Stata Corp., College Station, TX, USA); a P value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

Participant characteristics

Our sample included 1516 participants from the CDAH study and 1247 (white: 730; black: 517) participants from the BBS. Anthropometric and sociodemographic characteristics of participants in the two cohorts are shown in Table I. On average, BBS participants had a higher childhood BMI z-score and WHtR than CDAH participants. The prevalence of childhood obesity and abdominal obesity was 1.1 and 5.3% in CDAH and 7.5% (white: 5.2%; black: 10.8%) and 22.5% (white: 20.2%; black: 23.8%) in BBS. At follow-up, the mean age in CDAH-I was 31.5 years, sand 36.4 years at CDAH-2. In BBS, the mean age was 44.1 years. The prevalence of menstrual irregularity was 16.7% in CDAH and 24.5% in BBS (white; 25.4%; black; 23.2%). The prevalence of PCOS was 7.4% in CDAH (the average of CDAH-1 and CDAH-2) and 8.0% (white: 10.7%; black: 4.3%) in BBS. Identification of PCOS by menstrual characteristics and hirsutism alone classified seven more participants with PCOS in CDAH and 16 more participants in BBS

Childhood adiposity and menstrual irregularity

Table II shows the associations of childhood adiposity with menstrual irregularity in CDAH and in the overall BBS. In CDAH (after adjusting for childhood age, age at menarche, highest parental and their own education), compared with normal-weight girls, the risk of reporting menstrual irregularity was almost 3-fold in those who were obese in childhood. Similarly, in the BBS, when further adjusted for race, childhood obesity was associated with nearly twice the risk of having menstrual irregularity.

Childhood adiposity and self-reported PCOS

In CDAH, childhood obesity defined by BMI and childhood abdominal obesity defined by WHtR were significantly associated with an increased risk of self-reported PCOS (Table III). A 0.01 unit increase in childhood WHtR was associated with a 5% increased likelihood of self-reported PCOS. In the BBS sample overall, results were consistent 6

He et al.

Variable		CDAH(n = 1516)	BBS (n = 1247)		
	Childhood	Adult	thood	Childhood	Adulthood
		CDAH-I	CDAH-2		BBS
Race, % (n)					
White				58.5(730)	
Black				41.5(517)	
Age, years, mean (SD) ^b	11.0 (2.5)	31.5 (2.6)	36.4 (2.6)	11.6(2.0)	44.1(7.9)
BMI, kg/m², mean (SD) ^b	18.2 (2.8)	24.9 (5.2)	25.4 (5.5)	19.5(4.0)	29.2(7.8)
BMI z-score, mean (SD) ^b	0.16 (0.90)			0.36(1.24)	
BMI category, % (n) ^b					
Normal	91.2 (1383)	62.4 (943)	58.7 (505)	74.9(934)	36.2(45I)
Overweight	7.7 (116)	23.7 (358)	24.5 (211)	17.6(219)	24.9(310)
Obese	L.I. (17)	14.0 (211)	16.7 (144)	7.5(94)	39.0(486)
Waist/height ratio, mean (SD) ^b	0.43 (0.04)			0.46(0.07)	
WHtR category ^b					
< 0.5	94.7 (1436)			77.6(228)	
≥ 0.5	5.3 (80)			22.5(66)	
Highest parental education, % (n)					
University education	28.0 (425)			29.8(334)	
Vocational training	33.5 (508)			21.7(234)	
High school	38.5 (583)			48.5(543)	
Highest own-education, % (n)					
University education		46.6 (704)	54.0 (464)		28.1(350)
Vocational training		25.9 (392)	25.4 (218)		33.4(416)
High school		27.5 (416)	20.7 (178)		38.6(481)
Smoking, % (n)					
Never smoked	88.2 (1035)	54.7 (827)	59.2 (507)	76.8(763)	53.3(471)
Ever smoked	11.8 (1439)	45.3 (684)	40.8 (350)	23.2(230)	46.7(412)
Alcohol consumption, % (n)					
None, light, moderate drinker	99.1 (1166)	93.8 (1398)	95.8 (800)	98.5(400)	82.9(707)
Heavy and very heavy drinker	0.9 (11)	6.2 (93)	4.2 (35)	1.5(6)	17.1(146)
Age at menarche, years, mean (SD)	13.1 (1.3)			12.6(1.5)	
SHBG, nmol/l, mean (SD)°		52.1 (27.4)			
Testosterone, nmol/l, mean (SD) ^c		1.5 (0.6)			
Free testosterone, nmol/l, mean (SD) ^c		23.9 (14.0)			
Hirsutism, % (n)					
Yes		3.5 (52)	4.0 (34)		6.5(81)
No		96.5 (1439)	96.0 (820)		93.5(1160)
Menstrual irregularity, % (n)					. /
Yes		16.6 (139)	16.7 (87)		24.5(303)
No		83.4 (699)	83.3 (434)		75.5(935)
PCOS (menstrual irregularity+hirsutism), % $(n)^d$. ,			. /
Yes		1.5 (12)	1.4 (7)		2.2(27)
No		98.6 (817)	98.7 (513)		97.8(1211)
Self-reported doctor diagnosed PCOS, % (n)		. ,			, ,
Yes		5.8 (88)	8.2 (70)		6.9(84)

 Table I Participants' characteristics in the Childhood Determinants of Adult Health Study and the Babies substudy of the Bogalusa Heart Study^a.
 Childhood adiposity, menstrual irregularity and PCOS

Variable		CDAH (n = 1516)					
	Childhood	Adult	:hood	Childhood	Adulthood		
		CDAH-I	CDAH-2		BBS		
No		94.2 (1423)	91.8 (785)		93.2(1142)		
PCOS, % (n)							
Yes		6.2 (93)	8.6 (74)		8.0(100)		
No		93.9 (1419)	91.4 (786)		92.0(1147)		

*Sample size varied [range from 652–1512 for Childhood Determinants of Adult Health (CDAH) and range from 294–1241 for Babies substudy of the Bogalusa Heart Study (BBS)] Sample size varies (range from 622=512 for Circuitodo Deveniminats of Adur Fredur (CDAF) and because of the missing data ^bThe variables were calculated using the mean values in multiple childhood visits in BBS ^cAvailable in a subsample of 622 participants who attended the first follow-up clinic in CDAFH ^cDefined as reporting mensrual cycle ≥ 35 days/totally variable and presenting hirsudam PCOS, polycystic ovary syndrome; SHBG, sex hormone-binding globulin; WHtR, waist/height ratio

Table II Associations of adiposity in childhood with menstrual irregularity in adulthood in CDAH and BBS.

Childhood adiposity		CDA		BBS					
	Unadjusted model (n = 1010)		Мс (n =	Model (n = 1010)		Unadjusted model (n = 1238)		del lª 1238)	
	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	
BMI z-score	I,II	0.94–1.31	I.13	0.96-1.34	1.09	1.00-1.18	1.09	1.00–1.19	
BMI category									
Normal	Ref.	_	Ref.	_	Ref.	_	Ref.	_	
Overweight	1.50	0.99-2.28	1.62	1.06-2.48	1.07	0.88-1.29	1.07	0.88-1.30	
Obese	2.72	1.60-4.64	2.84	1.63-4.96	1.43	1.08-1.89	1.44	1.08-1.92	
WHtR, per 0.01 unit ^b	1.03	1.00-1.06	1.03	0.99-1.06	1.03	1.00-1.06	1.03	0.99–1.06	
WHtR category ^b									
< 0.5	Ref.	—	Ref.	_	Ref.	—	Ref.	_	
≥ 0.5	1.44	0.87-2.39	1.47	0.89-2.45	1.62	1.06-2.46	1.56	1.00-2.45	

Model 1: adjust for childhood age, age at menarche, highest parental education and own-education z Model 1 further adjust for race in the BBS ${}^{b}n$ = 293 in BBS

RR. relative risk

with CDAH: childhood obesity was associated with a higher risk of selfreported PCOS and every 0.01 unit increase in WHtR was associated with 8% greater likelihood of PCOS (Table III).

Racial differences in the associations of self-reported PCOS in BBS

Significant racial differences were observed in the associations of childhood adiposity with self-reported PCOS, but not with menstrual irregularity, in BBS white and black participants (Table IV). Childhood obesity and a 0.01 unit increase in WHtR were both associated with an increased risk of PCOS in BBS white participants, but no significant associations of childhood obesity or WHtR with PCOS were found in BBS black participants.

Influence of weight status from childhood into adulthood

The RR of menstrual irregularity by change of weight status from childhood to adulthood is displayed in Table V. Compared with participants who had persistently normal BMI in childhood and adulthood, those who became overweight or obese in adulthood reported a higher risk of menstrual irregularity in BBS. Participants who were persistently overweight/obese since childhood had significantly higher risks of menstrual irregularity in both CDAH and BBS.

No significant association of any weight status category from childhood to adulthood with PCOS was found in BBS black participants (Table VI). In white participants, those who were overweight or obese in childhood only, or persistently overweight or obese from childhood to adulthood, had a significantly increased risk of PCOS (Table VI).

8

He et al.

Table III Associations of adiposity in childhood with PCOS in adulthood in CDAH and BBS.

Childhood adiposity		CDA	н		BBS			
	Unadju: (n =	sted model = 1516)	Ме (л =	odel I = 1516)	Unadjus (n =	sted model = 1247)	Мо (n =	del lª : 1247)
	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI
BMI z-score	1.25	0.98-1.58	I.26	0.98-1.62	1.31	1.10-1.56	1.42	1.19-1.69
BMI category								
Normal	Ref.		Ref.		Ref.		Ref.	_
Overweight	2.33	1.30-4.15	2.28	1.25-4.16	1.73	1.21-2.46	1.96	1.35-2.83
Obese	3.08	0.85-11.21	4.05	1.10-14.83	1.68	1.00-2.83	1.95	1.19-3.29
WHtR, per 0.01 unit ^b	1.06	1.01-1.10	1.06	1.01-1.11	1.05	0.98-1.11	1.06	1.01-1.11
WHtR category ^b								
<0.5	Ref.	_	Ref.	_	Ref.	_	Ref.	_
≥0.5	2.22	1.11-4.42	2.26	1.16-4.42	0.99	0.34-2.91	1.09	0.39-3.07

Model 1: adjust for childhood age, age at menarche, highest parental education and own-education $^\circ$ Model 1 further adjust for race in BBS $^bn=294$ in BBS

Table IV	Associations of additionals	as the shift have device becode the advice has a fire BBC. He as	
I able I V	Associations of adiposit	ty in childhood with PCOS in adulthood in BBS, by ra	.ce.

Race and childhood adiposity			PCOS		
	п	Unadjus	sted model	Mod	iel I
		RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI
White	730				
BMI z-score		1.50	1.25-1.79	1.54	1.28-1.87
BMI category					
Normal		Ref.	_	Ref.	-
Overweight		2.07	1.38-3.11	2.19	1.42-3.35
Obese		2.82	1.63-4.86	2.93	1.65-5.22
WHtR, per 0.01 unit [®]		1.08	1.04-1.11	1.11	1.05-1.17
WHtR category ^a					
<0.5		Ref.		Ref.	_
≥0.5		2.00	0.66-6.07	2.00	0.64-6.27
Black	517				
BMI z-score		1.00	0.70-1.43	1.03	0.72-1.47
BMI category					
Normal		Ref.	_	Ref.	_
Overweight		1.36	0.59-3.13	1.43	0.64-8.26
Obese		0.29	0.04-2.35	0.19	0.03-2.78
WHtR, per 0.01 unit ^a		0.89	0.76-1.04	0.88	0.76-1.02
WHtR category ^a					
<0.5		Ref.	_	Ref.	_
≥0.5		1	N/A	N.	/A

Model 1: adjust for childhood age, age at menarche, highest parental education and own-education ${}^{s}n = 109$ in white race and n = 185 in black race in BBS

Weight status from childhood to adulthood				CDA	т					BB		
	e	Cases (%) ^a	Unadjus	ted model	ω	del I	ę	Cases (%) ^a	Unadjus	ted model	Ψ	del Iª
			RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI			RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI
	0101	一百百 在 在 有 百百 在 在 有 百 百 在 在		· 外外 · 和 外 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *	1238	外来 希可 的 外 安 安 的 的 医 安 有 有 有 有 有 有 有 有 有 有 有 有 有 有 有 有 有 有		甲酸原基 希望学 医皮肤管 等 医皮肤管 计可止的		* * * * * * * * * * * * *
Persistently normal		786 (57.9)	Ref.		Ref.			850 (36.4)	Ref.		Ref.	I
Normal to overweight/obese		447 (32.9)	0.97	0.93-1.30	1.04	0.77-1.39		889 (38.0)	1.26	1.01-1.57	1.29	1.03-1.61
Overweight/obese to normal		16 (1.2)	1.57	0.65-3.81	1.65	0.70-3.89		44 (1.9)	1.47	0.89–2.43	1.47	0.88-2.46
Persistently overweight/obese		108 (8.0)	1.63	1.09-2.45	1.76	1.15-2.71		554 (23.7)	1.36	1.01-1.83	1.39	1.01-1.90

Sensitivity analyses

Similar estimates were found in sensitivity analyses, in which the US CDC standards were used to calculate childhood BMI *z*-score and classify childhood obesity according to BMI (Supplementary Table SI, Tables SII and SIII). When women of non-white races (n = 43) were excluded in CDAH, the associations between increased childhood BMI and menstrual irregularity remained statistically significant. The associations between increased childhood BMI, WHtR and PCOS also remained statistically significant with only small changes in the mean coefficients (-2.5-11.20%). In a subsample of participants who had birth weight and gestational age in BBS (n = 788), we found the *z*-score increment between weight at birth and BMI in childhood was associated with increased risk of menstrual irregularity and PCOS in white participants (Supplementary Table SIV).

In a subsample of participants who attended CDAH-1 clinics (n = 652), childhood BMI z-score ($\beta = 2.82 \text{ pmol}/1$, 95% Cl: 1.67–3.98) and childhood WHR ($\beta = 0.59 \text{ pmol}/1$, 95% Cl: 0.33–0.86) were positively associated with cFT in adulthood. In CDAH, childhood BMI z-score (RR = 1.50, 95% Cl: 1.30–2.00) and WHtR (RR = 1.07, 95% Cl: 1.01–1.12) were positively associated with hirsutism at followup; similar associations of childhood BMI z-score (RR = 1.61 95% Cl: 1.25–2.09) and WHtR (RR = 1.13, 95% Cl: 1.05–1.21) with hirsutism were found in BBS white but not black participants.

When restricting the sample to women who were aged under 40 years in the analysis of menstrual irregularity in BBS (n = 431) (Supplementary Table SV), the risks of menstrual irregularity remained elevated for participants with high childhood adiposity, although less so, and achieved borderline significance for childhood abdominal obesity (RR = 1.50, 95% CI 0.94–2.41, P = 0.090) and childhood abdominal obesity (RR = 1.55, 95% CI 0.99–2.41, P = 0.055). No significant associations of childhood underweight in CDAH (n = 14) and BBS (n = 22) with menstrual irregularity and PCOS in adulthood were found.

Discussion

This study is the first to report the association of childhood abdominal obesity with menstrual irregularity and PCOS in adulthood, using data from two independent large prospective cohorts in two countries. Overall, in both cohorts, childhood obesity but not abdominal obesity was associated with greater risks of menstrual irregularity. A significant racial difference was observed in the associations of childhood obesity and abdominal obesity with PCOS, with significant associations found in white participants, but not in black participants. The risks of menstrual irregularity and PCOS were consistently significantly higher in participants with persistent overweight/obesity since childhood.

The positive association between childhood obesity and adulthood menstrual irregularity is consistent with prior findings from the 1958 British birth cohort (Lake *et al.*, 1997). Though some studies have suggested that the distribution of body fat in adult women may be a risk factor of menstrual irregularity cross-sectionally (Douchi *et al.*, 2002; Wei *et al.*, 2009), no statistically significant association of childhood abdominal obesity with menstrual irregularity was found in CDAH and BBS. The mechanisms underlying the associations of greater childhood BMI with menstrual irregularity in adulthood may include

Appendices

10

Weight status from childhood to adulthood			CDA	I					BB		
E	Cases (%) ^a	Unadjus	ted model	Mo	del I	Ľ	Cases (%) ^a	Unadjus	ted model	ω	lel I ^b
		RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI			RR	95% CI	RR	95% CI
Overall 516			中国外在中国大学中中学校大学中学校大学中		甲甲胺原 帝甲甲甲基丙基甲甲基丙基 希望学家西	1247	朱 • 甲 张 朱 安 • 甲 平 平 平 平 平 平 平	* * * * * * * * * * *	甲氧医汞 条甲状质 医脊骨膜 医医血管下颌 医血尿	* * * * * * * * * * *	点 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Persistently normal	1414 (59.7)	Ref.		Ref.			855 (36.2)	Ref.		Ref.	I
Normal to overweight/obese	455 (31.9)	1.19	0.81-1.73	1.34	0.93-I.94		900 (38.1)	0.80	0.52-1.22	00.1	0.65-1.53
Overweight/obese to normal	31 (1.3)	0.92	0.13-6.40	1.02	0.15-6.93		46 (2.0)	1.99	0.78-5.05	2.69	1.10-6.62
Persistently overweight/obese	169 (7.1)	2.93	1.65-5.18	3.66	2.05-6.56		560 (23.7)	2.55	1.47-4.43	3.72	2.12-6.54
White						730					
Persistently normal							651 (44.9)	Ref.		Ref.	
Normal to overweight/obese							489 (33.7)	1.03	0.67–1.60	90.1	0.69–I.63
Overweight/obese to normal							25 (1.7)	4.00	1.66-9.62	4.70	1.93-11.4
Persistently overweight/obese							286 (19.7)	4.66	2.62-8.28	5.41	2.98-9.83
Black						517					
Persistently normal							204 (22.4)	Ref.	I	Ref.	
Normal to overweight/obese							411 (45.2)	0.43	0,13–1,42	0.46	0.15-1.43
Overweight/obese to normal							21 (2.3)	~	1/A	2	I/A
Persistently overweight/obese							274 (30.1)	0.75	0.21-2.65	0.88	0.28-2.80

He et al.

Downloaded from https://academic.oup.com/humrep/advance-article-abstract/doi/10.1093/humrep/deaa069/5824388 by University of Tasmania Library user on 29 April 2020

Childhood adiposity, menstrual irregularity and PCOS

a series of hormonal factors. Childhood obesity is a risk factor for increased concentrations of testosterone, LH, insulin and reduced concentrations of SHBG in adulthood (Marcovecchio and Chiarelli, 2013; Elizondo-Montemayor *et al.*, 2017). These changes may cause a disruption of normal ovulation and menstrual irregularity.

It is known that PCOS and menstrual irregularity are strongly correlated. We found that the positive associations of childhood BMI and WHtR with self-reported PCOS in adulthood were strong in CDAH and BBS white participants. Menstrual irregularity is part of the diagnostic criteria for PCOS (Teede et al., 2018), and childhood obesity was correlated with menstrual irregularity in the current study, therefore, this may explain the observed associations. Phenotypic features (including menstrual irregularity and hyperandrogenism) of PCOS are known to be regulated by obesity cross-sectionally, typically involving a distribution of central fat (Legro, 2012; de Zegher et al., 2018). Our finding of the positive associations between childhood BMI, childhood WHtR and cFT in adulthood in a subsample of participants in CDAH suggested that higher childhood adiposity increased the risk of hyperandrogenism. Childhood obesity as well as abdominal obesity may act to promote menstrual irregularity and hyperandrogenism in those at higher risk of PCOS.

No significant association of adiposity with PCOS was found in BBS black girls. A previous cross-sectional study by Christensen et al., (2013) also reported that the association between BMI and PCOS was weaker in black girls than white girls. The literature has indicated that although there are substantial racial differences in the prevalence of obesity, the prevalence of PCOS is similar in different races (Knochenhauer et al., 1998; Azziz et al., 2004; Wolf et al., 2018), In our study, BBS black participants had a higher prevalence of childhood obesity than white participants (10.8 versus 5.2%, respectively), but their prevalence of PCOS was lower than white participants (4.3 versus 10.7%, respectively). The explanations for this racial difference are unclear. It is possible that lower socioeconomic status and poorer. health service access and utilisation among black women may result in a lower rate of diagnosis (Merkin et al., 2016). These factors may thereby dilute the associations observed in black participants. However, in BBS, a stronger association of childhood adiposity with hirsutism was still observed among white compared to black participants. While previous studies have suggested that black women with PCOS have increased risk of metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular disease compared with white women with PCOS (Hillman et al., 2014; Chan et al., 2017), the associations of adiposity with PCOS between races have not been clearly defined. We are the first to report in longitudinal studies that there are racial differences in how childhood adiposity associates with the development of PCOS.

The lack of association of childhood adiposity with PCOS in black participants also suggests that high childhood adiposity is not the only driver of adult PCOS and many other factors may play a role in PCOS development and progression. Prenatal androgen exposure has been proposed as a cause of PCOS although the evidence from human studies is inconsistent (Hickey *et al.*, 2009). Familial trends in PCOS are reported, but no specific genetic association has been reported and more research is necessary to define the genetic basis (Crespo *et al.*, 2018). Environmental factors, including health-related behaviours or lifestyles and economic disadvantage, are potentially involved in the aetiology, prevalence and modulation of PCOS (Merkin *et al.*, 2016). It is likely that there are genetic, molecular and environmental

The risks of menstrual irregularity and PCOS were significantly higher in women with persistent overweight/obesity since childhood in both CDAH and BBS, consistent with findings from the Northern Finland 1966 birth cohort study (Laitinen *et al.*, 2003). Furthermore, in our study, for white participants in BBS, we found for the first time that women who were overweight/obese in childhood but not in adulthood also reported a significantly higher risk of PCOS, suggesting independent effects of childhood adiposity that need to be confirmed in larger studies.

There are several limitations in our study. First, menstrual cycle characteristics and PCOS were self-reported by questionnaire. Previous studies have suggested that women's retrospective self-report of menstrual length can be prone to error (Small *et al.*, 2007) and the agreement between diary records and retrospectively recalled menstrual cycle length was moderate (Jukic *et al.*, 2008). Self-reported PCOS likely tends to underestimate prevalence (Varanasi *et al.*, 2018). Also, if the accuracy of self-reported menstrual cycle length and PCOS differed by obesity status, then our effect estimates might have been biased. However, previous studies have shown no evidence of this (Laitinen *et al.*, 2003; Small *et al.*, 2007; Jukic *et al.*, 2008).

A second potential limitation of this study was the exclusion of women using hormonal contraception (28.4%) in the analysis of menstrual irregularity in CDAH. Since hormonal contraception is commonly prescribed for menstrual irregularity (Bulletins-Gynecology, 2013), we may have under-estimated the prevalence of menstrual irregularity. Third, we have limited information on the age at which PCOS was diagnosed in the two cohorts. Only in the second followup in CDAH were participants asked to report the age when their PCOS was diagnosed (ages ranged from 14-36 years with only four participants reporting the diagnosis of PCOS before age 18 years). It has been suggested that adolescents with characteristics of PCOS should be reassessed at or before full reproductive maturity, at 8 years post menarche (Teede et al., 2018) to confirm a diagnosis. In this study, participants reporting a diagnosis of PCOS during adolescence may have been misclassified. Fourth, the diagnostic criteria for PCOS have recently changed (Teede et al., 2018) and there may have been differences in how PCOS was diagnosed in Australia compared to the USA. Despite all of these limitations, we showed that the prevalence of menstrual irregularity and PCOS in the two cohorts was consistent with the literature (Weller and Weller, 1998; March et al., 2010).

Finally, some characteristics of those continuing in the study differed from those lost to follow-up, and this might limit the generalizability of the findings. In CDAH, non-participants had higher BMI and WHtR values, on average, in childhood than the participants, indicating the current sample may have comprised healthier participants. However, if non-participants were also more likely to have menstrual irregularity and PCOS in adulthood than participants, the effect of this bias would be to underestimate the magnitude of the associations observed. Participants in the BBS were more likely to be black (41 versus 34%) compared with the rest of the study cohort, but childhood BMI was similar among participants and non-participants (Wang et al., 2018).

Strengths of our study include that this is the first prospective study to investigate the long-term associations between childhood abdominal obesity measures and menstrual irregularity and PCOS. Second, we

12

used two independent cohorts from two countries and reported consistent findings. Third, we were able to consider associations by race in BBS.

In conclusion, greater childhood BMI was associated with an increased risk of menstrual irregularity in adulthood in both CDAH and BBS. Greater childhood BMI and WHtR were associated with an increased risk of PCOS in adulthood in CDAH, and in BBS white participants. These risks were significantly higher in women with persistent overweight/obesity since childhood. No significant association of adiposity with PCOS was found in BBS black participants, suggesting there are racial differences in childhood adiposity associating with the development of PCOS, and other environmental or genetic factors are important. Whether high childhood adiposity is causal or an early independent indicator of underlying hormonal or metabolic disorders related to PCOS needs further clarification.

Supplementary data

Supplementary data are available at Human Reproduction online.

Acknowledgements

We gratefully acknowledge the contributions of the CDAH project manager, Marita Dalton, and BHS project manager, Dr Shu Tian, CDAH and BHS participants and all other project staff.

Authors' roles

Y.H. performed the statistical analysis and drafted the manuscript. J.T. provided analytical and interpretive advice and helped draft the manuscript. L.B. assisted with the data analysis and provided interpretive advice. W.H.O. provided interpretive advice and helped draft the manuscript. T.D. was involved in conceptualization of the study and provided interpretive advice. L.A.B. helped with acquisition of data and provided critical revision of the manuscript. E.W.H helped with acquisition of data, provided interpretive advice and critical revision of the manuscript. A.J.V. was involved in the conceptualization of the study, acquisition of data, and helped draft the manuscript. All authors have reviewed and approved the final manuscript.

Funding

The CDAH study was supported by grants from the National Health and Medical Research Council (grants 211316, 544923 and 1128373). The Bogalusa Heart Study is supported by National Institutes of Health grants R01HD069587, AG16592, HL121230, HD032194 and P50HL015103.

Conflict of interest

There is no conflict of interest.

References

- Australian Government NHMRC. Australian Guidelines to Reduce Health Risks from Drinking Alcohol. Canberra: National Health and Medical Research Council, 2009
- Azur MJ, Stuart EA, Frangakis C, Leaf PJ. Multiple imputation by chained equations: what is it and how does it work? *Int J Methods Psychiatr Res* 2011;**20**:40–49.
- Azziz R, Woods KS, Reyna R, Key TJ, Knochenhauer ES, Yildiz BO. The prevalence and features of the polycystic ovary syndrome in an unselected population. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2004;89:2745–2749.
- Berkey CS, Dockery DW, Wang X, Wypij D, Ferris B Jr. Longitudinal height velocity standards for U.S. adolescents. Stat Med 1993;12:403–414.
- Brambilla P, Bedogni G, Heo M, Pietrobelli A. Waist circumferenceto-height ratio predicts adiposity better than body mass index in children and adolescents. *Int J Obes (Lond)* 2013;**37**:943–946.
- Brook CGD. Cardiovascular risk factors in children: the early natural history of atherosclerosis and essential hypertension. *Arch Dis Child* 1981;**56**:488.
- Bulletins—Gynecology CoP. Practice bulletin no. 136: management of abnormal uterine bleeding associated with ovulatory dysfunction. Obstet Gynecol 2013;122:176–185.
- Chan JL, Kar S, Vanky E, Morin Papunen L, Piltonen T, Puurunen J, Tapanainen JS, Maciel GAR, Hayashida SAY, Soares JM Jr et al. Racial and ethnic differences in the prevalence of metabolic syndrome and its components of metabolic syndrome in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a regional cross sectional study. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2017;217:189:e1–189:e8.
- Chen W, Srinivasan SR, Yao L, Li S, Dasmahapatra P, Fernandez C, Xu J, Berenson GS. Low birth weight is associated with higher blood pressure variability from childhood to young adulthood: the Bogalusa Heart Study. *Am J Epidemiol* 2012;**176**Suppl 7:S99–S105.
- Christensen SB, Black MH, Smith N, Martinez MM, Jacobsen SJ, Porter AH, Koebnick C. Prevalence of polycystic ovary syndrome in adolescents. *Fertil Steril* 2013;100:470–477.
- Cole TJ, Bellizzi MC, Flegal KM, Dietz WH. Establishing a standard definition for child overweight and obesity worldwide: international survey. *BMJ* 2000;**320**:1240–1243.
- Crespo RP, Bachega T, Mendonca BB, Gomes LG. An update of genetic basis of PCOS pathogenesis. Arch Endocrinol Metab 2018;62:352–361.
- de Zegher F, Lopez-Bermejo A, Ibanez L. Central obesity, faster maturation, and 'PCOS' in girls. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* 2018;29: 815–818.
- de Zegher F, Reinehr T, Malpique R, Darendeliler F, Lopez-Bermejo A, Ibanez L. Reduced prenatal weight gain and/or augmented postnatal weight gain precedes polycystic ovary syndrome in adolescent girls. *Obesity (Silver Spring)* 2017;**25**:1486–1489.
- Douchi T, Kuwahata R, Yamamoto S, Oki T, Yamasaki H, Nagata Y. Relationship of upper body obesity to menstrual disorders. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2002;**81**:147–150.
- Elizondo-Montemayor L, Hernandez-Escobar C, Lara-Torre E, Nieblas B, Gomez-Carmona M. Gynecologic and obstetric consequences of obesity in adolescent girls. *J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol* 2017;**30**: 156–168.
- Gall SL, Jamrozik K, Blizzard L, Dwyer T, Venn A. Healthy lifestyles and cardiovascular risk profiles in young Australian adults: the Childhood

Downloaded

from https://academic.oup.com/humrep/advance-article-abstract/doi/10.1093/humrep/deaa069/5824388 by University of Tasmania Library user on

29

Apri

Childhood adiposity, menstrual irregularity and PCOS

Determinants of Adult Health Study. *Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil* 2009;**16**:684–689.

- Hahn KA, Wise LA, Riis AH, Mikkelsen EM, Rothman KJ, Banholzer K, Hatch EE. Correlates of menstrual cycle characteristics among nulliparous Danish women. *Clin Epidemiol* 2013;**5**:311–319.
- Harris HR, Babic A, Webb PM, Nagle CM, Jordan SJ, Risch HA, Rossing MA, Doherty JA, Goodman MT, Modugno F et al. Polycystic ovary syndrome, oligomenorrhea, and risk of ovarian cancer histotypes: evidence from the Ovarian Cancer Association Consortium. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 2018;**27**:174–182.
- Harris HR, Titus LJ, Cramer DW, Terry KL. Long and irregular menstrual cycles, polycystic ovary syndrome, and ovarian cancer risk in a population-based case-control study. Int J Cancer 2017;140: 285–291.
- Hickey M, Sloboda DM, Atkinson HC, Doherty DA, Franks S, Norman RJ, Newnham JP, Hart R. The relationship between maternal and umbilical cord androgen levels and polycystic ovary syndrome in adolescence: a prospective cohort study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2009;94:3714–3720.
- Hillman JK, Johnson LN, Limaye M, Feldman RA, Sammel M, Dokras A. Black women with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) have increased risk for metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular disease compared with white women with PCOS [corrected]. *Fertil Steril* 2014;101:530–535.
- Jacobsen BK, Knutsen SF, Oda K, Fraser GE. Obesity at age 20 and the risk of miscarriages, irregular periods and reported problems of becoming pregnant: the Adventist Health Study-2. *Eur J Epidemiol* 2012;**27**:923–931.
- Jukic AM, Weinberg CR, Wilcox AJ, McConnaughey DR, Hornsby P, Baird DD. Accuracy of reporting of menstrual cycle length. *Am J Epidemiol* 2008;**167**:25–33.
- Knochenhauer ES, Key TJ, Kahsar-Miller M, Waggoner W, Boots LR, Azziz R. Prevalence of the polycystic ovary syndrome in unselected black and white women of the southeastern United States: a prospective study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 1998;83:3078–3082.
- Koivuaho E, Laru J, Ojaniemi M, Puukka K, Kettunen J, Tapanainen JS, Franks S, Jarvelin MR, Morin-Papunen L, Sebert S et al. Age at adiposity rebound in childhood is associated with PCOS diagnosis and obesity in adulthood-longitudinal analysis of BMI data from birth to age 46 in cases of PCOS. Int J Obes (Lond) 2019;43: 1370–1379.
- Laitinen J, Taponen S, Martikainen H, Pouta A, Millwood I, Hartikainen AL, Ruokonen A, Sovio U, McCarthy MI, Franks S et *al.* Body size from birth to adulthood as a predictor of self-reported polycystic ovary syndrome symptoms. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord* 2003;27:710–715.
- Lake JK, Power C, Cole TJ. Women's reproductive health: the role of body mass index in early and adult life. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord* 1997:21:432–438.
- Legro RS. Obesity and PCOS: implications for diagnosis and treatment. Semin Reprod Med 2012;**30**:496–506.
- March WA, Moore VM, Willson KJ, Phillips DI, Norman RJ, Davies MJ. The prevalence of polycystic ovary syndrome in a community sample assessed under contrasting diagnostic criteria. *Hum Reprod* 2010;**25**:544–551.
- Marcovecchio ML, Chiarelli F. Obesity and growth during childhood and puberty. *World Rev Nutr Diet* 2013;**106**:135–141.

- Merkin SS, Phy JL, Sites CK, Yang D. Environmental determinants of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertil Steril* 2016;16–24.
- Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic. Report of a WHO consultation. World Health Organ Tech Rep Ser 2000;894: i–253.
- Ollila MM, Piltonen T, Puukka K, Ruokonen A, Jarvelin MR, Tapanainen JS, Franks S, Morin-Papunen L. Weight gain and dyslipidemia in early adulthood associate with polycystic ovary syndrome: prospective cohort study. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2016; **101**:739–747.
- Paley J, Talor J, Levin A, Bhave A, Paley D, Herzenberg JE. The multiplier method for prediction of adult height. J Pediatr Orthop 2004;24:732–737.
- Small CM, Manatunga AK, Marcus M. Validity of self-reported menstrual cycle length. Ann Epidemiol 2007; 17:163–170.
- Solomon CG, Hu FB, Dunaif A, Rich-Edwards JE, Stampfer MJ, Willett WC, Speizer FE, Manson JE. Menstrual cycle irregularity and risk for future cardiovascular disease. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2002;87:2013–2017.
- Taponen S, Ahonkallio S, Martikainen H, Koivunen R, Ruokonen A, Sovio U, Hartikainen AL, Pouta A, Laitinen J, King V et al. Prevalence of polycystic ovaries in women with self-reported symptoms of oligomenorrhoea and/or hirsutism: Northern Finland Birth Cohort 1966 Study. Hum Reprod 2004; 19:1083–1088.
- Teede HJ, Misso ML, Costello MF, Dokras A, Laven J, Moran L, Piltonen T, Norman RJ, International PN. Recommendations from the international evidence-based guideline for the assessment and management of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Hum Reprod* 2018;**33**:1602–1618.
- Varanasi LC, Subasinghe A, Jayasinghe YL, Callegari ET, Garland SM, Gorelik A, Wark JD. Polycystic ovarian syndrome: prevalence and impact on the wellbeing of Australian women aged 16-29 years. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol 2018;58:222–233.
- Venn AJ, Thomson RJ, Schmidt MD, Cleland VJ, Curry BA, Gennat HC, Dwyer T. Overweight and obesity from childhood to adulthood: a follow-up of participants in the 1985 Australian Schools Health and Fitness Survey. Med J Aust 2007;186:458–460.
- Vermeulen A, Verdonck L, Kaufman JM. A critical evaluation of simple methods for the estimation of free testosterone in serum. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1999;84:3666–3672.
- Wang Y, Xiong X, Bazzano L, Harville EW. Childhood cardiovascular health and subfertility: the Bogalusa Heart Study. *Pediatr Res* 2018;84:625-631.
- Wattigney WA, Srinivasan SR, Chen W, Greenlund KJ, Berenson GS. Secular trend of earlier onset of menarche with increasing obesity in black and white girls: the Bogalusa Heart Study. *Ethn Dis* 1999;**9**:181–189.
- Wei S, Schmidt MD, Dwyer T, Norman RJ, Venn AJ. Obesity and menstrual irregularity: associations with SHBG, testosterone, and insulin. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2009;17:1070–1076.
- Weller A, Weller L. Assessment of menstrual regularity and irregularity using self-reports and objective criteria. *J Psychosom Obstet Gynaecol* 1998; **19**: 111–116.
- West S, Lashen H, Bloigu A, Franks S, Puukka K, Ruokonen A, Jarvelin MR, Tapanainen JS, Morin-Papunen L. Irregular menstruation and hyperandrogenaemia in adolescence are associated with polycystic ovary syndrome and infertility in later life: Northern Finland Birth Cohort 1986 study. *Hum Reprod* 2014;29:2339–2351.

on

29

Apri

2020

Downloaded from https://academic.oup.com/humrep/advance-article-abstract/doi/10.1093/humrep/deaa069/5824388 by University of Tasmania Library user

14	
World Health Organization. Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic. World Health Organ Tech Rep Ser 2000;	height and body mass index-for-age: r 2006. World Health Organization, Gene
894 :i-253.	Wolf WM, Wattick RA, Kinkade ON, Olfe
WHO child growth standards WHO child growth standards:	 lence of polycystic ovary syndrome as

WH length/height-for-age, weight-for-age, weight-for-length, weight-formethods and development.

2006. World Health Organization, Geneva. Wolf WM, Wattick RA, Kinkade ON, Olfert MD. Geographical preva-lence of polycystic ovary syndrome as determined by region and race/ethnicity. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2018; **15**,2589.